
 
 
 

Cabinet 
 
 

Date Wednesday 18 November 2020 

Time 9.30 am 

Venue Remote Meeting - This meeting is being held 
remotely via Microsoft Teams 

 

Business 
 

Part A 
 

Items which are open to the public and press 
 
1. Public Questions   

2. Minutes of the meeting held on 14 October 2020  (Pages 3 - 10) 

3. Declarations of interest   

Key Decisions: 
 
4. Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2021/22 and Council Tax 

Covid-19 Hardship Fund Payments - Report of Corporate Director 
of Resources (Key Decision: CORP/R/20/05)  (Pages 11 - 44) 

5. Council Tax Base 2021/22 and Forecast Deficit on the Council 
Tax Collection Fund as at 31 March 2021 - Report of Corporate 
Director of Resources (Key Decision: CORP/R/20/03)                    
(Pages 45 - 66) 

Ordinary Decisions: 
 
6. Forecast of Revenue and Capital Outturn 2020/21 - Period to 30 

September 2020 and Update on Progress towards achieving 
MTFP(10) savings - Report of Corporate Director of Resources  
(Pages 67 - 110) 

7. Mid-Year Review Report on Treasury Management for the period 
to 30 September 2020 - Report of Corporate Director of 
Resources  (Pages 111 - 120) 

8. Lumiere 2019 - Evaluation - Report of Corporate Director of 
Regeneration, Economy and Growth  (Pages 121 - 130) 

9. Poverty Issues - Report of Corporate Director of Resources  
(Pages 131 - 170) 



10. Mainstream Primary and Secondary Formula Funding 2021-22 - 
Report of Corporate Director of Resources  (Pages 171 - 202) 

11. Regional Adoption Agency - Full Business Case - Report of 
Corporate Director of Children and Young People's Services  
(Pages 203 - 250) 

12. Overview and Scrutiny Review of GP Services in County Durham 
- Report of Corporate Director of Resources  (Pages 251 - 312) 

13. Director of Public Health Annual Report 2020 - Joint Report of 
Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services and Director of 
Public Health County Durham  (Pages 313 - 350) 

14. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the 
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration.   

15. Any resolution relating to the exclusion of the public during the 
discussion of items containing exempt information.   

Part B 
 
Items during which it is considered the meeting will not be open 

to the public (consideration of exempt or confidential information) 
 
16. Marginal Viability Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF) - Newton 

Aycliffe Housing Growth Report  - Joint Report of Corporate 
Director of Regeneration, Economy and Growth and Corporate 
Director of Resources  (Pages 351 - 376) 

17. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the 
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration.   

 
 
 

Helen Lynch 
Head of Legal and Democratic Services 

 
County Hall 
Durham 
10 November 2020 
 
 
To: The Members of the Cabinet 

 
 Councillors S Henig and A Napier (Leader and Deputy Leader 

of the Council) together with Councillors J Allen, O Gunn, 
L Hovvels, C Marshall, A Patterson, K Shaw, B Stephens and 
A Surtees 

 
 

Contact: Ros Layfield Tel: 03000 269708 

 



 

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

CABINET  
 

 
At a meeting of Cabinet held remotely via Microsoft Teams on Wednesday 14 
October 2020 at 9.30am 
 
Present 
 

Councillor S Henig, Leader of the Council (Chair) 

 

Cabinet Members  

Councillors J Allen, O Gunn, L Hovvels, C Marshall, A Napier, A Patterson,              
K Shaw, B Stephens and A Surtees  
 

Also Present 

Councillors I Jewell and J Shuttleworth   

 

1 Public Questions   
 
There were no public questions.  
 

2 Minutes   
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 16 September 2020 were agreed as a correct 
record and would be signed by the Chair. 
 

3 Declarations of Interest  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

4 Medium Term Financial Plan(11) 2021/22 – 2024/25                      
 [Key Decision: CORP/R/20/02]  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Resources which 
provided an update on the development of the 2021/22 budget and the Medium 
Term Financial Plan (MTFP(11)) (for copy see file of minutes). 
 
Councillor Napier, Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for Finance, spoke of the 
challenges in setting the budget for 2021/22 with uncertainty over the 
comprehensive spending review, and, future Covid-19 costs.  Cabinet noted that 
the budget and the medium term financial plan assume a cash-flat grant 
settlement, however, the Council will be required to continue to make savings, due 
to the increased cost pressures across all services.  

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



Councillor Napier highlighted the prudent financial management which has allowed 
for a budget support reserve and he added this will be increasingly important for 
managing the budget over the forthcoming year, with savings of £12.8 million 
forecast to be required to balance the 2021/22 budget.  Future Cabinet reports will 
include details of the potential impact of Covid-19 on income and expenditure and 
Councillor Napier urged government to provide the resources required to support 
local communities and businesses in the years ahead.  
 
The Chair, Councillor Henig, Leader of the Council, said the possibility of receiving 
a one-year settlement, later in the year, would lead to further complications for 
budget planning and he thanked the officers involved in this work, in such difficult 
circumstances.  He added he had written to the government, on behalf of the 
Council, and the Association of North East Councils to seek clarity on a number of 
issues and Cabinet will be informed of the response in due course.  
 
Resolved: 
 
That the recommendations in the report be approved.  
 

5 County Durham Plan Adoption [Key Decision: REG/04/20] 
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration and 
Economic Growth which presented the County Durham Plan, for approval, 
following its independent examination by the Planning Inspector (for copy see file 
of minutes). 
 
In presenting the report, the Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and 
Growth highlighted the equalities impact assessment work in respect of the plan.  
The Equality Act 2010 places a duty on local authorities, when exercising their duty 
under Section 149 of the Act to have due regard to the need to:  
 

(i) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct 
that is prohibited by or under the Equality Act 2010;  

(ii) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; 

(iii) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

 
Cabinet noted an equality impact assessment was undertaken to inform the plan 
as it progressed, which was reviewed and updated throughout the plan process.   
No negative impacts on equality were identified which indicates the plan is likely to 
have a positive impact on all protected groups.  Relevant stakeholders were 
consulted and their comments, where possible, were used to shape the plan to 
ensure the council meets its public sector equality duty.   
 

Page 4



The Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and Growth informed the 
Cabinet that the plan had been developed, consulted on, and, independently 
examined, in accordance with the relevant legislation, and, having had due regard 
to all relevant factors, no issues were identified that would prevent the adoption of 
the County Durham Plan, from an equalities impact perspective.   
 
Councillor Shuttleworth, local member for Weardale, referred to paragraph 42 of 
page 13 of the Inspector’s Report and asked that, given the uncertainty in the 
county and country, what economic benefits would be brought to the people of the 
county, in adopting the County Durham Plan. 
 
Councillor Marshall, Portfolio Holder for Economic Regeneration thanked 
Councillor Shuttleworth for the question saying the plan, which proposes almost 
25,000 homes and the potential to create over 32,000 jobs, is critical to the 
economy.  He explained that central government had recently published a planning 
white paper, which, if introduced, would have a detrimental impact on development 
proposals in County Durham.  The adoption of the plan therefore is timely, and 
aims to promote sustainable development, and, allow an effective plan-led 
approach which is sound and consistent with national policy. He added the plan will 
provide much needed certainty to businesses, encourage investment and 
development, and, meet housing needs and the needs of rural communities.   
 
In moving the report, Councillor Marshall thanked the team who had worked 
tirelessly to bring the plan to this stage and all those who had participated in the 
consultations.  He also thanked the Planning Inspector, William Fieldhouse, for his 
professionalism and transparent examination.   
 
Councillor Shaw, Portfolio Holder for Strategic Housing and Assets endorsed the 
plan which he said is key to ensuring a positive future for County Durham and 
presents the opportunity to ensure the right mix of housing is delivered to meet 
current and future needs.    
 
The Portfolio Holder for Corporate Services and Rural Issues, Councillor Patterson, 
expressed disappointment that the proposal for the relief roads will not be going 
ahead and added that other connectivity options will be considered.  She 
highlighted the plan takes account of the rurality of the county, it offers the flexibility 
to adapt to local needs, and, importantly, it makes provision for avoiding unwanted 
development from taking place  She undertook to work with the Portfolio Holder for 
Economic Regeneration to maximise opportunities for the rural communities.  
 
Resolved: 
 
That the recommendations in the report be approved.  
 
 
 

Page 5



 

6 Council Housing Delivery - Durham County Council development 
 potential [Key Decision: REG/02/20] 
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration and 
Economic Growth which detailed the business case to begin building council 
housing and sought approval to begin a programme of council house building from 
2021 - 2025  (for copy see file of minutes). 
 
In moving the report, Councillor Shaw said the report represented a positive move 
by the Council to increase the provision of affordable homes throughout the county, 
including a targeted plan to ensure delivery in the places of greatest need.   
 
Councillor Marshall highlighted the potential positive economic impact adding that 
he was pleased at the intention to maximise the take up of contracts by local 
builders and the local supply chain.  
 
Resolved: 
 
That the recommendations in the report be approved.  
 

7 Towns and Villages Strategy [Key Decision: REG/01/20] 
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration and 
Economic Growth which sought approval for the refocused approach to the 
regeneration of towns and villages across the county (for copy see file of minutes). 
 
Councillor Marshall commented that, despite the loss of local funding streams and 
the impact of ten years of austerity, the Council had continued its work with 
partners to modernise and improve town centres.  With communities throughout 
the county being faced with different issues, the strategy will ensure a localised 
response.  The strategy also seeks to supplement current regeneration projects 
with targeted regeneration activity, informed though consultation with Area Action 
Partnerships.  He informed Cabinet that work will take place with local residents 
and partners, over the coming months, with a view to bringing forward a delivery 
plan in the new year.  
 
The Chair announced that members of the public will have the opportunity to 
contribute to the strategy, through Area Action Partnership meetings taking place 
during October and November, where the public will be invited to have their say on 
the most important activities to help to regenerate towns and villages. 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the recommendations in the report be approved.  
 

Page 6



 
 
8  Durham Safeguarding Children Partnership Annual Report 2019-20 
 
The Cabinet considered a joint report of the Corporate Director of Children and 
Young People’s Services and the Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods and 
Climate Change which presented the Durham Safeguarding Children Partnership 
Annual Report for 2019-20 (for copy see file of minutes). 
 
Councillor Gunn, Portfolio Holder for Children and Young People’s Services,  
highlighted the extensive work carried out in response to the joint targeted area 
inspection recommendations and she pointed out that the introduction of the Young 
People’s Commissioner ensures the voice of the child is heard.  Councillor  
Hovvels, Portfolio Holder for Health and Community Safety, commented that it was 
clear that the voice of the child is at the heart of the report, and emphasised the 
importance of safeguarding children and young people, particularly during the 
difficult time throughout the pandemic. 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the recommendation in the report be approved. 
 
9  Annual Report 2019/20 County Durham Safeguarding Adults Board  
 
The Cabinet considered a joint report of the Corporate Director of Adult and Health 
Services and the Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods and Climate Change 
which presented the annual report of the County Durham Local Safeguarding 
Adults Board for 2019-20 (for copy see file of minutes). 
 
Councillor Hovvels welcomed the report, and, speaking as a member of the Local 
Safeguarding Adults Board confirmed she witnesses the hard work carried out to 
keep vulnerable adults safe from abuse and neglect.  Councillor Stephens, 
Portfolio Holder for Neighbourhoods and Local Partnerships said he was pleased 
to see that the Board works with multiple agencies, including local Area Action 
Partnerships, to keep adults safe. 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the report be noted.  
 
10 Corporate Parenting Panel Annual Report 2019-20 
 
The Committee considered a report of the Corporate Director of Children and 
Young People’s Services which presented the Corporate Parenting Panel Annual 
Report for 2019 – 20 (for copy see file of minutes).   
 

Page 7



 
In presenting the report, the Corporate Director of Children and Young People’s 
Services highlighted the significant progress made by the Panel which was 
recognised in the Ofsted Inspection carried out in September 2019; the Panel’s 
nomination for a Local Government Chronicle award, and, the important role of the 
Children in Care Council.  
 
Councillor Jewell, Chair of the Corporate Parenting Panel, thanked all those 
involved in the work of the Panel and he explained the role of the young people of 
the Children in Care Council.  Young people from the Children in Care Council  
participate in Corporate Parenting Panel meetings and this provides a real insight 
into the challenges faced by looked after children and care leavers.  For example, 
the young people encouraged Corporate Parenting Panel members and officers to 
participate in the ‘Care Leavers Challenge’, which challenges participants to live on 
a budget of £57.90 a week, which is the amount of money care leavers who are not 
in employment receive.  The input of the young people is important to inform how 
the Council can provide support. The young people are also involved in training 
sessions for foster carers, social workers and teachers, providing their perspective.   
 
Councillor Jewell referred to some of the priorities for the future which include 
improving the local offer through looking into the provision of subsidised transport 
and the possibility of extending the ‘Freedom Card’, which is a discount scheme for 
shops and leisure.  In addition, some of the young people are undergoing training 
to become ‘Young Inspectors’ for children’s residential homes, which would 
encourage them to share their views on the services provided and he thanked the 
Commissioning Team for the residential homes inspection process.   
 
In conclusion, Councillor Jewell paid tribute to Terry Collins, Chief Executive, for all 
his hard work in supporting and championing the cause of looked after children and 
care leavers.  
 
The Chair thanked Councillor Jewell and the Corporate Parenting Panel for their 
work during the year.   
 
Councillor Gunn commended the report and thanked the Corporate Parenting 
Panel members for their work, particularly for ensuring the young people are 
actively involved and that their voice is reflected in the work.  She acknowledged 
the recent challenging times during the pandemic and she thanked those who had 
worked remotely to continue the dialogue with the Children in Care Council.  
Councillor Gunn outlined some of the financial support developed with looked after 
children, including council tax exemptions, the winter fuel allowance, the ‘Freedom 
Card’ and the ‘Drive’ project, which provides assistance to looked after young 
people with the cost of driving lessons.    
 

Page 8



The Cabinet congratulated the Corporate Parenting Panel on being shortlisted for a 
Local Government Chronicle award, and wished the Panel well for the final award 
ceremony on 28th October.   
 
Resolved: 
 
That the recommendations in the report be approved.  
 
11 Witton Gilbert Allotments  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration and 
Economic Growth which sought authority to make a Compulsory Purchase Order 
pursuant to section 25 and section 39 of the Small Holdings and Allotments Act 
1908 in respect of the land at Witton Gilbert allotments (for copy see file of 
minutes). 
 
Councillor Shaw commented that the allotments provide a popular and valuable 
resource to the community and he was satisfied there is a need for allotments in 
the vicinity of the land, and that no suitable alternative sites were available.  
 
Resolved: 
 
That the recommendations in the report be approved. 
 
12 Decisions taken under Urgency Powers   
 
The Committee considered a report of the Chief Executive on executive decisions 
taken under urgency powers during the Covid-19 pandemic (for copy see file of 
minutes). 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 
13 Exclusion of the public  
 
Resolved:    
 
That under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public be 
excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the grounds that 
they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 
of Schedule 12A of the Act. 
 
 
 
 

Page 9



14 Decisions taken under Urgency Powers   
 
The Committee considered a report of the Chief Executive on executive decisions 
taken under urgency powers during the Covid-19 pandemic (for copy see file of 
minutes). 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the report be noted. 

Page 10



            

 Cabinet 

18 November 2020 

Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

2021/22 and Council Tax: Covid-19 

Hardship Fund Payments 

 Key Decision No. CORP/R/20/05 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

John Hewitt, Corporate Director of Resources 

Councillor Alan Napier, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Finance 

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 The purpose of this report is to: 

(a) seek approval to recommend to Council the continuation of the 
current Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme (LCTRS) for a further 
year into 2021/22, which would continue the protection afforded to 
all claimants in line with what their entitlement would have been 
under the former Council Tax Benefit system;  

(b) provide cabinet with information on the current and forecasted 
expenditure in terms of the Government’s Covid-19 hardship fund; 

(c) seek approval for the allocation of the remaining Covid-19 hardship 
fund grant to continue to support vulnerable residents following 
consideration of the options and recommendations set out in the 
report;  

(d) seek approval of the updated Discretionary Council Tax Reduction 
(Covid-19) policy in line with agreement on the allocation of the 
remaining Covid-19 hardship grant fund.  

Executive summary 

2 Durham is one of a small minority of councils to continue to offer the 
same level of support to all claimants as was available under the former 
Council Tax Benefit scheme.  In 2018/19, when national data was last 
collected, only 36 local authorities in England, and no other councils in 
the North East, offered all residents this level of assistance. Meaning no 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



LCTRS claimants in our area have been worse off in the last eight years 
than they would have been under the previous national scheme. 

3 Nationally the most common change made to LCTRS is the introduction 
of minimum payments.  Over 80% of Local Authorities have introduced 
these; making all residents liable, regardless of their income, and 
responsible for paying a percentage of their council tax.  This ranges from 
5% to 50% of the property’s full council tax liability.  

4 National research confirms that there is a clear correlation between 
higher minimum payments in LCTRS and council tax collection rates.  

5 There are currently 58,250 LCTRS claimants in County Durham, of which 
22,050 (38%) are pensioners and 36,200 (62%) are working age.  28,940 
(80%) of working age claimants currently receive 100% LCTRS discount, 
with LCTRS support forecast to be circa £61.9m in 2020/21. 

6 The rollout of Universal Credit (UC) is scheduled to be completed in 2024 
and is already in payment to a significant number of people in Durham.  
As of September 2020, there were circa 18,250 LCTR claimants 
receiving UC, just over 50% of the working age LCTR caseload.   

7 The council is around four times more likely to receive a report of a 
change in circumstances when a working age LCTR claim is based on 
UC, than when it is not.  Regular monthly recalculations of UC and LCTR, 
most frequently caused by changes in earnings, are leading to multiple 
bills being issued to households. This has resulted in residents not being 
able to easily keep track of their Council Tax liability, leading to difficulties 
for households when managing their finances and personal budgeting.   

8 The Council will need to keep track of the impact of the continuing roll out 
of UC. After many years of continued improvement, our in-year council 
tax collection rate reduced slightly in 2018/19 to 96.65%, and further still 
in 2019/20 to 96.37%. The current year has seen a further significant 
reduction year on year also but that in most part is due to the impact of 
Covid-19. 

9 Consideration of whether to extend the current scheme into 2021/22 
needs to take account of a number of key factors and changing the 
scheme at this stage means additional council tax revenues (or 
pressures) would need to be built into the medium term financial plan 
(MTFP) projections. No changes to the scheme were factored into the 
MTFP(11) projections reported to Cabinet on 14 October 2020.  

10 The coronavirus pandemic has had a significant impact on the LCTRS 
working age caseload, which increased dramatically in the first quarter of 
2020/21 as an unprecedented number of new claims were received by 
working age customers adversely affected by Covid-19.  At the peak in 
May 2020 the working age LCTRS caseload was almost 3,000 higher 

Page 12



than in January.  The total value of LCTRS awards is expected to be 
around £5m higher in 2020/21 than in the previous year. 

11 In March 2020 the Government announced a £500m hardship fund, of 
which Durham was allocated £6,964,443, to provide support to 
economically vulnerable people and households during the Covid-19 
pandemic. The Government announced that it was their ‘strong 
expectation’ that the funding would be used to give all working age 
LCTRS recipients a further reduction in their 2020/21 council tax bill of 
£150, or a reduction of their liability to nil if their liability was already 
below £150 after LCTR. 

12 On 4 May 2020, under a delegated decision taken by the Corporate 
Director of Resources, the Council adopted a policy which provided an 
enhanced scheme, offering a reduction of up to £300.  This was 
affordable in Durham as our LCTRS does not have a minimum payment 
level, and as a result 80% of our residents were already receiving LCTR 
and have no council tax to pay. 

13 To ensure that the Covid-19 hardship funding was used to support the 
most vulnerable in our county, £1m of the grant received was set aside to 
supplement the council’s Welfare Assistance Scheme in the coming year, 
aimed at anti-poverty and community resilience measures, leaving 
£5,964,443 of grant to provide additional support to residents through 
LCTR hardship top ups. 

14 It is estimated that by the end of 2020/21, as a result of administering 
payments to support the reduction of council tax bills by up to £300 for 
working age residents receiving LCTR, the Council will have applied 
around £4.2m of the Covid-19 hardship funding, leaving approximately 
£1.8m of grant unspent.  

15 One option for using the remaining Covid-19 hardship funding is to 
continue to offer some additional support to working age LCTRS 
recipients in 2021/22.  The estimated cost of this would be £2.4m should 
we make a payment of up to £150, £1.7m for payments up to £100 and 
£900,000 for payments up to £50. 

16 When accounting for expenditure of the Covid-19 hardship funding there 
is no absolute requirement to spend all or even most of the money on 
help with council tax.  Unspent hardship funding could be spent in other 
ways which supports economically vulnerable residents. Support for 
foodbanks, advice services, or local welfare schemes are all examples of 
potential funding beneficiaries.  Local authorities could even use the 
funding to help cover the increased cost of CTR scheme due to Covid-19. 

Recommendation(s) 

17 Cabinet is recommended to: 

Page 13



(a) consider the report and resolve to recommend to Council that the 
current Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme is continued into 
2021/22, which will retain the same level of support to all working 
age council taxpayers on low incomes as was the case under the 
previous Council Tax Benefit Scheme; 

(b) agree that the extension to the Scheme be initially for a further year 
only and be kept under continuous review with a further decision 
on the scheme to apply in 2022/23 to be considered by Cabinet in 
summer 2021 and Full Council by 11 March 2022; 

(c) ensure full use of the Covid-19 Hardship Fund allocation to support 
vulnerable residents experiencing financial difficulty by extending 
the existing top up arrangements into 2021/22, making a maximum 
payment of £100 to eligible residents in receipt of Council Tax 
Reduction next year;  

(d) approve the Discretionary Council Tax Hardship Reduction (Covid–
19) Policy attached at Appendix 2, which has been updated to 
incorporate the extension of the scheme into 2021/22 as outlined in 
the report.  

  

Page 14



Background 

18 The Government abolished the national Council Tax Benefits system on 
31 March 2013, replacing it with a requirement for local authorities to 
work with their precepting bodies to establish a Local Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme (LCTRS) with effect from 1 April 2013.  The LCTRS 
provides a ‘discount’ against the council tax charge, rather than a benefit 
entitlement. 

19 The Council Tax Reduction Scheme Grant replaced Council Tax Benefit 
subsidy and from April 2013 was paid directly to the council and the 
major precepting bodies (Police and Fire). 

20 Government funding towards council tax support was reduced by 10% 
nationally in 2013/14.  By so doing, the Government also transferred the 
risk of any growth in the system through more council taxpayers 
becoming eligible for support with their council tax to local authorities as 
the government grant was a fixed amount. This risk has materialised in 
the current year when an unprecedented number of new claims for LCTR 
was received as a result of the national lock down linked to the Covid-19 
pandemic. 

21 The funding made available to support the LCTRS in 2013/14 (90% of the 
previous funding available under the Council Tax Benefit System) now 
forms part of the council’s formula funding arrangements. Whilst separate 
figures were published for this in 2013/14, there is no longer any visibility 
over what level of funding is now for LCTRS that is contained within the 
formula.  

22 The council’s formula grant includes an element relating to town and 
parish councils and whilst the council has passed the grant on to the town 
and parish councils, there is no statutory requirement to do so.  

23 Following discussions with the Town and Parish Councils’ Working 
Group, and in the spirit of partnership working, recognising the important 
role town and parish councils play in providing local services to 
communities and their co-operation in terms of claims for double taxation 
payments, it is proposed to continue to pass on the town and parish 
element of the formula grant in 2021/22.  

24 In doing so, it is proposed that the council continues to apply pro-rata 
reductions in the Council Tax Support Grant paid to town and parish 
councils in line with any reductions in the overall formula funding made 
available to the council and this is reflected in the MTFP model.  

25 In 2020/21 Town and Parish Councils received £1.332m of LCTRS grant 
allocations and for budget planning purposes have been advised that the 
Council will retain payments at this level next year, though the amount of 
grant provided to individual town or parish councils may vary according to 
the year on year changes in their tax raising capacity. 

Page 15



26 In March 2020, the Government announced a £500m Covid-19 hardship 
fund, of which Durham was allocated £6,964,443, to provide support to 
economically vulnerable people and households during the pandemic. 
The Government’s expectation was for councils to utilise most of this 
funding to provide additional council tax relief, on top of their LCTRS.  
Local authorities could use any leftover funding to assist residents in 
need. 

27 The Government’s strong expectation was that billing authorities provide 
all working age LCTRS recipients with a minimum of £150 reduction in 
their annual bill for 2020/21.  

28 On 4 May 2020, under a Delegated decision taken by the Corporate 
Director of Resources, the Council adopted a policy which provided an 
enhanced scheme, offering a reduction of up to £300.  This enhanced 
scheme was affordable in Durham because our LCTRS is more generous 
and already reduces most claimants’ bills to nil, whereas in other areas it 
is not as all working age claimants have some element of council tax to 
pay regardless of their circumstances. 

29 This report provides an estimate of Covid-19 hardship fund expenditure in 
2020/21.  It is expected that there will be a significant amount of grant 
unspent under current plans.  Options are given about how the council 
can ensure the grant funding is fully and effectively spent to support 
vulnerable residents.  

Review of the Local Council Tax Support Scheme 

30 On 4 December 2019 County Council agreed the current LCTRS for 
2020/21, which mirrors the previous scheme that operated under the 
Council Tax Benefit System for all claimants.  No council tax support 
claimants have therefore been worse off in the last eight years than they 
would have been under the previous national scheme. 

31 The council has been mindful of the continuing impacts of the wider 
welfare reforms which are having a detrimental impact on many low 
income households and the fact that the additional council tax liabilities 
for working age households could have a significant impact on affected 
household budgets by around £130 a year based on a scheme whereby 
entitlement for working age claimants is set at a maximum of 90% 
entitlement. This would make collection of council tax more difficult and 
costly to recover from these low income households. 

32 In approving the scheme for 2020/21, the Council gave a commitment to 
review it on the grounds of MTFP affordability given the ongoing austerity 
it faces, the cumulative impacts the Governments welfare reforms and 
the prevailing economic circumstances facing our residents. 

33 In the North East region, Durham are now the only authority whose 
scheme continues to mirror entitlement under the former Council Tax 

Page 16



Benefit system, whilst the other eleven councils have schemes that cap 
the maximum entitlement to working age claimants.  

34 The Institute for Fiscal Studies (IFS) estimate that a quarter of the 
additional council tax liability created by cuts to LCTR since 2013 is not 
being collected in year. The table below summarises the key features of 
the schemes in place across the North East in 2020/21 and how their in-
year council tax collection rates have changed between 2012/13 and 
2019/20: 

Local Authority 
Basis of 
Scheme 

Minimum 
Payment 

Second 
Adult 
Reduction 
Offered? 

Change in in-year 
council tax collection 
rate between 2012/13 

and 2019/20 

Durham CTB No Yes +1.37%points 

Darlington CTB 20% No +0.34%points 

Gateshead CTB 8.5% No -0.72%points 

Hartlepool CTB 12% No -1.80%points 

Middlesbrough CTB 15% No -4.40%points 

Newcastle Income Banded 10% No -0.08%points 

North Tyneside CTB 15% No -1.90%points 

Northumberland CTB 8% Yes -0.06%points 

Redcar and 
Cleveland 

CTB 12.5% No +1.11%points 

South Tyneside CTB 
30% or 
15% if 

vulnerable 
Yes -2.07%points 

Stockton CTB 20% No -3.05%points 

Sunderland CTB 8.5% Yes -2.31%points 

All English Unitary 
Authorities 

N/A N/A N/A -0.50%points 

All English 
Authorities 

N/A N/A N/A -0.80%points 

 
35 In 2018/19, when national data was last collected, Durham County 

Council was one of just 36 nationally who continued to mirror entitlement 
under the former Council Tax Benefit system (11%), with 290 (89%) out 
of 326 having cut the amount of support available to claimants. The latest 
published data available shows the most common changes to have been 
implemented elsewhere have been the introduction of a minimum 
payment level and reducing or removing the Second Adult Reduction.  
The chart below shows the types of changes and restrictions 
implemented to schemes across England: 

Page 17



 

36 In some local authorities, like Durham, the lowest-income households 
continue to be exempt from paying council tax whilst in others they are 
required pay between 5% and 50% of their bill. There is a wide disparity 
of support available across the country. 

37 The majority of councils who made changes to their schemes in the first 
few years of LCTR did so to cap the overall amount that could be paid to 
working age households – 80% of councils had a cap in 2018-19 – but 
different councils have set them at very different levels. Combined with 
different choices about other aspects of scheme design, this means that 
otherwise similar households are treated very differently according to 
where they live.  However, more recently, local authorities have started to 
focus on making changes to better support applicants receiving UC, while 
maintaining a cap on the total amount that an applicant can receive. 

38 The rollout of UC was originally intended to be completed by 2017, but 
after repeated rescheduling the current target date is September 2024.  
Despite the extended roll-out, UC is already in payment to a significant 
number of people in Durham.  This covers new claimants and those 
affected by natural migration to UC, where a change in circumstance can 
remove entitlement to a legacy benefit and result in a person having to 
make a UC claim instead. As of September 2020 there were circa 18,250 
LCTR applicants receiving UC, just over 50% of the working age LCTR 
caseload in Durham.   

39 The LCTR scheme in Durham, based on the former CTB scheme, is a 
complex scheme, designed to reflect and interact with the Department for 
Work and Pensions’ (DWP) long-standing range of legacy benefits.  All of 

Page 18



which are calculated weekly, are based on the same premiums and 
allowances, have identical income and capital assessment rules and an 
established history of common case law. 

40 UC is a complete departure from the legacy benefits it replaces.  It is 
calculated monthly, with new rules and new allowances, and for in-work 
claims is subject to regular monthly changes.   

41 When compared to the legacy benefits schemes it replaces, UC produces 
more losers than winners, with prominent losers being disabled 
claimants, due to the loss of substantial disability allowances.  Going 
forward, to offer effective support to applicants who receive UC, local 
authorities will increasingly need to rethink their LCTR schemes.   

42 Durham County Council took an early decision to accept electronic 
notifications of a new UC claim from the DWP as an application for 
LCTR. This measure has helped Durham maintain its working age 
caseload.  Other local authorities have seen reductions in the number of 
LCTR applications received, due to residents no longer being required to 
come to the council to make joint HB and LCTR claims.  This will have 
resulted in increases in council tax arrears and impacted on collection 
performance.  

43 In terms of impact on LCTRS workload, the council is around four times 
more likely to receive a report of a change in circumstances when a 
working age LCTR claim is based on UC, than when it is not.   

44 Regular monthly recalculations of UC and LCTR, most frequently caused 
by changes in earnings, lead to multiple bills being issued to the 
household and significant difficulties for residents trying to maintain their 
council tax payments.  Net council tax charges are repeatedly being 
recalculated and instalment dates pushed back to later in the year. This is 
further complicated by the need to give customers paying by direct debit 
14 days notice when making a change in their payments.  These 
changing instalments can cause considerable budgeting difficulties for 
residents, as well as a knock-on impact for the council in terms of 
increased call traffic and council tax collection work. 

45 Nationally, LCTR schemes provided 24% less support to working age 
households in 2018/19 than if the national Council Tax Benefit system 
had been retained. 

46 In 2018/19, over two million households across the country were being 
adversely affected by the change from Council Tax Benefit. On average 
these families were paying £204 additional council tax in 2018/19 in 
comparison to what they would have paid under the national Council Tax 
Benefit scheme. The number of LCTRS claimants paying an additional 
£200 or more had increased to 933,000 in 2018/19. 

Page 19



47 There are currently 58,250 LCTRS claimants in County Durham, of which 
22,050 (38%) are pensioners and 36,200 (62%) are working age 
claimants.  28,940 (80%) of working age claimants currently receive 
100% LCTRS discount, with LCTRS support forecast to be circa £61.9m 
in 2020/21. 

48 In Durham, there are now over 3,750 claimants currently classed as 
working age that would have been treated as pensionable age claimants 
prior to 2010, when the process began of moving state pension credit age 
from 60 for women and 65 for men, up to 66 for both.  This process was 
completed in 2020, with a further move up to 67 planned between 2026 
and 2028, then to 68 between 2044 and 2046.  As the chart below 
shows, over the last eight years there has been a eight percentage point 
increase in the proportion of working age applicants within Durham: 

 

49 This means a higher proportion of our caseload is coming under the part 
of the LCTRS scheme that the Council has control over. Working age 
customers also carry a greater administrative workload as they have 
more frequent changes in their circumstances, particularly when they are 
in receipt of UC. 

50 As Members will be aware, if any changes are made to the scheme, 
these must be consulted on and be subject to an equality impact 
assessment. Councils are required to review and approve their schemes 
annually and have this agreed by a Council meeting before 11 March 
each year. 

51 Statutorily, pensioners have to be protected from any changes, therefore 
any reductions can only be applied to working age claimants.  

53% 54% 54% 56% 56% 57%
60% 61%

47%
46%

46%
44%

44% 43%
40%

39%

0

5000

10000

15000

20000

25000

30000

35000

40000

01/04/13 01/04/14 01/04/15 01/04/16 01/04/17 01/04/18 01/04/19 01/04/20

Working Age and Pension Age Caseload

Working Age Pension Age

Page 20



52 Eight years after the Government abolished the national Council Tax 
Benefits System the council continues to have an LCTRS which mirrors 
the previous entitlement under the Council Tax Benefit system for all 
claimants. No council tax support claimants have therefore been 
financially worse off in the last eight years (including the current year) 
than they would have been under the previous national scheme. 

53 The Council has been mindful of the continuing impacts of the wider 
welfare reforms which are having a detrimental impact on many low 
income households and the fact that the additional council tax liabilities 
for working age households could have a significant impact on affected 
household budgets by around £100 to £130 a year based on a scheme 
whereby entitlement for working age claimants is set at a maximum of 
90% entitlement. This would make collection of council tax more difficult 
and costly to recover from these low-income households. 

54 In January 2019, analysis from the IFS showed a direct link between 
higher minimum payments in LCTRS and lower overall council tax 
collection rates: 

Minimum 
Payment Level 
in LCTRS 

Estimated Effect on 
Collection Rate 

(percentage point 
change) 

Up to 8.5% -0.09% 

8.6% to 20% -0.24% 

Over 20% -0.49% 

 

55 Based on Taxbase assumptions, the estimated net cost of retaining the 
scheme is circa £5.1 million – this reflects the reduction in Government 
Grant support towards maintaining these schemes in the first year. To 
recover the full £5.1m cost by reducing the benefit awarded to working 
age claimants, which currently totals circa £38.6 million, and factoring in a 
prudent collection rate of 80%, would require the maximum entitlement to 
be reduced from 100% to 83.5%. 

56 Should the council review its scheme and reduce maximum entitlement to 
working age claimants, depending on the forecasted council tax collection 
from affected low income households, there would be scope to increase 
council tax revenues by between £3.01million (based on a scheme that 
awarded maximum entitlement to working age households of 90% with a 
prudent collection rate of 80%) and £5.1million (based on a scheme that 
awarded maximum entitlement of 83.5% with a prudent collection rate of 
80%).  This would impact circa 36,200 working age households across 
County Durham, where 6,950 (19%) are actually in low paid jobs rather 
than being unemployed. 

Page 21



57 When the scheme was reviewed last year, a small amendment was made 
to extend the maximum backdating period from six to 12 months. 

58 This change has enabled officers to assist residents within the LCTR 
scheme, without relying on discretionary powers under Section 13A(1)(c) 
of the Local Government Finance Act 1992.  As was expected, these 
cases have been rare.  In the first five months of 2020/21, of 2,324 new 
LCTRS awards which were backdated, only six required backdating for 
over six months.  These additional backdated awards totalled just over 
£1,500. 

59 The council’s LCTRS scheme has been in significantly increased demand 
this year as a result of the coronavirus pandemic.  The pension age 
caseload has continued a trend of reduction.  The working age caseload, 
however, increased dramatically in the first quarter of 2020/21 as an 
unprecedented number of new claims were received by customers 
adversely affected by Covid-19.  At the peak in May 2020 the working 
age LCTRS caseload was almost 3,000 higher than in January: 

 

60 This increase in working age LCTRS claims, and the continued financial 
impact of Covid-19 is expected to result in an increase in the total amount 
of support offered through the scheme in 2020/21 to around £61.9m.  
This is an increase of over £5m on the cost of last year’s scheme and is 
more than £10m more than the total support offered in 2015/16 and 
2016/17: 

20000

22000

24000

26000

28000

30000

32000

34000

36000

38000

01/04/13 01/04/14 01/04/15 01/04/16 01/04/17 01/04/18 01/04/19 01/04/20

LCTRS Caseload Since 2013

Working Age Pension Age

Page 22



 

61 Despite the pressures of this increased demand, the council has 
continued to offer a good level of service to residents.  So far this year, 
new LCTRS claims have been processed in an average of 19 days of 
being received, ahead of a service target of 21 days. LCTRS changes in 
circumstances have been processed in an average of four days, ahead of 
a service target of nine days. 

62 To help maximise take up of LCTRS we continue to treat a notification 
from the DWP of a new UC claim, as a new claim for LCTRS.  In addition, 
work has been undertaken between our Welfare Rights and 
Communications teams to update and improve the information on our 
website concerning help available to residents facing redundancy – 
gathering information about benefits, access to training and jobs, money 
advice, and housing into one place. 

Review of Covid-19 Hardship Fund 

63 A number of measures have been introduced by the UK Government   
aimed at supporting businesses and individuals affected by Covid-19.  
These range from making existing welfare benefits more generous to 
offering substantial support for businesses to pay wages. 

64 In March 2020, the Government announced a £500m hardship fund, of 
which Durham was allocated £6,964,443, to provide support to 
economically vulnerable people and households during the Covid-19 
pandemic.  

£52.4m £52.2m
£51.6m £51.7m

£52.9m

£54.6m

£56.6m

£61.9m
estimated

£45,000,000

£47,000,000

£49,000,000

£51,000,000

£53,000,000

£55,000,000

£57,000,000

£59,000,000

£61,000,000

£63,000,000

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

Annual LCTRS Awarded

Page 23



65 Councils are able to spend this funding in any way which supports 
vulnerable people and households.  However, the Government 
announced that it was their ‘strong expectation’ that the most of the 
funding would be used to give all working age LCTRS recipients a further 
reduction in their 2020/21 council tax bill of £150, or a reduction of their 
liability to nil if their liability was already below £150. 

66 As highlighted earlier, most English local authorities cap their LCTRS 
scheme for working age claimants and require a minimum payment from 
these residents.  In Durham there is no such cap and as a result 80% of 
our working age LCTRS recipients have no council tax to pay. 

67 For most authorities, with less generous LCTR schemes, awarding the 
£150 recommended by the Government is proving to cost more than their 
share of the £500m hardship funding.  In Durham, however, modelling 
showed we could afford to give more help to our economically vulnerable 
residents.  On 4 May 2020, under a delegated decision taken by the 
Corporate Director of Resources, the Council adopted a policy (Appendix 
2) which provided an enhanced scheme, offering a reduction of up to 
£300. 

68 Benchmarking with other North East local authorities has shown that 
Durham is the only authority in the region to offer residents support in 
excess of the £150 recommended by the Government. 

69 Guidance from the Ministry of Housing Communities & Local Government 
(MHCLG) issued in March 2020 stated that ‘The Government […] expects 
that billing authorities will primarily use their grant allocation to reduce the 
council tax liability of individuals in their area, using their discretionary 
powers under s13A(1)(c) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992. 
Councils may also want to use some funding to deliver increased 
financial assistance through other local support mechanisms, having 
considered local circumstances.’ 

70 There is no absolute requirement to spend all or even most of the Covid-
19 hardship funding on help with council tax.  The grant can however be 
used for anything that supports the community, including allocating 
funding to support foodbanks, advice services, or local welfare schemes. 
These are all legitimate ways to spend the funding and councils can even 
use the funding to help cover the increased cost of CTR scheme due to 
Covid-19. 

71 To ensure that the hardship funding is used to support the most 
vulnerable in our county, £1m of the grant received was set aside to 
supplement the council’s Welfare Assistance Scheme, anti-poverty and 
community resilience measures in 2020/21, leaving £5,964,443 of grant 
to provide additional support to residents. 

72 To date (position as at 11 September 2020) awards of up to £300 have 
been made to 12,624 households, with additional support totalling £3.1m. 

Page 24



73 The Councils benefits system automatically calculates and award 
awards, based on the outstanding council tax liability after LCTRS, for the 
period starting on the start date of LCTRS entitlement in 2020/21 up to 31 
March 2021.  As new LCTRS claims are assessed, new hardship 
payments of up to £300 are made alongside automatically.  As LCTRS 
claims are recalculated due to changes in residents’ circumstances, 
hardship payments are automatically adjusted as required.   

74 The continued impact of Covid-19 on the local economy, with the 
imminent withdrawal of the furlough scheme and the implementation of 
local restrictions in recent months brings additional pressure on 
employers, and risks increases in unemployment.  We are expecting high 
volumes of claims for LCTRS to continue and for the working age 
caseload to remain high into 2021/22. 

75 Modelling has been undertaken to estimate the potential expenditure in 
relation to this fund, so that consideration can be given to the current 
policy, and to adapting it to provide additional support during periods of 
continued economic uncertainty.  

76 It is important to consider what support may be currently needed, as well 
as use of the funding to mitigate financial difficulties for our council tax 
paying residents during the coming financial year. 

77 It remains unclear, at this stage, as to whether MHCLG will offer a similar 
hardship grant in 2021/22 if Covid-19 continues to have a significant 
impact on the economy. 

78 As the chart below shows the estimated total spend for 2020/21 is 
currently estimated to be £4.2m: 

Page 25



  

79 Under current plans, the council is expected to have around £1.8m of the 
Covid-19 hardship funding allocated to LCTRS top up payments unspent 
at the end of 2021. 

Covid-19 Hardship Fund: Options 

80 Given the potential for surplus funding to be available, continuing 
uncertainty surrounding the economy and for increased pressure on 
household incomes; consideration needs to be given to the following 
options: 

(a) Extending top up hardship awards into 2021/22 for those receiving 
LCTRS, of up to £150 - estimated cost of £2.4m. 

(b) Extending top up hardship awards into 2021/22 for those receiving 
LCTRS, of up to £100 - estimated cost of £1.7m. 

(c) Extending top up hardship awards into 2021/22 for those receiving 
LCTRS, of up to £50 - estimated cost of £900,000 

(d) To spend the leftover hardship funding in other ways which 
supports economically vulnerable residents – such as support for 
foodbanks or advice services. 

(e) To help fund the increased cost of LCTRS in 2020/21and / or 
increase the level of top up payments awarded to LCTRS 
claimants in the current year. 

£2,000,000

£2,500,000

£3,000,000

£3,500,000

£4,000,000

£4,500,000

Predicted Covid-19 Hardship Spend 2020/21 

Spend to Date Predicted Spend

Page 26



81 The recommended option is to continue the LCTRS hardship top up 
payments to LCTRS claimants in 2021/22 at a rate of up to £100. In 
doing so the Council would be ensuring that the grant allocation is fully 
expended for the purposes for which it was intended and would be 
tapering off support to financially vulnerable households, who have 
received up to an additional £300 of support this year.   

Conclusion 

82 There is a statutory requirement for Full Council to approve the Local 
Council Tax Reduction Scheme (LCTRS) to be operated in 2021/22 
before 11 March 2021. Following consideration of this report the intention 
is to put proposals to the County Council at its meeting on 2 December 
2020. 

83 The council will need to continue to review the national situation and track 
what is happening in local authorities that have introduced LCTRS that 
have reduced entitlement to their working age claimants in terms of 
impacts and performance in terms of recovery of the council tax due. 

84 The reasons for extending the current scheme are due to the current 
scheme remaining within existing cost parameters for the council and 
concerns over the impact that changing the scheme and introducing 
measures to increases charges to working age claimants would have at 
this time, particularly in light of the current economic outlook for our area 
as we seek to recover from the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic.  

85 Whilst the full impacts of the Government’s welfare reforms and the 
impact of covid-19 are complex and difficult to track, demand for 
Discretionary Housing Payments; social fund applications and rent 
arrears statistics in County Durham compared to others across the 
region, would suggest that the council tax benefit protection afforded to 
working age claimants, in addition to the wide ranging proactive support 
that has been put in place, is continuing to have a positive impact on 
these households.  

86 The council will also need to keep track of the ongoing and increasing 
impact of the roll out of UC. This presents continuing challenges for the 
administration of LCTRS as it results in a much higher number of 
changes in circumstances and removes the administrative economies of 
scale currently achieved by administering Housing Benefit and LCTRS 
claims side by side.     

87 More significantly however, UC changes results in multiple reworking and 
changes to LCTRS entitlement throughout the year and multiple bills 
being issued to individual households resulting in numerous changes to 
their net liability and instalment plans for any council tax balance they are 
responsible for. After many years of continued improvement, our in-year 

Page 27



council tax collection rate reduced slightly in 2018/19 to 96.65% and 
further still in 2019/20 to 96.37%.  

88 Any proposed changes to the LCTRS for 2022/23 would need to be 
consulted upon and, should any changes be proposed, a report would 
need be brought to Cabinet in spring / summer 2021 before embarking on 
a consultation process thereafter. 

89 The council has receiving grant funding of almost £7m from MHCLG to 
support economically vulnerable residents affected by Covid-19.  The 
majority of this funding, approximately £4.2m is being used to give 
working age LCTRS recipients an additional reduction in their council tax 
bill of up to £300. A further £1m has been used to supplement the 
council’s Welfare Assistance Scheme, anti-poverty and community 
resilience measures in the coming year.  This leaves an anticipated 
£1.8m available for the council to use to offer further support to residents. 

90 This report recommends that the remainder of the Covid-19 hardship 
fund is retained and carried over to 2021/22 and that the council 
continues to make LCTRS hardship top up payments to LCTRS 
claimants in 2021/22 at a rate of up to £100. In doing so the Council 
would be ensuring that the grant allocation is fully expended for the 
purposes for which it was intended and would be tapering off support to 
financially vulnerable households, who have received up to an additional 
£300 of support this year. 

Background papers 

• Local Government Finance Act 1992 (section 13A) 

 

• Welfare Reform Act 2012 

 

• The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) 

(England) Regulations 2012  

 

• The Impacts of Localised Council Tax Support Schemes – Institute for 

Fiscal Studies Report January 2019 

 

• Delegated Decision report - Allocation of Council tax: COVID-19 hardship 
fund 2020 to 2021. 04 May 2020.  

• Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government – COVID-19 
Hardship Fund 2020-21 Local Authority Guidance. March 2020. 

Other useful documents 

• Medium Term Financial Plan (11), 2021/22-2024/25 – Report to Cabinet 
14 October 2020 

Page 28



• Forecast of Revenue and Capital Outturn 2020/21 period to 30 June 
2020 and Update on Progress towards achieving MTFP(10) Savings – 
report to Cabinet 16 September 2020 

• Forecast of Revenue and Capital Outturn 2020/21 period to 30 
September 2020 and Update on Progress towards achieving MTFP(10) 
Savings – report to Cabinet 18 November 2020 

 

Author(s) 

Paul Darby     Tel:  03000 261 930 

Mary Readman    Tel:  03000 268 161 

  

Page 29



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

The Welfare Reform Act 2012 abolished the national council tax benefits 

system (CTB), paving the way for new Local Council Tax Reduction Schemes 

(LCTRS) to be introduced under the auspices of the Local Government Finance 

Act 1992.  

Section 13A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (“the 1992 Act”) 

requires each billing authority in England to make a scheme specifying the 

reductions which are to apply to amounts of council tax payable by persons, or 

classes of person, whom the authority considers are in financial need (“a 

council tax reduction scheme”). 

The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) 

Regulations 2012 (“the 2012 Regulations”) prescribe matters which must be 

included in such a scheme in addition to matters set out in paragraph 2 of 

Schedule 1A to the 1992 Act.  

Each year regulations amending the 2012 Regulations are made in 

November/December. The majority of the amendments are to ensure 

consistency with changes to social security legislation and these are 

subsequently included in our local scheme. 

The LCTRS provides a ‘discount’ against the council tax charge, rather than a 

benefit entitlement and as such impacts on the council’s tax base.  

Regulations made under the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (The Local 

Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) Regulations 1992 (as amended) 

the council to calculate a council tax base for each financial year. 

The Local Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) (England) Regulations 

2012 which came into force on 30 November 2012 and applies to the financial 

years beginning 1 April 2013 onwards contains the rules which require the 

council to calculate the Council Tax Base. 

A key element of the tax base calculation is the council’s policy in terms of its 

LCTRS. 

There is a statutory requirement for the Council to adopt a local council tax 

support scheme for the ensuing financial year by 11 March each year.  Where 

the council is proposing any changes to its scheme, there is a statutory 

requirement to consult on these proposals in advance of making any changes. 

Page 30



Pensioners have to be protected from any changes, with any reductions applied 

to working age claimants only. 

Council Tax: Covid-19 Hardship Fund Payments 

The ability to reduce a council tax charge is included in Section13A Local 

Government Finance Act 1992 as amended by Local Government Act 2003, 

section 76. Section 76 gives councils the authority to make a discretionary 

reduction in council tax in circumstances that it deems appropriate. This may be 

exercised in relation to cases or by determining a class of property in which the 

liability is to be reduced to an extent provided by the determination. 

Finance 

Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

The funding made available to support the LCTRS in 2013/14 (90% of the 
previous funding available under the Council Tax Benefit System) now forms 
part of the council’s formula funding arrangements.  

The council has continued to pass on the town and parish element of its 
formula grant over the last eight years but in doing so continue to apply pro-rata 
reductions in the Council Tax Support Grant paid to town and parish councils.  

In 2020/21 Town and Parish Councils received £1.332m of LCTRS grant 
allocations and for budget planning purposes have been advised that the 
Council will retain payments at this level next year, though the amount of grant 
provided to individual town or parish councils may vary according to the year on 
year changes in their tax raising capacity. 

The council is responsible for the costs of any increase in caseload as the level 
of Government support is fixed within formula grant.    

Prudent estimates and provisions were built into the tax base forecasts at 
budget setting, and whilst the council is subject to greater financial risk now, the 
current scheme remains within the budget provisions. 

Should the council review its scheme and reduce maximum entitlement to 
working age claimants, depending on the forecasted council tax collection from 
affected low income households, there would be scope to increase council tax 
revenues by between £3.01million (based on a scheme that awarded maximum 
entitlement to working age households of 90% with a prudent collection rate of 
80%) and £5.1million (based on a scheme that awarded maximum entitlement 
of 83.5% with a prudent collection rate of 80%).   

 

This would impact circa 36,200 working age households across County 
Durham, where 6,950 (19%) are actually in low paid jobs rather than being 
unemployed. 

Page 31



Council Tax: Covid-19 Hardship Fund Payments 

Durham was allocated £6,964,443 from the £500million Hardship Fund 

announced in March 2020 to support economically vulnerable people and 

households. The funding has been paid to the council through a grant under 

section 31 of the Local Government Act 2003. 

In order to ensure that the funding is used to support the most vulnerable in our 

county, £1million of the grant received was set aside to supplement the 

council’s Welfare Assistance Scheme, anti-poverty and community resilience 

measures in the coming year, leaving £5,964,443 of grant to provide additional 

support to an enhancement to our LCTR scheme. 

To provide the additional support, with effect from 1 April 2020, the council 

adopted the following policy: 

• Recipients of LCTRS during 2020/21 will have their liability reduced by up 

to £300 following the application of a Hardship Award; based on their 

liability after the start date of LCTRS. 

• Where following the application of LCTRS a taxpayer’s liability for 

2020/21 is nil, no reduction to the council tax bill will be available. 

To date (position as at 11 September 2020) awards of up to £300 have been 
made to 12,624 households, additional support totalling £3.1m. The estimated 
total spend for 2020/21 is currently forecast to be £4.2m, which would result in 
circa £1.8m of the funding allocated to this scheme unspent in 2020/21. 

It is anticipated that the continued impact of Covid-19 on the local economy, 
with the imminent withdrawal of the furlough scheme and the implementation of 
local restrictions in recent months will bring additional pressure on employers, 
and risks increases in unemployment.  We are expecting high volumes of 
claims for LCTRS to continue and for the working age caseload to remain high 
into 2021/22. 
 

Consultation 

Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

Town and parish councils were consulted on the proposals to continue to 

passport an element of the council’s formula grant, equivalent to the town and 

parish share of the Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme grant funding within 

formula grant for 2020/21. This coincided with a review of payments made to 

Town and Parish Councils previously linked to pre-existing and inconsistent 

arrangements in the former district councils for services that had been devolved 

to them. 

Subject to Cabinet and Council consideration of the proposals outlined in this 

report, no further consultation will be required. The proposals are to extend and 

continue the current LCTRS into 2021/22, thereby retaining the same level of 
Page 32



support to all working age council tax payers as the previous Council Tax 

Benefit Scheme, which was abolished on 1 April 2013. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Eight years after the Government abolished the national Council Tax Benefits 

System the council continues to have a LCTRS which mirrors the previous 

entitlement under the Council Tax Benefit System for all claimants. No council 

tax benefit claimants have therefore been financially worse off in the last eight 

years than they would have been under the previous national scheme and if the 

proposals set out in this report and ultimately agreed by Council in the autumn 

this will continue to be the case. 

The Government EIA on the LCTRS was published in January 2012 and is 

relatively brief. It considered equality impacts in relation to age and disability, 

concluding that protection for pensioners would be a positive impact and the 

effects on disabled people would depend on how each local authority 

responded to the reduction in council tax support. No impacts were identified in 

relation to gender or ethnicity and no other protected characteristics were 

considered and it was left to individual councils to identify full local impacts, 

based on local implementation. 

Given the proposals to extend the current LCTRS into 2021/22 thereby 

continuing to protect current entitlement, there will be no negative equalities 

impact, with the financial position of claimants protected in 2021/22. 

Should the Council decide against extending the current scheme into 2021/22 

and elect instead to pass on reductions to working age claimants, there would 

be a range of potential negative equalities impacts. These include financial 

impact for working age claimants and possible additional impacts in relation to 

health and wellbeing, housing and the consequences of debt or legal action.  

These impacts are most likely in relation to gender, age and disability with 

limited impacts for race and sexual orientation and no evidence of impact on 

transgender status, religion or belief. 

The award of help from the Hardship Fund has had a positive impact on 
working age LCTRS recipients along with any council taxpayers who do not 
qualify for LCTRS but are awarded a reduction from the Hardship Fund. 

Climate Change 

None. 

Human Rights 

None. 

Crime and Disorder 

Page 33



Any reduction in council tax support, alongside other welfare changes could see 

an increase in crime if customers seek to increase their income to make up for 

the benefits lost. The proposals set out in this seek to protect current 

entitlement in 2021/22 and as such have no implications, though the impact of 

the wider welfare reforms agenda will need to be kept under constant review. 

Staffing 

None. 

Accommodation 

None. 

Risk 

The report outlines a range of financial risks surrounding the LCTRS. These are 

being effectively managed at this time. Given that the proposal is to extend the 

current arrangements into 2021/22 there are no system development issues or 

risk associated with these proposals.  

The council will need to keep track of the impact of the roll out of Universal 

Credit (UC). This presents new challenges for the administration of LCTRS as it 

results in a much higher number of changes in circumstances (experience is 

that the UC earned income element changes frequently as the person moves 

through the claimant commitment with their Work Coach) and removes the 

administrative economies of scale currently achieved by administering Housing 

Benefit and LCTRS claims side by side.   

More significantly however, UC changes results in multiple reworking and 
changes to LCTRS entitlement throughout the year and multiple bills being 
issued to individual households resulting in numerous changes to their net 
liability and instalment plans for any Council Tax balance they are responsible 
for. After many years of continued improvement, our in-year council tax 
collection rate reduced slightly in 2018/19 to 96.65%, and further still in 2019/20 
to 96.37%.  

The amount of support provided through the Council Tax: Covid-19 Hardship 

Fund Payments will continue to be carefully monitored to ensure that this 

funding is fully utilised. 

Procurement 

None. 

  

Page 34



Appendix 2:  Discretionary Council Tax Reduction Policy  

 

 

Durham County Council 
 
 
 

Council Tax  
Section 13A(1)(c) Local Government 

Finance Act 1992 
 

Discretionary Council Tax Hardship 
Reduction (Covid–19) Policy 

 
 

(Version 9: 18 November 2020) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 35



Contents 
 

1      Introduction and Purpose of Policy Document 
   

2      Background 
 
3 Council Tax – Section 13A(1)(c) Local Government Finance 

Act 1992 – Discretionary Hardship Reduction Policy 
 

3.1 Introduction 
 
3.2 Legislation 
 
3.3 Durham County Council Policy 
 
3.4 Criteria 
 
3.5 The Application 
 
3.6 The Decision-Making Process 
 
3.7 Review of Decision 
 
3.8 The Award 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 36



 

1 Introduction and purpose of Policy Document 
 

1.1 This policy sets out the council’s approach to the awarding of a  
discretionary discount under Section 13A(1)(c) of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992 in certain circumstances for people 
affected by coronavirus (Covid-19). It has been designed to ensure 
that all customers making an application are treated in a fair, 
consistent and equal manner. 
 

1.2 This policy has been written to: 
 

a. Set guidelines for the factors that should be considered 
when deciding to award or refuse an application. 

 
b. Set out the delegated authority to award the Hardship 

Reduction in appropriate circumstances. 
 

c. Establish an appeals procedure for customers dissatisfied 
with a decision. 

 
d. Safeguard the interest of the local taxpayers by ensuring that 

funds that are allocated for the award of Hardship Reduction 
are used in the most effective and economic way. 

 

2 Background 
 

2.1 The council’s Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme (LCTRS) offers 
means tested support in the form of reduced council tax bills.  
Since the national council tax benefit scheme was abolished in 
2013, Durham’s LCTRS is one of a small minority in England, and 
the only one in the North East, which offers an equivalent support 
to the old benefit scheme, with working age residents able to 
receive reductions of up to 100% of their council tax charge.  As 
more residents’ finances are affected by coronavirus (Covid-19), 
the scheme will assist those: 

 

• already in receipt of LCTRS, who have a reduction in income 
and may qualify for an additional reduction in their council 
tax bill, and 

• who make new claims for LCTRS as a result of a drop or 
disruption in their income. 

 
2.2 The LCTRS will be an important route to deliver meaningful 

support to those affected by coronavirus (Covid-19) over the 
coming months.  Before any additional support is considered 
through the Discretionary Reduction (Covid-19) policy, residents 
will be expected to investigate whether help would be available to 

Page 37



them under LCTRS.  Residents can check whether they would 
receive LCTRS and be given an estimated award by using the 
online calculator on our website at 
https://www.durham.gov.uk/counciltaxreduction. 

 
2.3 The level of Support available under LCTRS is based on a 

household’s income and savings.  If a household’s savings are 
over £16,000 or if total income is significantly above their 
‘appropriate amount’ then no LCTRS can be awarded. The 
‘appropriate amount’ is the minimum income which a household is 
deemed to need to meet their necessities, excluding housing costs 
and council tax.  It is calculated based on factors such as the 
household’s size, disabilities and caring responsibilities.  The 
figures used mirror those used in national Department for Work 
and Pension benefits such as Universal Credit, Job Seekers 
Allowance and Employment and Support Allowance. 

 
2.4 Some residents may find themselves in compromised financial 

situations as a result of coronavirus (Covid-19) but have no 
entitlement to LCTRS or to one or more of the Government’s other 
support schemes.   

 
2.5 In response to the challenges posed by the coronavirus (Covid-19) 

pandemic, the government announced a new £500 million 
Hardship Fund for Local Authorities to support economically 
vulnerable people and households struggling to meet their council 
tax payments.  

 
2.6 The Government expectation was for Local Authorities to primarily 

use their grant allocation to reduce the council tax liability of 
individuals in their area. Funding has been allocated to Local 
Authorities based on their share of the national caseload of working 
age LCTRS recipients using the most recent published data. 

 
2.6 The Government’s strong expectation is that Local Authorities will 

provide all recipients of working age LCTRS during the financial 
year 2020-21 with a further reduction in their annual council tax bill 
of a  minimum of £150, using their discretionary powers to reduce 
the liability of council tax payers outside of their formal LCTRS 
scheme design.   

 
2.7 Where a taxpayer’s liability for 2020-21 is, following the application 

of LCTRS, less than £150, then the Government expect their 
liability will be reduced to nil. Where a taxpayer’s liability for 2020-
21 is nil, no reduction to the council tax bill will be available. 

 
2.8 There will be no need for any recipient of LCTRS to make a 

separate claim for a reduction under this scheme. The Local 

Page 38

https://www.durham.gov.uk/counciltaxreduction


Authority will assess who is eligible for support from the hardship 
fund and automatically rebill those council taxpayers. 

 
2.9 Having allocated grant to reduce the council tax bill of working age 

LCTRS recipients by a further £150, the government has stated 
that Local Authorities should establish their own local approach to 
using any remaining grant to assist those in need. This may 
include, but is not restricted to, providing additional relief through 
existing discretionary discount/hardship policies (adapted where 
necessary in order to capture those most likely to be affected by 
coronavirus (Covid-19)). 
 

3 Council Tax Discretionary Reduction (Covid-19) Policy 
 

3.1 Introduction 
 

3.1.1 Councils have the power to reduce the amount of council tax a 
person must pay to such an extent as they see fit. This includes the 
power to reduce an amount to nil, and, may be exercised in relation 
to cases or by determining a class of property in which liability is to 
be reduced to an extent provided for by the determination.  
 

3.2 Legislation 
 

3.2.1 The ability to reduce a council tax charge is included in Section13A 
Local Government Finance Act 1992 as amended by Local 
Government Act 2003, section 76. Section 76 gives councils the 
authority to make a discretionary reduction in council tax in 
circumstances that it deems appropriate. 

 
3.3 Durham County Council Policy 

 
3.3.1 The Council will adopt the following policy with effect from 1 April 

2020: 
 

a. Where following the application of LCTRS a taxpayer’s liability 
for 2020/21 and/or 2021/22 is nil, no reduction to the council 
tax bill will be available. 

 
b. Recipients of LCTRS during 2020/21 will have their liability 

reduced by up to £300 following the application of a Hardship 
Award; based on their liability after the start date of LCTRS.  

 

c. Recipients of LCTRS during 2021/22 will have their liability 
reduced by up to £100 following the application of a Hardship 
Award; based on their liability after the start date of LCTRS 

 

Page 39



3.3.2 Some residents who find themselves experiencing severe financial 
hardship as a result of coronavirus (Covid-19) but who have no 
entitlement to LCTRS or to one or more of the Government’s other 
support schemes may receive help towards reducing their council 
tax liability by the award of a discretionary (Covid-19) discount.  
 

3.3.3 Applications for a reduction will only be considered in individual 
cases where severe financial hardship as a result of coronavirus 
(Covid-19) can be demonstrated and all routes for existing help 
that the council can already provide have been explored and 
exhausted. 
 

3.3.4 Where an application is successful, the reduction will be applied 
directly to the council tax account. 
 

3.4 Criteria 
 

3.4.1 Each application will be assessed on its individual merits. When 
assessing applications, the following considerations will be made: 
 
Is the customer currently in receipt of LCTRS? 
All existing LCTRS working age claimants in 2020/21 will receive 
an award of up to £300, unless their liability is nil. 
 
All existing LCTRS working age claimants in 2021/22 will receive 
an award of up to £100, unless their liability is nil 
 
If the customer is not currently in receipt of LCTRS, will they 
now qualify?  
New claimants should be signposted to the online calculator and 
application form and encouraged to check their entitlement and 
make a new application for council tax reduction as soon as 
possible. Following the assessment of their claim for LCTRS the 
award of the additional top up support outlined in this policy will be 
applied. 

 
Has the customer explored other methods of maximizing their 
income?   
Customers should be signposted to apply for Employment and 
Support Allowance or Universal Credit where appropriate. 
Customers should also be encouraged to contact their mortgage 
provider or landlord and organisations to whom they owe debt, as 
many are now offering support and arrangements for repayment. 
 
Do the customer’s current financial circumstances 
demonstrate an inability to pay their council tax or in doing so 
would cause extreme hardship? 

Page 40



In cases where entitlement to LCTRS is not applicable, customers 
can make an application for support under the Discretionary 
Hardship Reduction Policy. The customer will be required to submit 
a Hardship Reduction application. Officers will review the 
completed financial statement issued with the hardship application 
form to establish the level of hardship and their eligibility for 
support. Should this support be warranted then a discretionary 
award of up to £300 can be made against the council tax liability for 
2020/21 and up to £100 for the council Tax liability for 2021/22, in 
line with the top up provided to LCTRS working age claimants. 

 
If the circumstances are short term, would a payment 
arrangement / deferred instalment plan be more appropriate? 
Payment arrangements / deferred instalment plans should be 
explored with the customer as part of the application for Hardship 
Reduction. 
 

3.4.2 All applications for Hardship Reduction are only intended as short-
term assistance for exceptional circumstances. Any award should 
not be considered as a way of reducing council tax liability 
indefinitely or for reducing arrears. 
 

3.4.3 Each application will be looked at individually and considered on its 
own merits. 
 

  3.5 The Application 
 

3.5.1  All applications for Hardship Reduction under this policy should be 
made by completing the online digital application form and financial 
statement. 

 
3.5.2 It is the responsibility of the council taxpayer applying for a 

reduction to provide enough information and evidence to support 
their application. If the council taxpayer applying does not or will 
not provide the required evidence; the application will still be 
considered, but only based on the information and evidence 
provided.  

 
3.5.3 Further information may be requested to support an application. 

Where a request for further information is made, the information 
must be provided within four weeks. Failure to provide information 
within four weeks will result in the application being considered on 
the information and evidence that has already been provided. 
 

  
 
 
 

Page 41



3.6 The Decision-Making Process 

  
3.6.1  Upon receipt of an application and all supporting information a 

standard decision-making process will be followed: 

 

▪ Applications will be considered by the Finance Team within a 
target of 10 days from receipt of a signed application, financial 
statement and all supporting information. 

 
▪ The applicant will be advised in writing of the decision within a 

target of 10 days of receiving enough information to allow the 
assessment of the application and a revised council tax demand 
notice will be issued where applicable.  

 

 3.7 Review of Decision 
 

 3.7.1  The council will accept a request from the applicant for a re-
determination of its decision.  

 
▪ Re-determination of the decision will be by a Senior Officer 

within the Finance Team.  
 

▪ Requests should be made in writing stating the reasons why it is 
believed that the decision should be reviewed.  

 
▪ The council will consider whether the council taxpayer has 

provided any additional information that will justify a change to 
its original decision.  

 
▪ The council will notify the council taxpayer of its final decision 

within 21 days of receiving a request for a re-determination. 
 

▪ Whilst every effort will be made to meet the deadline outlined 
above, failure by the council to do so does not qualify the 
claimant for Hardship Reduction. 

 
▪ If a claimant remains dissatisfied with the refusal of their 

application, they may appeal to the Valuation Tribunal for 
England (VTE). They have two months to do this from the date 
of our reply. 

 
Valuation Tribunal 
3rd Floor 
Crossgate House 
Wood Street 
Doncaster  
DN1 3LL 
Telephone: 0300 1232035 

Page 42



Fax: 01302 329935 
E mail: vtdoncaster@valuationtribunal.gov.uk 

 

3.8 The Award 
 

3.8.1  The award will be for a maximum of £300 made against the council 
tax liability for 2020/21 and a maximum of £100 made against the 
council tax liability for 2021/22.  

 
3.8.2 Where an application is successful, an award letter will be issued 

as confirmation along with an amended bill showing revised 
instalments. 

 
3.8.3 Where an award has been made and subsequently the council tax 

account goes into credit at any point during the financial year, the 
credit will remain on the account to be used to offset any balances 
which may subsequently arise. The credit will be reviewed at the 
end of the financial year and where appropriate transferred to the 
following financial year to reduce the balance. 

 
3.8.4 Where an award has been made and a council tax account goes 

into credit up to the amount of any payments that have been made 
during the financial year, the credit will be reviewed at the end of 
the financial year and a refund may be issued where appropriate. 

 
3.8.5  Where a customer requests a refund before the end of the financial 

year, we will consider these requests only where the credit has 
arisen due to payments made by the customer and each case will 
be looked at individually and treated on its own merit 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Page 43

mailto:vtdoncaster@valuationtribunal.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

             

        
 Cabinet 

18 November 2020 

Council Tax Base 2021/22 and Forecast 
Deficit on the Council Tax Collection 
Fund as at 31 March 2021 

Key Decision: CORP/R/20/03 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

John Hewitt, Corporate Director of Resources 

Councillor Alan Napier, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Finance 

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To determine the council’s tax base for domestic properties liable to pay 
council tax, which is an important component in the council’s budget 
setting process for 2021/22 and to report on the estimated collection 
fund surplus as at 31 March 2021. 

Executive summary 

2 Regulations made under the Local Government Finance Act 1992 
requires each billing authority to calculate its ‘council tax base’ for the 
following financial year. 

3 The council tax base is a measure of the county council’s ‘taxable 
capacity’, for the purpose of setting its council tax. Legislation requires 
the council to set out the formula for that calculation and that the tax 
base is formally approved by Cabinet. 

4 In determining the council tax base for 2021/22 the following issues 
must be factored into the calculation: 

(a) The impact of exemptions and discounts being applied to 
properties within County Durham; 

Page 45

Agenda Item 5



(b) Forecast impact on the tax base as a result of changes in the 
incidence of Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme (LCTRS) 
claims, which is a discount rather than a benefit payment and 
therefore reduces the tax base; 

(c) Forecast impact on the tax base as a result of the changes made 
to the Long Term Empty (LTE) property council tax premium, 
offset by estimated impact of the new section 13A(1)(c) policy; 

(d) Forecast impact on the tax base as a result of growth (i.e. new 
build) or reductions (e.g. demolitions or increases in the incidence 
of other council tax discounts and exemptions) for 2021/22; and  

(e) Provision for non-collection of council tax due to bad debts that 
need to be written off. 

5 This year, COVID19 is making it more difficult to accurately forecast a 
tax base for next year. The pandemic has had a significant impact on 
our local economy which has resulted in an increase in unemployment, 
particularly youth unemployment, and a subsequent increase in the 
incidence of LCTRS claims.  

6 The council experienced a 4% increase in claims for LCTRS in quarter 
one, followed by a steady reduction in the number of claims across 
quarter two as the national lockdown came to an end. New LCTRS 
claims received in August and September were in line with “normal” 
levels, though the underlying position is that there are many more 
LCTRS claims in payment currently than we were anticipating when we 
set the tax base last year.  

7 There are concerns that there will be a further wave of new LCTRS 
claims in quarter three when the furlough scheme comes to an end and 
as lock down restrictions potentially impact on employment.  

8 New house building has continued throughout the pandemic period, 
though not quite at the rate that would have been expected previously 
but there is still a steady stream of new assessments being added to 
the rating list, which is expected to continue into 2021/22.  

9 Taking all these matters into account the council tax base for the 
financial year 2021/22, based on the current position and prudent 
assumptions around the incidence of discounts and exemptions across 
the coming eighteen months plus prospects for new builds, has been 
calculated to be 141,623.2 band D equivalent properties, a small 
decrease of 118.8 (0.08%) on the council tax base for 2020/21.  

10 This is the first time since the LCTRS was introduced that that the tax 
base for the following year has been lower than the current year and 

Page 46



this will reduce the council’s tax raising capacity, resulting in a MTFP / 
budget pressure next year of circa £0.2 million. Prior to the pandemic 
impacts it would have been expected that there would be an increase in 
tax raising capacity of between £1 million and £1.5 million from 
increases in the council tax base. 

11 As at 30 September 2020 the council tax collection fund is forecast to 
have a deficit of £4.816 million at 31 March 2021. Durham County 
Council’s share of this deficit would be £4.034 million.  

12 The council would usually declare its council tax collection fund position 
for budget setting purposes based on the quarter two forecast and 
inform the two principal precepting bodies to the Collection Fund - 
County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Authority and Durham 
Police, Crime and Victims’ Commissioner – of the amounts they would 
need to take into account next year. 

13 Regulations have changed for 2021/22 and whilst previously the shares 
of the declared Collection Fund Surplus or Deficit would need to be 
absorbed by the relevant bodies in the following year, the Government 
have amended the regulations to allow this pressure to be spread over 
three years. 

14 Given the uncertain and fluid position currently and that COVID19 can 
still have a significant impact on the council tax collection fund outturn it 
is felt that it is too early to declare the collection fund position for budget 
setting purposes. The council plans on declaring the final position later 
in the year. The statutory deadline for declaring the forecast position is 
15 January. The quarter two position has been shared with the two 
principal precepting bodies to the Collection Fund.  

Recommendation(s) 

15 Cabinet is recommended to: 

(a) approve the council tax base for the financial year 2021/22 for the 
county, which has been calculated to be 141,623.2 band D 
equivalent properties; 

(b) note the impact on individual Town and Parish council tax bases 
and the Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme grant allocations 
for the financial year 2021/22; 

(c) note the forecasted council tax Collection Fund position at 31 
March 2021 and agree that the final position for budget setting 
purposes will be declared later in the year; 

  

Page 47



Background 

16 Regulations made under the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (The 
Local Authorities (Calculation of council tax base) Regulations 1992 (as 
amended)) require each billing authority to calculate its ‘council tax 
base’ for the following financial year. 

17 The Local Authorities (Calculation of council tax base) (England) 
Regulations 2012 (SI 2012:2914) provides amended statutory guidance 
to incorporate the changes as a result of the introduction of Local 
Council Tax Reduction Schemes (LCTRS’s) from 1 April 2013. 

18 The council tax base is a measure of the county council’s ‘taxable 
capacity’, for the purpose of setting its council tax. Legislation requires 
the council to set out the formula for that calculation and that the tax 
base is formally approved by cabinet. 

19 Section 84 of the Local Government Act 2003 enables authorities to set 
their council tax base, other than by a decision of the full council, 
therefore, allowing cabinet to take the necessary decisions to determine 
the council tax base for 2021/22. 

20 A separate report on the Cabinet Agenda sets out the outcome of the 
annual review of the council’s LCTRS, with cabinet requested to 
recommend to Council continuation of the current LCTRS into 2021/22.  

21 On 2 December 2020, County Council will formally consider the 
continuation of the current LCTRS into 2021/22, which would retain the 
same level of support to all council taxpayers as the previous Council 
Tax Benefit Scheme, which was abolished on 1 April 2013. This report 
is prepared on the basis that County Council will approve the 
recommendations put to it in December. 

22 All monies collected from council tax are paid into the collection fund. 
The council collects monies on behalf of itself, the Police, Crime and 
Victims’ Commissioner, the County Durham and Darlington Fire and 
Rescue Authority and local Town and Parish Councils in the County. 
Police and Fire are classified as major precepting bodies under council 
tax legislation, whereas Town and Parish Councils are classified as 
local precepting bodies. 

23 Significant sums pass through the collection fund annually, a process 
which can result in a surplus or deficit on the fund at the 31 March as 
the monies billed and collected inevitably vary from those estimated. 

24 As the billing authority, the council is required on an annual basis, by 15 
January, to make a declaration of the estimated collection fund outturn 
position, and identify and apportion any surplus or deficit anticipated for 

Page 48



the following financial year between the principal precepting authorities 
making a precept on the fund so that they can factor this into the budget 
setting processes. Quarterly updates are reported as part of the 
budgetary control reports to cabinet. Last year, the council declared a 
surplus of £1.074 million, which was distributed in 2020/21 and used for 
budget setting in the current year. 

Calculating the Tax Base 2021/22 

25 Appendix 2 shows the number of dwellings in County Durham, allocated 
across the various council tax bands. At 5 October 2020 there were 
248,867 dwellings registered for council tax in the county, compared to 
247,251 at 7 October 2019, a year on year increase of 1,616 (0.65%).  

26 Some of these properties are exempt from council tax (e.g. dwellings 
occupied solely by students), whilst in single person households only 
75% of the tax is payable. Following decisions taken in December 2012, 
empty properties no longer receive any discount; neither do second 
homes and Long-Term Empty (LTE) properties currently.  From 1 April 
2020 empty properties that have been empty for more than two years 
are currently charged a 100% premium, and those empty for longer 
than five years are charged a 200% premium  

27 The number of dwellings, therefore, needs to be adjusted to reflect 
these discounts and exemptions, giving a net property base (chargeable 
dwellings) for each council tax band. Council tax for a band A property 
is 6/9ths of the band D council tax; band B is 7/9ths and band C is 
8/9ths. Prior to consideration of the impact of the LCTRS, there are 
217,798.5 chargeable properties in County Durham and 83.6% of these 
are within bands A to C, with 57.4% of all properties being in band A. 

28 The council tax levied varies between the different bands according to 
proportions laid down in legislation. These proportions are based 
around band D, and are fixed so that the bill for a dwelling in band A will 
be a third of the bill for a dwelling in band H. Applying the relevant 
proportion to each band’s net property base produces the number of 
‘Band D Equivalent’ properties for the area. Prior to consideration of the 
impact of LCTRS, there are 171,892.4 band D equivalent properties in 
County Durham. 

29 The proportion of properties in each band varies significantly across the 
country, impacting on the tax raising capacity of individual local 
authorities. In England, the latest information available shows there are 
65.74% of all properties within bands A to C. In County Durham there is 
a much higher proportion of properties within bands A to C, at 83.6%. 
This means County Durham has a much lower tax base than the 
national average and is therefore unable to generate as much council 

Page 49



tax compared to those local authorities with a low proportion of 
properties within bands A to C. For example, Surrey is a high tax base 
local authority as it has a low proportion of properties within band A to C 
(only 25.47% based on the latest published information) which enables 
them to generate a large proportion of their funds from council tax, 
compared to Durham. In MTFP terms this means that a 1% council tax 
increase in Durham raises circa £2.3 million of additional resources for 
the council but in Surrey a 1% council tax increase raises circa £9.8 
million. 

30 In determining the council tax base for 2020/21, three further issues 
must be factored into the calculation: 

(a) Forecast impact on the tax base as a result of changes in the 
incidence of LCTRS claims, which is a discount against the 
council tax and therefore impacts on the tax base.  

(b) Forecast impact on the tax base as a result of growth (i.e. new 
build or reductions in the incidence of other council tax discounts 
and exemptions) or reductions (e.g. demolitions or increases in 
the incidence of other council tax discounts and exemptions) for 
2020/21; and  

(c) Provision for non-collection of council tax due to bad debts that 
need to be written off. 

31 This year, COVID19 is making it more difficult to accurately forecast a 
tax base for next year. The pandemic has had a significant impact on 
our local economy which has resulted in an increase in unemployment, 
particularly youth unemployment, and a subsequent increase in the 
incidence of LCTRS claims.  

32 The council experienced a 4% increase in claims for the LCTRS in 
quarter one, followed by a steady reduction in the number of claims 
across quarter two as the national lockdown came to an end. New 
LCTRS claims received in August and September were in line with 
“normal” levels, though the underlying position is that there are many 
more LCTRS claims in payment currently than we were anticipating 
when we set the tax base last year.  

33 There are concerns that there will be a further wave of new LCTRS 
claims in quarter three when the furlough scheme comes to an end and 
as lock down restrictions potentially impact on employment. It is 
uncertain what the level of new claims might be and whether this will be 
a temporary increase in claims followed by a sharp or gradual reduction 
as people find alternative employment. 

Page 50



34 New house building has continued throughout the pandemic period, 
though not quite at the rate that would have been expected previously 
but there is still a steady stream of new assessments being added to 
the rating list, which is expected to continue into 2021/22.  

35 In 2020/21 the provision for non-collection was 1%, giving a forecast 
overall collection rate of 99% and it is proposed to retain the same non-
collection rate for 2021/22 tax base setting purposes.  The provision for 
non-payment will continue to be kept under review for future years, with 
the long-term impact of the suspension of formal recovery action in the 
current year as a result of COVID19 still uncertain. 

36 2019/20 was the first year in which the council built in prudent 
assumptions for growth in the tax base as a result of new build and net 
changes in discounts and exemptions over the coming year. Previously, 
the council had taken an even more cautious approach to tax base 
setting and had not built in any tax base growth into its tax base 
calculations. The prudent assumptions in terms of tax base growth year 
on year have in part helped protect the councils position this year.  

37 Whilst there is still uncertainty with regards to the impact of COVID19 
on the demand for LCTRS, the 2021/22 calculations again include 
prudent assumptions for a modest net tax base growth as a result of 
new builds and net changes in other discounts and exceptions. This 
assumption does build in an increased element of risk to the collection 
fund in 2021/22, where tax base growth of 250 band D equivalents 
dwellings (247.5 @ 99% collection rate) has been included in 
determining the tax base for next year. This is half the level that has 
been built into the forecasts in recent years. 

38 Considering the forecast collection rate, the provision of tax base 
growth and factoring in the adjustments to the band D equivalent 
properties as a result of the LCTRS, the band D equivalent tax base is 
forecasted to be 141,623.2 in 2021/22. This compares to the current 
2020/21 tax base figure for the County of 141,742.0 – a decrease of 
118.8 (0.08%) year on year.  

39 This is the first time since the LCTRS was introduced that the tax base 
for the following year has been lower than the current year and this will 
reduce the Councils tax raising capacity, resulting in a MTFP / budget 
pressure next year of circa £0.2 million. Prior to the pandemic impacts it 
would have been expected that there would be an increase in tax 
raising capacity of between £1 million and £1.5 million from increases in 
the council tax base. 

40 The tax base for the county council will be used by the Police, Crime 
and Victims’ Commissioner and the Durham and Darlington Fire and 

Page 51



Rescue Authority to set their council tax precepts for 2021/22, which will 
be included in the council tax bills sent to every council taxpayer in the 
County. 

41 The Town and Parish (T&P) Councils and the Charter Trust for the City 
of Durham, council tax bases are set out at Appendix 3 and will be used 
to calculate T&P Councils and the Charter Trust for the City of Durham 
precepts in 2021/22. These will also be added to the council tax bills 
and sent to every council taxpayer in the respective T&P Council areas.  

42 The council’s formula grant includes an element relating to T&P 
Councils and whilst the council has previously passed the grant on to 
the T&P Councils, there is no statutory requirement to do so.  

43 A MTFP (11) update was considered by Cabinet on 14 October 2020. 
Members will be aware of the significant uncertainty surrounding the 
outcome of the Comprehensive Spending Review, the Financial 
Settlement for next year and the deferred Fair Funding Review. 

44 Despite this uncertainty it is proposed to continue to pass on LCTRS 
grant to T&Ps next year, frozen at the same level as the current year. 

45 The LCTRS grant payable next year to the T&P councils is therefore 
estimated to be £1.333 million. Since 2013 the LCTRS grant payments 
to T&P Councils has totalled circa £13.4 million. 

46 Members will recall that when the LCTRS was introduced and the 
decision taken to pass on LCTRS grants to T&P councils the issue of 
“double taxation” and continuation of pre-existing and inconsistent 
arrangements for grant funding to be provided to certain T&Ps for some 
services that had been devolved to them pre-LGR was also considered.  

47 In agreement with the Local Councils Working Group and through the 
County Durham Association of Local Councils the circa £0.25 million of 
grant payments that were being made at that time were withdrawn and 
any T&P council who wished to relinquish or hand back services that 
had previously been devolved was asked to do so. No services were 
subsequently handed back. 

48 There have been a small number of motions raised at various town and 
parish councils recently in relation to this issue, calling on the council to 
reconsider this and conduct a detailed costing exercise for these 
devolved functions to inform “double taxation” payments to them. To do 
so would involve a significant amount of work and would not be feasible 
at this time to inform 2021/22 budget setting process.  

49 If this request is taken up then the wider support to T&P council’s would 
also need to be considered, including reviewing the existing 

Page 52



arrangements for making LCTRS grant payments. The annual “double 
taxation” grant payments that were removed were circa £0.25 million. 
Had the council not decided to make LCTRS grant payments pass on 
the grant, as many others haven’t, and continued to pay the 
£0.25million instead local councils would have received around £11.4m 
less funding over the last 8 years. Discussions on this matter are being 
progressed through the Local Councils Working Group and via the 
County Durham Association of Local Councils 

50 Appendix 4 summarises the financial impact on individual T&P councils 
across the county and the Charter Trust for the City of Durham from the 
combined effects of the changes to the tax base, and the distribution of 
LCTRS grant in 2021/22. 

51 The LCTRS grant payable to individual T&P councils has been 
allocated proportionate to impact on tax raising capacity brought about 
by the LCTRS, which was previously agreed as the most appropriate 
method of distribution with representatives of the County Durham 
Association of Local Councils as part of the Local Councils Working 
Group.  

Estimated Collection Fund Surplus / Deficit – Council Tax 

52 The council needs to determine and declare the estimated surplus or 
deficit on its collection fund at 31 March each year by 15 January. 

53 The position at the end of quarter two (position to 30 September 2020) 
on the council tax collection fund is a forecast deficit of £4.816 million at 
31 March 2021.    

54 The council would usually declare its council tax collection fund position 
for budget setting purposes based on the quarter two forecast and 
inform the two other principal precepting bodies to the Collection Fund 
of the amounts they would need to take into account next year, which 
would be as follows: 

  Forecast Deficit 
at 31 March 2021 

Durham County Council £4.034m 

Durham Police, Crime & Victims’ Commissioner £0.525m 

Durham & Darlington Fire and Rescue Authority £0.257m 

Total £4.816m 

 

Page 53



55 Regulations have been changed for 2021/22 and whilst previously the 
shares of the declared Collection Fund surplus or deficit would need to 
be absorbed by the relevant bodies in the following year, the 
Government have amended the regulations to allow this pressure to be 
spread over three years 

56 Given the uncertain and fluid position currently and that COVID19 can 
still have a significant impact on the council tax collection fund outturn it 
is felt that it is too early to declare the collection fund position for budget 
setting purposes in line with the normal process. The council will 
therefore be declaring the final position later in the year.  

57 Officers will continue to carefully track and monitor the council tax base 
and collection fund performance over the coming months. The statutory 
deadline for declaring the forecast position is 15 January. The quarter 
two position has been shared with the two principal precepting bodies to 
the Collection Fund.  

Next Steps 

58 Police, Fire and local town and parish councils were been notified of 
their indicative council tax bases earlier this summer and County 
Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Authority and Durham Police, 
Crime and Victims’ Commissioner were also informed of the quarter one 
forecast of outturn for the council tax collection fund.  

59 Subject to cabinet consideration of this report, the tax bases will be 
confirmed. T&P councils will be requested to submit their precept 
requests by 22 January 2021 to enable these to be incorporated into the 
2021/22 budget and council tax setting reports to cabinet and council in 
February 2021. 

60 The Fire Authority and Durham Police, Crime and Victims’ 
Commissioner will be provided with the updated position in terms of 
their shares of the estimated deficit on the council tax collection fund 
and informed that the final forecast position that will be declared later on 
in the year and notifications issued to them prior to 15 January 2021. 

Conclusion 

61 Taking into account the forecast collection rates, the provision of tax 
base growth, and factoring in the adjustments to the band D equivalent 
properties as a result of the LCTRS, the band D equivalent tax base is 
forecasted to be 141,623.2. 

62 The forecast deficit on the council tax collection fund at 31 March 2021 
is estimated to be £4.816 million.  Officers will continue to carefully track 

Page 54



and monitor the council tax base and collection fund performance over 
the coming months and the Council will declare the estimated outturn 
position to be taken into account by the principal precepting authorities 
later in the year, with notifications issued to the principal precepting 
bodies in advance of the statutory deadline of 15 January.  

Background papers 

 Local Authorities (Calculation of council tax base) Regulations 
2012 (SI:2012:2914)  

 Welfare Reform Act 2012. 

 Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2020/21 – report to 
Council 4 December 2019 

 Medium Term Financial Plan (11), 2021/22-2024/25 – report to 
Cabinet 14 October 2020 

 Review of the Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme and Council 
Tax: COVID19 Hardship Fund Payments - Report to Cabinet 18 
November 2020 

 Forecast of Revenue and Capital Outturn 2020/21: Quarter 2 – 
report to Cabinet 18 November 2020 

Other useful documents 

 Local Council Tax Support Scheme, Review of Discretionary 
Council Tax Discount on Unoccupied Properties & Calculation of 
Council Tax Base 2013/14 – report to Cabinet 19 December 2012 

 

Contact:         Paul Darby                   Tel: 03000 261930 

  

Page 55



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

The council has a statutory responsibility to set its council tax base for the 
purpose of levying council tax from its council taxpayers in order to raise the 
required amount of council tax income to balance its 2021/22 revenue budget. 

Regulations made under the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (The Local 
Authorities (Calculation of council tax base) Regulations 1992 (as amended) 
set out how the council must calculate a council tax base for each financial 
year. 

The Local Authorities (Calculation of council tax base) (England) Regulations 
2012 (SI 2012:2914) which came into force on 30 November 2012 and applies 
to the financial years beginning 1 April 2013 onwards contains the rules which 
require the council to calculate the council tax base. 

Section 84 of the Local Government Act 2003 enables authorities to set their 
council tax base, other than by a decision of the full council, therefore, 
allowing Cabinet to take the necessary decisions to determine the council tax 
base for 2021/22. 

A key element of the tax base calculation is the council’s policy in terms of its 
LCTRS and on other discretionary discounts.  

There is a statutory requirement for the council to adopt a Local Council Tax 
Reduction scheme by 11 March each year and on 4 December 2020 Council 
will consider proposals to continue with the current LCTRS into 2021/22, in 
line with the cabinet recommendations on 18 November 2020. 

The council is also required to determine and declare the forecast surplus or 
deficit position on its collection fund at the year-end by 15 January each year 
and notify its major precepting bodies (County Durham Fire and Rescue 
Authority; and the Durham Police, Crime and Victims’ Commissioner) of their 
share of these sums so that they can factor these into their budget setting 
processes. 

Regulations have been changed for 2021/22 and whilst previously the shares 
of the declared Collection Fund Surplus or Deficit would need to be absorbed 
by the relevant bodies in the following year, the Government have amended 
the regulations to allow this pressure to be spread over three years. 

Finance 

On 4 December 2020, Council will formally consider the continuation of the 
current Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme into 2021/22, which is proposed 

Page 56



to retain the same level of support to all council tax payers as the previous 
Council Tax Benefit Scheme, which was abolished on 1 April 2013. This report 
is prepared on the basis that Council will approve the recommendations put to 
it in December. 

The extension to the LCTRS is initially for one more year and the Scheme will 
kept under continuous review with a report being considered by cabinet in the 
summer next year, with a view to consultation on any changes for 2022/23 
being in late summer / Autumn of 2021 and a report being presented to 
cabinet on the outcome of the consultation by December 2021 if any changes 
are to be considered.  

The council will distribute £1.333 million of its formula grant to the T&P 
councils and the Charter Trust for the City of Durham in 2021/22.  

Factoring in the tax base figures contained in this report, the council will need 
to include a MTFP / budget pressure next year of circa £0.2 million. Prior to 
the pandemic impacts it would have been expected that there would be an 
increase in tax raising capacity of between £1 million and £1.5 million from 
increases in the council tax base. 

Based on the position to 30 September 2020 the council tax collection fund is 
forecast to have a deficit of £4.816 million at 31 March 2021. Durham County 
Council’s share of this deficit would be £4.034m. The council will not however 
be declaring a final forecast outturn position the council tax collection fund 
until later in the year.  

Consultation 

Town and Parish Councils have been consulted on the proposals to continue 
to passport an element of the council’s formula grant to them as part of a 
LCTRS grant. 

The County Durham Fire and Rescue Authority, Durham Police, Crime and 
Victims’ Commissioner and local T&P Councils were all informed of their 
indicative tax base for 2021/22 in August 2020. 

It is expected that on 4 December 2020 that council will resolve to continue 
with the current Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme into 2021/22, thereby 
retaining the same level of support to all council tax payers as the previous 
Council Tax Benefit Scheme, which was abolished on 1 April 2013. No other 
consultation has been undertaken with regards to the contents of this report. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

None. 

Climate Change 

Page 57



None.  

Human Rights 

None 

Crime and Disorder 

None 

Staffing 

None  

Accommodation 

None 

Risk 

The key risks associated with this report are financial, in terms of prudence 
and accuracy of forecasts used to determine the tax base and the estimation 
of the council tax collection fund surplus / deficit position at 31 March 2020. 

The council’s performance on recovery of council tax, both in year and the 
overall recovery rate needs careful monitoring. In 2020/21, the provision for 
non-collection was 1.0%, giving a forecast collection rate of 99.0% and it is 
proposed to retain the same collection rate for budget setting in 2021/22.  

Officers will continue to carefully track and monitor the council tax base and 
collection fund performance.  

Procurement 

None 

  

Page 58



APPENDIX 2 - Durham County Council Tax Base 2021/22

A B C D E F G H Total 
Number of Dwellings shown on 
the valulation list for the 
Authority on 05/10/2020

143,890.0 34,746.0 31,031.0 21,983.0 10,601.0 4,142.0 2,197.0 277.0 248,867.0

Discounts, Exemptions and Reliefs (18,966.1) (5,420.0) (3,184.0) (2,058.7) (870.0) (296.2) (156.0) (117.5) (31,068.5)

Chargeable Dwellings before 
LCTRS 

124,923.9 29,326.0 27,847.0 19,924.3 9,731.0 3,845.8 2,041.0 159.5 217,798.5

Band D Equivalents prior to 
LCTRS 

83,237.2 22,808.9 24,752.9 19,924.3 11,893.4 5,555.0 3,401.7 319.0 171,892.4

Local Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme impact on tax base (Band 
D Equivalents)

(24,225.0) (2,501.7) (1,323.7) (644.8) (261.2) (96.8) (35.6) 0.0 (29,088.8)

Band D Equivalent Properties 59,012.2 20,307.2 23,429.2 19,279.5 11,632.2 5,458.2 3,366.1 319.0 142,803.6

250.0

143,053.6

141,623.2

% of Properties per Council Tax 
Band

57.4% 13.5% 12.8% 9.1% 4.5% 1.8% 0.9% 0.1% 100.0%

% Properties in Band A to C

Band

Tax Base Growth - Band 
D Equivalents

Total Band D Equivalents

Tax Base (99.0%)

83.6%

P
age 59



APPENDIX 3 - Durham County Council Tax Base 2021/22 by Town & Parish Council

Tax Base for 
Council Tax 

purposes 
2020/21

Locality Parish Area

Number of 
Dwellings on 
the Valuation 

Office List

Band D 
Equivalent 
Properties

Tax Base for 
Council Tax 

purposes 
2021/22

Increase / 
(Decrease) in 

Tax Base  
from 2020/21

No. No. No. No. No.
1,854.8          Barnard Castle Barnard Castle 2,762.0          1,857.1          1,838.5          (16.3)

81.1               Barnard Castle Barningham 84.0               81.7               80.9               (0.2)
53.7               Barnard Castle Boldron 54.0               55.7               55.1               1.4

170.9             Barnard Castle Bowes 207.0             173.0             171.3             0.4
396.6             Barnard Castle Cockfield 790.0             396.1             392.1             (4.5)
275.3             Barnard Castle Cotherstone 295.0             278.9             276.1             0.8
189.3             Barnard Castle Eggleston 214.0             192.1             190.2             0.9
678.8             Barnard Castle Etherley 980.0             677.8             671.0             (7.8)
678.2             Barnard Castle Evenwood and Barony 1,229.0          677.7             670.9             (7.3)

60.7               Barnard Castle Forest and Frith 77.0               60.6               60.0               (0.7)
506.5             Barnard Castle Gainford & Langton 616.0             508.5             503.4             (3.1)
184.9             Barnard Castle Hamsterley 203.0             189.4             187.5             2.6

49.2               Barnard Castle Hutton Magna 47.0               48.4               47.9               (1.3)
185.6             Barnard Castle Ingleton 209.0             183.5             181.7             (3.9)

67.6               Barnard Castle Lartington 61.0               70.3               69.6               2.0
42.4               Barnard Castle Lunedale 43.0               42.9               42.5               0.1

404.6             Barnard Castle Lynesack and Softley 596.0             409.9             405.8             1.2
307.3             Barnard Castle Marwood 355.0             307.4             304.3             (3.0)
172.1             Barnard Castle Mickleton 212.0             173.4             171.7             (0.4)
484.8             Barnard Castle Middleton in Teesdale & Newbiggin in Teesdale 707.0             494.9             490.0             5.2

72.2               Barnard Castle Ovington 67.0               72.5               71.8               (0.4)
66.6               Barnard Castle Rokerby, Brignall and Egglestone Abbey 76.0               67.5               66.8               0.2
97.3               Barnard Castle Romaldkirk 92.0               92.3               91.4               (5.9)
81.8               Barnard Castle South Bedburn 79.0               83.3               82.5               0.7

465.6             Barnard Castle Staindrop 617.0             464.7             460.1             (5.5)

P
age 60



416.8             Barnard Castle Startforth 521.0             430.2             425.9             9.1
159.5             Barnard Castle Streatlam & Stainton 216.0 158.7             157.1             (2.4)
422.3             Barnard Castle Unparished Areas 409.0             427.1             422.8             0.5
116.7             Barnard Castle Whorlton & Westwick 125.0             122.7             121.5             4.8
207.6             Barnard Castle Winston 214.0             208.4             206.3             (1.3)

80.7               Barnard Castle Woodland 121.0             79.8               79.0               (1.7)
599.2             Chester-le-Street Bournmoor 939.0             597.8             591.8             (7.4)
149.4             Chester-le-Street Edmondsley 280.0             151.5             150.0             0.6

1,053.0          Chester-le-Street Great Lumley 1,693.0          1,081.0          1,070.2          17.2
462.4             Chester-le-Street Kimblesworth and Plawsworth 785.0             458.2             453.6             (8.8)
505.1             Chester-le-Street Little Lumley 730.0             502.9             497.9             (7.2)

1,026.3          Chester-le-Street North Lodge 1,221.0          1,091.4          1,080.5          54.2
876.8             Chester-le-Street Ouston 1,329.0          884.4             875.6             (1.2)

1,756.6          Chester-le-Street Pelton 3,328.0          1,762.6          1,745.0          (11.6)
1,319.6          Chester-le-Street Sacriston 2,538.0          1,363.4          1,349.8          30.2
5,640.6          Chester-le-Street Unparished Areas 9,813.0          5,650.3          5,593.8          (46.8)
1,051.1          Chester-le-Street Urpeth 1,560.0          1,052.2          1,041.7          (9.4)
1,466.5          Chester-le-Street Waldridge 1,755.0          1,468.3          1,453.6          (12.9)
4,251.0          Crook Bishop Auckland 7,973.0          4,292.1          4,249.2          (1.8)

738.9             Crook Dene Valley 1,371.0          793.0             785.1             46.2
1,781.6          Crook Greater Willington 3,376.0          1,786.7          1,768.8          (12.8)
1,652.3          Crook Stanhope 2,409.0          1,660.5          1,643.9          (8.4)

477.6             Crook Tow Law 1,008.0          494.9             490.0             12.4
7,412.9          Crook Unparished Areas 13,204.0        7,489.5          7,414.6          1.7

595.5             Crook West Auckland 1,262.0          624.2             618.0             22.5
286.2             Crook Witton le Wear 322.0             282.4             279.6             (6.6)
980.6             Crook Wolsingham 1,306.0          996.3             986.3             5.7
550.5             Durham Bearpark 1,002.0          547.6             542.1             (8.4)

2,982.8          Durham Belmont 4,440.0          2,932.7          2,903.4          (79.4)
225.2             Durham Brancepeth 193.0             225.3             223.0             (2.2)

5,191.9          Durham Brandon & Byshottles 9,735.0          5,263.1          5,210.5          18.6
1,653.9          Durham Cassop-cum-Quarrington Hill 2,972.0          1,701.7          1,684.7          30.8
1,292.5          Durham Coxhoe 2,085.0          1,330.2          1,316.9          24.4

P
age 61



298.2             Durham Croxdale & Hett 471.0             294.1             291.2             (7.0)
1,788.7          Durham Framwellgate Moor 2,589.0          1,796.7          1,778.7          (10.0)

335.0             Durham Kelloe 688.0             338.6             335.2             0.2
494.8             Durham Pittington 693.0             502.8             497.8             3.0
612.6             Durham Shadforth 1,088.0          617.2             611.0             (1.6)
856.3             Durham Sherburn 1,483.0          860.2             851.6             (4.7)
721.8             Durham Shincliffe 703.0             718.2             711.0             (10.8)

3,190.4          Durham Unparished Areas 5,869.0          3,196.0          3,164.0          (26.4)
691.8             Durham West Rainton 1,166.0          690.1             683.2             (8.6)
756.2             Durham Witton Gilbert 1,217.0          754.3             746.8             (9.4)

4,430.4          Durham City of Durham 8,231.0          4,456.7          4,412.1          (18.3)
310.0             Easington Castle Eden 282.0             314.1             311.0             1.0
491.2             Easington Dalton-le-Dale 688.0             504.0             499.0             7.8

1,164.5          Easington Easington Colliery 2,500.0          1,172.2          1,160.5          (4.0)
784.7             Easington Easington Village 1,163.0          801.2             793.2             8.5
476.0             Easington Haswell 902.0             477.4             472.6             (3.4)
200.6             Easington Hawthorn 230.0             202.9             200.9             0.3

1,712.7          Easington Horden 3,973.0          1,731.2          1,713.9          1.2
438.5             Easington Hutton Henry 748.0             430.0             425.7             (12.8)

1,427.2          Easington Monk Hesleden 2,952.0          1,442.3          1,427.9          0.7
1,777.1          Easington Murton 3,576.0          1,781.2          1,763.4          (13.7)
4,506.9          Easington Peterlee 9,297.0          4,548.6          4,503.1          (3.8)
4,612.1          Easington Seaham 9,327.0          4,659.2          4,612.6          0.5

419.7             Easington Seaton with Slingley 536.0             419.3             415.1             (4.6)
1,154.3          Easington Shotton 2,342.0          1,159.9          1,148.3          (6.0)

721.0             Easington South Hetton 1,339.0          718.4             711.2             (9.8)
625.4             Easington Thornley 1,221.0          628.7             622.4             (3.0)
359.7             Easington Trimdon Foundry 703.0             349.3             345.8             (13.9)

58.9               Easington Unparished Areas 55.0               58.3               57.7               (1.2)
730.0             Easington Wheatley Hill 1,545.0          749.4             741.9             11.9

1,077.3          Easington Wingate 1,973.0          1,100.0          1,089.0          11.7
409.8             Spennymoor Bishop Middleham 581.0             411.7             407.6             (2.2)

57.8               Spennymoor Bradbury 57.0               56.9               56.3               (1.5)

P
age 62



1,150.2          Spennymoor Chilton 2,222.0          1,176.6          1,164.8          14.6
605.2             Spennymoor Cornforth 1,307.0          611.2             605.1             (0.1)

92.8               Spennymoor Eldon 208.0             101.6             100.6             7.8
2,377.2          Spennymoor Ferryhill 5,039.0          2,355.3          2,331.7          (45.5)

630.0             Spennymoor Fishburn 1,185.0          633.4             627.1             (2.9)
6,867.8          Spennymoor Great Aycliffe 12,263.0        6,856.6          6,788.0          (79.8)

117.6             Spennymoor Middridge 172.0             133.5             132.2             14.6
118.3             Spennymoor Mordon 113.0             116.4             115.2             (3.1)

1,950.9          Spennymoor Sedgefield Town Council 2,492.0          2,024.1          2,003.9          53.0
2,369.5          Spennymoor Shildon 5,213.0          2,449.3          2,424.8          55.3
6,183.6          Spennymoor Spennymoor Town Council 10,547.0        6,253.3          6,190.8          7.2
1,100.5          Spennymoor Trimdon 2,175.0          1,085.7          1,074.8          (25.7)

118.3             Spennymoor Windlestone 121.0             123.0             121.8             3.5
412.9             Stanley Burnhope 753.0             415.1             410.9             (2.0)
272.0             Stanley Cornsay 533.0             272.3             269.6             (2.4)

1,415.5          Stanley Esh 2,371.0          1,419.8          1,405.6          (9.9)
96.7               Stanley Greencroft 120.0             122.7             121.5             24.8

523.5             Stanley Healeyfield 722.0             517.8             512.6             (10.9)
56.6               Stanley Hedleyhope 84.0               57.6               57.0               0.4

1,476.7          Stanley Lanchester 1,973.0          1,495.3          1,480.3          3.6
49.5               Stanley Muggleswick 58.0               51.1               50.6               1.1

122.8             Stanley Satley 128.0             122.6             121.4             (1.4)
7,923.7          Stanley Stanley 16,162.0        7,981.7          7,901.9          (21.8)

13,007.1        Stanley Unparished Areas 21,811.0        13,165.8        13,034.0        26.9
141,742.0     248,867.0     143,053.6     141,623.2     (118.8)

26,073.1        Durham City of Durham Charter Trust 44,625.0        26,225.5        25,963.2        (109.9)

P
age 63



APPENDIX 4 - Impact on Town & Parish Councils & The Charter Trust for the City of Durham 2021/22

Locality Parish Area

Increase / 
(Decrease) in 
Council Tax 
Base Band D 
Equivalent in 

2021/22

Band D Council 
Tax 2020/21

Increase / 
(Loss) of Tax 

Raising 
Capacity

Parish Element 
of LCTRS Grant 

2020/21

 Parish 
Element of 

LCTRS Grant 
2021/22

Net Position 
After  

Distribution of 
LCTRS Grant

Increase / 
(Decrease) 
Required in 

Band D Council 
Tax to 

Standstill

 Increase / 
(Decrease) in 

Band D Council 
Tax Required 
to Standstill 

 Increase / 
(Decrease) in 

Band A Council 
Tax Required 
to Standstill 

No. £ £ £ £ £ % £ £
Barnard Castle Barnard Castle Town Council (16.3) 105.36             (1,717.37) 0.00 1,674.00 (43.37) 0.02% 0.02 0.01
Barnard Castle Barningham Parish Council (0.2) 44.27               (8.85) (60.00) 67.00 (1.85) 0.05% 0.02 0.01
Barnard Castle Boldron Parish Council 1.4 5.12                  7.17 (13.00) 6.00 0.17 -0.06% 0.00 0.00
Barnard Castle Bowes Parish Council 0.4 30.44               12.18 (86.00) 72.00 (1.82) 0.03% 0.01 0.01
Barnard Castle Cockfield Parish Council (4.5) 52.41               (235.85) (3,679.00) 3,816.00 (98.85) 0.48% 0.25 0.17
Barnard Castle Cotherstone Parish Council 0.8 25.80               20.64 0.00 0.00 20.64 -0.29% (0.07) (0.05)
Barnard Castle Eggleston Parish Council 0.9 38.05               34.25 (206.00) 167.00 (4.75) 0.07% 0.02 0.01
Barnard Castle Etherly Parish Council (7.8) 44.70               (348.66) (325.00) 657.00 (16.66) 0.06% 0.02 0.01
Barnard Castle Evenwood and Barony Parish Council (7.3) 83.79               (611.67) (1,883.00) 2,431.00 (63.67) 0.11% 0.09 0.06
Barnard Castle Forest and Frith Parish Council (0.7) -                    0.00 (99.00) 0.00 0.00 N/A 0.00 0.00
Barnard Castle Gainford & Langton Parish Council (3.1) 73.77               (228.69) 0.00 223.00 (5.69) 0.02% 0.01 0.01
Barnard Castle Hamsterley Parish Council 2.6 24.88               64.69 (108.00) 42.00 (1.31) 0.03% 0.01 0.01
Barnard Castle Hutton Magna Parish Council (1.3) 13.90               (18.07) (30.00) 47.00 (1.07) 0.16% 0.02 0.01
Barnard Castle Ingleton Parish Council (3.9) 42.70               (166.53) (18.00) 180.00 (4.53) 0.06% 0.02 0.01
Barnard Castle Lartington Parish Council 2.0 23.15               46.30 0.00 0.00 46.30 -2.87% (0.67) (0.45)
Barnard Castle Lunedale Parish Council 0.1 5.19                  0.52 (8.00) 7.00 (0.48) 0.22% 0.01 0.01
Barnard Castle Lynesack and Softley Parish Council 1.2 24.72               29.66 (190.00) 156.00 (4.34) 0.04% 0.01 0.01
Barnard Castle Marwood Parish Council (3.0) 39.17               (117.51) 0.00 115.00 (2.51) 0.02% 0.01 0.01
Barnard Castle Mickleton Parish Council (0.4) 23.26               (9.30) (91.00) 98.00 (2.30) 0.06% 0.01 0.01
Barnard Castle Middleton in Teesdale & Newbiggin in Teesdale Parish Council 5.2 53.49               278.15 (332.00) 52.00 (1.85) 0.01% 0.00 0.00
Barnard Castle Ovington Parish Council (0.4) 27.26               (10.90) 0.00 11.00 0.10 -0.01% 0.00 0.00
Barnard Castle Rokerby, Brignall and Egglestone Abbey Parish Council 0.2 26.68               5.34 (118.00) 110.00 (2.66) 0.15% 0.04 0.03
Barnard Castle Romaldkirk Parish Council (5.9) 33.77               (199.24) 0.00 194.00 (5.24) 0.17% 0.06 0.04
Barnard Castle South Bedburn Parish Council 0.7 9.78                  6.85 (1.00) 0.00 5.85 -0.73% (0.07) (0.05)
Barnard Castle Staindrop Parish Council (5.5) 37.18               (204.49) (144.00) 340.00 (8.49) 0.05% 0.02 0.01
Barnard Castle Startforth Parish Council 9.1 42.51               386.84 0.00 0.00 386.84 -2.14% (0.91) (0.61)
Barnard Castle Streatlam & Stainton Parish Council (2.4) 51.91               (124.58) (83.00) 202.00 (5.58) 0.07% 0.04 0.03
Barnard Castle Whorlton & Westwick Parish Council 4.8 53.50               256.80 0.00 0.00 256.80 -3.95% (2.11) (1.41)
Barnard Castle Winston Parish Council (1.3) 32.76               (42.59) 0.00 42.00 (0.59) 0.01% 0.00 0.00
Barnard Castle Woodland Parish Council (1.7) 26.02               (44.23) (20.00) 63.00 (1.23) 0.06% 0.02 0.01
Chester-le-Street Bournmoor Parish Council (7.4) 20.86               (154.36) (1,358.00) 1,474.00 (38.36) 0.31% 0.06 0.04
Chester-le-Street Edmondsley Parish Council 0.6 46.85               28.11 (1,017.00) 964.00 (24.89) 0.35% 0.17 0.11
Chester-le-Street Great Lumley Parish Council 17.2 61.26               1,053.67 (2,047.00) 968.00 (25.33) 0.04% 0.02 0.01
Chester-le-Street Kimblesworth and Plawsworth Parish Council (8.8) 42.90               (377.52) (99.00) 464.00 (12.52) 0.06% 0.03 0.02
Chester-le-Street Little Lumley Parish Council (7.2) 17.62               (126.86) (99.00) 220.00 (5.86) 0.07% 0.01 0.01
Chester-le-Street North Lodge Parish Council 54.2 31.53               1,708.93 0.00 0.00 1,708.93 -5.02% (1.58) (1.05)
Chester-le-Street Ouston Parish Council (1.2) 39.46               (47.35) 0.00 46.00 (1.35) 0.00% 0.00 0.00
Chester-le-Street Pelton Parish Council (11.6) 111.75             (1,296.30) 0.00 1,263.00 (33.30) 0.02% 0.02 0.01
Chester-le-Street Sacriston Parish Council 30.2 45.91               1,386.48 (4,580.00) 3,113.00 (80.52) 0.13% 0.06 0.04
Chester-le-Street Urpeth Parish Council (9.4) 35.20               (330.88) (1,646.00) 1,927.00 (49.88) 0.14% 0.05 0.03

P
age 64



Chester-le-Street Waldridge Parish Council (12.9) 45.01               (580.63) (254.00) 813.00 (21.63) 0.03% 0.01 0.01
Crook Bishop Auckland Town Council (1.8) 52.10               (93.78) (8,889.00) 8,755.00 (227.78) 0.10% 0.05 0.03
Crook Dene Valley Parish Council 46.2 19.27               890.27 (280.00) 0.00 610.27 -4.03% (0.78) (0.52)
Crook Greater Willington Town Council (12.8) 60.69               (776.83) (4,461.00) 5,105.00 (132.83) 0.12% 0.08 0.05
Crook Stanhope Parish Council (8.4) 29.05               (244.02) 0.00 238.00 (6.02) 0.01% 0.00 0.00
Crook Tow Law Town Council 12.4 74.00               917.60 (4,091.00) 3,093.00 (80.40) 0.22% 0.16 0.11
Crook West Auckland Parish Council 22.5 36.78               827.55 (4,348.00) 3,431.00 (89.45) 0.39% 0.14 0.09
Crook Witton le Wear Parish Council (6.6) 23.06               (152.20) (189.00) 333.00 (8.20) 0.13% 0.03 0.02
Crook Wolsingham Parish Council 5.7 29.66               169.06 (724.00) 541.00 (13.94) 0.05% 0.01 0.01
Durham Bearpark Parish Council (8.4) 43.18               (362.71) (1,398.00) 1,716.00 (44.71) 0.19% 0.08 0.05
Durham Belmont Parish Council (79.4) 26.91               (2,136.65) (3,529.00) 5,522.00 (143.65) 0.18% 0.05 0.03
Durham Brancepeth Parish Council (2.2) 71.40               (157.08) 0.00 153.00 (4.08) 0.03% 0.02 0.01
Durham Brandon & Byshottles Parish Council 18.6 41.08               764.09 0.00 0.00 764.09 -0.36% (0.15) (0.10)
Durham Cassop-cum-Quarrington Hill Parish Council 30.8 39.71               1,223.07 0.00 0.00 1,223.07 -1.83% (0.73) (0.49)
Durham Coxhoe Parish Council 24.4 104.63             2,552.97 (417.00) 0.00 2,135.97 -1.55% (1.62) (1.08)
Durham Croxdale & Hett Parish Council (7.0) 58.69               (410.83) (843.00) 1,222.00 (31.83) 0.19% 0.11 0.07
Durham Framwellgate Moor Parish Council (10.0) 31.81               (318.10) (533.00) 830.00 (21.10) 0.04% 0.01 0.01
Durham Kelloe Parish Council 0.2 43.87               8.77 (1,681.00) 1,630.00 (42.23) 0.29% 0.13 0.09
Durham Pittington Parish Council 3.0 50.93               152.79 (11.00) 0.00 141.79 -0.56% (0.28) (0.19)
Durham Shadforth Parish Council (1.6) 28.85               (46.16) (327.00) 364.00 (9.16) 0.05% 0.01 0.01
Durham Sherburn Village Parish Council (4.7) 26.91               (126.48) (3,532.00) 3,566.00 (92.48) 0.40% 0.11 0.07
Durham Shincliffe Parish Council (10.8) 33.99               (367.09) 0.00 358.00 (9.09) 0.04% 0.01 0.01
Durham West Rainton Parish Council (8.6) 51.80               (445.48) (2,759.00) 3,123.00 (81.48) 0.23% 0.12 0.08
Durham Witton Gilbert Parish Council (9.4) 52.90               (497.26) (1,176.00) 1,631.00 (42.26) 0.11% 0.06 0.04
Durham City of Durham Parish Council (18.3) 34.87               (638.12) 0.00 622.00 (16.12) 0.01% 0.00 0.00
Easington Castle Eden Parish Council 1.0 33.33               33.33 (77.00) 43.00 (0.67) 0.01% 0.00 0.00
Easington Dalton-le-Dale Parish Council 7.8 27.93               217.85 (579.00) 352.00 (9.15) 0.07% 0.02 0.01
Easington Easington Colliery Parish Council (4.0) 272.96             (1,091.84) (51,002.00) 50,774.00 (1,319.84) 0.42% 1.14 0.76
Easington Easington Village Parish Council 8.5 174.71             1,485.04 0.00 0.00 1,485.04 -1.07% (1.87) (1.25)
Easington Haswell Parish Council (3.4) 147.60             (501.84) (9,128.00) 9,386.00 (243.84) 0.35% 0.52 0.35
Easington Hawthorn Parish Council 0.3 42.37               12.71 (272.00) 253.00 (6.29) 0.07% 0.03 0.02
Easington Horden Parish Council 1.2 305.27             366.32 (92,783.00) 90,076.00 (2,340.68) 0.45% 1.37 0.91
Easington Hutton Henry Parish Council (12.8) 91.22               (1,167.62) (2,971.00) 4,034.00 (104.62) 0.27% 0.25 0.17
Easington Monk Hesleden Parish Council 0.7 189.34             132.54 (41,964.00) 40,772.00 (1,059.46) 0.39% 0.74 0.49
Easington Murton Parish Council (13.7) 176.13             (2,412.98) (42,375.00) 43,653.00 (1,134.98) 0.37% 0.64 0.43
Easington Peterlee Town Council (3.8) 287.56             (1,092.73) (264,276.00) 258,646.00 (6,722.73) 0.52% 1.49 0.99
Easington Seaham Town Council 0.5 246.59             123.30 (168,269.00) 163,887.00 (4,258.70) 0.37% 0.92 0.61
Easington Seaton with Slingley  Parish Council (4.6) 28.65               (131.79) (118.00) 243.00 (6.79) 0.06% 0.02 0.01
Easington Shotton Parish Council (6.0) 121.28             (727.68) 0.00 709.00 (18.68) 0.01% 0.02 0.01
Easington South Hetton Parish Council (9.8) 144.94             (1,420.41) (10,084.00) 11,213.00 (291.41) 0.28% 0.41 0.27
Easington Thornley Parish Council (3.0) 251.87             (755.61) (8,739.00) 9,254.00 (240.61) 0.15% 0.39 0.26
Easington Trimdon Foundry Parish Council (13.9) 175.15             (2,434.59) (9,531.00) 11,662.00 (303.59) 0.50% 0.88 0.59
Easington Wheatley Hill Parish Council 11.9 148.29             1,764.65 (14,766.00) 12,672.00 (329.35) 0.30% 0.44 0.29
Easington Wingate Parish Council 11.7 142.95             1,672.52 (8,209.00) 6,371.00 (165.48) 0.11% 0.15 0.10
Spennymoor Bishop Middleham Parish Council (2.2) 123.56             (271.83) (3,198.00) 3,382.00 (87.83) 0.17% 0.22 0.15
Spennymoor Bradbury and The Isles Parish Council (1.5) 35.42               (53.13) (82.00) 132.00 (3.13) 0.16% 0.06 0.04
Spennymoor Chilton Town Council 14.6 218.19             3,185.57 0.00 0.00 3,185.57 -1.25% (2.73) (1.82)
Spennymoor Cornforth Parish Council (0.1) 134.89             (13.49) (21,304.00) 20,778.00 (539.49) 0.66% 0.89 0.59
Spennymoor Eldon Parish Council 7.8 116.81             911.12 (1,985.00) 1,047.00 (26.88) 0.23% 0.27 0.18
Spennymoor Ferryhill Town Council (45.5) 228.07             (10,377.19) (122,636.00) 129,644.00 (3,369.19) 0.63% 1.44 0.96

P
age 65



Spennymoor Fishburn Parish Council (2.9) 141.27             (409.68) (11,470.00) 11,579.00 (300.68) 0.34% 0.48 0.32
Spennymoor Great Aycliffe Town Council (79.8) 250.08             (19,956.38) (165,036.00) 180,305.00 (4,687.38) 0.28% 0.69 0.46
Spennymoor Middridge Parish Council 14.6 62.34               910.16 (470.00) 0.00 440.16 -5.34% (3.33) (2.22)
Spennymoor Mordon Parish Council (3.1) 14.45               (44.80) 0.00 44.00 (0.80) 0.05% 0.01 0.01
Spennymoor Sedgefield Town Council 53.0 160.95             8,530.35 0.00 0.00 8,530.35 -2.64% (4.26) (2.84)
Spennymoor Shildon Town Council 55.3 275.81             15,252.29 (83,490.00) 66,509.00 (1,728.71) 0.26% 0.71 0.47
Spennymoor Spennymoor Town Council 7.2 219.71             1,581.91 0.00 0.00 1,581.91 -0.12% (0.26) (0.17)
Spennymoor Trimdon Parish Council (25.7) 145.20             (3,731.64) (23,534.00) 26,575.00 (690.64) 0.44% 0.64 0.43
Spennymoor Windlestone Parish Council 3.5 42.27               147.95 (58.00) 0.00 89.95 -1.75% (0.74) (0.49)
Stanley Burnhope Parish Council (2.0) 16.71               (33.42) (505.00) 525.00 (13.42) 0.20% 0.03 0.02
Stanley Cornsay Parish Council (2.4) 60.15               (144.36) (967.00) 1,083.00 (28.36) 0.17% 0.11 0.07
Stanley Esh Parish Council (9.9) 76.56               (757.94) (1,695.00) 2,391.00 (61.94) 0.06% 0.04 0.03
Stanley Greencroft Parish Council 24.8 42.50               1,054.00 0.00 0.00 1,054.00 -20.41% (8.67) (5.78)
Stanley Healeyfield Parish Council (10.9) 22.64               (246.78) 0.00 241.00 (5.78) 0.05% 0.01 0.01
Stanley Hedleyhope Parish Council 0.4 86.10               34.44 (83.00) 47.00 (1.56) 0.03% 0.03 0.02
Stanley Lanchester Parish Council 3.6 44.24               159.26 (964.00) 784.00 (20.74) 0.03% 0.01 0.01
Stanley Muggleswick Parish Council 1.1 24.24               26.66 0.00 0.00 26.66 -2.17% (0.53) (0.35)
Stanley Satley Parish Council (1.4) 33.39               (46.75) 0.00 46.00 (0.75) 0.02% 0.01 0.01
Stanley Stanley Town Council (21.8) 98.16               (2,139.89) (103,457.00) 102,922.00 (2,674.89) 0.34% 0.34 0.23

(73.5) (13,304.87) (1,323,859.00) 1,326,291.00 (10,773.87) 0.06% 0.08 0.05

Durham City of Durham Charter Trust (109.9) 1.90                  (208.81) (6,675.00) 6,709.00 (174.81) 0.35% 1.00% 1.00%

(13,513.68) (1,330,534.00) 1,333,000.00 (10,948.68)

P
age 66



 

             

        

 Cabinet 

18 November 2020 

 Forecast of Revenue and Capital 

Outturn 2020/21 – Period to 30 

September 2020 and Update on 

Progress towards achieving MTFP(10) 

savings 

 Ordinary Decision 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

John Hewitt, Corporate Director of Resources 

Councillor Alan Napier, Portfolio Holder for Finance 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To provide Cabinet with information on the: 

(a) Updated forecast revenue and capital outturn for 2020/21; 

(b) Updated forecast for the council tax and business rates collection 
fund position at 31 March 2021; 

(c) Updated forecast use of earmarked, cash limit and general 
reserves and estimated balances to be held at 31 March 2021. 

2 To seek approval of the budget adjustments and proposed sums 
outside of the cash limit. 

3 To provide Cabinet with an update on progress towards achieving 
MTFP(10) savings. 

Executive summary 

4 Since the outbreak of COVID-19, the council, partners and local 
communities have been working tirelessly to respond to the pandemic 
and to put steps in place for recovery. The financial implications of 

Page 67

Agenda Item 6



COVID-19 are significant and complex which makes forecasting the 
council’s outturn position even more challenging than usual. The 
financial position of the council will need to be monitored very closely 
over the coming months to ensure that steps can be taken to maintain 
spending within available budgets and to reallocate resources as 
required. For these reasons, the estimates set out in this report are 
subject to change as year end approaches and depending on the 
impact, extent and duration of local and national restrictions going 
forward.  

5 It is forecast that service grouping budgets will overspend by £51.974 
million. This overspend position arises from additional expenditure and 
loss of income associated with the COVID-19 outbreak.  

6 The government has provided four tranches of funding for local 
authorities for additional costs incurred as a result of COVID-19. This 
funding is allocated based upon formulae and to date the council has 
received £45.6 million. Of this, £1.1 million was to cover costs incurred 
in 2019/20. This leaves funding available of £44.5 million to be applied 
in 2020/21.  

7 The government has announced an ‘Income Guarantee Scheme’ to 
provide financial support for lost sales, fees and charges income. The 
details of the scheme were published on 23 August 2020. The scheme 
requires councils to bear the first 5% of any qualifying income loss after 
which the government will provide a grant for 75% of subsequent 
losses. A number of areas of income loss such as commercial income 
and rental income are not covered by the scheme. In addition, any 
underspends generated in the areas in question must be utilised to 
offset any lost income. 

8 The council will be required to submit three returns for the Income 
Guarantee Scheme. The first return for the period to 31 July 2020 was  
submitted on 2 October 2020 for a total of £3.6 million.  At this stage, 
the council has not received confirmation that this submission has been 
agreed. An initial estimate is that the council may be able to claim circa 
£6 million from the Income Guarantee Scheme, although this is subject 
to further work and the extent of the claims that are made and paid.   

9 The government has also indicated that the financial impact of any 
Collection Fund deficits for council tax and business rates can be 
spread over three years. It is important to note that these deficits are not 
being funded by government and will form part of the council’s taxbase 
calculation going forward – negatively impacting the funding the council 
receives from council tax and business rate income. At this stage, after 
netting off additional Section 31 grant for extended business rate reliefs, 
the council is forecasting its share of the in year Collection Fund deficit 

Page 68



at £3.9 million. This position could further deteriorate if the county 
experiences further job losses or business failure over the coming 
months and is being kept under close review, particularly as we enter 
the winter period and depending on the extent of local restrictions that 
are imposed. 

10 After taking account of estimates of cost, lost income and additional 
government funding, it is forecast that the council will overspend by 
£0.901 million, representing 0.19% of the net expenditure budget of 
£466.237 million. This position is caveated at this stage because of the 
wide range of assumptions that have been made in relation to 
expenditure and income over the remainder of the financial year and the 
significant uncertainty that exists. 

11 In terms of service grouping cash limits, the projected revenue outturn is 
a forecast cash limit underspend of £3.126 million (0.67%). The cash 
limit position excludes COVID-19 related issues which are considered to 
be outside of the control of budget managers.  

12 In terms of sums outside the cash limit there is a forecast overspend of 
£4.027 million which is forecast to result in a reduction in the General 
Reserve from £23.9 million to £19.9 million. This position will be kept 
under careful review, especially in relation to the possibility of additional 
costs and loss of income linked to the ongoing impact of COVID-19.  

13 Total earmarked and cash limit reserves (excluding school reserves) 
are forecast to reduce by £46.291 million in 2020/21, from £204.697 
million to £158.406 million. This mainly results from the utilisation of 
£23.715 of the Office Accomodation Capital Reserve to fund the new 
council headquarters and the utilisation of the £17.5 million held in 
earmarked reserves in relation to Tranche 1 of the government COVID-
19 Support Grant. 

14 The updated projected capital outturn is £145.755 million. 

15 The estimated outturn for the Council Tax Collection Fund is a deficit of 
£4.816 million after taking into account the in year position and deficit 
brought forward from 2019/20.  Durham County Council’s share of this 
forecasted deficit is £4.034 million. 

16 The estimated outturn for the Business Rates Collection Fund is a 
deficit of £43.652 million after taking into account the in year position 
and the surplus brought forward from 2019/20. Durham County 
Council’s share (49%) of this estimated deficit is £21.389 million, before 
accounting for the receipt of compensating Section 31 grant for 
extended business rate reliefs and discounts. 

Page 69



17 For MTFP(10), the council has delivered quarter two savings of £7.194 
million which is 90% of the £8.010 million target.  Since 2011, the 
council has delivered over £241 million in savings. 

Recommendations 

18 It is recommended that Cabinet: 

(a) note the council’s overall financial position for 2020/21 and the 
uncertainty associated with the outturn forecast resulting from the 
impact of the COVID-19 outbreak as set out in the report; 

(b) agree the proposed ‘sums outside the cash limit’ for approval; 

(c) agree the revenue and capital budget adjustments; 

(d) note the forecast use of earmarked reserves; 

(e) note the forecast end of year position for the cash limit and 
general reserves; 

(f) note the additional costs and income loss faced as a result of 
COVID-19 which is offset by additional grant funding provided by 
government; 

(g) note the position on the capital programme and the Collection 
Funds in respect of Council Tax and Business Rates; 

(h) note the amount of savings delivered during quarter two of the 
MTFP(10) period. 

 

  

Page 70



Background 

19 In accordance with the council’s constitution, Council agreed the 
Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP), which incorporates the revenue 
and capital budgets for 2020/21, on 26 February 2020. 

20 The constitution also states that the Chief Finance Officer must report to 
Cabinet on the overall council budget monitoring position on a quarterly 
basis. 

21 This report provides an updated forecast of the revenue and capital 
outturn for 2020/21, based upon expenditure and income up to 30 
September 2020. This is the second report on forecast financial 
performance against the 2020/21 budgets this financial year. 

22 This report also provides an update on the delivery of MTFP(10) 
savings. The planned MTFP(10) savings were agreed by Council in 
February 2020 with a savings target of more than £8 million for 2020/21. 
This brings the overall savings target for the period from 2011/12 to 
2020/21 to circa £241 million. Significant progress has been made 
towards achieving these savings. 

Revenue Outturn Forecast – Based on Position to 30 September 
2020 

23 The following table compares the forecast of outturn with the revised 
budget.  Further detail is provided in Appendices 2 and 3. 

24 The following adjustments have been made to the original budget 
agreed by Council on 26 February 2020: 

(a) agreed budget transfers between service groupings; 

(b) additions to budget for items outside the cash limit (for Cabinet 
consideration and recommended approval); 

(c) planned use of or contribution to earmarked reserves (please 
refer to Appendix 4). 

 

Page 71



Forecast of Revenue Outturn 2020/21 

 

 

 

25 The above table identifies a forecast overspend of £0.901 million which 
would contribute to a decrease in General and Cash Limit Reserves. 
The forecast cash limit underspend is £3.126 million (0.67%). The cash 
limit position excludes COVID-19 related costs and lost income.  

26 The total net overspend of £0.901 million represents 0.19% of the net 
expenditure budget of £466.237 million. The forecast position at this 
stage necessarily includes a number of assumptions in relation to costs 
and lost income resulting from COVID-19. The council has forecast the 
receipt of £6 million in compensation for lost income through the Income 
Guarantee Scheme to assist with managing the financial position in 
2020/21. This position will be reviewed throughout the year as future 
claims are made to government. 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Adult and Health Services 129,627 126,927 128,188 141,827 13,639

Chief Executive's Office 1,823 1,842 1,984 2,068 84

Children and Young People's Services 123,877 126,846 129,504 136,114 6,610

Neighbourhoods and Climate Change 108,622 108,963 110,384 123,791 13,407

Regeneration, Economy and Growth 52,770 53,405 55,061 68,916 13,855

Resources 25,705 25,539 27,205 30,530 3,325

Cash Limit Position 442,424 443,522 452,326 503,246 50,920

Contingencies 8,155 8,228 1,853 1,853 0

Corporate Costs 4,498 4,408 3,847 4,901 1,054

NET COST OF SERVICES 455,077 456,158 458,026 510,000 51,974

Capital charges -65,068 -65,068 -65,068 -65,068 0

Interest and Investment income -2,900 -2,900 -2,900 -2,550 350

Interest payable and similar charges 36,614 36,709 60,188 60,188 0

Levies 15,991 15,991 15,991 15,996 5

Net Expenditure 439,714 440,890 466,237 518,566 52,329

Funded By:

Council tax -234,458 -234,458 -234,458 -234,458 0

Use of earmarked reserves -7,700 -8,632 -33,905 -33,905 0

COVID-19 Support Grant tranche 1-use of earmarked reserves 0 0 0 -17,521 -17,521

COVID-19 Support Grant tranches 2 and 3 0 0 0 -19,524 -19,524

COVID-19 Support Grant tranche 4 0 0 0 -7,557 -7,557

COVID-19 Income Guarantee Grant 0 0 0 -6,000 -6,000

Estimated net surplus on Collection Fund -1,740 -1,740 -1,740 -1,740 0

Business Rates -56,083 -56,083 -56,083 -56,083 0

Top up grant -72,780 -72,780 -72,780 -72,780 0

Revenue Support Grant -28,070 -28,070 -28,070 -28,070 0

New Homes Bonus -7,564 -7,564 -7,564 -7,564 0

Section 31 Grant -11,713 -11,713 -11,713 -12,539 -826

Adult/Childrens Pressures Grant -17,652 -17,652 -17,652 -17,652 0

Forecast contribution to/from (-) Cash Limit Reserve -1,954 -2,198 -2,272 854 3,126

Forecast contribution to/from (-) General Reserves 0 0 0 -4,027 -4,027
 

TOTAL 0 0 0 0 0

Original 

Budget 

2020/21

Budget - 

incorporating 

adjustments

Service 

Groupings 

Forecast of 

Outturn

Forecasted 

Variance

Revised 

Budget

Page 72



27 Before taking into account and Collection Fund carry forwards from 
2019/20 the council is also forecasting an in year deficit on the 
Collection Fund of £3.902 million mainly as a result of the impact of the 
COVID-19 outbreak especially the increase in claims for Local Council 
Tax Reduction. The impact of COVID-19 upon the Collection Fund will 
be closely monitored throughout 2020/21 to determine the final outturn 
and also upon the base budget for 2021/22. The government has 
intimated that some flexibility may be provided to account for any 
Collection Fund deficits over the next three years.  

28 The forecasts set out in this report could deteriorate if there are further 
local or national lockdowns or if the county experiences additional job 
losses and business failures. The position is uncertain and will become 
clearer as the furlough scheme is withdrawn and as businesses fully 
return to trading. 

29 Approval is being sought for the following sums to be funded from 
general contingencies. These sums are deemed to be outside of service 
grouping cash limits.  

Service 
Grouping 

Proposal Amount 
£ million 

NCC Set up costs of the Collaborative Waste 
Contract 

0.500 

TOTAL  0.500 

 

30 After adjusting the budgets and reserves as detailed above, the forecast 
outturn for cash limit reserves and the general reserve are summarised 
in the following table. 

  

£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million

Service Grouping Cash Limit

Adult and Health Services -8.354 1.867 -3.198 -9.685

Chief Executive's Office 0.000 -0.126 -0.049 -0.175

Children and Young People's Services 0.000 1.544 1.544

Neighbourhoods and Climate Change 0.000 -0.197 -0.001 -0.198

Regeneration, Economy and Growth 0.000 -0.164 -1.032 -1.196

Resources -2.758 -0.113 0.087 -0.316 -3.100

Former Regeneration and Local Services -0.329 0.329

Former Transformation and Partnerships -0.318 0.318

Total Cash Limit Reserve -11.759 0.047 1.954 -3.052 -12.810

General Reserve -23.950 0.000 0.000 4.027 -19.923

Type of Reserve Opening 

Balance as at 

1 April 2020

Reallocation 

of former 

REAL and 

T&P Cash 

Budgeted 

use at

1 April 2020

Movement 

during

2020/21

2020/21 

Forecast 

of Outturn 

Page 73



31 The forecast cash limit and general reserves position is a prudent one 
given the significant financial uncertainties facing local government. The 
MTFP(11) update report to 14 October 2020 Cabinet highlighted 
ongoing budget concerns for the council with a forecast savings shortfall 
of £42 million over the 2021/22 to 2024/25 period. with the delivery of 
further savings becoming ever more challenging to achieve. In addition 
the ongoing impact of COVID-19 upon both the national finances and 
the councils budget are unknown at this point.  

32 With this in mind there is a heightened risk that funding will be restricted 
for some public services in the future which could require the council to 
identify and deliver significant additional savings in future years. 

33 The table above highlights that CYPS are forecast to have a deficit cash 
limit reserve of £1.544 million at the end of 2020/21. Consideration will 
need to be given at final outturn as to how this deficit cash limit reserve 
position is addressed. 

COVID-19 Impact 

34 The council has faced significant additional costs in relation to the 
outbreak and significant loss of income. In many areas the costs and 
loss of income for the second quarter are known. The likely impact over 
the remainder of the year however is much more uncertain due to the 
ongoing pandemic. The major areas of forecast additional cost and loss 
of income are as follows: 

(a) Adult Social Care Provider Support £16.2 million – it is 
forecast that during 2020/21 additional financial support of circa 
£16.2 million will have been paid to providers. This support 
includes a temporary 10% uplift in fees and targeted support 
being given to residential care homes where occupancy levels 
have dropped significantly. 

(b) PPE £2.0 million – the council has purchased stocks of PPE for 
utilisation across a range of settings. 

(c) Waste Disposal and Refuse Collection £8.035 million – a 
range of additional costs have been incurred such as increased 
waste tonnages, garden waste pick ups over weekends and on 
Mondays and the costs associated with reopening household 
waste recycling centres. 

(d) In house Highways and Buildings teams £4.0 million – during 
late March, April and May teams were in lockdown and not 
generating income. In addition for a period after the teams 
restarted work in many areas the costs of materials have 
increased. 

Page 74



(e) AAP and Member Neighbourhood Budgets £3.1 million – an 
additional £0.1 million has been provided to each AAP whilst 
Members are able to invest their Members Neighbourhood capital 
allocation on revenue.  

(f) Leisure Income £6.3 million – the closure of facilities and the 
likely reduced income once reopened is expected to have a 
significant impact upon forecast income levels 

(g) Car Park Income £1 million – the closure and reduced volume 
of traffic in town centres will reduce income levels. 

(h) Theatres £2.6 million – there continues to be uncertainty as to 
when our theatres will reopen 

(i) Planning Fees and Building Control £0.6 million – reduced 
volume of submissions during lockdown 

(j) Aycliffe Secure £1.4 million – reduced income due to social 
distancing within the facility 

(k) Business Support Grants £3 million – a package of support 
has been developed to support current businesses to enable 
them to stabilise and continue to grow 

(l) Free School Meals Support £1 million - support via food 
vouchers has been provided for October half term and is 
expected to continue for the Christmas holiday period 

35 The forecast position on COVID-19 costs and income losses will 
continue to be closely monitored.  

 
Cash Limit Position 

36 The reasons for the major variances against the revised budgets are 
detailed below. It is important to note that the cash limit positions 
exclude all COVID-19 related issues which are outside the control of 
budget managers. 

Adult and Health Services (AHS) 

37 The 2020/21 updated projected outturn for AHS is a cash limit 
underspend of £3.198 million, representing circa 2.5% of the total 
budget for AHS. 

38 The projected outturn takes into account adjustments for sums outside 
the cash limit including redundancy costs which are met from the 
corporate reserve, capital accounting entries and use of / contributions 
to earmarked reserves. COVID-19 related expenditure and loss of 
income has also been excluded from the cash limit outturn. 

Page 75



39 The outturn is a managed position, reflecting the proactive management 
of activity by Heads of Service across AHS to remain within the cash 
limit.  The outturn position is accounted for as follows: 

(a) Careful management and control of vacant posts and supplies 
and services budgets across the service together with 
uncommitted budgets, results in an estimated net under budget 
position for the year of £1.364 million; 

(b) Net spend on adult care packages is £1.834 million under budget.  
This area of spend is being closely monitored to assess the 
impact of COVID-19 as well as ongoing demographic and 
procedural/operational changes, where significant MTFP savings 
have been taken over recent years. The underspends that have 
been generated as a result of reductions in occupancy of 
residential and nursing care homes due to COVID-19 have been 
reinvested in sustainability payments to providers pending a 
strategic review of the overall market planned over the coming 
months; 

(c) Net expenditure on Public Health-related activity is in line with 
grant allocations. 

40 In arriving at the forecast outturn position, the service has estimated 
£21.960 million of additional costs and lost income relating to COVID-19 
and £5.123 million of COVID-19 related underspends.  The net COVID-
19 impact is £16.837 million which will be met corporately by utilising 
central government grants wherever possible. 

41 In addition, a net £1.260 million relating to contributions to and from 
reserves and contingencies has been excluded from the cash limit 
outturn forecasts, details as follows: 

(a) Use of £0.173 million Adult Social Care reserve to fund temporary 
staffing arrangement; 

(b) Use of 0.154 million Public Health reserves for Public Health 
projects; 

(c) Use of £0.147 million of the corporate ER/VR reserve to fund 
redundancy payments.  

(d) Use of £0.786 million from contingencies to fund the 2020/21 pay 
award 

42 Taking the projected outturn position into account, including the transfer 
to/ from reserves in year the estimated cash limit reserve to be carried 
forward for AHS is forecast to be £9.593 million. 

Page 76



Chief Executive’s Office (CEO) 

43 The forecast revenue outturn for 2020/21 is a cash limit underspend of 
£65,000 for the year after taking account of the forecast use of reserves 
and items outside the cash limit. This compares with a cash limit 
underspend at quarter one of £27,000. 

44 The forecast underspend is a managed position, reflecting the proactive 
management of activity across the service to try and remain within the 
cash limit. The projected underspend is accounted as follows:  

(a) Communications and Marketing is forecast to be under budget by 
£30,000, primarily due to a managed underspend on employee 
costs of £4,000 and a forecast underspend on supplies and 
services of £26,000. 

(b) Service Management is forecast to be under budget by £35,000, 
due to a managed underspend on employee costs amounting to 
£35,000. 

45 In arriving at the forecast outturn position, a net £0.149 million of 
additional costs, and lost income relating to COVID-19 has been 
excluded from the outturn.  COVID-19 related costs are being treated 
corporately and offset by Government funding so far as is possible. 

46 In addition, circa £94,000 of costs relating to contributions to and from 
reserves and cash limits have been excluded from the outturn, details 
as follows: 

(a) £16,000 transfer from the Chief Executive’s Office Cash Limit 
Reserve in respect of promotional campaigns linked to Adoption & 
Fostering; 

(b) £78,000 transfer from the Marketing Integrated Care Reserve to 
fund a post and provide a budget for communications in respect 
of shared services with local NHS organisations; 

47 Taking the projected outturn position into account, including items 
proposed to be treated as outside the cash limit and transfers from the 
Cash Limit to fund activity in the year, the total cash limit reserve 
forecasted to be carried forward for the service at 31 March 2021 is 
£0.175 million. 

Children and Young People’s Services (CYPS) 

48 The updated forecast of outturn for CYPS is a cash limit overspend of 
£1.544 million in 2020/21, representing circa 1.23% of the total budget 
for the service. The cash limit overspend forecast at quarter one was 
£2.896 million.  

Page 77



49 The projection excludes forecast use of/ contributions to earmarked 
reserves and items outside the cash limit such as redundancy costs 
which are met from corporate reserves. COVID-19 related expenditure 
and loss of income have also been excluded from the cash limit outturn.  

50 The updated position factors in forecast overspends within Education of 
£1.727 million and Children’s Services of £4.883 million, with further 
details provided below: 

(a) Within the Education Service the forecast overspend of £1.727 
million includes a £1.211 million forecast overspend on Home to 
School Transport, a forecasted shortfall in school and academy 
SLA income of £0.512 million, a £0.414 million shortfall on DCC 
Daycare nursery income, £0.265 million shortfall on Durham 
Leadership Centre lettings income, £0.199 million shortfall in 
Curriculum and Professional Development income, an £89,000 
shortfall in recharges income, a £0.182 million underspend 
related to Pension Liability savings and £0.781 million staff 
related underspend related to the early achievement of 2021/22 
savings.  

(b) Children’s Services (Children’s Social Care and Early Help & 
Intervention) is forecast to be a net £4.883 million over budget for 
the year. The Service is forecasting an overspend of £ 5.861 
million related to the forecast cost of looked after children’s 
placements  (which have increased to circa 940 children) offset 
by £0.978 million savings on external adoption fees. 

(c) The direct financial impact of COVID-19 is estimated at £3.859 
million, mainly related to a forecast shortfall in income from the 
sale of beds in the Aycliffe Secure Centre to other local 
authorities in the first few months of the new financial year and 
additional staffing and children’s placement costs in Children’s 
Social Care. 

51 The pressure on the budget in children’s social care has been evident 
for a number of years, as the number of children in the care system has 
increased significantly and their needs have continued to become more 
complex. There are now 940 looked after children, compared to an 
average of 877 in 2019/20. This budget was increased by £5.5 million in 
2018/19 and by a further £6.5 million in 2019/20 to cover care costs, as 
well as additional costs for staffing in order to meet the expected 
challenges and pressures identified in 2019/20. The 2020/21 budget 
also includes an additional increase for placement costs of £3.417 
million. 

Page 78



52 The 2020/21 budgets also include additional budget growth of £3.2 
million to recognise the financial pressures being experienced in 
delivering home to school transport, which has seen costs increase by 
54% over the last two years.  

53 In arriving at the forecast outturn position, the service is declaring 
£6.624 million of additional costs, and lost income relating to COVID-19 
and £1.558 million of COVID-19 related underspends.  The net COVID-
19 impact is therefore £5.066 million, and this will be covered 
corporately by utilising Central Government grants wherever possible. 

54 The forecast cash limit outturn shows the position after a net £0.222 
million use of reserves. Transfers to and from earmarked reserves, cash 
limits and contingencies have been applied to finance the following 
items: 

(a) £71,000 use of Tackling Troubled Families Reserve linked to 
temporary posts in the current financial year 

(b) £58,000 use of Extended Personal Advisor Reserve to cover the 
costs of temporary posts in the current financial year  

(c) £0.114 million use of Emotional Well Being Reserve to fund a 
forecast shortfall in income in the current financial year. 

(d) £0.365 million contribution to the Secure Services Reserve from 
anticipated surplus income in the last quarter of the current 
financial year.  

(e) £0.185 million use of Durham Music Service reserve to fund a 
forecast shortfall in income in the current financial year. 

(f) £0.100 million use of Neighbourhoods and Climate Change 
reserve for Durham Enable 

(g) £59,000 use of Early Years Sustainability reserve linked to Early 
Years Professional Development Programme spend. 

55 In 2019/20, £6.217 million was transferred from general reserves to the 
CYPS cash limit reserve to prevent the service having a deficit reserve 
balance carried forward at 31 March 2020 and to balance the CYPS 
cash limit reserve to zero. Taking the forecast outturn position into 
account, there is a forecast £1.544 million deficit cash limit position at 
year end. Consideration will need to be given at final outturn as to how 
to address this issue. 

Neighbourhoods and Climate Change (NCC) 

56 The forecast revenue outturn for 2020/21, based on the position to 30 
September 2020, is a cash limit break-even position, which compares 

Page 79



with the position forecast at quarter one of a cash limit underspend of 
£0.531 million.  

57 The change in the position from quarter one is due to increased costs 
for Household Waste Recycling Centres, which has eradicated the circa 
£0.500 million underspend that was previously forecast in this service 
area. 

58 The updated forecast takes into account the forecast use of earmarked 
reserves and excludes items treated as outside the cash limit, including 
COVID-19 related expenditure and loss of income  

59 The main reasons accounting for the cash limit outturn position are as 
follows: 

(a) Environmental Services is forecast to overspend by £75,000. There 
are overspends relating to pay re-grading for Refuse Collection 
drivers of £0.206 million and Neighbourhood Wardens of £0.188 
million, along with unachieved MTFP savings within Fleet of £0.166 
million and in Clean & Green of £73,000. Income at the Joint 
Stocks site has underachieved by £0.330 million for power 
generation and £53,000 for soil importation. These overspends 
have however largely been offset by a combination of increased 
income from Garden Waste signups (£0.131 million), an 
underspend on power generation equipment maintenance (£0.106 
million), underspends due to vacant posts (£0.163 million), £63,000 
in additional SLA income, savings due to delays in implementing 
the two new refuse collection (£0.330 million), and delays in 
appointing the new Neighbourhood Wardens (£0.148 million), The 
service received full year budget growth in 2020/21 for the new 
refuse rounds and the additional Neighbourhood Wardens, 
meaning that the delays in implementation are producing one-off 
underspends in the current year. 

(b) Technical Services is forecast to overspend by £0.202 million.  
There are employee vacancy savings of £0.293 million, along with 
additional income of £67,000 relating to permit income and other 
fees and charges in Strategic Highways.  There is also a £0.123 
million underspend due to savings on electricity charges.  These 
savings are partially offset however by a predicted overspend in 
winter maintenance costs of £0.420 million after fully utilising the 
remaining winter maintenance reserve, and overspends of 
£0.265million on agency costs relating to condition surveys, 
contractor costs and rechargeable works. 

(c) Partnerships & Community Engagement is forecast to underspend 
by £77,000.  This is mainly due to a managed underspend in 

Page 80



Supplies and Services, that will be utilised in 2021/22 for a delayed 
MTFP saving. 

(d) Within Consumer Protection there are a number of vacant posts 
that are producing an underspend of £0.243 million, but these are 
partially offset by £78,000 under achieved licensing income. 

60 In arriving at the cash limit position, COVID-19 related expenditure and 
lost income of £13.513 million, offset by COVID-19 related savings of 
£105,000 have been excluded from the forecasts. COVID-19 related 
costs are being treated corporately and offset by Government funding 
so far as is possible, though forecast net costs currently exceed the 
grant that has been made available. 

61 In addition, £0.227 million relating to contributions to and from reserves 
and contingencies has been factored into the outturn. The major items 
being: 

(a) 0.104 million net contribution to reserves relating to Clean & 
Green, Community Protection and Environmental Management; 

(b) £0.500 million drawdown from Corporate Contingencies to fund 
set up costs for the Teesside Waste Project; and 

(c) £0.169 million contribution to reserves relating to Area Action 
Partnerships. 

62 Taking the projected outturn position into account and planned use of 
the cash limit reserve in year, the forecasted cash limit reserve to be 
carried forward for Neighbourhoods & Climate Change is £0.198  
million. 

Regeneration, Economy and Growth (REG) 

63 The updated forecast revenue outturn for 2020/21, based on the 
position to 30 September 2020, is a cash limit underspend of £1.032 
million, which compares with the forecast at quarter one of a cash limit 
underspend of £0.617 million. 

64 The updated forecasts take into account the forecast use of / 
contributions to earmarked reserves and items outside the cash limit 
such as redundancy costs which are met from corporate reserves. 
COVID-19 related expenditure and loss of income has also been 
excluded from the cash limit outturn. 

65 The forecast outturn is a managed position, reflecting the proactive 
management of activity across REG to remain within the cash limit.  The 
main reasons accounting for the outturn position are as follows: 

Page 81



(a) Culture & Sport is forecast to be overspent by £0.139 million.  This 
is mainly the result of an overspend of £0.391 million relating to the 
former Leisureworks facilities that were brought inhouse. This 
overspend is partially offset by other underspends across the 
service of approximately £0.252 million in relation to employee 
costs in Wellbeing of £0.112 million, within Leisure Centres of 
£70,000, Libraries of £74,000 and from the partial closure of Bishop 
Auckland Town Hall of £77,000. There are also a number of other 
minor overspends across the service. To ensure the development 
of Beamish Museum can be completed the council has been 
approached to contribute a one-off sum of £1.5 million to the 
project in 2020/21. It was hoped that all constituent authorities 
would contribute to this request, but that has not been the case. In 
2020/21 a one off £10 million invest to save budget was included in 
Culture and Sport and it is not anticipated that this budget will be 
fully utilised, which will enable the £1.5 million to be financed from 
that budget provision.  

(b) Business Durham is forecast to be be £0.397 million underspent. 
This is mainly as a result of underspending within Business Space, 
which has an underspend of £0.636 million due to the service 
achieving higher than budgeted levels of income and savings in 
Corporate employee costs (£97,000), offset mainly by an 
overspend in Operations (£0.307 million) and Innovation and 
Marketing (£29,000). An additional sum of £3 million has been 
included in the forecast spend in respect of grant support for 
businesses. The funding for this work is included in the £20.035 
million additional costs, and lost income relating to COVID-19. 

(c) Transport and Contracted services is forecast to be £0.063 million 
overspent.  This is mainly due to overspends in Sustainable 
Transport of £18,000, Traffic of £0.149 million and in Care Connect 
of £11,000, offset by savings being achieved from the vacant Head 
of Transport post and other minor variances across the service. 

(d) Development and Housing is forecast to be underspent by £0.226 
million. This is mainly due to underspends in Housing Solutions of 
£0.239 million and in Planning Development of £0.112 million, 
offset by a projected overspend in Economic Development of 
£0.056 million. There were also a number of other minor 
overspends across the service. 

(e) Corporate Property and Land is forecast to be £0.491 million 
underspent, mainly resulting from an underspend of £0.174 million 
relating to an insurance claim, unbudgeted rental income of £0.131 
million, business rate refunds of £62,000 relating to the previous 
financial year and underspends on utilities across administrative 

Page 82



buildings of £0.124 million. Building Services construction and 
repairs / maintenance teams are currently forecasting a break-even 
position. An additional £1.5 million has been included in the 
forecast outturn in respect additional repairs and maintenance 
works to the year end. 

66 In arriving at the forecast outturn position, the service is declaring 
£20.035 million of additional costs and lost income relating to COVID-19 
and £5.148 million of COVID-19 related underspends.  The net COVID-
19 impact is therefore £14.887 million, and this will be covered 
corporately by utilising Central Government grants wherever possible. 

67 In arriving at the forecast outturn position, a net £0.578 million relating 
to use of / contributions to earmarked reserves and cash limits has been 
excluded from the outturn. The major items being: 

(a) £0.491 million use of reserves by Development and Housing for 
costs relating to Karbon Homes and Bishop Auckland and 
Peterlee development costs (£0.406 million), and Milburngate 
development professional costs (£0.131 million) offset by a 
transfer to the Employability reserve following the revised 
projection of spending plans for the year; 

(b) £44,000 net contribution to reserves in respect of Culture and 
Sport for an in-year underspend of £48,000 on BRASS (as 
agreed with the Arts Council), offset by a drawdown of £4,000 for 
Community Arts; 

(c) £75,000 use of reserves relating to Transport and Contracted 
Services relating to provision of the ACTIF service funded by 
AHS; 

(d) £56,000 use of reserves relating to Corporate Property and Land 
for the provision of specialist technical support for the new 
headquarters. 

68 Taking the projected outturn position into account, the forecasted cash 
limit reserve to be carried forward for Regeneration, Economy and 
Growth is £1.196 million. 

Resources 

69 The 2020/21  forecast revenue outturn for Resources is a cash limit 
underspend of £0.374 million after taking account of the forecast use of/ 
contributions to earmarked reserves and items outside the cash limit 
such as redundancy costs which are met from corporate reserves. 
COVID-19 related expenditure and loss of income has also been 
excluded from the cash limit outturn. The cash limit underspend at 
quarter one was £0.960 million. 

Page 83



70 The forecast underspend is a managed position, reflecting the proactive 
management of activity across the service to try and remain within the 
cash limit. The projected under budget position is the net effect of the 
following items: 

(a) Corporate Finance and Commercial Services is forecast to be 
over budget by £25,000, with managed overspending in 
Procurement  of £14,000 and a managed overspend in 
Occupational Health of £65,000 offset by a forecast underspend 
in Health and Safety of £47,000 and Financial systems of £8,000 
and a number of other minor variances in this service area. 

(b) Finance and Transactional Services is forecast to be under 
budget by £0.499 million, primarily due to managed underspends 
on employee costs of £0.333 million, additional income of £0.352 
million linked to additional government grant offset by additional 
spending on supplies and services of £27,000 in Revenues and 
Benefits. There are also a number of other minor variances in this 
service area. Payroll and Employee Services is forecasting to be 
over budget by £0.124 million mainly due to unachievable income 
of £31,000 and additional spending on supplies and services 
costs of £0.112 million, offset by a managed underspend on 
employees costs of £19,000. Financial Management is 
forecasting to be over budget by £35,000 mainly due to a 
managed overspend on employee costs offset by £3,000 
additional income. 

(c) Digital and Customer Services is forecast to be over budget by 
£0.202 million. Within this area underachievement of income is 
forecast to be £0.344 million, but this is offset by forecast 
managed underspends on supplies and services of £0.328 million 
and employee costs of £0.136 million. In quarter two provision 
has been made for Direct Revenue Funding of three ICT capital 
projects to the value of £0.300 million. There are also a number of 
other minor variances in this service area. 

(d) Internal Audit, Risk and Corporate Fraud is forecast to be under 
budget by £61,000, comprising of a managed underspend of 
£10,000 on employee related expenditure, a £13,000 overspend 
on supplies and services offset by £64,000 of additional income. 

(e) Legal and Democratic Services is forecast to be under budget by 
£5,000. This includes a £30,000 managed overspend on 
employee related expenditure and £33,000 overspend on 
supplies and services. These overspends have been offset by a 
forecast underspend of £16,000 on premises related costs and 
£52,000 of additional income.  

Page 84



(f) People and Talent Management is forecast to be under budget by 
£20,000, which includes a £88,000 managed underspend on 
employee related expenditure and an £80,000 overspend on 
supplies and services. The service is also forecasting an 
overachievement of income of £12,000.  

(g) Strategy is forecast to be over budget by £18,000, primarily due to 
a managed overspend on employee related costs of £28,000, 
which has been partially offset by a forecast underspend of 
£10,000 on supplies and services. 

(h) Transformation is forecast to be under budget by £34,000, 
primarily due to a managed underspend on employee costs of 
£35,000 and a small overspend on supplies and services costs of 
£1,000. 

(i) There are no material variances in Service Management. 

71 In arriving at the forecast outturn position, the service is declaring 
£4.305 million of additional costs, and lost income relating to COVID-19 
and £0.606 million of COVID-19 related underspends.  The net COVID-
19 impact is therefore £3.699 million, and this will be covered 
corporately by utilising Central Government grants wherever possible. 

72 The forecast cash limit outturn shows the position after a net £9,000 of 
contributions to / from reserves, cash limits and contingencies have 
been applied to finance the following items: 

(a) £38,000 transfer from the Corporate Commercialisation Reserve 
in respect of legal costs relating to Station Place; 

(b) £6,000 transfer from Corporate Insurance Reserve in respect of 
Insurance Market Review; 

(c) £52,000 transfer from the Revenues and Benefits Reserve to fund 
a temporary post; 

(d) £0.248 million transfer to the Welfare Reforms New Burdens 
Grant Reserve to fund activities and projects governed by the 
Poverty Action Steering Group;  

(e) £59,000 transfer from the Microsoft Office 365 Reserve to fund 
the implementation of new office software; 

(f) £26,000 transfer from the Corporate Procurement Reserve which 
will be used to finance various procurement initiatives in year; 

Page 85



(g) £58,000 transfer from the Resources Cash Limit Reserve to fund 
support and advice on the use of Business Intelligence in pursuit 
of an MTFP saving; 

73 Taking the outturn position into account, including items outside the 
cash limit and transfers to and from earmarked reserves, the cash limit 
reserve to be carried forward for Resources is forecast to be £2.948 
million. 

Corporate Costs 

74 The forecast revenue outturn for 2020/21 for Resources – Centrally 
Administered Costs is a cash limit underspend of £0.196 million. This 
takes into account adjustments for sums outside the cash limit such as 
the use of/ contribution to earmarked reserves. 

75 In arriving at the forecast outturn position, additional costs and lost 
income related to COVID-19 total £1.250 million. The net COVID-19 
impact is therefore £1.250 million, and will be covered corporately by 
utilising Central Government grants wherever possible. 

76 The forecast outturn position reflects reduced expenditure on bank 
charges of £10,000, payment card fees of £60,000, corporate 
subscriptions of £21,000, expenses associated with raising loans of 
£42,000 and legal expenses of £27,000. In addition, there is a projected 
overachievement of income from de-minimis capital receipts of £33,000 
arising from the sale of assets. There are also a few other minor 
variances in this service area. 

77 An additional sum of £1 million has been included in the forecast spend 
in respect of expenditure on providing food vouchers during October 
and Christmas school holidays for families whose children qualify for 
free school meals. The funding for this work is included in the £1.250 
million additional costs, and lost income relating to COVID-19 shown 
above. 

Central Budgets 

Interest Payable and Similar Charges - Capital Financing 

78 There is a budget of £60.188 million for these costs - an increase of 
£23.479 million from the £36.709 million at quarter one, to reflect the 
planned use of the Office Accommodation Capital Reserve to fund the 
new council headquarters. The forecast outturn position is expected to 
be in line with the budget. 

Page 86



Interest and Investment Income 

79 The forecast income of £2.550 million is £0.350 million less than the 
£2.900 million budget.  The forecast shortfall reflects reduced 
investment returns as interest rates achievable on short term 
investments have reduced significantly. This economic downturn is also 
reflected in lower than expected income from dividends. 

Council Earmarked Reserves Forecast 

80 Earmarked reserves are funds set aside for specific, known or predicted 
future expenditure. Appendix 4 details the council and school 
earmarked reserves showing the opening balance at 1 April 2020, the 
forecast movement on reserves during the year and the forecast closing 
balance as at 31 March 2021.   

81 A summary of the latest forecast of council reserves (excluding school 
reserves) is shown below. The summary highlights that the total 
earmarked and cash limit reserves are forecast to reduce by £46.291 
million in 2020/21, from £204.697 million to £158.406 million mainly 
resulting from the utilisation of £17.5 million held in earmarked reserves 
from Tranche 1 of the COVID-19 Support Grant received in 2019/20 
and utilisation of £23.715 million of the Office Accomodation Capital 
Reserve to fund the new council headquarters. The movement in 
earmarked reserves is explained in the service grouping commentaries.  
This utilisation is to be expected as these funds are applied to the 
expenditure for which they were earmarked. 

 

Dedicated Schools Grant and Schools 

82 The council currently maintains 213 schools, including nursery, primary, 
secondary, special schools and a single Alternative Provision (AP) 
school.  The one AP school is for pupils who have been permanently 
excluded from other schools, or who are at risk of permanent exclusion.  

83 The current budget for 2020/21 for these 213 maintained schools is 
£292 million, funded by income of £73 million, formula funding budget 
shares of £210 million (from central government funding), and a 

Earmarked Cash Limit Total

£ million £ million £ million

Opening Earmarked Balances as at 1 April 2020 -192.938 -11.759 -204.697

Adjusted for increase (-) / use of Earmarked 

Reserves
47.098 -0.807 46.291

Earmarked Reserve Balances as at 31 March 

2021
-145.840 -12.566 -158.406

Page 87



budgeted £9 million use of accumulated schools’ balances.  The table 
below summarises the schools’ initial budgets. 
 

  
Nursery 

Alternative 
Provision 

Primary Secondary Special 
Original 
Annual 
Budget 

(£ million) (£ million) (£ million) (£ million) (£ million) (£ million) 

Employees  4.459  3.387  161.229  37.436  25.839  232.349  

Premises  0.273  0.169  9.993  2.753  1.077  14.265  

Transport  0.002  0.843  0.426  0.620  0.297  2.188  

Supplies and Services  0.515  2.051  31.078  7.166  2.838  43.648  

Income  (3.859) (0.673) (48.969) (14.939) (4.919) (73.360) 

Net expenditure 1.389  5.776  153.758  33.035  25.133  219.091  

Budget share (1.064) (5.776) (148.032) (32.301) (22.848) (210.021) 

Contribution to/from 
reserves 

(0.325) -    (5.726) (0.734) (2.285) (9.070) 

Balance at 31 Mar 20 0.937  -    18.163  (3.826) 2.772  18.046  

Balance at 31 Mar 21 0.612  -    12.437  (4.560) 0.487  8.976  

 
 

84 Historically, school budget plans overstate the use of reserves, usually 
by a considerable amount. The council’s forecast for the use of reserves 
is that only £3.0 million of reserves will be used. The table below 
summarises the council’s forecast. 

  
Nursery 

Alternative 
Provision 

Primary Secondary Special 
Original 
Annual 
Budget 

(£ million) (£ million) (£ million) (£ million) (£ million) (£ million) 

Employees  4.434  3.333  158.910  36.461  24.178  227.316  

Premises  0.286  0.199  10.187  2.759  1.064  14.495  

Transport  0.002  0.706  0.367  0.531  0.264  1.870  

Supplies and Services  0.496  1.589  28.160  6.663  2.682  39.590  

Income  (3.850) (0.293) (45.428) (16.243) (4.270) (70.083) 

Net expenditure 1.368  5.533  152.196  30.171  23.919  213.186  

Budget share (1.064) (5.776) (148.156) (32.325) (22.848) (210.169) 

Contribution to/from 
reserves 

(0.304) 0.243  (4.040) 2.154  (1.071) (3.017) 

Balance at 31 Mar 20 0.937  -    18.163  (3.826) 2.772  18.046  

Balance at 31 Mar 21 0.633  0.243  14.123  (1.671) 1.701  15.029  

 

 

85 The council’s forecast takes account of past experience and current 
information the most up to date information from ledgers.  This year’s 
outturn is likely to be affected by the effect of the COVID-19 lockdown 
on income and expenditure, and changes to ways of working when 
schools return in the autumn. Accordingly, there uncertainty about the 
final outturn. Schools can claim funding for exceptional lockdown costs, 
but the categories are tightly defined and there are likely to be 
significant net costs that cannot be claimed. Schools will not be able to 
claim for additional costs arising from new ways of working; these costs 

Page 88



might include additional cleaning, hand sanitizers and signage ( for 
information, one-way systems etc.). 

86 The School Finance Team will conduct autumn budget reviews with 
each school, to help schools determine the steps they need to take if 
they if they need to make savings to balance their budgets in the 
coming financial year (2021/22).  

87 With the exception of eight schools, all schools prepared budget plans 
that could be delivered within available funding. The council’s S.151 
officer gave approval to eight schools to set deficit budgets where 
planned expenditure during 2020/21 would result in a deficit balance at 
31 March 2021 (known as a licensed deficit). These are summarised in 
the table below. 

 

School Name  Phase  Type  Balance 
at 31 

March 
2020 

Planned 
in-year 
use of 

reserves 

Licensed 
deficit 

(£ million) (£ million) (£ million) 

Bluebell Meadow Primary Community (0.078) (0.141) (0.219) 

Ferryhill Station Primary Community (0.023) (0.009) (0.032) 

St. Thomas More RC Primary Aided – RC (0.025) (0.078) (0.103) 

Wolsingham  Secondary Community (1.709) (0.112) (1.821) 

Wellfield  Secondary Community (3.406) 0.222 (3.184) 

St. Bede's RC, Peterlee Secondary Aided - RC (1.400) (0.210) (1.609) 

The Durham Federation Secondary Community (0.414) (0.191) (0.605) 

Windlestone  Special Community 0.326 (0.628) (0.302) 

 

 

88 Bluebell Meadow and Wolsingham, have now converted to academies 
and St Bede’s RC is expected to convert on 1 December this year. For 
these schools the licensed deficits shown in the table are to the point of 
conversion only. 

Dedicated Schools Grant Centrally Retained block 

89 The quarter two financial forecasts for the centrally retained DSG 
budgets show an overspend of £1.994 million against a total budget of 
£61.766 million to year end, which represents a 3% overspend.  

 

Page 89



DSG Block 
Budget  
£ million 

Outturn 
£ million 

Over / 
(Under) 
Spend  
£ million 

Schools de-delegated 0.562 0.665 0.103 

High Needs 27.006 28.983 1.977 

Early Years 31.489 31.403 (0.086) 

Central Schools Services 2.709 2.709 0 

Total 61.766 63.760 1.994 

 

90 The forecast overspend position relates to spending against the High 
Needs Block (HNB), which is forecast to overspend by £1.977 million.  

91 There has been a significant increase in requests for top up funding 
across all education phases and the data relating to support plans 
beginning in September 2020 has been reflected in the SEND 
management system system. The forecast is based on this data.  

92 It is difficult to project the future pattern of expenditure for top up funding 
following the impact of COVID-19, but there is potential for a further 
spike in requests for top up funding now most pupils have returned to 
schools. It is estimated this could increase costs by a further £0.500 
million across the rest of this year, although this is not included in the 
forecast position at this stage. 

93 There is a forecast underspend for placements for post-16 students 
across the FE and Independent sector. Expenditure in this area has 
increased from the previous year but at a lower rate than anticipated in 
the budgetplanning. 

94 All areas of HNB expenditure will be kept under close review in light of 
COVID-19 issues, with particular attention on the impact of schools 
returning where it is possible we will see an upward trend in the volume 
of requests for additional support for high needs pupils. 

95 The impact of the current forecast on the DSG reserves position is 
shown in the following table:  

 

Page 90



DSG Reserves 

High 
Needs 
Block  
£ million 

Early 
Years 
Block  
£ million 

Schools 
Block  
£ million 

Total 
DSG  
£ million 

Balance as at 1 April 2019 (2.728) 1.370 1.009 (0.348) 

Use [-] / Contribution [+] in 2019/20 (8.598) (0.095) (0.365) (9.058) 

Contribution from general reserves 5.600 0 0 5.600 

Balance as at 1 April 2020 (5.726) 1.275 0.644 (3.806) 

Early Years adjustment 2019/20 0 0.097 0 0.097 

Forecast Use [-] / Contribution [+] in 2020/21 (1.977) 0.086 (0.103) (1.994) 

Forecast balance as at 31 March 2021 (7.703) 1.458 0.541 (5.703) 

 

96 The overall DSG reserve was in deficit of £3.806 million at the start of 
the financial year as a result of the accumulated deficit position in 
relation to the high needs block and the deficit is set to increase further 
this year. 

97 A five-year plan for high needs block funding and expenditure, including 
recovery of the accumulated deficit by the end of the five-year period, 
was approved by Cabinet in January 2020. An updated version of the 
plan was reported to Cabinet in July 2020. 

98 Following a funding announcement from Government on 20 July 2020, 
further information is now available about HNB funding levels in 
2021/22. The provisional position for Durham is better than forecast in 
the previous version of the five-year plan and the process of updating 
the plan to reflect this change, as well as the revised forecast outturn 
position for 20/21, is underway. 

Capital 

Background 

99 The 2020/21 original budget of £168.856 million was revised in June by 
amendments supported by the council’s Member Officer Working Group 
(MOWG).  The revised budget of £155.780 million was approved by 
Cabinet on 16 September 2020 in the Quarter 1 Forecast of Revenue 
and Capital Outturn 2020/21.  Details of the original and revised budget 
are shown in the following table.  

100 The council’s Member Officer Working Group (MOWG) that closely 
monitors the capital programme has since considered further revisions 
to the capital programme, taking into account additional resources 
received by the authority and further requests for reprofiling as Service 
Management Teams continue to monitor and review their capital 
schemes. 

Page 91



Current Position 

101 The following table summarises the latest capital budget for approval 
alongside the original budget. The table also shows the actual capital 
spend as at 30 September 2020. 

Service Grouping Original 
Budget 
2020/21  

Revised 
Budget 
2020/21 

 Quarter 1 

Amendments 
recommended 

by MOWG 

Revised 
Budget 
2020/21 

 Quarter 2 

Actual 
Spend to 

30 
September 

2020 

£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million 

Adult and Health 
Services 

0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 

Children and Young 
People's Services 

31.945 28.062 -2.217 25.845 5.864 

Neighbourhoods and 
Climate Change 

43.270 44.632 -4.538 40.094 7.322 

Regeneration, 
Economy and Growth 

85.435 75.080 -1.061 74.019 22.627 

Resources 
8.206 8.006 -2.209 5.797 1.527 

TOTAL 168.856 155.780 -10.025 145.755 37.339 

 

102 Since the original 2020/21 budget was agreed, MOWG has considered 
a number of variations to the capital programme which are a result of 
additions and reductions in resources received by the council and 
reprofiling of budgets over future years. The variations of note are as 
follows: 

Additions and Reductions 

(a) CYPS – the service has received the following additional funding: 

(i) Children’s Services – Planning & Service Strategy – 
£0.305 million for the Review of the Social Services 
Information Database (SSID) funded from direct revenue 
funding.  

(ii) School Related – Additional Schools Capital grant of £2.237 
million from the DfE 

(b) NCC – the service has received notice of additional funding as 
follows:  

Page 92



(i) Members Neighbourhood Fund - £14,245 budget increase 
funded from the Members Neighbourhood Revenue 
Reserve.     

(ii) AAP Capital Budget - £86,971 increase funded from the 
AAP Revenue Reserve 

(c) REG – the service has the following additions and reductions: 

(i) Development and Housing – Disabled Facilities grant of 
£1.440 million from the Better Care Fund.  Grant of £0.570 
million from Triple Point for the Seaham Garden Village 
Minewater Heating scheme.  £0.574 million for the 
development of Aykley Heads Plot C to be financed from 
capital contingencies and £23,407 S106 funding for Bishop 
Auckland HAZ – Town Centre Projects.  A reduction of 
£0.600 million Homes England grant for the Homelessness 
Buy to Lease scheme.  

(ii) Business Durham – £0.420 million for a lease purchase at 
Netpark, to be financed from capital contingencies. 

(iii) Culture and Sport - £0.167 million for Shildon Stadium 
Improvements, financed by £0.100 million grant from Sport 
England and £67,000 from earmarked reserves.  A 
contribution of £50,000 has been received from Durham 
University for the Millennium Place Cultural Hub scheme. 

(iv) Transport and Contracted Services -Transforming 
Cities Funding has been received for the following: 

• £3.613 million for Durham Bus Station and North Road 
Redevelopment with £0.431 million being profiled in 
2020/21.  This replaced the current funding enabling a 
transfer back to capital contingencies. 

• £1.671 million for Durham Milburngate Footbridge and 
Pedestrian Improvements replaced current funding and 
enabled a transfer back to capital contingencies with 
£0.273 million being profiled in 2020/21. 

• £2.295 million for Stonebridge Park and Ride (£0.795 
million in 2021/22 and £1.5 million in 2022/23), 

•  £1.757 million for Walking and Cycling Corridors (£1.525 
million in 2021/22 and £0.232 million in 2022/23) 

• Bus Priority Measures (£20,000 in 2020/21 and £0.178 
million in 2021/22). 

 
The budget for the Sherburn Road Retail Link Road scheme 
has been increased by £0.392 million, financed from 

Page 93



£79,239 TCF grant and £0.313 million S106 contributions.  A 
HIF grant of £5.571 million has been awarded to the council 
for the A19/A1018 Seaton Lane Junction scheme with 
£0.200 million being profiled in 2020/21.  The budget has 
been increased by £1.820 million for the A1(M) Junction 61 
Capacity Enhancements scheme, to be financed from capital 
contingencies.  £0.357 million NECA grant for Walking and 
Cycling projects has been added to the 2020/21 budget.  
The Jade Business Park Infrastructure budget was reduced 
by £0.500 million following a review of the budgets for 
schemes at Jade Business Park.   

(d) Resources - £0.125 million for Pulse VPN and £0.127 million for 
the Application Delivery System from capital contingencies, to 
replenish budgets previously given up. 

103 Budget managers continue to challenge and review the programming 
and phasing of works, which has resulted in the re-profiling of the 
following budgets in line with anticipated activity in 2020/21: 

(a) CYPS – £4.792 million has been re-profiled from 2020/21 into 
2021/22.  £1.000 million of this amount relates to the Schools 
Capital Grant unprogrammed budget where additional grant has 
been received in 2020/21.  Other significant amounts include 
£1.265 million for the New Build Primary in Bowburn, £0.370 
million and £0.200 million for window replacement projects at 
Kelloe Primary and Durham Sixth Form respectively and £0.275 
for a rewire project at St Anne’s CE Primary. 

(b) NCC - £4.627 million has been re-profiled from 2020/21 into 
2021/22 and 2022/23.  This includes £1.122 million for the 
Chester-le-Street Deculverting scheme, £0.698 million for 
Morrison Busty Vehicle Workshop Refurbishment, £0.883 million 
for Durham City Conservation works at North and South Bailey 
and Claypath, £0.300 million of the Street Lighting unprogrammed 
budget, £0.252 million for Great Lumley Community Centre, 
£0.227 million for Bearpark Community Centre and £0.201 million 
for Middleton-in-Teesdale Village Hall. 

(c) REG - £5.995 million (net) has been re-profiled from 2020/21 
across the period from 2021/22 to 2023/24.  Re-profiling from 
2020/21 into 2021/22 includes £0.878 million for DMA Redhills 
Building Refurbishment, £0.421 million for Meadowfield Depot 
Strategic Site, £0.370 million of the Demolition Programme 
unprogrammed budget, £0.350 million for Housing Development 
Self Build, £0.310 million for Bishop Auckland Kingsway Car Park 
and £0.300 million for Durham Bus Station and North Road 
Development.  Leisure Transformation budget of £0.872 million 

Page 94



has been re-profiled from 2020/21 into 2022/23 due to delays on 
commissioning design work.  £0.250 million of the Transforming 
Cities unprogrammed budget from 2020/21 has been re-profiled 
into 2022/23 and £1.109 million of the budget for the New 
Exhibition Building at Locomotion has been re-profiled across 
2021/22 and 2022/23 due to delays on the land transaction.      

(d) Resources - £2.833 million has been re-profiled from 2020/21 
into 2021/22, and £0.433 million from 2021/22 into 2020/21.  
Significant amounts to be re-profiled from 2020/21 into 2021/22 
include £0.595 million for Digital Durham schemes, £0.688 million 
for the Office Accommodation project, £0.666 million for the 
Customer Relation Management System and £0.200 million for 
End User Equipment Replacement.  £0.533 million of the Durham 
History Centre budget has been re-profiled from 2020/21 to 
2021/22 due to a delay in the projected construction start date of 
the project.  Budgets of £0.300 million for Hosted Environment 
Computing and Storage and £0.133 million for the Application 
Delivery System have been re-profiled from 2021/22 to 2020/21 in 
line with expected project delivery.     

Capital Financing 

104 The following table summarises the recommended financing of the 
revised capital programme: 

Financed By: Original 
Budget 
2020/21 

Revised 
Budget 
2020/21  

Quarter 1 

Amendments 
recommended 

by MOWG 

Revised 
Budget 
2020/21  

Quarter 2 

£ million £ million £ million £ million 

Grants and Contributions 44.010 41.923 3.434 45.357 

Revenue and Reserves 36.321 37.827 -0.483 37.344 

Capital Receipts 11.325 5.803 2.063 7.866 

Borrowing 77.200 70.227 -15.038 55.189 

TOTAL 168.856 155.780 -10.025 145.755 

 

Council Tax and Business Rates Collection Funds 

Council Tax 

105 Council Tax is charged for all residential dwellings in bandings agreed 
by the Valuation Office Agency, which is part of Her Majesty’s 
Revenues and Customs (HMRC).  Exemptions, reliefs and discounts 
are awarded dependent upon the state of the property, its use and 
occupiers’ personal circumstances.  

Page 95



106 The collection rate at 30 September 2020 was 53.94%, which is 2.02% 
points below the same position in 2019/20, reflecting the impact of 
COVID-19, and a cessation of any recovery action for unpaid Council 
Tax.  Many households have been severely impacted by the pandemic, 
with the council experiencing a 4% increase in claims for Council Tax 
Reduction (CTR) in quarter one, followed by a steady reduction in 
claims across quarter two as the national lockdown came to an end, 
though there are significant concerns that this trend will be reversed in 
quarter three and the furlough scheme comes to an end and local lock 
down restrictions have an impact on employment. In total, 6,000 
residents have chosen to defer their Council Tax payments until later in 
the year and the council is providing support to those impacted by 
COVID-19 through Hardship payments of up to £300 for those in receipt 
of council tax support, with nearly 16,000 payments totalling £3.262 
million having been awarded to date.  Formal recovery action remains 
suspended at this stage and will not be reinstated before 1 January 
2021, with residents in arrears being given information on other support 
available. In quarter three the collections team will also be proactively 
calling residents in arrears who have not yet engaged following the 
receipt of this information to discuss their situation and see what further 
help and assistance we can give them.  

107 The in-year collection rates at the end of quarter two for the current and 
last two financial years, are detailed below: 

Billing Year Position at 30 September 

Each Year % 

2020/21 53.94 

2019/20 55.96 

2018/19 56.23 

 

108 The income shown in the Council Tax Collection Fund is the amount 
collectable from Council Tax payers in the long run, rather than the 
actual cash collected in the year the charges are raised.  Likely bad 
debts are accounted for by maintaining a bad debt provision.  The 
amount estimated to be collectable is calculated each year by reference 
to the actual council tax base for all domestic properties in the county 
(schedule of all properties, discounts and reliefs) with an allowance for 
non-collection.  

109 Actual cash collected as at 30 September 2020 was £156.240 million 
compared with £160.743 million as at 30 September 2019, however, 
when the Council Tax increases for 2020/21 are factored in this 

Page 96



represents a year on year real terms reduction of £12.480 million in 
terms of Council Tax income received. 

110 Due to changes in the number of properties (including new build and 
demolitions), eligibility of discounts and reliefs during the year, the 
actual amount collectable increases or decreases from the estimate on 
a day to day basis. In addition, adjustments for previous billing years 
take place during each accounting year. All of these adjustments mean 
that the actual amounts collected will always differ from the estimate.   

111 Such differences at the end of each accounting year, after taking into 
account the calculated change required in the bad debt provision, 
determines whether a surplus or deficit has arisen, which is then shared 
proportionately between the council and its major preceptors, being 
Durham Police Crime and Victim’s Commissioner and County Durham 
and Darlington Fire and Rescue Authority. 

112 At 30 September 2020, the estimated in year outturn for the Council Tax 
Collection Fund is a deficit of £3.962 million as shown in the table 
below. The council’s share of the in year deficit is £3.319 million which 
is caused in the main by the impact of COVID-19. The forecast position 
after taking into account the undeclared deficit as at 31 March 2020 of 
£0.854 million is a total deficit of £4.816 million. Durham County 
Council’s share of this forecasted deficit is £4.034 million. 

Page 97



 
£ million 

Net Bills issued during Accounting Year 2020/21 354.930 
  

LCTRS and previous years CTB adjustments -61.096 

Calculated change in provision for bad debts required and 

write offs -4.241 

Net income receivable (a) 289.593 

Precepts and Demands 
 

Durham County Council  234.458 

Parish and Town Councils 13.637 

Durham Police Crime and Victim’s Commissioner 30.509 

County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Authority 14.951 

Total Precepts and Demands (b) 293.555 

Net Surplus / (-) Deficit for year (a) – (b) -3.962 

Undeclared Surplus / (-) Deficit brought forward from 

2019/20 -0.854 
 

Estimated year end deficit -4.816 

 

113 Prior to each year, the estimated surplus/ deficit on the Collection Fund 
Council Tax Account is notified to the two major preceptors for inclusion 
in the budget setting process for the following year as an additional 
income or expenditure item.  

114 The council is required to determine and declare the forecast surplus or 
deficit on the Council Tax Collection Fund for 2021/22 by 15 January 
2021. Normally, this would then be taken into account in the budget 
setting process for the following year, with any difference between this 
and the actual surplus at 31 March 2021 being carried forward to the 
next financial year and taken into account in estimating the 
surplus/deficit position for thatyear. 

115 In July 2020 the government announced that they are proposing that 
repayments to meet any collection fund deficits accrued in 2020/21 will 
instead be phased over a three-year period (2021/22 to 2023/24) to 
ease immediate pressures on budgets. MHCLG will work with CIPFA 
and local government on the detailed operation of this scheme and 
provide guidance to councils later in the year. 

Page 98



Business Rates 

116 Business Rates Retention was implemented in 2013/14 and the council 
now has a vested budget interest and stake in the level of business rate 
yield, as income generated from Business Rates is shared between 
Central Government (50%), Durham County Council (49%) and County 
Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Authority (1%). Therefore, it is 
not only the accuracy and timeliness of bills levied and collected that is 
monitored and audited, but also the level of income anticipated for the 
year is important.  

117 In 2017/18, following consultation, the government implemented the first 
revaluation of Business Rates since April 2010.  

118 The revaluation of the rateable values of all Business Properties was 
undertaken by the Valuation Office Agency and, along with national 
changes to Multipliers, Relief Thresholds and Transitional 
Arrangements, came into effect from April 2017. The overall effect of 
the revaluation on the Collection Fund saw a decrease of an estimated 
£9.3 million in rates yield/ liability when compared to 2016/17. The 
revaluation should be cost neutral to Durham County Council and 
County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Authority. Therefore, 
compensation arrangements are made through adjustments to Section 
31 grants and Top Ups for their shares of losses of income. 

119 Bills raised, exemptions and reliefs awarded are examined together with 
local knowledge of anticipated changes in reliefs such as Mandatory 
Charitable Relief and Discretionary Rate Relief on a monthly basis to 
enable a comparison with the January 2020 estimate of 2020/21 
Business Rates income that was used for budget setting purposes.   

120 On Monday 27 January 2020, the government announced additional 
business rates measures that would apply from 1 April 2020. The 
Budget on Wednesday 11 March 2020 confirmed the measures and on 
17 March 2020 the Chancellor set out a further package of targeted 
measures to support businesses through this period of disruption 
caused by COVID-19: 

(a) increasing the retail discount from one-third to 50 per cent for 
eligible retail businesses occupying a property with a rateable 
value less than £51,000; 

(b) extending the retail discount to eligible music venues and 
cinemas with a rateable value less than £51,000; 

(c) introducing a pub discount of £1,000 to eligible pubs with a 
rateable value of less than £100,000 - this being in addition to the 
retail discount and will apply after the retail discount. 

Page 99



(d) Extending the £1,500 business rates discount for office space 
occupied by local newspapers for an additional 5 years until 31 
March 2025.     

121 In response to COVID-19, the government went further than previously 
announced and made the following commitments: 

(a) the retail discount will increase to 100% for 2020/21 

(b) the relief will be expanded to the leisure and hospitality sectors 

(c) the pub discounts will increase to £5,000   

122 Further measures announced on 17 March and 18 March 2020 were:  

(a) A 12 month business rates holiday for all retail, hospitality and 
leisure businesses 

(b) A business rate holiday for non-local authority child care providers 
in 20/21    

123 In making these series of announcements the government stated that 
local authorities would be fully compensated for these Business Rate 
measures, which have the impact of significantly reducing the business 
rates chargeable/ business rates yield, via a Section 31 grant in 
2020/21.  

124 At 30 September 2020, the estimated outturn for the Collection Fund 
Business Rates is an in year deficit of £51.885 million of which the 
council’s 49% share of £25.423 million. This deficit is offset by the 
receipt of additional Section 31 grant of £24.840 million due to the 
additional business rate reliefs. At this stage it is therefore forecast that 
there will be small deficit of £0.583 million although this forecast would 
be significantly impacted by any business closures over the remainder 
of 2020/21.  

125 The total deficit for 2020/21 taking into account the undeclared surplus 
position as at 31 March 2020 of £8.233 million is a deficit of £43.652 
million as calculated in the following table. 

Page 100



  £ million 

Net rate yield for 2020/21 including previous year adjustments 67.105 

   

Estimate of changes due to appeals lodged and future appeals -3.383 
 

    

Estimated losses in Collection – Provision for Bad Debts and 

Write-offs 
-0.699 

Net income receivable (a) 63.023 

  

Agreed allocated shares: 
 

Central Government (50%) 55.912 

Durham County Council (49%) 57.053 

County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Authority (1%) 1.141 

Cost of Collection Allowance and Renewable Energy (paid to 

Durham County Council) 
0.802 

Total fixed payments (b) 114.908 

  

Net deficit for year (a) – (b) -51.885 

Undeclared Surplus / (-) Deficit brought forward from 

2019/20 8.233 

Estimated year end deficit -43.652 

 

126 The in-year estimated deficit of £51.885 million and the total undeclared 
surplus brought forward from 2019/20, leaves an estimated net deficit of 
£43.652 million at 31 March 2021. 

127 The surplus/ deficit at 31 March in any year is shared proportionately 
between Durham County Council, Central Government and County 
Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue, Durham County Council’s 
share being 49%.  Durham County Council’s share of the estimated 
year end deficit will therefore be £21.389 million before we account for 
the receipt of the compensating Section 31 grant.  

Page 101



128 As with residents, local businesses have also been severely impacted 
by the COVID-19 pandemic, particularly during the national lockdown 
period. The in-year collection rate at 30 September 2020 was 56.68%, 
which is 2.05% points below the same position last year. A number of 
businesses have chosen to defer their payments until later in the year 
and the council has moved quickly to make payments to eligible 
businesses under the national Small Business Grant Fund and Retail 
Hospitality and Leisure Grants Fund. Circa £99 million of grants have 
paid out, with a further circa £5 million of support also being provided 
under the Local Discretional Grants Fund.  As with Council Tax, there 
has been no recovery action for unpaid Business Rates in the year to 
date. The in-year collection rates at the end of quarter two for the 
current and last two financial years, are as follows: 

 

Billing year Position at 30 

September 

Each Year % 

2020/21 56.68 

2019/20 58.73 

2018/19 58.90 

 

Section 31 Grant - Small Business Rate Relief 

129 Small business ratepayers with properties with rateable values under 
£15,000 benefit from relief on their rates payable. The government has 
awarded local authorities a Section 31 grant to cover their share of the 
shortfall in business rates that these small business ratepayers would 
have paid had the relief scheme not been in place. 

130 Small business ratepayers with properties with rateable values up to 
£12,000 are now being granted full relief, and properties with rateable 
values between £12,000 and £15,000 have a tapered relief applied to 
them ranging from 100% down to 0%.  

131 The government has agreed to pay Section 31 grant for any additional 
small business rate relief in respect of business rates bills and 
adjustments thereof relating to the period commencing 1 April 2013.  
Any adjustments that relate to bills for years prior to this will be dealt 
with as part of the normal rate retention shares.   

132 At 30 September 2020, the gross small business relief awarded against 
2020/21 business rates bills and adjustments to 2013/14 to 2019/20 

Page 102



bills is £17.624 million, and the council will receive £5.832 million in 
Section 31 grant, including the capping adjustment and threshold 
change adjustments, in this regard. 

Other Section 31 Grants 

133 In the Autumn Statement 2016, Spring Budget 2017 and Autumn 
Statement 2018 additional business rate relief schemes were 
announced on which Section 31 grants would be payable. These relief 
schemes include Rural Rate Relief and Local Newspaper Reliefs, 
Supporting Small Business, Local Discretionary Relief Scheme, Pub 
Relief and Retail Relief Schemes. Funding for these schemes is 
provided through Section 31 grants. 

134 In response to the economic impact of COVID-19, the government has 
introduced the expanded retail discount. The business rates retail 
discount has been increased to 100% and now covers the leisure and 
hospitality sectors. The £51,000 rateable value threshold has also been 
removed. This relief will apply to occupied retail, leisure and hospitality 
properties in the year 2020/21 only, and will be fully funded by way of 
Section 31 grant. 

135 A nursery discount has also been introduced for 2020/21, as a response 
to COVID-19, which will be fully reimbursed by Section 31 grant. 

136 When assessing estimated outturn income from business rates, due 
regard must also be given on the effect that changes in estimated reliefs 
will have on the Section 31 grants.  When the additional Section 31 
grants to compensate for the extended retail, hospitality and leisure 
discounts and the extended nursery discounts are factored in the net 
impact is an increase in Durham County Council’s Section 31 grants of 
£25.271 million of which £24.840 million relates to the additional reliefs 
in response to COVID-19. 

Update on Progress towards achieving MTFP(10) savings 

137 The delivery of the MTFP savings considers: 

(a) the duties under the Equality Act; 

(b) appropriate consultation; 

(c) the HR implications of the change including consultation with 
employees and trade unions; 

(d) communication of the change and the consultation results; 

(e) sound risk management. 

Page 103



138 The development of MTFP(10) proposals for 2020/21 has been 
underway since the 2019/20 proposals were agreed.  

139 For MTFP(10), the council has delivered quarter two savings of £7.194 
million which is 90% of the £8.010 million target.  

Consultation 

140 There has not been any public consultation on MTFP10 proposals in the 
last quarter.   

HR implications  

141 Equality data relating to the four staff leaving through voluntary 
redundancy, early retirement and ER/VR during quarter two of 
MTFP(10) showed that 75% were female and 25% were male. In terms 
of race, 100% stated that they were white British or white English. 
Regarding disability status 25% of employees said they had a disability, 
and 75% did not disclose their disability status. No staff have left 
through compulsory redundancy in quarter two. 

142 Since austerity began in 2011, equality data relating to staff leaving 
through voluntary redundancy, showed that 63% were female and 37% 
were male. The higher proportion of female leavers is likely due to the 
exercises which took place in previous years which focused on 
traditionally female occupied professions. These included the closure of 
care homes, reduction in service in the Pathways and Youth service 
and a restructure and change of working pattern for Care Connect. 

143 Since 2011, 31% of leavers had not disclosed their ethnicity, with 68% 
stating that they were white British or white English. Regarding disability 
status 4% said they had a disability, 16% had no disability and 80% did 
not disclose their disability status.  

Equality Impact Assessments (EIA) 

144 Services have completed EIA screenings and assessments where 
necessary as part of the decision-making process for 2020/21 MTFP10 
proposals.  

145 Projects to deliver growth proposals will be supported to ensure robust 
planning and that EIA screening are also completed.  

Page 104



Other useful documents 

• County Council – 26 February 2020 – Medium Term Financial 
Plan 2020/21 to 2023/24 and Revenue and Capital Budget 
2020/21. 

• Cabinet – 8 July 2020 - 2019/20 Final Outturn for the General 
Fund and Collection Fund. 

• Cabinet – 16 September 2020 – Forecast of Revenue and Capital 
Outturn 2020/21 – Period to 30 June 2020 and Update on 
Progress towards achieving MTFP(10) savings 

 

Author(s) 

Jeff Garfoot    Tel: 03000 261946 

Paul Darby    Tel: 03000 261930 

  

Page 105



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

The consideration of regular budgetary control reports is a key component of 

the council’s Corporate and Financial Governance arrangements. This report 

shows the forecast spend against budgets agreed by Council in February 

2020 in relation to the 2020/21 financial year. The forecasts contained within 

this report have been prepared in accordance with standard accounting 

policies and procedures. 

Finance 

The report details the 2020/21 updated forecast of outturn position for 

Revenue and Capital and details the updated forecast movement on reserves. 

Consultation 

None. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

None. 

Climate Change 

None. 

Human Rights 

None. 

Crime and Disorder 

None. 

Staffing 

None. 

Accommodation 

None. 

Risk 

The figures contained within this report have been extracted from the General 

Ledger, and have been scrutinised and supplemented with information 

supplied by the Service Management Teams and budget holders.  The 

projected outturn has been produced taking into consideration spend to date, 

Page 106



trend data and market intelligence, and includes an element of prudence.  

This, together with the information supplied by Service Management Teams 

and budget holders, helps to mitigate the risks associated with achievement of 

the forecast outturn position. 

Procurement 

None. 

 

Page 107



Appendix 2:  Revenue Summary 2020/21 

 

   

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Adult and Health Services 129,627 126,927 786 0 475 128,188 141,827 13,639

Chief Executive's Office 1,823 1,842 48 16 78 1,984 2,068 84

Children and Young People's Services 123,877 126,846 1,171 0 1,487 129,504 136,114 6,610

Neighbourhoods and Climate Change 108,622 108,963 1,659 0 -238 110,384 123,791 13,407

Regeneration, Economy and Growth 52,770 53,405 1,078 0 578 55,061 68,916 13,855

Resources 25,705 25,539 1,675 58 -67 27,205 30,530 3,325

Cash Limit Position 442,424 443,522 6,417 74 2,313 452,326 503,246 50,920

Contingencies 8,155 8,228 -6,375 1,853 1,853 0

Corporate Costs 4,498 4,408 -42 0 -519 3,847 4,901 1,054

NET COST OF SERVICES 455,077 456,158 0 74 1,794 458,026 510,000 51,974

Capital charges -65,068 -65,068 -65,068 -65,068 0

Interest and Investment income -2,900 -2,900 -2,900 -2,550 350

Interest payable and similar charges 36,614 36,709 23,479 60,188 60,188 0

Levies 15,991 15,991 15,991 15,996 5

Net Expenditure 439,714 440,890 0 74 25,273 466,237 518,566 52,329

Funded By:

Council tax -234,458 -234,458 -234,458 -234,458 0

Use of earmarked reserves -7,700 -8,632 -25,273 -33,905 -33,905 0

COVID-19 Support Grant tranche 1-use of earmarked reserves 0 0 0 -17,521 -17,521

COVID-19 Support Grant tranches 2 and 3 0 0 0 -19,524 -19,524

COVID-19 Support Grant tranche 4 0 0 0 -7,557 -7,557

COVID-19 Income Guarantee Grant 0 0 0 -6,000 -6,000

Estimated net surplus on Collection Fund -1,740 -1,740 -1,740 -1,740 0

Business Rates -56,083 -56,083 -56,083 -56,083 0

Top up grant -72,780 -72,780 -72,780 -72,780 0

Revenue Support Grant -28,070 -28,070 -28,070 -28,070 0

New Homes Bonus -7,564 -7,564 -7,564 -7,564 0

Section 31 Grant -11,713 -11,713 -11,713 -12,539 -826

Adult/Childrens Pressures Grant -17,652 -17,652 -17,652 -17,652 0

Forecast contribution to/from (-) Cash Limit Reserve -1,954 -2,198 -74 -2,272 854 3,126

Forecast contribution to/from (-) General Reserves 0 0 0 -4,027 -4,027
 

TOTAL 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Original 

Budget 

2020/21

Proposed Budget 

Revisions, 

including sums 

outside the cash 

limit

Contribution 

to / Use of 

Cash Limit 

Reserve

Contribution to 

/ Use of 

Earmarked 

Reserves

Budget - 

incorporating 

adjustments

Service 

Groupings 

Forecast of 

Outturn

Forecasted 

Variance

Revised 

Budget

P
age 108



Appendix 3:  Revenue Summary by Expenditure / Income for the period ended 31 March 2021 

 

 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Employees 561,387 533,231 8,467 5 573 542,276 537,561 344 537,905 -4,371 0

Premises 53,923 50,428 -60 0 0 50,368 53,013 0 53,013 2,645 0

Transport 46,738 46,274 53 0 0 46,327 45,265 0 45,265 -1,062 0

Supplies & Services 130,374 113,862 374 69 676 114,981 116,923 1,312 118,235 3,254 -212 

Agency & Contracted 417,221 426,322 136 0 -873 425,585 454,762 3,225 457,987 32,402 1,250

Transfer Payments 163,446 161,528 -619 0 -66 160,843 161,799 6,964 168,763 7,920 6,964

Central Costs 106,669 117,141 180 0 2,086 119,407 120,569 115 120,684 1,277 0

DRF 2,330 2,407 0 0 32 2,439 2,669 70 2,739 300 0

Other 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 1 0

Capital Charges 65,068 65,068 0 0 0 65,068 65,068 0 65,068 0 0

GROSS EXPENDITURE 1,547,156 1,516,261 8,531 74 2,428 1,527,294 1,557,630 12,030 1,569,660 42,366 8,002

Income

Government Grants 607,033 577,672 514 0 296 578,482 586,723 6,964 593,687 15,205 -6,950 

Other Grants and Contributions 78,298 80,088 558 0 -12 80,634 89,406 0 89,406 8,772 0

Sales 11,349 6,324 18 0 -10 6,332 3,852 200 4,052 -2,280 -33 

Fees and Charges 103,391 104,133 -194 0 206 104,145 85,018 -35 84,983 -19,162 35

Rents 9,208 8,571 0 0 0 8,571 8,144 0 8,144 -427 0

Recharges To Other Services 282,668 285,941 1,220 0 10 287,171 274,349 0 274,349 -12,822 0

Other 8,287 5,602 40 0 144 5,786 6,892 0 6,892 1,106 0

Total Income 1,100,234 1,068,331 2,156 0 634 1,071,121 1,054,384 7,129 1,061,513 -9,608 -6,948 

NET EXPENDITURE 446,922 447,930 6,375 74 1,794 456,173 503,246 4,901 508,147 51,974 1,054

Revised 

Budget

Contribution to / 

Use of Cash Limit 

Reserve

Contribution to / 

Use of Earmarked 

Reserves

Budget - 

incorporating 

adjustments

Corporate 

Costs

Forecast of 

Outturn

Forecast of 

Outturn 

(including 

Corporate 

Costs)

Original 

Budget 

2020/21

Service 

Groupings 

Forecast of 

Outturn

Forecasted 

Variance 

(including 

Corporate 

Costs)

Forecasted 

Variance - 

Corporate 

Costs

Proposed 

Budget 

Revisions, 

including 

sums 

outside the 

cash limit

P
age 109



Appendix 4: Earmarked Reserves Position as at 30 September 2020 

 

EARMARKED RESERVES AND CASH LIMIT 

RESERVES

SERVICE 

GROUPING

OPENING 

BALANCE

USE OF 

RESERVES 

CONTRIBUTION 

TO RESERVES 

TRANSFERS 

BETWEEN 

RESERVES

TOTAL 

MOVEMENT ON 

RESERVES

2020/21 CLOSING 

BALANCE

AS AT 30 SEPT 

2020

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Social Care Reserve AHS -25,671 0 -526 116 -410 -26,081

Public Health Reserve AHS -5,246 1,345 -695 70 720 -4,526

CEO Grant Reserve CEO -86 0 0 0 0 -86

CEO Operational Reserve CEO -119 98 0 -55 43 -76

Children's Services Reserve CYPS -1,785 527 -365 0 162 -1,623

Education Reserve CYPS -12,629 244 0 0 244 -12,385

AAP/Members Reserve NCC -2,033 137 0 -47 90 -1,943

Community Protection Reserve NCC -575 115 -8 -70 37 -538

Environmental Services Reserve NCC -1,483 426 -1,068 0 -642 -2,125

NCC Grant Reserve NCC -689 0 0 0 0 -689

NCC Operational Reserve NCC -2,881 414 0 0 414 -2,467

North Pennines AONB Partnership Reserve NCC -1,911 0 0 0 0 -1,911

Technical Services Reserve NCC -802 658 0 0 658 -144

Business Growth Fund Reserve REG -604 0 0 0 0 -604

Corporate Property & Land Reserve REG -1,356 759 0 0 759 -597

Culture and Sport Reserve REG -2,286 100 -498 0 -398 -2,684

Economic Development Reserve REG -2,123 12 0 -122 -110 -2,233

Employability and Training Reserve REG -276 31 0 0 31 -245

Funding and Programmes Management Reserve REG -506 0 0 0 0 -506

Housing Regeneration Reserve REG -473 0 0 0 0 -473

Housing Solutions Reserve REG -2,199 0 0 122 122 -2,077

Planning Reserve REG -862 506 0 0 506 -356

REAL Match Fund Programme Reserve REG -1,214 100 0 0 100 -1,114

Town and Villages Regeneration Reserve REG -19,767 4 0 0 4 -19,763

Transport Reserve REG -746 275 0 0 275 -471

Resources Corporate Reserve Resources -530 26 0 0 26 -504

Resources Customer Services Reserve Resources -315 0 0 0 0 -315

Resources DWP Grant Reserve Resources -573 0 -857 0 -857 -1,430

Resources Elections Reserve Resources -860 0 0 0 0 -860

Resources Grant Reserve Resources -154 0 0 0 0 -154

Resources Housing Benefit Subsidy Reserve Resources -1,542 0 0 0 0 -1,542

Resources Human Resources Reserves Resources -323 23 0 0 23 -300

Resources ICT Reserves Resources -1,242 212 -100 0 112 -1,130

Resources Internal Audit & Corporate Fraud Reserve Resources -80 0 0 0 0 -80

Resources Legal Reserves Resources -451 116 0 0 116 -335

Resources Operational Reserve Resources -58 0 -45 0 -45 -103

Resources Operations and Data Reserve Resources -38 0 0 0 0 -38

Resources Registrars Trading Reserve Resources -200 0 0 0 0 -200

Resources Revenue and Benefits Reserve Resources -854 241 0 -50 191 -663

Resources System Development Reserve Resources -354 0 0 0 0 -354

Resources Transformation Reserve Resources -1,277 394 0 0 394 -883

Budget Support Reserve Corporate -19,172 2,733 0 0 2,733 -16,439

Business Support Reserve Corporate -1,032 0 -152 -11 -163 -1,195

Capital Reserve Corporate -700 0 0 0 0 -700

Commercialisation Support Reserve Corporate -8,376 170 0 0 170 -8,206

COVID-19 Support Grant Reserve Corporate -17,521 17,521 0 0 17,521 0

Equal Pay Reserve Corporate -9,979 0 0 0 0 -9,979

ER/VR Reserve Corporate -3,346 419 0 0 419 -2,927

Feasibility Study Reserve Corporate -500 0 0 0 0 -500

Inspire Programme Reserve Corporate -330 132 0 0 132 -198

Insurance Reserve Corporate -10,070 6 0 0 6 -10,064

Office Accommodation Capital Reserve Corporate -24,739 23,715 0 0 23,715 -1,024

Total Earmarked Reserves -192,938 51,459 -4,314 -47 47,098 -145,840

Cash Limit Reserves

Adult and Health Services -8,354 1,959 -3,198 0 -1,239 -9,593

Chief Executive's Office 0 16 -65 -126 -175 -175

Children and Young People's Services 0 0 1,544 0 1,544 1,544

Neighbourhoods and Climate Change 0 0 -1 -197 -198 -198

Regeneration, Economy and Growth 0 0 -1,032 -164 -1,196 -1,196

Resources -2,758 297 -374 -113 -190 -2,948

Regeneration and Local Services -329 0 0 329 329 0

Transformation and Partnerships -318 0 0 318 318 0

Total Cash Limit Reserves -11,759 2,272 -3,126 47 -807 -12,566

Total Council Reserves -204,697 53,731 -7,440 0 46,291 -158,406

Schools' Balances

Schools' Revenue Balance CYPS -15,949 2,290 0 0 2,290 -13,659

DSG Reserve CYPS 3,807 2,080 -86 0 1,994 5,801

Total Schools and DSG Reserve -12,142 4,370 -86 0 4,284 -7,858

Page 110



 

Cabinet 
 

18 November 2020 
 

Mid-Year Review Report on Treasury 
Management for the period to  
30 September 2020 
 

 

 
 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

John Hewitt, Corporate Director of Resources 

Councillor Alan Napier, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Finance 

 
 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

None. 

Purpose of the Report 

 

1 The purpose of this report is to provide information on the treasury 
management mid-year position for 2020/21. 

 

Executive Summary 
 

2 This report provides a summary of the Council’s treasury position, 
borrowing activity, investment activity, treasury management and 
prudential indicators. 

 
3 The Council held £348 million in borrowing and had £263 million cash 

balances invested at 30 September 2020. During the half year period no 
additional borrowing was taken out as the council held sufficient cash 
balances to fund its expenditure.  

 
4 Investments have been undertaken in line with both the CIPFA Code 

and government guidance which require the Council to invest its funds 
prudently, and to have regard to the security and liquidity of its 
investments before seeking the highest rate of return, or yield. 

 
5 During the half year period to 30 September 2020, the Council has 

complied with Treasury Management Indicators relating to interest rate 
exposure, maturity structure of borrowing and sums invested for more 
than one year. The Council has also complied with Prudential Code 
Indicators which relate to the capital programme and how much the 
Council can afford to borrow. 

Page 111

Agenda Item 7



 

Recommendation(s) 
 

6 Cabinet is asked to: 
 

(a) note progress with the Treasury Management Strategy 2020/21; 
 

(b) agree that the overall counterparty limit for Money Market Funds is 
increased to £125m, with the maximum exposure to a single Money 
Market Fund increased to £25m. 

 
  

Page 112



Background 
 

7 Treasury management is defined as ‘the management of the local 
authority’s investments and cash flows, its banking, money market and 
capital market transactions, the effective control of the risks associated 
with those activities and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent 
with those risks’. 
 

8 The Council operates a balanced budget, which broadly means that 
cash raised during the year will meet cash expenditure. Part of the 
treasury management operation is to ensure this cash flow is 
adequately planned, with surplus monies being invested in low risk 
counterparties, with a main aim of providing sufficient liquidity, ahead of 
the achievement of the best possible investment returns. 
 

9 The second main function of the treasury management service is to 
arrange the funding of the Council’s capital programme. The capital 
programme provides a guide to the borrowing need of the Council, and 
there needs to be longer term cash flow planning to ensure capital 
spending requirements can be met. The management of longer term 
cash may involve arranging long or short term loans, utilising longer 
term cash flow surpluses and, occasionally, debt restructuring to meet 
Council risk or cost objectives.  
 

10 The Council adopts the latest CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury 
Management (the Code) which is regarded as best practice in ensuring 
adequate monitoring of the Council’s capital expenditure plans and its 
Prudential Indicators (PIs). This requires that Members agree the 
following reports, as a minimum: 

 
(a) an annual Treasury Management Strategy in advance of the year 

(reported to the County Council on 26 February 2020 for the 
2020/21 financial year); 
 

(b) an annual review following the end of the year describing the 
activity compared to the strategy (reported to Full Council on 21 
October 2020 in respect of the 2019/20 financial year); 
 

(c) a mid-year Treasury Management Review report, covering the 
first six months of this financial year, to 30 September 2020 (this 
report); 

 
11 This mid-year report provides a summary of the following: 
 

(a) summary treasury position; 
 

(b) borrowing activity; 
 

Page 113



(c) other debt activity/long term liabilities: 
 

(d) investment activity; 
 

(e) treasury management indicators; 
 

(f) prudential code indicators; 
 

Summary Treasury Position 
 

12  The Council’s debt and investment position is organised to ensure 
adequate liquidity for revenue and capital activities, security for 
investments, and to manage risks within all treasury management 
activities.    

 
13 At the beginning and mid-year point of 2020/21 the Council’s treasury 

position (excluding borrowing by finance leases) was as follows: 
 

  31.03.20 
Rate 

/Return 
Average 

Life  
30.09.20 

Rate 
/Return 

Average 
Life  

  
£ million % years 

£ 
million % years 

Total Debt 359 3.42 22.93 348 3.43 22.94 

Total Investments 232 1.05 0.53 263 0.57 0.42 

Net Debt 127     85     

 

14 As at 30 September 2020, the Council had £348 million of borrowing 
and £263 million of cash balances invested. The main factor in the 
increase in cash balances over the period has been the receipt of 
COVID-19 related grants and the front loading of other Government 
grants. 

 

Borrowing Activity 

15 At 30 September 2020, the Council held £348.472 million of loans, a net 
decrease of £10.108 million from the start of the year. The mid-year 
borrowing position and the change since the start of the year is shown 
in the following table: 

 

 

 

 

Page 114



 

31.3.20 In-year 30.9.20 Average 30.9.20 

Balance Movement Balance Rate Average 
Life 

£ million £ million £ million % years 

Public Works 
Loan Board 

288.975 (10.002) 278.973 3.31% 20.3 

Private Sector 69.420 (0.098) 69.322 4.41% 26.2 

Pension Fund 0.185 (0.008) 0.177 8.05% 8.1 

Total borrowing 358.580 (10.108) 348.472   

 

16 The Council’s chief objective when borrowing has been to strike an 
appropriate risk balance between securing low interest costs and 
achieving cost certainty over the period for which funds are required. 

17 During the half year period no additional borrowing was taken out as the 
council held sufficient cash balances to fund its expenditure.  

 
18 No rescheduling has been done during the first half of the year as the 

differential between PWLB new borrowing rates and premature 
repayment rates made rescheduling unviable. 

Other Debt Activity / Long Term Liabilities 

19 Although not classed as borrowing, the Council also raised £0.160 
million of capital finance for replacement fleet vehicles and equipment 
via finance leases during the first half year to 30 September 2020. It is 
expected that a further £12.382 million will be raised during the 
remainder of the year, giving total expected additional lease finance of 
£12.542 million. 

Investment Activity 
 

20 The Council continues to temporarily invest cash balances, representing 
monies received in advance of expenditure plus balances and reserves 
held. During the half-year to 30 September 2020, investment balances 
ranged between £240.9 million and £346.1 million. 

 
21 As at 30 September 2020 the Council held investments totalling 

£263.349 million. The following table provides a breakdown of these 
investments split by the type of financial institution and maturity period: 
 

Page 115



Financial 
Institution 

0-3 
months 

3-6 
months 

6-12 
months 

12-24 
months  Total 

 £ million 

Banks 82.604 27.839 34.799 - 145.242 

Building Societies - 8.700 - - 8.700 

Central Government 0.870 - - - 0.870 

Other Local 
Authorities 

10.875 17.399 - 21.749 50.023 

Money Market 
Funds 

58.514 - - - 58.514 

Total 152.863 53.938 34.799 21.749 263.349 

% of total 58% 21% 13% 8%  

 

22 The Council’s investment policy is governed by Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) guidance, which has 
been implemented in the annual investment strategy approved by the 
Council on 26  February 2020. Both the CIPFA Code and government 
guidance require the Council to invest its funds prudently, and to have 
regard to the security and liquidity of its investments before seeking the 
highest rate of return, or yield. The Council’s objective when investing 
money is to strike an appropriate balance between risk and return, 
minimising the risk of incurring losses from defaults and the risk of 
receiving unsuitably low investment income. 
 

23 To provide increased flexibility by allowing increased levels of cash to 
be kept liquid, and to achieve improved returns on our liquid cash 
balances, it is proposed that the counterparty limits for Money Market 
Funds are increased. The identified levels are a total maximum 
exposure of £125m, from the existing £100m, with the maximum 
exposure to a single Money Market Fund increased to £25m from the 
existing £20m. 

 
 

Treasury Management Indicators 
 

24 There are three debt related treasury activity limits which are designed 
to manage risk and reduce the impact of an adverse movement in 
interest rates. 

Interest Rate Exposures: This indicator is set to control the Council’s 
exposure to interest rate risk.  The upper limits on fixed and variable rate 
interest rate exposures, expressed as the proportion of net principle 
invested was: 
 
 
 

Page 116



  
30.9.20 
 Actual 

30.9.20 
 Actual 

2020/21 
Limit 

Complied 

Upper limit on fixed interest 
rate exposure 

£309.0m 89% 100% ✓ 

Upper limit on variable interest 
rate exposure 

£39.5m 11% 70% ✓ 

 

Maturity Structure of Borrowing: This indicator is set to control the 
Council’s exposure to refinancing risk. The upper and lower limits on the 
maturity structure of fixed rate borrowing were: 
 

  
Lower 
Limit 

Upper 
Limit 

30.9.20 
Actual 

Complied 

Under 12 months 0% 20% 0% ✓ 

12 months to 2 years 0% 40% 0% ✓ 

2 years to 5 years 0% 60% 18% ✓ 

5 years to 10 years 0% 80% 11% ✓ 

10 years and above 0% 100% 71% ✓ 

 

Principal Sums Invested for Periods Longer than 364 days: The 
purpose of this indicator is to control the Council’s exposure to the risk of 
incurring losses by seeking early repayment of its investments: 

 

  
Limit As at 

30.9.20 
Complied 

Actual principal invested beyond one 
year 

£75m £40m ✓ 

 

Prudential Code Indicators 
 

25 The Local Government Act 2003 requires the Council to have regard to 
the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Prudential 
Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (the Prudential Code) when 
determining how much money it can afford to borrow. 

 
26 The objective of the Prudential Code is to ensure, within a clear 

framework, that the capital investment plans of local authorities are 
affordable, prudent and sustainable, and that treasury management 
decisions are taken in accordance with good professional practice. To 
demonstrate that the Council has fulfilled these objectives, the Prudential 
Code sets out the following indicators that must be set and monitored 
each year. 

 
Capital Expenditure: The table below summarises planned capital 
expenditure and financing when the 2020/21 budget was set in February 
2020 and compares it to the estimated full year outturn position as at 30 
September: 

Page 117



 
2020/21 
Original 
Estimate 
£ Million 

2020/21 
Estimate 
at 30.9.20 
£ Million 

Difference 
£ Million 

Capital Programme 199.043 145.755 (53.288) 

Financed by:       

Capital receipts 9.913 7.866 (2.047) 

Capital grants 48.435 45.357 (3.078) 

Revenue and reserves 34.451 37.344 2.893 

Net borrowing financing need 
for the year 106.244 55.188 (51.056) 

 

Actual Debt: The Council’s actual debt at 30 September 2020 is as 
follows: 

  31.03.20 
Actual 

£ million 

2020/21 
Actual at 
30.9.20 

£ million 
Difference 
£ million 

Borrowing 358.580 348.472 (10.108) 

Finance leases 42.665 42.293 (0.372) 

PFI liabilities 37.170 37.170 0.000 

Total Debt 438.415 427.935 (10.480) 

 
Operational Boundary: This is the limit beyond which external 
borrowing is not normally expected to exceed. Periods where the actual 
position is either below or over the boundary is acceptable subject to the 
authorised limit not being breached. 
 

 

2020/21 
Original  
Estimate 
£ Million 

2020/21 
Actual at 
30.9.20 

£ million Complied 

Borrowing 
     

513.000  348.472 ✓ 

Other long term liabilities 
       

85.000  79.463 ✓ 

Total 
     

598.000  
     

427.935  ✓ 

  
Authorised Limit for external borrowing: This represents a control on 
the maximum level of borrowing and is a statutory limit determined under 
section 3 (1) of the Local Government Act 2003. It reflects the level of 
external borrowing which, while not desired, could be afforded in the 
short term, but is not sustainable in the longer term. 

Page 118



  

2020/21 
Estimate 
£ Million 

2020/21 
Actual at 
30.9.20 

£ million Complied 

Borrowing 
     

563.000  348.472 ✓ 

Other long term liabilities 
       

90.000  79.463 ✓ 

Total 
     

653.000  
     

427.935  ✓ 

 
The revised estimate for other long term liabilities has been adjusted to 
reflect the Councils long term lease interest in properties at Freemans’ 
Reach which are being treated as finance leases. 

 

Conclusion 
 

27 The Council has complied with its Treasury Management Strategy 
2020/21 for its half-yearly activity covering the period to 30 September 
2020. 

 

Background Papers 

• County Council - 26 February 2020 – Medium Term Financial 
Plan, 2020/21 to 2023/24 and Revenue and Capital Budget 
2020/21 – Appendix 15: Durham County Council Treasury 
Management Strategy 2020/21 

 

• County Council – 21 October 2020 – Treasury Management 
Outturn 2019/20. 

 
 

Author(s) 
 

Jeff Garfoot    Tel:  03000 261946 
 
Azhar Rafiq    Tel: 03000 263480 

 
  

Page 119



Appendix 1:  Implications 

 

Legal Implications 
None 

 
Finance 
The report details the Council’s cash management, loans and investment 
activity during 2020/21 in the first half year to 30 September 2020.  The report 
also provides the overall financing of the Council’s capital expenditure, along 
with borrowing and investment income returns. 
 

Consultation 
None 
 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 
None 
 

Climate Change 
None 
 

Human Rights 
None 
 

Crime and Disorder 
None 
 

Staffing 
None 
 

Accommodation 
None 

 
Risk 
None 

 
Procurement 
None 
 

Page 120



 

             

       

 Cabinet 

18 November 2020 

Lumiere 2019 - Evaluation 

 Ordinary Decision 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Amy Harhoff, Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and 
Growth 

Councillor Joy Allen, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Transformation, 

Culture and Tourism 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide. 

Purpose of the Report 

1 The purpose of this report is to inform Cabinet of the results of the 
Lumiere 2019 evaluation. 

Executive Summary 

2 Lumiere 2019 was the landmark 10th edition and saw the positive 
impact of sustained investment in cultural activity by Durham County 
Council, and stimulated significant cultural experiences by visitors and 
residents. 

3 Lumiere 2019 generated substantial economic returns for Durham, with 
the total economic impact valued at over £11.5 million. 

4 The overall Return on Investment from Lumiere for Durham County 
Council was 1,925%. 

5 While extreme weather conditions affected attendance numbers, turnout 
was significant  

6 The results of the evaluation demonstrate the value of the Authority’s 
commitment to culture-led economic growth. 

7 Images from the 2019 event can be seen here 
https://www.thisisdurham.com/inspire-me/lumiere 

 

Page 121

Agenda Item 8

https://www.thisisdurham.com/inspire-me/lumiere


Recommendation(s) 

8 Cabinet is recommended to: 

(a) note the evaluation; 

(b) note the early plans for Lumiere 2021. 

  

Page 122



Background 

Lumiere 2019 Overview 

9 Following the extremely successful festivals in 2009, 2011, 2013, 2015 
and 2017, Artichoke was again commissioned by Durham County 
Council to produce and deliver a sixth festival in 2019 as part of a series 
of events supported by Arts Council England through Durham’s status 
as a National Portfolio Organisation (NPO). 

10 Whilst commissioned by the Council, the festival was supported by over 
eighty partners and funders, including Arts Council England, Durham 
University and Durham Cathedral.  A wide range of service departments 
is involved in delivering the festival.  Artichoke is the event artistic 
director and our primary partner, responsible for content and 
programme curation as well as generating the non-Council income for 
the festival. 

11 The previous festivals have a proven record in encouraging visitors to 
both Durham City and the wider County.  Businesses had also 
witnessed first-hand the significant financial benefits and there was an 
overwhelming eagerness to become involved in the 2019 festival. 

12 The popularity of Lumiere has grown dramatically since the first festival 
held in 2009.  It is now considered to be a key event in the North East 
cultural landscape and is considered to be the the UK’s largest and 
most successful light festival. 

13 Lumiere 2019 followed the highly successful format of the previous 
events taking place over four nights, from Thursday 14 to Sunday 17 
November.  In addition to the four-day programme, work across 
libraries, schools and community groups was delivered in advance of 
the live event. 

14 The 2019 festival consisted of 37 light installations and projections 
across the City, placed in and on a variety of venues.  A number of 
works was created specifically for the festival in response to Durham’s 
unique environment and heritage by national and international artists.  
Other existing pieces were reimagined and adapted to work with the 
City’s natural and built landscape.  As the 10th anniversary of the event, 
a number of the most popular installations from previous years was 
brought back. 

15 There is a considerable professional element to Lumiere, and festival 
and event directors from around the world attend the event. 

  

Page 123



2019 Evaluation 

16 As part of a programme of evaluation across the Council’s whole 
Festivals and Events portfolio, Culture, Sport & Tourism has been 
working with Marketwise Strategies to roll-out an effective evaluation 
model across all events.  This not only provides an evaluation 
independent from delivery partners, but also enables the Council to 
make reliable comparisons between its investment into key festivals and 
events across the programme. 

17 The 2019 evaluation report concludes that Lumiere 2019 was a 
considerable success.  While attendance numbers were down because 
of extremely poor weather, 2019 saw significantly increased economic 
impact due to the substantial value of media coverage received.  This in 
turn saw a considerable return on investment for the Council. 

18 A mixed methodological approach was utilised incorporating both face-
to-face and online interviews.  The following provides some key 
outcomes and the following sections summarise the main points of the 
event evaluation: 

19 Festival Audience: The festival’s audience saw a fall due to extremely 
bad weather on three of the four evenings of the event.  Despite 
persistent torrential rain, the attendance figure for 2019 was 165,000.  
In 2017 it was estimated to be 240,000; with 2015 as 200,000; 175,000 
in 2013 to 150,000 in 2011 and 75,000 in 2009. 

The Audience   

Total Audience of Lumiere, across four nights 165,000 

  
Where Visitors Were From   

% of Visitors from County Durham 58% 

% of Visitors from the rest of the North East 27% 

% of Visitors from the rest of the UK 15% 

% of Visitors from overseas <1% 

  
Audience size from community projects 2,116 

  
Intentionality and Visitor Experience   

% in Durham specifically for Lumiere 92% 

Overall experience, rated 'Good' or 'Very Good' 87% 

  
Economic Impact and Return on Investment   

NET visitor spend £2,875,807 

Value of contracts placed in County Durham £196,303 

PR value (AVE) £8,475,165 

Page 124



Total NET economic impact: £11,547,275 

  
Durham County Council investment £600,000 

Durham County Council Return on Investment 1,925% 

 

  

20 Compared to 2017, the higher PR Value for 2019 (as reported by Flint 
PR) resulted from: a larger volume of coverage before the Festival took 
place, as promotional activities for Lumiere Durham 2019 began earlier 
(in November 2018) than they did for the previous Festival.  Due to this 
longer timeframe, more placements were possible in publications with 
higher value advertising.  There was also a longer timeframe in which 
media sources were monitored (the 2017 figures were based upon 
coverage between September 2017 and November 2017 (three 
months), and the 2019 figures were based upon coverage from 
November 2018 to November 2019 (12 months). 

21 Lumiere appeals across ages, genders, and social classes.  Just over 
two-thirds of festival visitors (71%) were female; approximately half 
(49%) were aged 45 or older; visitors tended to come with others (95%), 
with the average group size being 3.85 people.  Most were 
concentrated in the higher level skill bands (professional and 
administrative) with a relatively high proportion of retired people and 
students 

22 Almost three quarters of respondents (71%) had attended at least one 
previous Lumiere, indicating the levels of continuing interest and the 
enthusiasm that the festival inspires.  Of those, 84% had attended in 
2017. 

23 Almost all visitors (99%) lived in the UK.  Over half (58%) of the total 
sample lived in County Durham, 27% in the rest of the North East, and 
15% in the rest of the UK.  The countries of residence of the 20 survey 
respondents who did not live in the UK were: Italy, Germany, USA, 
Switzerland, Croatia, France, Spain, Hong Kong, Malaysia, Thailand 
and Poland. 

24 Around 92% of respondents were White British, 3% were ‘other white 
background’, 1% were Irish and 1% were Chinese.  There were also 
small numbers of respondents (less than 1% each) from other 
backgrounds.  Around 9% of visitors identified as a D/deaf or disabled 
person or had a long-term health condition. 

25 Customer Satisfaction: Festival visitors rated the overall quality of 
Lumiere 2019 highly, with 87% rating it very highly.  The majority (90%) 
rated the quality of the light installations themselves as ‘very good’ or 
‘good’. 

Page 125



26 Of all festival-goers, 96% said Lumiere was ‘good for Durham’s image’ 
and 93% felt it ‘makes a positive contribution to Durham’s cultural offer’. 

27  Some visitors felt that the quality and availability of information, maps 
and signage could be improved. 

28 These issues will be discussed in future Steering Group meetings with 
Artichoke in the planning of future festivals. 

29 Community Outreach Programme: A number of longer-term community, 
educational and outreach projects were undertaken across County 
Durham by the festival’s producers, Artichoke, and was the biggest 
community programme so far.  Linking with the DCC Community Arts 
Team, and local Area Action Partnerships, the community and 
participation programme reached a total of 2,116 participants of all 
ages, and from different communities, who were directly involved in the 
following projects: 

• Are Atoms Alive? 

• Bottle Festoon 

• Keys of Light 

• Lift Off - Apollo 50 Legacy 

• The Next Page 

• Start Programme 

30 Of particular note was the Peterlee Apollo project.  Artichoke was 
commissioned by DCC to produce a light installation to celebrate 50 
years of the Apollo Pavilion in Peterlee.  It worked with Berlin-based 
collective of artists and architects, Mader Wiermann, to create an 
installation that reflected the Brutalist architecture of the Pavilion.  The 
installation took place over two nights from Friday 22 March - Saturday 
23 March, 2019 6pm - 9.30pm. 

31 The event was seen as one of the most important visual arts events in 
the region, and the local community were overwhelmingly supportive, 
with comments such as ‘Absolutely stunning and jaw dropping.  Love it.  
Has brought it to light in a different way  A real coup for East Durham.  
Marvellous to see the Apollo Pavilion centre stage.’ 

32 A short video is available here https://vimeo.com/330059187. 

33 From those taking part, almost all participants (94%) agreed that taking 
part in a Lumiere project had been ‘an enjoyable experience’.  The 
community and outreach work was seen as important by the artists 
involved, and also rated highly by teachers for the activities undertaken 
in terms of their organisation and the connection to learning outcomes. 

Page 126



34 As part of the 2019 programme, Artichoke also repeated ‘Brilliant’, an 
open call-out for artists from the North East.  This provides local artists 
with a vital national and international platform to exhibit their work and 
opportunities to further develop their skills.  Many local artists 
commissioned through the Brilliant scheme have gone on to exhibit their 
work at other festivals in the UK and abroad. 

35 As in previous years, an international conference ran alongside the 
festival.  Entitled ‘Learning Curve: Syllabus for the Future’ the 
conference attracted speakers from around the world and delegates 
from across the country.  A conference of this standing continues to 
strengthen Durham’s reputation with the arts sector, both nationally and 
internationally. 

36 Festival Makers: In 2019 the festival once again included a team of 353 
volunteer Festival Makers who provided invaluable support in the 
running of the festival as the friendly face of the event for visitors. 

37 The commitment to recruiting and supporting Festival Makers by the 
Culture, Sport & Tourism Service is an important part of its work in the 
community, and the approach developed for Lumiere has provided a 
springboard for volunteering for other events across the County by 
creating a legacy team of volunteers. 

38 Festival Makers were well-regarded by festival-goers, with a number of 
respondents praising the quality and friendliness of the team and 
reporting that they enhanced their Lumiere experience. 

39 Economic Impact: Lumiere 2019 generated significant economic returns 
for Durham; the total economic impact was over £11.5 million. 

40 The estimated NET direct spend reported by Lumiere visitors was £2.88 
million.  The average visitor spend was £23.27 per individual.  Broken 
down by location, the relative net impacts per visitor according to where 
people came from varied: County Durham visitors’ net spend was 
£9.70; visitors from the rest of North East spend was £15.03; and 
£81.34 for visitors from the rest of the UK. 

41 Total Advertising Value Equivalency (AVE) generated by Lumiere 2019 
amounted to £8,475,165, which is almost £4 million greater than in 
2017.  This higher PR Value for 2019 resulted from: a larger volume of 
coverage before the Festival took place, as promotional activities for 
Lumiere Durham 2019 began earlier (in November 2018) than they did 
for the previous festival; more placements in publications with higher 
value advertising - which was possible due to the longer timeframe; a 
longer timeframe in which media sources were monitored. 

Page 127



42 The overall Return on Investment from Lumiere for Durham County 
Council was 1,925%. 

43 The overall response of local businesses to Lumiere 2019 was good.  
Over half of the businesses (59%) generally felt either ‘very positive’ or 
‘positive’ about Lumiere taking place in Durham. 

44 There was a sense of acceptance about the practical issues of the 
festival which can cause disruption, and a general appreciation that 
Lumiere is good for the city and for the region.  The majority of 
businesses questioned (78%) thought that it had a positive impact on 
Durham City in terms of the city’s reputation and public profile. 

45 Visitors were asked if they were aware of, or had seen, information 
about County Durham’s Year of Culture 2019, and/or the #Durham19 
branding, and positively, around 23% of respondents had done so.  
Among the Visitors who were aware of this, almost a third (32%) said 
that this had led them to attend at least one event that they would not 
otherwise have attended. 

46 The current round of NPO funding runs for four years, meaning Lumiere 
will receive ACE support for the 2021 event. 

47 In line with this funding, in July 2018, DCC’s Cabinet agreed support for 
Lumiere for the 2021 edition. 

Lumiere 2021 and Beyond 

48 The evaluation sets out the impact of the event, its popularity with 
audiences and its role in increasing Durham’s national profile.  Its 
ambition sets it apart from other events in the region, and is recognised 
as the only world-class festival in the region as well as the premier light 
festival in the UK.  Recent conversations with Arts Council England 
confirmed that the world class nature of Lumiere reflects its aspirations 
for the NPO funding that supports it. 

49 However there is further work to be done to increase the diversity of 
artists involved,as well as embedding it more firmly within local 
communities across the county. 

50 In addition we must ensure that as commssioners we support Artichoke 
to produce highly innovative artwork in order to raise the international 
standing of the event. 

51 Large scale festivals have and will continue to be significantly impacted 
by COVID-19.  The Berlin Festival of Lights took place with reduced 
capacity in September 2020.  Signal Festival in Prague due to take 

Page 128



place 9-11 October was cancelled less than 48 hours before it was due 
to begin. 

52 All known autumn outdoor festivals in the UK have been postponed or 
cancelled.  Festivals due to take place in Spring 2021 are considering 
their plans, although research by Outdoor Arts UK shows that 
audiences will return to outdoor events sooner than to enclosed 
performances in buildings. 

53 The scale of Lumiere requires significant advance planning.  The large 
scale technically complex artistic commissions and substantial 
fundraising progammes have long lead-in times. 

54 Conversations with significant artists are at a relatively advanced stage, 
but adaptability will be built into any commissions at this stage. 

55 DCC and partners Artichoke will consider a number of different 
scenarios in the coming months.  While it’s impossible to predict the 
status of the festival/live events sector in 12 months time, Lumiere is an 
innovative festival with a substantial track record, and so has more 
capacity to reimagine delivery than many other events. 

56 In this context the planning for Lumiere 2021 will continue to focus on 
an approach that carefully balances covid safety and cultural 
experience, recognising that the operating environment may change 
rapidly. 

Author 

Alison Clark Tel: 03000 264577 

 

  

Page 129



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

Not applicable. 

Finance 

Funding for Lumiere 2021 is within the current allocation of NPO funding. 

Consultation 

Not applicable. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Creative case targets regarding diversity are being monitored and action taken 

accordingly.  Brass and Durham Book Festival are making progress in this 

area. 

Climate Change  

Events and festivals will adhere to Council wide protocols regarding 

sustainability.  Festivals will align with policies regarding supplier 

commitments to sustainability. 

Human Rights 

Not applicable. 

Crime and Disorder 

Not applicable. 

Staffing 

Not applicable. 

Accommodation 

Not applicable. 

Risk 

Not applicable. 

Procurement 

Not applicable. 

 

Page 130



 

 

 

 

 

        

 Cabinet 

November 2020 

 Poverty Issues 

 Ordinary Decision 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

John Hewitt, Director of Resources 

Councillor Angela Surtees, Portfolio Holder for Social Inclusion 

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To provide Cabinet with an update on: 

(a) the most recent welfare, economic and poverty indicators for the 
county; and 

(b) the progress of the council and partners’ efforts to address and 
alleviate poverty including a summary of the actions to respond to 
the negative financial impacts experienced by residents as a result 
of the COVID-19 pandemic, and the poverty action strategy and 
plan. 

2 While the report is correct at the time of writing (9 November 2020), the 
situation with COVID-19 is changing rapidly and government 
announcements, policy and guidance change daily meaning some of 
the information in the report may have been superseded. 

Executive summary 

3 The County Council has a longstanding record in supporting social, 
economic and financial inclusion through the work of the Council’s 
Poverty Action Steering Group (PASG). 

Page 131

Agenda Item 9



 

4 Over recent years the PASG has focussed its efforts on mitigating the 
impacts, wherever possible, of the Government’s austerity and welfare 
reform programmes.   

5 The Council has developed a Poverty Action Plan (PAP) which was 
approved by Cabinet in September 2019, documenting efforts to 
support people in need.  

6 Measures in the PAP include support for those on low incomes with 
access to holistic advice and guidance, access to the Council’s Welfare 
Assistance Scheme, Discretionary Housing Payments, welfare rights 
and employment teams etc. 

7 Children and families are supported through initiatives such as holiday 
activities with food, initiatives to make the school day more affordable in 
addition to universal benefits in paragraph 6.  This support was further 
enhanced in the October half term holiday with the Council offering a 
voucher of £15 per child for parents whose children are in receipt of 
Free School Meals (FSMs). 

8 Those seeking employment have been supported through the 
Durhamworks programme and the Council’s employability team, 
primarily through programmes supported by the European Social Fund 
and match funded by the Council.    

9 Due to the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, measures to shield 
clinically vulnerable residents combined with the national lockdown 
necessitated a re-emphasis of certain elements of the PAP with a new 
“plan on a page” introduced through the PASG in May 2020 to refocus 
efforts during the pandemic.  

10 The Government introduced a number of temporary measures to 
support people and businesses through the lockdown and subsequent 
restrictions. Government measures included food boxes for the clinically 
shielding, wage subsidies (furlough) for employees whose place of work 
was shut down and subsequently restricted, support for self-employed 
people, temporary cessation of benefit conditionality, suspension of 
evictions for tenants, mortgage holidays and partial reversal of cuts in 
Universal Credit. More latterly the Government have announced 
national schemes to support employment such as the Kickstart and Job 
Entry Targeted Support (JETS) schemes. 

11 The Council has introduced a number of initiatives and programmes 
through the PASG over the last six months to “wrap around” 
government schemes and provide a more comprehensive package of 
support for residents of County Durham, with a “no one left behind” 
ethos running through the programme of activities.  

Page 132



 

12 The Council provided direct support to vulnerable people through the 
County Durham Together Community Hub with a strong focus on 
intelligence led welfare and community-based provision. Measures 
included additional resources and fast-tracked applications through 
Area Action Partnerships (AAPs) to support food and essential supplies, 
direct emergency food provision, support to foodbanks, welfare and 
daily living expenses payments, council tax reduction and council tax 
hardship, a grant for return to school costs, online employability 
programmes and online advice and guidance.  

13 The Council’s PASG acted as the Council’s input into the welfare and 
community aspect of the Local Resilience Forum to join up welfare with 
other recovery initiatives in the Council and to link with partner 
organisations. 

14 The Council is developing a number of programmes to further progress 
the work of the PASG through the County Durham Together approach, 
including a programme of sustainable low-cost food in disadvantaged 
areas, flexible employment support, improvements in advice and 
guidance on money matters, further support for parents during the 
holidays and greater community resilience.         

Recommendation(s) 

15 Cabinet is recommended to note the progress being made by the 
council and its partners in addressing welfare reform and the wider 
poverty issues in the county including the recent and ongoing impacts of 
the COVID-19 pandemic. 

  

Page 133



 

Background 

16 On 11 September 2019, Cabinet considered the most recent report on 
the implications of the Government’s welfare reform programme and the 
progress being made by the council and its partners in addressing 
welfare reform and the wider poverty issues in the county. Cabinet 
agreed the Poverty Action Plan (PAP) in response to these issues. 

17 The financial pressures on lower-income households have increased 
considerably in recent years. A combination of depressed real wage 
growth, the Government’s programme of welfare reforms, and longer-
term challenges in the labour market are creating serious financial 
problems.  

18 The Council co-ordinates its efforts to tackle poverty across council 
services through the Poverty Action Steering Group (PASG). This is a 
senior officer group, chaired by the Corporate Director of Resources 
and attended by the portfolio holder for social inclusion. We also work 
closely with our key partners to ensure that we share intelligence on 
emerging issues. 

19 The Council has allocated significant resources to supporting welfare 
assistance for our residents along with a range of community projects in 
previous years.   At its meeting on 12 February 2020, Cabinet agreed a 
further £1.5m to support the poverty agenda and social inclusion in 
County Durham. Further resource was allocated to Area Action 
Partnerships (AAPs) at the start of the pandemic in March 2020 to 
support communities and in July 2020 £693,391 was allocated to the 
Council from DEFRA to support essential food and supplies. 

20 Cabinet were provided with a summary on 5 June 2020 of the actions 
the Council has taken working with partners to respond to the COVID-
19 pandemic and our framework for recovery planning.  This also 
included details on funding increases for relevant council budgets and 
initial financial support the council has made available for schemes and 
initiatives to help alleviate the negative economic impacts across the 
county. 

21 The COVID-19 pandemic has had huge impacts on the UK labour 
market, and despite temporary changes to the existing welfare benefits 
and implementation of large new schemes, households face great 
uncertainty over the future, including in terms of the financial support 
available. 

22 The UK is currently negotiating a trade deal with the EU. Depending on 
the outcome of the trade deal, it is possible that the county will 
experience wider detrimental impacts as manufacturing businesses 

Page 134



 

adjust whilst the economy is already experiencing a significant downturn 
due to the COVID-19 pandemic.  

23 In response to the pandemic, there have been several government 
schemes and initiatives announced in relation to welfare, finance and 
economic support which the Council has had a role in direct 
implementation, supportive local action or advice and guidance. The 
PASG has acted as the Welfare and Community Cell of the Local 
Resilience Forum.  

24 The resources available to councils to help address the financial 
problems of low-income residents are severely constrained.  The 
Government has made several announcements in relation to supporting 
local government financially, either by making available additional 
funding or by bringing forward previously announced funding 
programmes. 

25 Despite the funding constraints that we face, we remain committed to 
providing help and support for residents in financial difficulty as part of 
our vision for County Durham. It is important that the Council and its 
partners continue to respond through the comprehensive approach we 
now have to welfare reform and poverty issues, overseen by the 
council’s PASG. 

Impacts of Welfare Reform and COVID-19 on the County 

26 The Council has monitored the impact of the Welfare Reform Act 2012 
which has been documented in previous reports and this monitoring 
continues during the COVID-19 pandemic.  Whist it is not yet possible 
to accurately assess the immediate and ongoing impact of the 
pandemic; national research is starting to emerge. 

27 A survey of more than 7,000 people, conducted by the Financial 
Conduct Authority1 and published on 22 October 2020, found 12 million 
people in the UK had low financial resilience, meaning they may 
struggle with bills or loan repayments. The data shows 2 million of those 
who are not financially resilient have become so since February 
2020. Due to the impact of the pandemic, many of those who have 
experienced changes in employment and increased stress are now 
likely to have low financial resilience. These consumers are more likely 
to fall behind on payments. 36% of respondents who already had low 
financial resilience, and had a mortgage, said they are likely to fall 
behind on mortgage payments; 36% of those with loans or credit cards 

 
1 https://www.fca.org.uk/news/press-releases/fca-highlights-continued-support-consumers-struggling-
payments 

Page 135



 

are worried about repayments on these; and 42% of renters are worried 
about falling behind on rent payments.   

28 This research has further identified that almost a third of adults (31%) 
have seen a decrease in income, with households seeing income fall by 
a quarter, on average. Those from a Black and Minority Ethnic (BAME) 
background were more likely to be affected, with 37% of BAME adults 
taking an income hit. Whilst survey results show that BAME adults are 
more likely to have reduced working hours, those aged between 25-34 
are the most likely, by far, to have had a change in employment due to 
the pandemic. This will affect the take up of debt advice, with 19% of 
those aged 25-34 saying that they were more likely to seek debt advice 
in the next 6 months compared to 2% of those aged 55-64.  

29 The Joseph Rowntree Foundation2 has examined options for the 
Government to support low income families and stimulate the economy 
during the pandemic, and has recently made the case for increases to 
social security payments. It notes that “social security is a ‘vital lifeline 
that keeps us afloat’ when support is needed as well as boosting 
consumer spending in targeted ways”. The report highlights that ending 
the temporary uplift of £20 per week to Universal Credit (UC) and 
Working Tax Credit will cause an ‘immediate and devastating loss of 
income for millions of families’ and outlines the need for the uplift to 
become permanent.  

30 This is given weight by a publication from the Institute for Fiscal 
Studies3 that states ‘even with the temporary increases to UC, the UK 
has one of the least generous out-of-work benefits systems for workers 
on average earnings in the OECD’ (the Organisation for Economic Co-
operation and Development). It provides an example of ‘a single 
childless worker on average earnings who lost her job would now 
receive 17% of her usual income in benefits, compared with an average 
of 20% in the rest of the OECD. The difference is much larger (17% 
versus 55%) if contributory benefits (where the generosity of benefits is 
linked to work history) are included, since these are a much bigger 
feature of most other countries’ welfare systems’.  

31 A report from the Equality and Human Rights Commission4 notes that 
equality and human rights are at risk of going backwards with clear and 
long-lasting damage to society and the economy as a result of the 
coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic. The report outlines the impact of 
coronavirus across key areas of life and the hardship faced by people 

 
2 https://www.jrf.org.uk/blog/keeping-20-lifeline-right-our-families-and-economy 
3 https://www.ifs.org.uk/publications/15067 
4 
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/sites/default/files/equality_and_human_rights_commission_how_cor
onavirus_has_affected_equality_and_human_rights_2020.pdf 

Page 136

https://www.jrf.org.uk/blog/keeping-20-lifeline-right-our-families-and-economy
https://www.jrf.org.uk/blog/keeping-20-lifeline-right-our-families-and-economy
https://www.ifs.org.uk/publications/15067
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/sites/default/files/equality_and_human_rights_commission_how_coronavirus_has_affected_equality_and_human_rights_2020.pdf


 

who already face disadvantage. In particular, it has identified 
concerning backwards trends both for young people and the care 
system. It has highlighted just how entrenched racial inequality is in 
society.  

32 A report from the Child Poverty Action Group5 in August 2020 has noted 
that the pandemic has left low-income families struggling with a 
significant deterioration in living standards and high stress levels. The 
report, based on a survey of families with children who are eligible for 
free school meals, found around eight in 10 respondents reported being 
in a worse financial position than before the pandemic, and half were 
much worse off as their income had fallen and costs increased. Nearly 
nine in 10 respondents reported spending substantially more than 
before on food, electricity, and other essentials – usually because they 
have been at home much more. Many families also said that the cost of 
food had gone up significantly during the early part of lockdown.  

33 Published on 10 September, the Local Government Association report, 
‘A child-centred recovery’6,  highlights that councils are preparing for a 
surge in demand for support for children and young people who have 
“disappeared” from view as a result of the pandemic. The LGA stated 
that councils are also bracing themselves for a rise in referrals for 
support that would have normally been made when children were being 
seen regularly by social workers and health workers. The LGA says the 
number of children in care has been rising each year and could 
increase further as a result of COVID-19. It is also warning that the 
impact of the virus may fall harder on disadvantaged children, who are 
likely to need even more support. Concerns are also raised over 
analysis indicating that young people may be worst affected by 
pandemic-related job losses, and about young people becoming more 
vulnerable and being drawn into youth violence and county lines drug 
activities, or being criminally exploited 

34 The Children's Commissioner for England7 published a report in 
September 2020 on the impact of COVID-19 on children. The report 
highlights that that the impact has been widespread, profound and 
ongoing. The report states that children have faced a cocktail of 
secondary risks which means that many have suffered 
disproportionately as a result of the crisis. It is reported that children’s 
needs have been frequently side-lined and ignored, most notably by the 
decision to open restaurants, non-essential shops and pubs before 
schools were fully re-opened. Vulnerable children (including children in 
care), children in custody and children with Special Educational Needs 

 
5 https://cpag.org.uk/sites/default/files/files/policypost/Poverty-in-the-pandemic.pdf 
6 https://www.local.gov.uk/child-centred-recovery 
7 https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/cco-childhood-in-the-time-of-
covid.pdf 

Page 137

https://cpag.org.uk/sites/default/files/files/policypost/Poverty-in-the-pandemic.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/child-centred-recovery
https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/cco-childhood-in-the-time-of-covid.pdf


 

and Disabilities have also seen their rights actively 
downgraded resulting in ‘a rising tide of childhood vulnerability’.   

35 Due to data lags, it is not possible to accurately assess the immediate 
and ongoing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic through the full range of 
statistics available nationally and on Durham Insights.  However, the 
Council is monitoring the situation through its own data sources as well 
as ongoing community feedback to mobilise services and respond to 
need.     

36 At the beginning of the pandemic there was a significant impact on the 
number of people claiming employment benefits; with currently nearly 
10,000 more claimants age 16 to 64, compared to September 2019. 
Since this initial increase between March and May, the claimant count 
has remained relatively static and currently stands at 6.6%. This trend is 
reflected both nationally and regionally, with County Durham currently 
having the third lowest rate in the region. In September, there were 130 
more claimants compared to August, of which 120 were young 
claimants (aged 16-24 years). Across the county, since March 2020, 
North Durham experienced the largest increase in claimants aged 16 to 
64, and Sedgefield within the 18 to 24 population.   

37 Youth unemployment has risen to almost 10% in County Durham in 
September and 11% in the North East Local Enterprise Partnership 
(NELEP) area. Nationally the rate was 9.5% in September 2020. 

38 In terms of the Welfare Assistance Scheme, the daily living expenses 
element saw its greatest increase in relation to awards, at the start of 
the pandemic with weekly awards trebling in March 2020. Awards 
moved back to more “normal” levels of around 50 per week in 
subsequent months.  The latest data in October has shown figures 
starting to rise again. As expected, claims for settlement grants have 
reduced over the last 6 months compared to the same period last year. 

39 The number of Council Tax Reduction claims showed a similar pattern 
to Daily Living Expenses claims having peaked significantly at the end 
of March 2020 with four times the normal levels. This number reduced 
over subsequent months with a subsequent rise seen more recently.    

National Policy update – Welfare and COVID-19 

Increase to Universal Credit standard allowance 

40 In March 2020, the Government increased the standard allowance of 
Universal Credit and Working Tax Credit by £20 a week.  This is a 
temporary increase and is due to end in April 2021 unless the 
Government commits to making it a permanent feature. Currently, the 
additional £20 per week does not go to people claiming legacy benefits 

Page 138



 

such as Employment and Support Allowance, Jobseeker’s Allowance 
and Income Support.  

Job Retention Scheme (‘Furlough scheme’) 

41 On 20 March 2020 the introduction of a Job Retention Scheme (JRS) 
was announced, whereby the Government would pay the equivalent of 
80% of the wages of staff put on ‘furlough’ (a period of temporary leave 
of absence on reduced pay) during the lock-down.  

42 On 12 May 2020, the Chancellor made a further announcement that the 
furlough scheme would be extended by a further four months with 
workers continuing to receive 80% of their current salary through to the 
end of July. In addition, from the start of August, furloughed workers 
were able to return to work part-time with employers being asked to pay 
a percentage towards the salaries of their furloughed staff. The 
employer payments were expected to substitute the contribution the 
Government made, ensuring that staff continue to receive 80% of their 
salary, up to £2,500 a month. This scheme was to be withdrawn fully on 
31 October 2020. 

43 On 8 July 2020, The Chancellor announced the introduction of a new 
Job Retention Bonus (JRB) to provide additional support to employers 
who keep on their furloughed employees in meaningful employment, 
after the JRS ends on 31 October 2020. 

44 On 31 October 2020, following the Government’s announcement to 
introduce new lockdown measures in England starting on 5 November, 
the JRS has been extended for a month with employees receiving 80% 
of their current salary for hours not worked, up to a maximum of £2,500. 
Under the extended scheme, the cost for employers of retaining 
workers will be reduced compared to the current scheme, which ended 
on 31 October. Businesses will have flexibility to bring furloughed 
employees back to work on a part time basis or furlough them full-time, 
and will only be asked to cover National Insurance and employer 
pension contributions which, for the average claim, accounts for just 5% 
of total employment costs. 

45 The Chancellor subsequently announced on 5 November the ‘furlough’ 
scheme will be extended until the end of March 2021.  The policy will be 
reviewed in January regarding employer contributions and the JRB will 
be paused. 

Self Employment Income Support Scheme (SEISS) 

46 On 26 March 2020, the Chancellor announced the introduction of the 
Self Employment Income Support Scheme. This scheme allowed self 
employed people to claim a taxable grant (up to 80% of their average 

Page 139



 

monthly profits over the last three years, up to £2,500 a month) if their 
business had been adversely affected on or before 13 July 2020.   

47 This scheme was subsequently extended on 29 May and a second 
taxable grant worth 70% of average monthly trading profits, was 
introduced (paid out in a single instalment covering three months’ worth 
of profits, and capped at £6,570 in total). 

48 On 24 September this scheme was again extended for those who are 
currently eligible for SEISS and are continuing to actively trade but face 
reduced demand due to coronavirus. The initial lump sum will cover 
three months’ worth of profits for the period from November to the end 
of January 2021. This is worth 20% of average monthly profits, up to a 
total of £1,875. 

49 The Government announced on 22 October, that contributions to 
incomes for the self-employed have also been increased. The 
Government announcement increases the amount of profits covered by 
the two forthcoming self-employed grants from 20% to 40% of people’s 
incomes meaning that the maximum grant increases to £3,750.  

50 To reflect the recent changes to the ‘furlough’ scheme, the Government 
announced on 2 November 2020 the SEISS would support self-
employed individuals with 80% of their average trading profits for 
November, and to ensure those who need support get it as soon as 
possible, payments will also be made more quickly with the claims 
window being brought forward from 14 December to 30 November. 

Job Support Scheme 

51 On 24 September under the Government’s ‘Winter Economy Plan’ the 
Chancellor announced a new Job Support Scheme (JSS) to be 
introduced from 1 November which will run for six months to help keep 
employees attached to the workforce.  

52 The Government will contribute towards the wages of employees who 
are working fewer than normal hours due to decreased demand.  
Employers will continue to pay the wages of staff for the hours they 
work - but for the hours not worked, the Government and the employer 
will each pay one third of their equivalent salary. The level of grant will 
be calculated based on the employee’s usual salary, capped at £697.92 
per month. 

53 On 9 October, the Chancellor, announced an expansion of the JSS. 
Firms whose premises are legally required to shut for some period over 
winter as part of local or national restrictions will receive grants to pay 
the wages of staff who cannot work. The Government will support 
eligible businesses by paying two thirds of each employees’ salary (or 

Page 140

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/job-support-scheme


 

67%), up to a maximum of £2,100 a month.  The scheme will begin on 1 
November and will be available for six months, with a review point in 
January. Only those forced to shut rather than suffering significantly 
reduced demand for their service due to the pandemic or government 
measures qualify.   

54 The Government announced a further expansion to the JSS on 22 
October. Previously, for businesses which can open, employees had to 
work 33% of normal hours. This minimum hour requirement has now 
reduced to 20% (i.e. those working one day a week will be eligible). 
Employer contributions for the hours not worked have reduced from 
33% to 5%. The scheme shall apply to all eligible businesses in all alert 
levels. Employers will continue to receive the £1,000 Job Retention 
Bonus. The JSS for businesses legally required to close remains 
unchanged. 

55 The Government announced on 31 October that the Job Support 
Scheme, which was scheduled to come in on Sunday 1 November, has 
been postponed until the ‘furlough’ scheme ends. 

Test and Trace Support Payments 

56 The Government announced on 20 September, the introduction of a 
one off £500 payment for those people on lower incomes, on qualifying 
benefits, who cannot work from home due to the nature of their work 
and have lost income as a result of being instructed through Test and 
Trace to self-isolate from 28 September, to be administered by local 
authorities. Those who must self-isolate for reasons other than an 
instruction from test and trace do not qualify. 

Local Restrictions Support Grant (LRSG) 

57 Finally, the Chancellor also announced on 22 October, a new grant 
scheme which will provide additional funding to allow local authorities to 
support businesses in high-alert level areas which are not legally closed 
but which are severely impacted by the restrictions on socialising. The 
funding local authorities will receive will be based on the number of 
hospitality, hotel, B&B, and leisure businesses in their area. Grants will 
be provided up to £2,100 depending on the rateable value for every 
month that Alert Level Tier 2 restrictions apply. This is equivalent to 
70% of the grants received by closed businesses in Alert Level Tier 3. It 
will be up to local authorities to determine which businesses are eligible 
for grant funding in their local areas, and what precise funding to 
allocate to each business. These grants shall be retrospective, any area 
that has been under these restrictions, can claim backdated payments 
up to August.  

Page 141



 

58 This was superseded on 31 October with the announcement of new 
lockdown measures in England, where business premises forced to 
close in England are to receive grants worth up to £3,000 per month 
under the LRSG.  Also, £1.1bn is being given to Local Authorities, 
distributed on the basis of £20 per head, for one-off payments to enable 
them to support businesses more broadly. 

Kickstart Scheme 

59 On 2 September the Government announced the launch of the kickstart 
scheme which will provide funding to create new job placements for 16 
to 24-year olds on Universal Credit who are at risk of long-term 
unemployment. Employers of all sizes can apply for funding which 
covers: 100% of the National Minimum Wage (or the National Living 
Wage depending on the age of the participant) for 25 hours per week 
for a total of 6 months; associated; and employer minimum automatic 
enrolment contributions. 

Job Entry Targeted Support (JETS) 

60 On 5 October 2020 the Government launched the Job Entry Targeted 
Support Scheme.  This scheme will help those out of work for three 
months via the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) access to 
tailored, flexible support to quickly get back into employment. The new 
programme will see several providers offer a range of help, including 
specialist advice on how people can move into growing sectors, as well 
as CV and interview coaching. The scheme is likely to be contracted to 
private employment agencies, mostly out of County. 

Free School Meal Vouchers 

61 During the announcement by the Prime Minister on 18 March that all 
schools would close on Friday 20 March, it was announced that meals 
and vouchers would be offered to children on Free School Meals (FSM) 
and later announced on 6 April that this would include the two week 
period for the Easter holidays. The vouchers were worth £15 a week for 
each eligible child however not all localities had participating 
supermarkets. 

62 On 16 June, the Government announced the scheme was due to end at 
the end of the summer term in July but following a high profile campaign 
by a national figure they announced the scheme would be extended to 
cover the six weeks holiday period. 

63 On 8 November, the Government released a press release from the 
Department of Work and Pensions stating the Government will spend 
£400m to support children with free meals over the holidays, amongst 
other packages of support. This includes: £170m COVID-19 Winter 

Page 142

https://www.gov.uk/national-minimum-wage-rates
https://www.gov.uk/national-minimum-wage-rates
https://www.gov.uk/national-minimum-wage-rates


 

Grant Scheme to support children families and the most vulnerable over 
winter – the funding will be ring-fenced with at least 80% earmarked to 
support food and bills; Holiday Activities and Food programme will be 
expanded across England, covering Easter, Summer and Christmas in 
202; Payments from the Healthy Start scheme are set to rise from £3.10 
to £4.25 per week from April 202; and Government has also pledged 
additional funding of £16m for food distribution charities such as 
FareShare. 

Free food parcels for clinically shielding residents 

64 For those residents in England that have been advised by the NHS to 
shield, the Government provided free weekly food parcel delivered to 
residents’ doorsteps. This was offered from 7 April to 26 June 2020. 

65 The Government food parcel was a free weekly box of basic food and 
essential supplies. The boxes contained items that the Government 
considered to be a week’s worth of food that an individual or family 
needed to live on for one week.  

Council Tax Hardship Fund 

66 The Housing, Communities and Local Government Secretary confirmed 
on 24 March the Government’s £500 million Hardship Fund to provide 
council tax relief to vulnerable people and households to help those 
affected most by coronavirus. 

67 Councils were also able to use the funding to provide further 
discretionary support to vulnerable people through other support 
arrangements such as local welfare schemes.  

Rent eviction ban 

68 On 23 March the Coronavirus Bill passed through the Commons and  
Housing, Communities and Local Government Secretary made an 
announcement any emergency legislation would suspend new evictions 
from social or private rented accommodation while this national 
emergency is taking place and no new possession proceedings through 
applications to the court would be able to start during the crisis. 

69 This was subsequently extended in June up until 23 August, but 
was extended by a further four weeks until 20 September and also 
requiring landlords to give tenants a six-month notice period, meaning 
that no tenant would find themselves evicted before March next year. 

Mortgage payment holiday 

Page 143

https://www.theguardian.com/money/2020/aug/21/hope-for-renters-in-england-facing-eviction-due-to-covid-arrears
https://www.homesandproperty.co.uk/topic/tenant


 

70 On 17 March 2020, the Chancellor announced that homeowners would 
be able to claim a three month break from their mortgage repayments if 
unable to repay because of COVID-19. 

71 On 22 May the Treasury announced that homeowners struggling to pay 
their mortgage due to Coronavirus would be able to extend their 
mortgage payment holiday for a further three months or start making 
reduced payments. 

72 The Government announced on 31 October that mortgage payment 
holidays would not end on 31 October. Borrowers who have been 
impacted by coronavirus and have not yet had a mortgage payment 
holiday will be entitled to a six month holiday, and those that have 
already started a mortgage payment holiday will be able to top up to six 
months without this being recorded on their credit file. 

Homelessness 

73 On 17 March, the Minister for Housing, Communities and Local 
Government announced that councils would be given £3.2m from the 
Government as part of an emergency scheme called "Everyone In", 
which was aimed at stopping the spread of the virus. On 26 March, the 
Minister for Local Government and Homelessness wrote to local 
authorities asking them to urgently accommodate all rough sleepers and 
focus on the provision of adequate facilities to enable people to adhere 
to the guidance on hygiene or isolation, including for those who are at 
risk of sleeping rough. Local authorities may use third party 
accommodation providers to comply with this request. 

74 On 14 May the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government has announced £6million of emergency funding to provide 
relief for frontline homelessness charitable organisations who are 
directly affected by the COVID-19 outbreak. 

75 The Minister for Rough Sleeping and Housing wrote to local authorities 
on 28 May requesting that when arranging move-on accommodation for 
people sleeping rough, local authorities: explore sustainable options, 
including through partnerships with housing associations and in the 
private rented sector; encourage people sleeping rough to stay with 
friends or family, ‘where appropriate and possible’; and where no move-
on possibilities exist, provide short-term accommodation while looking 
into long-term options. 

Freeze on benefit conditionality and sanctions 

76 On 20 March the Chancellor announced that people on benefits and 
Universal Credit would not be penalised from 30 March to 1 July 2020 if 

Page 144

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/help-with-mortgages-to-continue-for-homeowners-affected-by-coronavirus
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-politics-52063939
https://england.shelter.org.uk/legal/housing_options/covid-19_emergency_measures/homelessness/essential_links/gov.uk_-_mhclg_coronavirus_covid-19_letter_from_minister_hall_to_local_authorities_on_plans_to_protect_rough_sleepers
https://england.shelter.org.uk/legal/housing_options/covid-19_emergency_measures/homelessness/essential_links/gov.uk_-_mhclg_coronavirus_covid-19_letter_from_minister_hall_to_local_authorities_on_plans_to_protect_rough_sleepers


 

they failed to look for work or make themselves available for work due 
to coronavirus.   

77 The Government also confirmed that the DWP would be automatically 
extending all awards and reassessments for health and disability 
benefits during this period. 

Ban on bailiff visits 

78 The Taking Control of Goods and Certification of Enforcement Agents 
(Amendment) (Coronavirus) Regulations 2020, laid in Parliament on 25 
April and came into effect immediately, preventing bailiff visits during 
the period in which Coronavirus restrictions are in place. Bailiffs 
resumed operations in England and Wales on 24 August. 

The council’s response 

79 The Council has taken a lead through a strategic and co-ordinated 
approach to the changes made to the welfare system and the impacts 
of poverty to date, including how the funding available from government 
has been used to support people affected by the changes. This has 
identified the benefit of joining services across service groupings.  In 
doing so, it has become apparent that alongside the welfare reform 
changes there are areas of work already being delivered which are 
complementary and collectively address the underlying issues around 
the county. 

80 The Council’s PASG co-ordinates the delivery of a range of new and 
existing policy work which seeks to achieve a much broader 
understanding of the issues affecting residents, resulting from 
continuing changes to welfare and other issues which mean that 
residents can experience poverty.  Building on this understanding, the 
group seek to identify actions to support residents and help address 
identified inequalities. 

81 There is a comprehensive network of statutory, voluntary and 
community organisations who work together to provide advice services 
across the county through the Advice in County Durham Partnership 
(AiCDP).  This is underpinned by comprehensive communications 
programme to ensure that claimants understand changes and are 
signposted to the most appropriate sources of advice, help and support, 
and council employees, particularly those in customer-facing roles, 
receive regular information and training to help them understand the 
changes to welfare and poverty issues and how the council and 
partners can help. 

82 The Council has recently supported the AiCDP to procure a new referral 
portal and website, which will improve the referral process for advice 

Page 145

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/451/made


 

and embed the “no wrong door” principle for residents, ensuring that 
any individual needing advice and support will be signposted to the 
most appropriate organisation. The portal is expected to launch in the 
new year.  

Poverty Action Strategy and Plan 

83 The Council’s poverty action plan was reviewed in 2019 and a new 
Poverty Action Strategy and Plan was approved by Cabinet in 
September 2019. 

84 Clearly, many of the drivers of poverty - such as the strength of the 
economy, employment, wage rates, national welfare provision and 
inflation - are beyond the council’s control. We have developed a 
poverty action strategy to help us mitigate the effects and make some of 
the impacts less severe, where possible.  The strategy aims to provide 
focus and direction on the priorities for improving services and 
opportunities for residents in County Durham who are experiencing 
poverty and will cover a two-year period up to 2021. 

85 Our ambition is to do more than passively support residents to claim 
benefits and pay their rent.  We want to improve our evidence and 
analysis to create a one Council approach to support residents and 
mitigate the impacts of welfare reforms and poverty. We aspire to 
develop a compassionate coherent culture that seeks to maximise the 
value of our collective resources and appreciates the obstacles that 
internal and external silos create to supporting vulnerable residents.  

86 Our vision is to “improve the standard of living and daily lives of those 
residents in County Durham who are currently experiencing poverty; 
and to help alleviate issues that can lead households on low incomes to 
experience poverty”. To achieve the best possible outcomes for 
residents experiencing poverty, our strategic aims are: 

(a) to improve our understanding of the types of poverty and its 
impacts on County Durham residents; 

(b) to increase employability, personal wellbeing and sense of worth 
for residents; 

(c) that residents receive the best support and advice available 
concerning their financial situation; and 

(d) that children, young people and families have the resources to 
their basic needs including accessing opportunities to take part in 
society. 

Page 146



 

87 The strategy is underpinned by a revised Poverty Action Plan which 
focuses on new actions and commitments which will enable us to 
deliver the key priorities we have identified as being most important for 
reducing poverty levels in County Durham and achieving our vision. 

Poverty Action Strategy and Plan – COVID-19 

88 As the COVID-19 pandemic evolved, and residents and communities 
were ‘locked down’ we started to see an inevitable shift in the issues 
reported to the Council and partner agencies, particularly around family 
finance.  This, no doubt, is set to accelerate as the economy contracts 
and people find themselves, without an income, many for the first time.   

89 Our vision changed to “to improve the standard of living and daily lives 
of those residents in County Durham who are currently experiencing 
immediate financial hardship due to the COVID-19 pandemic and 
associate economic shocks; and to help alleviate long term issues that 
can lead households on low incomes to experience financial pressures 
and poverty” and  the Poverty Action Strategy and plan was therefore 
reformulated to reflect this and to formulate new initiatives to help tackle 
the crisis. This involved a rapid refresh of the action plan to include 
some new short-to-medium term initiatives and investments and also 
identify where we could bring forward/replace existing actions, with 
those needed to address the impacts of the pandemic.   

90 A plan on page has been developed to capture the emerging actions 
required to help our resident's financial circumstances during the 
pandemic and these are themed under four new workstreams which are 
working with key partners and stakeholders to take this work forward:  

(a) Community resilience; 

(b) Employment and personal sense of worth; 

(c) Welfare and money matters; and 

(d) Children and families. 

91 The revised strategy, plan on a page, and action plan is attached at 
Appendix 2.   

Key Actions - Poverty Action Strategy and Plan 

92 Relevant services, projects and initiatives from the action plan continue 
to be monitored and reported via the appropriate service reporting 
channels and also regular updates are presented to the PASG. Recent 
achievements include: 

(a) Community resilience 

Page 147



 

(i) AAP welfare/poverty funded projects – 12 projects were 
delivered during 2019/20 reflecting the diverse needs of the 
county’s residents with £120,000 funding allocated and 
£3,2919 match funding. 

(ii) AAP funded COVID-19 support projects - over 150 
projects and community organisations were funded to 
support vulnerable people access food and essential 
supplies as well as to help addressing loneliness; financial 
support and ongoing running costs to maintain community 
based services. 

(iii) Foodbanks - £50,000 annual grant to the Durham Foodbank 
to fund core county wide infrastructure and £5,400 to East 
Durham Trust Foodbank. 

(iv) The Council established the County Durham Together 
Community Hub at the start of the pandemic to respond 
proactively and offer additional support to the Shielded 
Population and to those 70,000 people who the Council 
identified as potentially vulnerable through previous service 
requests and data from other agencies. The Community Hub 
also provided a 7 day a week helpline to provide holistic 
person-centred support those in need.  The Hub assessed 
individual need, promoted information of local community-
based provision, direct support through a network of 
redeployed staff and links into Welfare Assistance, 
Emergency Food Provision, Welfare for Life, Check and Chat 
services and developed a data base of volunteers.  County 
Durham Together is providing a COVID information line as 
well as providing welfare and advice services.    

(b) Employment and personal sense of worth 

(i) Employability Durham – 2,518 referrals since July 2018, to 
help residents accessing support to help them overcome 
barriers and move back into employment, education or 
training. During the pandemic, services have gone online or 
via telephone contact. 

(ii) Durham Advance - since September 2018 over 820 
participants have engaged/still engaging with the scheme 
and over 240 participants have moved into employment. 

(iii) L!NKCD - since July 2019 over 174 participants have 
engaged/still engaging with the scheme and over 115 
participants have moved into employment. 

Page 148



 

(iv) North Durham Assist – between October 2018 and July 
2020, over 170 residents have been referred onto this 
scheme and over 95 moved into employment. 

(v) Employability Mentoring - between October 2018 and July 
2020, 210 residents have been referred onto this scheme 
and 88 moved into employment. 

(vi) The Council has supported youth employment through the 
Durham Works programme which has been operating since 
2015 and has helped over 3800 young people into work or 
training.  

(c) Welfare and money matters 

(i) Emergency food – in addition to the extra £1.4m the Council 
made available to community organisations to provide 
essential food and supplies, as at 4 October we have also 
provided 2,607 emergency food parcels to residents 
experiencing financial hardship whilst accessing food and 
emergency supplies.  

(ii) Discretionary Housing Payments – for the year 2020/21 we 
have so far made over 2,200 DHP awards totalling £840k to 
help residents with rental costs. 

(iii) Daily Living Expenses – for the year 2020/21 we have so far 
paid out £96k in DLE awards and £238k in Welfare 
Assistance payments to help residents with living expenses. 

(iv) The Council has paid over £3.3m in Council Tax Relief to 
residents facing financial hardship. 

(v) Durham Savers - 60 salary savings schemes for local 
residents working in local business have been set up with the 
credit unions and the scheme has delivered virtually in 
businesses and the community with 110 residents engaging 
in September-October 2020. 

(d) Children and families 

(i) Cutting the Cost of the School Day - 106 schools/nurseries 
have undertaken the training programme.  

(ii) Supporting families to access financial support - Universal 
Credit and smarter budgeting training delivered for CYPS 
social workers and One Point service practitioners. All One 
Point service practitioners have been trained and registered 

Page 149



 

to use the Advice in County Durham Partnership Portal 
which has resulted in 131 referrals via the portal to date. 

(iii) Back to School Support Fund – as at 9 October, 
25 applications have been made with 
approximately £18,100.50 funding allocated directly to 
schools. These include 18 primary, 6 secondary and 
1 special school. 

(iv) Holiday Activities with Food - 30 projects delivered during the 
Easter holidays; 22 projects during May half term; and 85 
projects during the six week summer holiday. This provision 
was extended to the October half term holiday period to 
ensure that children in County Durham have access to 
stimulating activities and food during school holidays when 
FSM are not available.     

(v) One Point/Family Centre Family Activities - 1,148 distributed 
to children and families over the six week summer holiday 
period.   

93 The Council allocated additional resources to offer a £15 voucher, per 
child, to all parents of children in receipt of FSM over the October half 
term holiday. The voucher worked through a QR code system and an 
online application process. This initiative was in addition to the money 
allocated to schools and community groups through AAPs to support 
holiday activities with food provision. Businesses and community groups 
responded with great generosity of spirit to the plight of children in 
receipt of FSM over the holiday period and so the Council publicised as 
much information as possible to advise parents of all local food 
provision in their locality.  

94 The Council has a longstanding record of providing assistance to 
families during the school holidays and will continue to do so whilst 
families and children remain in need.  

MTFP Growth and Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs 
funding 

95 As previously reported to Cabinet, the Council has already allocated 
significant funds to support the Poverty Action Plan since 2013. This 
has included, but is not exclusive to: over £900,000 additional funding to 
top up the council’s Discretionary Housing Payments policy; £6,405,546 
funding for benefits take up and advice initiatives; £840,000 funding to 
AAPs for welfare/poverty projects initiatives to help mitigate 
welfare/poverty type issues in communities; £2,519,930 for 
employability and housing initiatives; and £313,777 funding for food 
initiatives including holiday actives with food etc.   

Page 150



 

96 In February 2020 the Council approved a series of one-off investments 
for the financial year 2020/21.  Within this was an additional £1.5m for 
anti-poverty initiatives to boost welfare assistance, employability and 
accessible food programmes.  

97 At the start of the COVID-19 pandemic the council allocated funds from 
existing Poverty Action Steering Group budgets to support short-to-
medium term actions to help our residents experiencing financial 
hardship, or to prevent residents from being negatively impacted by the 
pandemic.  In addition the Council allocated £1.4m to community 
groups through the AAPs in order to provide food and essential welfare 
support to people through the pandemic. 

98 The Government allocated a small grant of £693k, also for food and 
essential supplies over the summer period with guidance as to how the 
money can be spent. This gives some flexibility in how this grant could 
augment the existing PASG funds and provide additional activity across 
the Poverty Action Plan.  A table detailing high level expenditure and 
the relevant areas of activity is detailed below:   

Page 151



 

Budget £ Main / Potential Activities 

Welfare Assistance 
Scheme Daily Living 
Expenses/Settlement 
Grant 

500,000 

 

Increased Demand  

Broaden Criteria 

Target additional groups  

Discretionary 
Housing Payments 
(DHP) 

500,000 Increased Demand 

Advice in County 
Durham Co-
Ordination  

220,000 

 

 

Extend existing provision 

Increased demand for existing services  

Debt / Money Advice  

Targeted employment 
support 

500,000 

 

Tailored employment advice and guidance. 

Flexible funds 

Youth employment support 

Food and essential 
welfare support  

£1,400,000 Food deliveries to vulnerable residents 

Support to VCS with essential running costs 

Activities with Food 125,000 Holiday Activities with Food through AAPs 

Foodbank Investment 35,000 

 

Debt Money Advice  

Additional Storage 

Subsidised Meal 
Provision 

200,000 

 

The Bread and Butter Thing 

Fairshare Licences  

Local Lockdown 
Emergency Food 
Fund 

55,000 

 

COVID-19 response and Contingency plus 
second wave boxes 

 

Future Direction  

99 Whilst the Council has supported its most vulnerable residents over 
recent years and has intensified support during the COVID-19 
pandemic there is much still to do to promote social inclusion and 
support people and their families over the coming months and years, 
particularly given the difficult economic situation.  

100 The Council is undertaking a review of advice and guidance in the 
County to ensure consistency of the availability of advice services. 
Coupled with this are improvements to the Advice in County Durham 

Page 152



 

Portal to ensure that the “no wrong door” approach whereby agencies 
can cross refer clients to a full range of advice services is enhanced 
with a case management approach and improvements in data 
management to target services. The Council is also looking to increase 
advice on money management, debt advice services and access to 
cheap credit through the Council’s housing solutions team and partner 
agencies. The Council is also in the process of reviewing its service 
level agreement with Citizens Advice County Durham to ensure that it 
delivers the outcomes expected and sets a framework for future 
collaboration.  

101 The Council is actively supporting The Bread and Butter Thing, a charity 
operating from Manchester who work with national food distribution 
agencies to redistribute surplus food in an accessible way, through 
community organisations, to local residents in areas of disadvantage. 
The programme was is due to be launched in County Durham in Eden 
Hill by the end of November to benefit families and individuals in the 
locality. Development work is ongoing with further community groups 
and schools in the County in Crook, Bishop Auckland and Cockfield and 
Evenwood, with the expectation of greater roll out over the next 12 
months. The Council is working with the charity to help them establish a 
North East base in Chilton County Durham, further extending the reach 
into the County. 

102 The Council is investing in a range of employability measures in 
response to the increase in unemployment and the cessation of the 
furlough scheme. Through the PASG the Council is supporting Youth 
Employment Hubs to help young people find employment as well as the 
Kickstart scheme both as an employer and local co-ordinator. The 
Council is supplementing European Social Fund (ESF) funded 
employability programmes, which provide support for unemployed 
people, with Council funded staff and flexible funds to provide help and 
support for those recently or facing redundancy.  

103 The Council has boosted contingencies to provide food and other 
essential supplies to vulnerable residents should further COVID-19 
related restrictions come into place.  This will be integral to the further 
development of the County Durham Together approach to empower 
communities, promote self-help and holistic person-centred services 
across council services and a range of statutory partners.   

Conclusion 

104 The Council is in the front-line of responding to these challenges 
through the services we provide and our network of Area Actions 
Partnerships supporting local action.  Working with our partners, we are 
at the heart of our local areas and interact with residents lives on a daily 

Page 153



 

basis and are committed to achieving greater social mobility, fairness 
and community cohesion. 

105 We have a direct financial relationship with our residents: collecting 
council tax payments, administering benefits and other discretionary 
payments. This provides us with an opportunity to identify households in 
financial difficulty and provide them with support and to manage the 
nature of that relationship in a way that supports financial inclusion. 

106 In such circumstances, it is vital that the council maintains its 
partnership-based approach in delivering its’ Poverty Action Strategy 
and Action Plan to ensure we make it everyone’s business to respond 
to poverty and the risk to financial exclusion and homelessness. 

Background papers 

• None 

Other useful documents 

• Cabinet report, COVID-19 planning and response, 5 June 2020 

• Cabinet report, Welfare reform and poverty issues, 11 September 2019 

• Cabinet report, Welfare reform and poverty issues, 13 September 2017 

 

Contact: Andy Palmer Tel:  03000 268551 

   

  

Page 154

https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s122804/COVID-19%20Cabinet%20report.pdf
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s113137/5%20WR%20Cabinet%20report%20Sept%202019%20-%20final.pdf
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s80636/Welfare%20reform%20and%20poverty%20issues%20Sep%202017%20-%20v1.1.pdf


 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

There are no direct legal implications arising out of this report, which is 

provided by way of update to Members.  The impacts of the COVID-19 

pandemic and the UK’s exit from the European Union may have significant 

legal implications.  The nature and extent of these implications are unknown 

and Officers continue to monitor changes in primary legislation for the 

pandemic and Brexit proposals to assess the likely future impacts on the 

council and residents of the county. 

Finance 

The council supports welfare provision and poverty alleviation through a 

number of service budgets across the council, such as the Welfare Assistance 

Fund and Discretionary Housing Payments (DHP) policy which are 

administered by the council’s Revenues and Benefits Service.  The council 

also offers discretionary County Tax relief to individuals and households in 

financial hardship and has protected residents from government reductions in 

Council Tax Benefit through the approach it has taken to local Council Tax 

Support. 

The council has been allocated government grant of £693,361 to help cover 

the costs for emergency provision for residents The longer term financial 

implications for the council are at this stage difficult to quantify, and are 

dependent on the duration of local restrictions, future ‘lockdowns’ and the 

speed of economic recovery. Future MTFP reports to Cabinet will need to 

consider the financial risks relating to the longer term impact of COVID-19. 

Consultation 

The review of the Poverty Action Plan was informed by feedback following 

informal consultation with council services and partners during the first quarter 

of 2020/21. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

The council’s Welfare Assistance Scheme, Discretionary Housing Payments 

policy and Local Council Tax Support Scheme have been subject to equality 

impact assessments where appropriate. 

 

Climate Change  

Page 155



 

Not applicable. 

Human Rights 

Note applicable. 

Crime and Disorder 

Not applicable. 

Staffing 

There are no staffing implications. 

Accommodation 

Not applicable. 

Risk 

Not applicable. 

Procurement 

Not applicable. 

  

Page 156



Poverty Action Strategy 2020-2021 COVID-19 revision V4.0 
 
 

Appendix 2:  Poverty Action Strategy & Plan 

Durham County Council – Poverty Action Steering Group 

Revised Poverty Action Strategy September 2019- September 2021 

June 2020 COVID-19 revision 

 

Purpose 

Our Poverty Action Strategy (PAS) has been revised earlier than originally planned in response to the 

coronavirus pandemic (COVID-19).   

This revised strategy aims to provide focus and direction on priorities for improving services and 

opportunities for residents in County Durham who are experiencing: immediate financial hardship 

due to the economic shocks of the coronavirus pandemic; and, impacts of longer-term poverty. This 

strategy will be reviewed in September 2021. 

For those responsible for delivering services, any future work programmes should contribute to 

achieving the aims set out in this strategy. 

 

Introduction 

The council’s Poverty Action Steering Group (PASG) co-ordinates the delivery of a range of new and 

existing policy work which seeks to achieve a much broader understanding of the issues affecting 

residents, resulting from continuing changes to welfare and other issues which mean that residents 

can experience poverty.  Building on this understanding, and underpinned by data and intelligence 

from Durham Insights, the group seeks to identify actions to support residents and help address 

identified inequalities through our Poverty Action Plan (PAP).  The PAP was approved by Cabinet in 

September 2019. 

However, more recently, we have had to respond dynamically and innovatively revising our 

approach as the national coronavirus action plan and recovery strategy evolves.  The council has 

worked nationally, regionally and locally to protect our communities and to support those affected 

by the pandemic, economically, socially and in relation to their own physical and mental health, and 

the outcomes from the council’s Inequality Impact Assessment will further inform this evolving 

action plan to seek to reduce the widening gap for some of our residents. 

We know there are considerable challenges ahead if we are to deliver on our vision.  In order to 

overcome these challenges, we have revised our Poverty Action Strategy which includes the revised 

Poverty Action Plan and sets out what needs to be achieved in the next 12-18 months in relation to 

each of our key priorities.  

The action plan includes a renewed focus on ensuring our strategies, policies, plans and programmes 

all link together to ensure an intelligence led and evidence informed, consistent and ongoing focus 

on our residents who experiencing financial hardship for the first time or hardship and/or poverty 

which has been compounded by the coronavirus pandemic.  It includes new and revised actions and 

Page 157



Poverty Action Strategy 2020-2021 COVID-19 revision V4.0 
 
 

commitments which will enable us to deliver the key priorities we have identified as being most 

important to help our residents whose finances have been negatively impacted by the associated 

economic shocks of the coronavirus pandemic and for reducing overall poverty levels in County 

Durham. 

 

Vision 

Our vision is: to improve the standard of living and daily lives of those residents in County Durham 

who are currently experiencing immediate financial hardship due to the COVID-19 pandemic and 

associate economic shocks; and to help alleviate long term issues that can lead households on low 

incomes to experience financial pressures and poverty. 

 

Strategic Aims 

We have to anticipate that society will be affected by COVID-19 for some time to come.  We 

therefore need to continue to increase our understanding of the local impacts of change, so we can 

best use and direct resources to help continue to mitigate the impacts where we can, through well 

thought-out and targeted approaches. To achieve the best possible outcomes of our vision for 

residents experiencing immediate financial hardship and/or poverty, our strategic aims are: 

• To improve our understanding of immediate financial hardship and both short and long term 

poverty, and the impacts on County Durham’s residents; 

o Short term – restarting/resetting society – June to December 2020 

o Medium term – living with COVID-19 – 2021 

o Longer term – recovering – 2022; 

• To foster employability, personal wellbeing and sense of worth for residents experiencing 

immediate hardship and/or poverty; 

• Residents receive the best support and advice available concerning their financial situation; 

and 

• Children and families have access to specific resources in response to the measures in place to 

combat COVID-19. 

 
Key Priorities 

Underpinning our strategic aims are the key priorities and detailed actions in our revised Poverty 

Action Plan 2020-2021.  This plan ensures we build on improvements already made and deliver 

new/improved initiatives required to support our residents experiencing the various types of 

financial hardship and varying levels of poverty.  

 

Resources 

New workstreams will be established to deliver some of the immediate actions where necessary, 

although it is expected a lot of the activity can be delivered through existing resources and 

organisations. Working with partners from across the public, private and third sector will continue to 

Page 158



Poverty Action Strategy 2020-2021 COVID-19 revision V4.0 
 
 

underpin our approach. The council has consistently recognised we cannot reduce poverty on our 

own: collaboration and a focus on delivering common outcomes remains a top priority. 

Governance 

The council’s Poverty Action Steering Group will continue to provide leadership and direction in 

delivering against the action plan. 

The PASG will: 

• Monitor the situation across the county; 

• Make practical recommendations for policy and action to address the issues identified and 

focus on equity of support and target to those who need it the most 

• Improve co-ordination and co-operation between service groupings and organisations, and 

establish new interfaces with existing sector led workstreams working to address the 

immediate financial impacts associated with the coronavirus pandemic and poverty at a 

local level; 

• Monitor the delivery of the action plan established to respond to the issues identified. 

 

Monitoring and Review 

Progress will be reported to the council’s Cabinet, the County Durham Partnership, The COVID-19 

Health, Welfare and Community Recovery Group as well as updates to partners and other 

organisations etc. 

The original strategy and action plan were originally subject to review every two years, due 

September 2021.  This date will remain, for this revised strategy and action plan, unless 

circumstances dictate that a review is required sooner. The strategy and action plan will be revised 

to ensure that it is current and reflects the communities in County Durham and what our residents 

are telling us, in or around September 2021. 

 

Page 159



Poverty Action Strategy 2020-2021 COVID-19 revision V4.0 
 
 

Community Resilience
Employment & Personal 

Sense of Worth
Welfare & Money Matters Children & Families

Poverty Action Strategy – COVID-19 Plan on a Page 2020-2021

Workstreams & Immediate Actions

Vision: to improve the standard of living and daily lives of those residents in County Durham who are currently experiencing immediate financial 
hardship due to the COVID-19 pandemic and associate economic shocks; and to help alleviate long term issues that can lead households on low 
incomes to experience financial pressures and poverty.

Workstreams

Immediate 

actions to 

look at 

Enhance the  holistic care/person centred 
management  – no wrong door approach.

Enhance Advice in County Durham 
Partnership Support to help partners cope 
with increased demand.

Share intelligence on emerging impacts 
between services key partners and new 
smaller groups to inform service delivery and 
projects/initiatives etc. both short term and 
long term

Enhance the  Volunteer  programme offer to 
fill new and emerging gaps in provision and 
to provide additional support to immediate 
actions.

Digital skills team (volunteers) set up to work 
with residents to help/support them 
confidently conduct more online activities 
including: employment activities, 
housekeeping, accessing services and 
social/companionship type activities etc.

Enhance the  holistic care/person 

centred management  – no wrong door 

approach.

New/amended provision required:

• To meet the needs of new 

claimants groups who have never 

been in this situation.

• Advice and support re employment 

contract disputes as a result of 

COVID-19 activities.

• Link with  Volunteers  programme

• Job match programme (careers 

service)

• Utilise social value contracts for 

DCC and Business Durham

• Tailored support for residents new 

out of education (i.e. 18 yr age 

group) and new into the job market 

during COVID-19 climate.

Includes PH initiatives re menta/

physical health and wellbeing.

Enhance the  holistic care/person centred 

management  – no wrong door  approach.

Map support re  food and basic provisions and 

target funding/projects to plug any gaps.

Revise Welfare Assistance Scheme wi th additional  

flexibility and discretion for COVID-19 climate.

Revise Welfare Rights Service offer to provide 

wider  advice and suppor t rela ting to COVID-19 

including: debt advise, personal finance and 

budgeting support e tc.

Enhance support to Credit Union to provide 

residents with low/no interest loans; personal 

finance and budgeting support etc.

Enhance DCC Managing Money Better  Service 

offer to provide residents with  debt advice, 

personal finance and budgeting support etc.

Produce basel ine of financial suppor t available 

from socia l and private landlords for tenants 

impacted by COVID-19 and identify gaps.

Enhance Housing Solutions service offer to include 

tailored advice and support for residents with 

mortgages.

Enhance the  holistic care/person centred 

management  – no wrong door approach.

Work with schools to increase FSM voucher/
meal take up during school closure period. 

Holiday activities with food programme 
revised to accommodate lock down/social 
distancing.

Link with schools to support those children 
and families experiencing menta/physical 
health issues as a result of the COVID-19 
climate.

Link with schools to support those children 
and families experiencing difficulties with the 
transition back to school.

Enhance support for children and families 
experiencing domestic abuse and violence 
as a result of the COVID-19 climate.

Culture and sport to provide additional 
alternative activities for families with children 
out of school.

The actions of the workstream will be unpinned by effective data and intelligence regularly updated on Durham Insight.

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 160



Poverty Action Strategy 2020-2021 COVID-19 revision V4.0 
 
 

Durham County Council – Poverty Action Steering Group 

2019-2021 Poverty Plan v4.0 

Aim  Key priorities  Actions  Due date  

        

1
. 

To
 im

p
ro

ve
 o

u
r 

u
n

d
e

rs
ta

n
d

in
g 

o
f 

th
e 

ty
p

e
s 

o
f 

p
o

ve
rt

y 
an

d
 it

s 
im

p
ac

t 
o

n
 C

o
u

n
ty

 D
u

rh
am

 r
e

si
d

e
n

ts
 

 1.1. Have a greater 
understanding of new and 
emerging population needs, 
pooling all data/intelligence 
across a broad range of 
services/partners and analysing 
data to inform existing/new 
service provision and use of 
resources. 

 1.1.a. Produce Joint Service Needs Assessment (JSNA) factsheets on 
poverty and share via Durham Insights to help inform practice/service 
development/partnership working etc. 

 APS will be updated 
quarterly in light of 
the current climate 

 

1.1.b. Use internal and where available external data to develop insight 
and profiles of groups (including housing data), likely to be impacted by 
poverty in order to improve communications and engagement with 
target groups. 

Full programme 
completed by March 
2021 

1.1.c. Share intelligence on emerging impacts of COVID-19 between 
services key partners and new smaller groups to inform service delivery 
and projects/initiatives etc. both short term and long term. 

Ongoing 

 1.2. Staff providing frontline 
services (and Members) 
understand the new and 
emerging needs relating to 
hardship caused by the COVID-
19 economic climate and the 
longer term impacts of poverty 
and how these affect 
communities and families within 
County Durham and are 
equipped with the relevant level 
of information to quickly help 
residents. 

 1.2.a. Develop content for induction programme for existing employees, 
elected members and Member communications covering poverty in the 
county, impacts on residents, alleviation measures and signposting to 
advice and support, so that staff are able to spot poverty and know 
what to do to help. 

 May 2021 
 
 
 

 

1.2.b. Include financial wellbeing in the council’s Better Health at Work 
Award programme. 

Complete 

1.2.c. Review and revise information, correspondence and website on 
council tax, benefits and concessionary support to reduce jargon, 
simplify and make more customer friendly (in line with the council’s 
‘outside-in’ principle).  

December 2020 
 

1.2.d Review and revise customer service procedures and processes in 
order to join-up welfare advice and support at the first point of contact 
with a resident. To provide a holistic support offer for residents 

March 2021 
 

P
age 161



Poverty Action Strategy 2020-2021 COVID-19 revision V4.0 
 
 

Aim  Key priorities  Actions  Due date  

 1.3. Partners work collectively to 
identify and deliver new and/or 
amended 
advice/guidance/support to help 
address the immediate issues 
associated with the COVID-19 
economic climate and the longer 
term impacts of poverty. 

 1.3.a. Research and develop poverty alleviation measures including the 
Durham Living Wage through social value provisions in procurement 
contracts.  Promote through procurement processes and Business 
Durham business liaison. 

 Complete 
 
 

 

1.3.b. Develop toolkit for local organisations to help their employees, 
for example signposting information, promotion of salary savings 
schemes with local credit unions, access to ICT to make online claims. 

March 2021 
 

1.3.c. Promote and increase Durham Living Wage accreditation among 
employers in County Durham. 

March 2021 
 

1.3.d. Coordinate a partnership with landlords to share best practice 
and understand the impacts of COVID-19 and long term poverty. 

Complete 
 

1.3.e. Enhance Advice in County Durham Partnership support to help 
partners cope with increased demand. 

Complete 
 

1.3.f. Enhance the ‘Volunteer’ programme offer to fill new and 
emerging gaps in provision and to provide additional support to 
immediate actions. 

December 2020 

1.3.g. Facilitate and fund the set up of ‘The Bread and Butter Thing’ in 
County Durham. 

Complete 

 1.4. Residents have access to 
digital help/support to enable 
them to confidently conduct 
more online activities including 
housekeeping, accessing services 
and social/companionship type 
activities etc. 

 1.4.a. Digital skills team (volunteers) set up to work with residents to 
help/support them confidently conduct more online activities including: 
employment activities, housekeeping, accessing services and 
social/companionship type activities etc. 
 
See also: 
1.3.e. 
1.3.f. 

 January 2021  

 

  

P
age 162



Poverty Action Strategy 2020-2021 COVID-19 revision V4.0 
 
 

Aim  Key priorities  Actions  Due date  

        
2

. T
o

 f
o

st
er

 e
m

p
lo

ya
b

ili
ty

, p
er

so
n

al
 w

el
lb

e
in

g 
an

d
 s

en
se

 o
f 

w
o

rt
h

 f
o

r 
re

si
d

e
n

ts
 

ex
p

er
ie

n
ci

n
g 

im
m

e
d

ia
te

 h
ar

d
sh

ip
 a

n
d

/o
r 

p
o

ve
rt

y 
 2.1. Have an in-depth 

understanding of immediate 
impacts the current economic 
climate has on different 
employment type groups to 
inform existing/new service 
provision. 

 2.1.a. Review baseline mapping exercise to identify holistic support 
available for basic skills and employability. Refresh programme of 
support, in the light of findings of the mapping exercise.  

 January 2021  

 2.2. Residents who experience 
mental/physical health issues as 
a result of the impacts of the 
COVID-19 pandemic or are 
affected by poverty/changes to 
welfare receive the most 
appropriate advice and support 
from DCC. 

 2.2.a. Include specific objectives and actions on poverty alleviation in 
the reviewed Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 

 September 2021  

2.2.b. Scope which appropriate front line health and social care staff, 
housing staff could provide welfare advice and signposting as part of 
their core remit e.g. primary care, health visitors etc.  Develop 
workforce training sessions to increase skills and competence to do the 
brief intervention. 

January 2021 

2.2.c. Develop joint working practices between housing and health team 
to assist homeless people and those threatened with homelessness 
where people experience physical/mental health issues. 

Complete 

 2.3. Residents have access to 
suite of programmes, schemes, 
services etc. for all aspects of 
their employment journey which 
provide the appropriate 
employment guidance and/or 
support needed at any point of 
time in their working life. 

 2.3.a. Develop new and/or amended existing provision required: 

• Scale up Durham Advance employment advice, mentoring and 

individual support   

• Scale up Youth employment support through Durham Works 

programme 

• Work with Job Centre plus to promote access flexible funds  

• Work with regional and local partners to develop online job match 

programmes 

• Work with national, regional and local partners to enhance the 

digital skills offer, access to wifi, and develop Link with Durham 

Volunteers programme 

 January 2021  

P
age 163



Poverty Action Strategy 2020-2021 COVID-19 revision V4.0 
 
 

Aim  Key priorities  Actions  Due date  

• Utilise social value contracts for DCC and Business Durham in respect 

of inward investment opportunities and link to local labour  

• Work up additional wage subsidy scheme and prepare to bid for 

funds 

• Develop a communication plan with a menu of services and contacts 

for unemployed people 

• Co-ordinate with the FE sector to enhance skills training and 

apprentice programmes through ESF and other funding sources 

• Explore the option to increase temporary, part time, public sector 

employment and apprenticeships  

2.3.b. Enhance joint working practices between employment/training 
and health team to assist clients where they experience physical/mental 
health issues. 

Complete 

 2.4. Have a greater 
understanding of long term 
inequalities in employment and 
analyse data to identify 
increased opportunities to 
support residents into training 
and/or work. 

 See also: 
2.1. 

 Ongoing  

 

  

P
age 164



Poverty Action Strategy 2020-2021 COVID-19 revision V4.0 
 
 

Aim  Key priorities  Actions  Due date  

        
3

. R
e

si
d

e
n

ts
 r

e
ce

iv
e

 t
h

e
 b

es
t 

su
p

p
o

rt
 a

n
d

 a
d

vi
ce

 a
va

ila
b

le
 

co
n

ce
rn

in
g 

th
e

ir
 f

in
an

ci
al

 s
it

u
at

io
n

. 
 3.1. Have a comprehensive 

understanding of the different 
types and levels of support 
available to help residents 
experiencing any aspect of 
financial hardship including 
access to food and basic 
provisions. 

 3.1.a. Map support re money matters (including food and basic 
provisions) to target funding/projects to plug any gaps. 
 

 Complete 
 
 
 
 

 

 3.2. Staff providing frontline 
services (and Members) are 
equipped with the relevant level 
of information to efficiently help 
and/or refer residents to the 
most appropriate support. 

 3.2.a. Develop an early identification and support programme for 
frontline staff and partners to guide and support families with children 
most at risk of, or currently experiencing financial hardship and ensure 
support available is correctly targeted. 

 Complete  

3.2.b. Deliver up to date briefing sessions to elected members on child 
poverty and the work being delivered to mitigate the impacts. 

Complete 

3.2.c. Develop an early identification and support programme for 
frontline staff and partners to guide and support adult households most 
at risk of, or currently experiencing financial hardship and ensure 
support available is correctly targeted. 

March 2021 

3.2.d. Continue to train frontline staff across DCC and partners to use 
AiCD portal. 
 

December 2020 
 

3.2.e. Undertake feasibility study of using AiCD portal for all poverty-
related referrals 

Complete 

P
age 165



Poverty Action Strategy 2020-2021 COVID-19 revision V4.0 
 
 

Aim  Key priorities  Actions  Due date  

3.2.f. Enhance the ‘holistic care/person centred management’ – no 
wrong door approach. 
 
See also: 
1.1.b. 
1.2.a. 
1.2.c. 
1.2.d. 
 

December 2020 

3.2.g. Baseline mapping exercise to identify support available for legal 
support identifying any gaps and potential schemes/projects to fill gaps. 

March 2021 

 3.3. DCC continues to provide 
financial support (or equivalent) 
for residents affected by the 
COVID-19 economic climate, 
poverty and/or changes to 
welfare where it is appropriate. 

 3.3.a.  Revise Welfare Assistance Scheme with additional flexibility and 
discretion for COVID-19 climate. 

 Complete  

3.3.b. Revise Welfare Rights Service offer to provide wider advice and 
support relating to COVID-19 including: debt advise, personal finance 
and budgeting support etc. 
 
See also: 
1.1.b. 
1.2.c. 
1.2.d.  
3.1.a. 

Complete 

 3.4. Residents receive the 
financial support which they are 
entitled to (i.e. non DCC financial 
support). 

 3.4.a. Enhance support to Credit Union to provide residents with low/no 
interest loans; personal finance and budgeting support etc. 

 January 2021  

3.4.b. Enhance DCC Managing Money Better Service offer to provide 
residents with debt advice, personal finance and budgeting support etc. 

January 2021 
 

3.4.c. Enhance Housing Solutions service offer to include tailored advice 
and support for residents with mortgages. 

January 2021 
 

3.4.d. Produce baseline of financial support available from social and 
private landlords for tenants impacted by COVID-19 and identify gaps. 
 

January 2021 

P
age 166



Poverty Action Strategy 2020-2021 COVID-19 revision V4.0 
 
 

Aim  Key priorities  Actions  Due date  

See also: 
3.1. 
3.2. 
3.3.b. 

 3.5. Residents in County Durham 
have a high level of knowledge 
for basic personal finance. 

 3.5.a.  Produce a baseline of financial literacy training available to 
primary and secondary schools and the FE sector. 

 January 2021  

3.5.b.  Develop a coordinated programme of financial literacy and 
personal finance training to the above. 

January 2021 

3.5.c.  Develop learning materials for primary and secondary schools to 
improve financial literacy and personal finance. 

January 2021 
 

3.5.d. Develop a financial literacy and personal finance module for 
inclusion in the DCC apprenticeship programme, with a view to rolling 
out to other employers. 

March 2021 

3.5.e. Explore feasibility of DCC providing Looked After Children with a 
credit union account and a nominal annual payment. 
 

March 2021 

3.5.f. Working with training providers to build personal resilience 
amongst trainees. 

March 2021 

 3.6. Residents are aware of the 
dangers of using pay day and 
doorstep lenders and have 
access to alternative means of 
support. 

 3.6.a. To work with partner agencies to deliver a programme of multi-
agency community roadshows across the county (six per year) e.g. loan 
sharks, scams etc. 

 June 2021  

3.6.b. Explore feasibility of restricting access to payday lender webpages 
from DCC public access computers, linking instead to credit union 
lenders. 

Complete 

 

  

P
age 167



Poverty Action Strategy 2020-2021 COVID-19 revision V4.0 
 
 

Aim  Key priorities  Actions  Due date  

        
4

. C
h

ild
re

n
 a

n
d

 f
am

ili
es

 h
av

e 
ac

ce
ss

 t
o

 s
p

e
ci

fi
c 

re
so

u
rc

e
s 

in
 r

e
sp

o
n

se
 t

o
 t

h
e

 
m

e
as

u
re

s 
in

 p
la

ce
 t

o
 c

o
m

b
at

 C
O

V
ID

-1
9

 
 4.1. Families with children 

eligible for FSM continue to 
access FSM food/vouchers 
during the temporary school 
closures. 

 4.1.a. Work with schools to increase FSM voucher/meal take up during 
school closure period including school holidays. 

 Complete  

 4.2. Children and families have 
access to stimulating and 
enriching activities during the 
temporary school closures. 

 4.2.a. Holiday activities with food programme revised to accommodate 
lock down/social distancing. 

 July 2021  

 4.3. Children and families who 
experience mental/physical 
health issues as a result of the 
impacts of the COVID-19 
pandemic or are affected by 
poverty/changes to welfare 
receive the most appropriate 
advice and support from DCC. 

 4.3.a. Work with schools to support those children and families 
experiencing menta/physical health issues as a result of the COVID-19 
climate. 

 Complete 
 

 

4.3.b. Work with schools to support those children and families 
experiencing difficulties with the transition back to school. 

Complete 

4.3.c. Enhance support for children and families experiencing domestic 
abuse and violence as a result of the COVID-19 climate. 

Complete 

 4.4. Narrow the gap in access to 
culture, leisure, sport and 
wellbeing for children and young 
people. 

 4.4.a. Undertake a health equity audit of who is currently accessing 
council leisure facilities to understand how we target our offer better to 
reduce inequality of access and opportunity. 

 March 2021  

4.4.b. Undertake a feasibility study of establishing a budget to support 
improving access to leisure facilities (e.g. discounts, promotion and 
transport) for children and families referred by social care and health 
agencies 

March 2021 

4.4.c. Explore the funding options for the provision of personal male 
and female hygiene products to young people through secondary 
schools, One Point centres and family centres etc. 

Complete 

4.4.d. Review and evaluate pilot of family centres providing food, 
clothing, personal hygiene products etc. 

Complete 
 

P
age 168



Poverty Action Strategy 2020-2021 COVID-19 revision V4.0 
 
 

Aim  Key priorities  Actions  Due date  

4.4.e. Review and evaluate pilot of free activities with food provision 
during 2019/2020 school holidays and undertake a feasibility study of 
establishing a budget for future provision. 

Complete 
 

4.4.f. Develop and roll out ‘child poverty pledge’ for teams and partners 
to sign up to set of standards/promises to help alleviate child poverty. 

February 2021 
 

4.4.g. Review and enhance the ‘Cutting the cost of the school day’ 
project. 
 
See also: 
1.1.a. 
1.1.b. 
1.1.c. 

December 2020 

 4.5. Raise aspirations and 
resilience of children and young 
people in County Durham 
making the move into work 
easier so they reach their full 
potential. 

 4.5.a. Develop ‘My Future is Durham’ initiative into a wider programme 
for schools and colleges. 

 June 2021  

4.5.b. Explore the development of specialist careers advice and 
pathways for Looked after Children, Care Leavers and SEND to enable 
young people to realise their aspirations. 

September 2020 
 

4.5.c. Explore future funding options to further develop DurhamWorks 
programme. 
 

Complete 
 

4.5.d. Review options to encourage career development and aspirations 
through DCC’s apprenticeship programme for 2020/21. 

September 2021 

 

 

 

 

P
age 169



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

             

       

 Cabinet 

18 November 2020 

Mainstream Primary and Secondary 

Formula Funding 2021-22 

 Ordinary Decision  

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

John Hewitt, Corporate Director of Resources 

Councillor Alan Napier, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Finance 

Councillor Olwyn Gunn, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Children and 
Young People’s Services  

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To update members on the Government announcements about 
mainstream primary and secondary formula funding for 2021/22 and to 
recommend that the council continues to use a transitional formula next 
year, which will align the local formula with the National Funding 
Formula.  

Executive summary 

2 The Schools Block is part of the Dedicated Schools Grant and is the 
main source of funding for mainstream primary and secondary funding 
formula, which provides the bulk of funding for these schools. 

3 Mainstream primary and secondary funding formulas are set locally by 
each local authority. There is a single formula for both primary and 
secondary schools regardless of whether they are a local authority 
maintained school or an academy.  

4 Funding regulations limit the discretion of local authorities to set local 
formulas and requires that the majority of funding is distributed through 
pupil-led factors. 

 

Page 171

Agenda Item 10



5 Information about funding for 2021-22 was released on 20 July 2020 
and this confirmed that Councils will still be required to set local 
formulas in 2021/22.   

6 Nationally, core school funding, which includes the Schools Block will 
increase by £2.2 billion next year with funding for the Teachers Pay 
Grant (TPG) and Teachers Pension Employer Contribution Grant 
(TPECG) becoming part core funding. 

7 The estimated funding available for schools in Durham in 2021-22 is 
£348 million, which is an increase of £28 million compared to 2020-21, 
with £14 million of this relating to the TPG and TPECG funding that now 
forms part of the Schools Block. 

8 There have been changes to how deprivation funding is allocated 
through the National Funding Formula (NFF), however, much of the 
increase in national funding has been used to increase factor values in 
the NFF by 3%. 

9 The TPG and TPECG funding that has been rolled into core funding has 
been used to increase the basic amounts per pupil by a further £180 per 
primary pupil and £265 per secondary pupil. 

10 The minimum per pupil funding guaranteed through the formula has 
increased to £4,180 per primary pupil and £5,415 per secondary pupil in 
2021/22, compared to £3,750 and £5,000 in the current year. 

11 Funding in the NFF for small primary schools in sparsely populated 
areas, known as sparsity funding, has been substantially increased. 

12 The Minimum Funding Guarantee has been made more generous and 
local formulas can now guarantee an increase of 2.00%. 

13 The council has used a transitional formula in recent years, to smooth 
the transition from the local formula to the National Funding Formula 
(NFF). The NFF is still expected to replace local formulas in the future 
and dictate allocations to individual schools. 

14 The transitional approach adopted over recent years will see the local 
formula in Durham align with the NFF in 2021-22. 

15 An equality impact assessment has been undertaken which has 
determined that the formula does not differentiate according to any of 
the protected characteristics except age, which is to recognise 
differences in the provision required by pupils of different ages. The 
average funding per pupil for faith schools is less than that for other 
schools, but this is a result of differences in the proportions of pupils 
with additional needs. 

Page 172



Recommendation(s) 

16 Cabinet is recommended to: 

(a) Note the updated position in terms of the mainstream primary and 
secondary funding formula for the financial year 2021/22; 

(b) Agree to the alignment of the local formula as closely as possible 
to the National Funding Formula in 2021/22. 

 

  

Page 173



Background 

17 The Schools Block is part of the Dedicated Schools Grant and is the 

main source of funding for mainstream primary and secondary schools 

through a funding formula. Each local authority sets its own formula, 

within the limits allowed by statutory regulation. The formula is used for 

both local authority maintained schools and academies. 

18 The formula is based on amounts per pupil, with additions for 

premises-related costs and an allowance for any growth adjustments. 

Growth adjustments are used to provide for basic need growth that is 

not reflected in the lagged pupil numbers used in the local formula. 

19 The DfE usually provides some details of funding during the summer:  

• Units of Funding per pupil (UFs) 

• Premises-related funding  

• Amounts per pupil for growth funding 

20 Final allocations are not confirmed until December and use pupil 

numbers from the October school census. 

21 UFs are calculated separately for primary and secondary pupils and are 

based on notional allocations to schools using the previous year’s 

October census pupil number data but using the National Funding 

Formula (NFF) for the coming year.  

22 The Government’s intention is to replace local formulas with the NFF, 

and it is expected to consult further about this in the autumn term. 

23 There is a single formula for both primary and secondary schools. 

Funding regulations limit the discretion of local authorities over local 

formulas and require that these formulas distribute the majority of 

funding through pupil-led factors. 

24 Pupil-led factors are a basic amount per pupil and additional factors 

targeted to disadvantaged pupils. The factor also includes a lump sum 

per school, an additional lump sum for schools in sparsely populated 

areas, and some premises-related costs. The formula factors used and 

the factor values (£/pupil or £/school) can be different for primary and 

secondary.  

Page 174



25 The formula also guarantees schools a minimum amount per pupil and 

includes protection to include minimum increases in funding per pupil. 

26 Funding is provided for financial years, starting 1 April. The same 

formula is used for both schools maintained by the local authority and 

for academies, but for maintained schools the new year’s formula 

funding takes effect from 1 April and for academies from 1 September. 

The difference in dates reflects the difference in financial years for 

maintained schools and academies. 

27 Formula funding uses data from the October school census and is not 

updated for changes in pupil numbers during the year. This means that 

when the new formula takes effect, the pupil numbers used for funding 

for maintained schools is seven months old and is eleven months old for 

academies. 

Schools Block funding for 2021-22 

28 Information about funding for 2021-22 was released on 20 July 2020. 

The main points are summarised below. 

(a) Nationally, core school funding, which includes the Schools Block 

and funding for High Needs provision, (for pupils with Special 

Educational Needs and Disabilities), will increase by £2.2 billion 

from the current year’s funding levels. 

(b) Funding for the Teachers Pay Grant (TPG) and Teachers 

Pension Employer Contribution Grant (TPECG) has been added 

to the Schools Block. This means that these grants will become 

part of core funding for mainstream primary and secondary 

schools in future years, but there is no indication that there will be 

another Teachers Pay Grant in respect of the September 2020 

pay award, (expected to be 3.1% overall). 

(c) There have been changes to how deprivation funding is allocated 

through the formula. 

(d) Much of the increase in funding has been used to increase factor 

values in the NFF by 3%. The TPG and TPECG funding has been 

used to increase the basic amounts per pupil in the formula by 

£180 per primary pupil and £265 per secondary pupil on top of 

the 3% increase. 

Page 175



(e) The minimum per pupil funding guaranteed through the formula 

has increased to £4,180 per primary pupil and £5,415 per 

secondary pupil next year, compared to £3,750 and £5,000 in the 

current year. Note that this includes the increases for the TPG 

and TPECG described above. 

(f) Funding in the NFF for small primary schools in sparsely 

populated areas, known as sparsity funding, has been 

substantially increased for primary schools, from £26,000 in the 

current year to £45,000 next year. Further changes to sparsity 

funding are planned from 2022-23. 

(g) The Minimum Funding Guarantee (MFG), which guarantees an 

increase in funding per pupil has been made more generous and 

local formulas can now guarantee an increase of 2.00%, 

compared to a maximum of 1.84% last year. 

Schools Block Funding for Durham 

29 The main changes to funding for 2021-22 are in the UFs, and the 

changes are summarised in the table below: 

Mainstream primary and 
secondary formula funding 
forecast assumptions 

Financial 
Year 
20-21 

Financial 
Year 
21-22 

Year on 
Year 

Increase 

Primary Unit of Funding per Pupil £4,405.58  £4,730.80  
£325.22 / 

7.38% 

Secondary Unit of Funding per Pupil £5,382.04  £5,828.81  
£446.77 / 

8.30% 
 

30 Other changes are: 

(a) Funding for premises cost has increased from £6.675 million to 

£6.750 million – an annual increase of £75,000. 

(b) Growth funding per pupil has increased:  

Growth funding / 
pupil 

Financial 
Year 
20-21 

Financial 
Year 
21-22 

Year on 
Year 

Increase 

 Primary  £1,425  £1,455  
£30 / 

2.11% 

 Secondary  £2,130  £2,175  
£45 / 

2.11% 

Page 176



 

31 Growth funding per pupil is allocated where pupil numbers have 

increased for a group of schools. Schools are grouped according to 

their Middle Super Output Areas, which are areas used for statistical 

purposes and are defined by the Office for National Statistics. This 

funding is only allocated for basic need growth, not for growth caused 

by parental choice. Where growth funding is not needed for basic need 

growth it is added to the funding that is available to be allocated through 

the formula. 

32 The final Schools Block allocation for 2021-22 will use the UFs, 

premises-related funding and growth per pupil values applied to data 

from the October 2020 school census. In the meantime, the table below 

shows a summary of the estimated funding for 2021-22 compared to 

2020-21: 

Mainstream primary and secondary 
formula funding forecast 

20-21 
£ 

21-22 
£ 

Change 
£ 

Funding attracted by primary pupils 171,130,000 184,733,000 13,603,000 

Funding attracted by secondary pupils 139,287,000 154,096,000 14,809,000 

Funding for premises 6,675,000 6,750,000 75,000 

Funding for primary growth 457,000 690,000 232,000 

Funding for secondary growth 1,984,000 1,389,000 (595,000) 

Rates adjustment 16,000 42,000 27,000 

Total funding 319,549,000 347,700,000 28,151,000 

 

33 More detail about the forecast is provided in Appendix 2. The rates 

adjustment is in respect of the difference between estimated rates used 

in the 2019-20 formula and the actual cost of rates last year. 

Local funding formula for Durham 

34 The local formula is determined by the council following consultation 

with schools and the Schools Forum. 

35 Since 2018-19, the local formula adopted in Durham has sought to 

transition from the old local formula to the NFF, in anticipation of the 

replacement of local formulas by the NFF. Since 2018-19 the local 

formula has used the same factors as the NFF and the factor values 

Page 177



have been changed on a gradual basis, to move them closer the values 

in the NFF. 

36 On the basis of the rate of transition used in past years, 2021-22 is the 

year in which the local formula should be fully aligned to the NFF. This 

means that the factor values will be as close to the values in the NFF as 

is possible. It is not possible to use exactly the same factor values, 

because the values must be adjusted so that the overall allocation to 

schools through the formula matches the total funding available. 

37 The forecast increase in funding means that average funding and 

average funding per pupil increases for both phases when modelling 

options for the formula, and the table below summarises the increases 

for the formula using the planned rate of transition: 

Change in formula 
funding 2020-21 
to 2021-22 

Change in 
average 
funding 

per school 
(£) 

Change in 
average 
funding 

per pupil 
(£) 

Primary 70,000  364  

Secondary 429,000  383  

  

38 The Government has still not determined when local formulas will be 

replaced by the NFF but has confirmed that it does intend to consult 

about this during the autumn term. It is possible that local formulas will 

be replaced by the NFF from 2022-23. 

39 It would be possible to amend the transitional formula for 2021-22, by 

reducing the rate of transition to the NFF so that it would not be fully 

aligned to the NFF until 2022-23, which is the earliest year in which the 

NFF could replace local formulas now. 

40 Reducing the rate of transition in this way would affect the distribution of 

funding between schools, with most primary schools losing funding and 

most secondary schools gaining funding, as shown in the table below:  

 

Page 178



Mainstream primary 
and secondary 
formula funding 
2021-22 

Planned 
transition 
(£ million) 

Reduced 
rate 

transition 
(£ million) 

Difference 
(£ million) 

 Primary  188.801  187.895  (0.906) 

 Secondary  158.902  159.808  0.906  

 
41 The average reduction in funding for a primary school with the reduced 

rate of transition would be £4,000 and the average increase in funding 

for a secondary school would be £29,000. For an average primary 

school, £4,000 is around 0.5% of formula funding and for an average 

secondary school, £29,000 is around 0.6% of formula funding.  

42 The table below shows the change in funding with the reduced rate of 

transition: 

Change in formula 
funding 2020-21 
to 2021-22 

Change in 
average 
funding 

per school 
(£) 

Change in 
average 
funding 

per pupil 
(£) 

Primary 66,000  333  

Secondary 458,000  425  

 
43 Reducing the rate of transition would be of benefit to secondary schools 

at the expense of primary schools, but the impact would be relatively 

small, and secondary schools are already expected to have a larger 

increase in funding per pupil than primary schools even without the 

reduced rate of transition.  

44 A reduced rate of transition would change the overall allocation to 

different factors, as shown in the table below: 

Formula factors – main 
categories 

Change in 
funding from 
planned to 

reduced rate of 
transition (£) 

Change in 
funding from 
planned to 

reduced rate of 
transition (% of 
overall formula) 

Basic funding per pupil 205,000 0.06% 

Deprivation 945,000 0.27% 

English as an Additional Language (54,000) (0.02%) 

Page 179



Formula factors – main 
categories 

Change in 
funding from 
planned to 

reduced rate of 
transition (£) 

Change in 
funding from 
planned to 

reduced rate of 
transition (% of 
overall formula) 

Mobility (63,000) (0.02%) 

Low Prior Attainment (1,666,000) (0.48%) 

Minimum per-pupil funding 57,000 0.02% 

Total for pupil-led factors (577,000) (0.17%) 

Lump sum 721,000 0.21% 

Sparsity (145,000) (0.04%) 

Total for school-led factors 577,000 0.17% 

 

45 The most significant change is a reduction in the funding allocated to 

Low Prior Attainment, which is for pupils who have not achieved the 

expected standard in their previous phase of education. There are 

significant increases in both deprivation and the lump sum per school.  

46 Most of the increase in deprivation funding is for secondary schools and 

deprivation funding for primary schools reduces. The increase in the 

lump sum does not target disadvantaged pupils. 

47 Appendices 3 and 4 show the differences between the formulas in more 

detail. Appendix 3 shows the difference in formula values for each 

formula value and appendix 4 shows the difference in allocations for 

each formula value. 

48 The transitional formula has been successful in achieving a gradual 

transition to the NFF. When the 2021-22 formula takes effect, it will be 

three years since the local formula was last used without transition and 

there is no obvious benefit to delaying transition any further. 

49 The council must take account of the views of schools and the Schools 

Forum. The Forum’s concerns were about limiting the turbulence in 

funding for schools when the local formula is replaced and about the 

risks of greater turbulence if Durham was an outlier it delayed transition.  

  

Page 180



Equality Impact Assessment 

50 An Equality Impact Assessment has been completed and is attached at 

Appendix 5. In summary, with the exception of age, the formula does 

not differentiate according to any of the protected characteristics from 

an Equality Act perspective. 

51 The differentiation in respect of age is in accordance with the factor 

values attached to each key stage in the education lifecycle, which is 

common practice and a key feature of the existing local formula across 

the country and the NFF, and recognises differences in the provision 

required by pupils of different ages. 

52 Faith schools receive less funding per pupil, on average, compared to 

non-faith schools. However, it should be noted that the formula does not 

differentiate between schools in terms of religion but does take account 

of additional needs in calculating allocations. A comparison of faith and 

non-faith schools supports a view that differences between these types 

of school is a result of differences in the proportion of pupils who are 

eligible for additional needs funding. 

53 Where funding reduces from year-to-year schools will continue to be 

supported to understand the implications, to forecast any budget 

shortfall and to identify appropriate savings that can be made to balance 

the budget. Where a staff restructuring is necessary schools will also 

continue to be supported through this process. 

Conclusion 

54 The DfE has provided information about Schools Block funding for 

2021-22. The Schools Block is used to fund the mainstream primary 

and secondary funding formula, which is currently a local formula set by 

each local authority. The allocations to local authorities will not be 

finalised until December, but the information provided allows local 

authorities to start planning for next year.  

55 For a number of years Government policy has been that local funding 

formulas should eventually be replaced by the National Funding 

Formula (NFF), which is already used in determining funding for each 

local authority. The council has used a transitional funding formula since 

2018-19, intended to smooth the transition to the NFF. The transitional 

formula was due to fully align to the NFF from 2021-22 and although the 

Page 181



NFF will not have replaced local formulas in 2021-22, Cabinet is still 

recommended to agree to full alignment from that year, subject to 

consideration of the views of the Schools Forum. 

Background papers 

• Mainstream Primary and Secondary Funding Formula 2020/21 – 
Report to Cabinet 11 December 2019 

• National Funding Formula for Schools and High Needs – DfE 
Announcements / Publications 23 July 2020 

 

Other useful documents 

•  

 

Author(s) 

Paul Darby Tel: 03000 261930  

David Shirer Tel: 03000 268554   

Page 182



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

Schools are largely funded by Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG).  

The Dedicated Schools Grant is issued by the Department for Education, with 

the terms of grant given governed by section 16 of the Education Act 2002, 

which states that it is a ring-fenced specific grant that must be used in support 

of the schools budget as defined in the School and Early Years Finance 

(England) Regulations.  

Local authorities are currently responsible for establishing a local formula for 

distributing the funding to individual schools. This is subject to national 

regulations and statutory restrictions established by the Education and Skills 

Funding Agency.  

Since 2013-14, local discretion over the funding formulae that can be applied 

has been significantly restricted, with local decision making limited to the 

application of a relatively small number of formula factors, most of which are 

pupil-led, with the rest being either school-led or relating to specific premises 

related costs.  

The funding framework governing schools finance, which replaced Local 

Management of Schools, is based on the legislative provisions in sections 45- 

53 of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998. Under this legislation, 

the council is required to publish a Scheme of Financing for Schools.  

The scheme sets out the financial relationship between the authority and the 

maintained schools that it funds, including the respective roles and 

responsibilities of the authority and schools. Under the scheme, deficits of 

expenditure against budget share (formula funding and other income due to 

the school) in any financial year are charged against the school and deducted 

from the following year’s budget share to establish the funding available to the 

school for the coming year.  

The Council is restricted by legislation from allocating funding to a particular 

mainstream school as its funding must come from the local formula. 

Finance 

The Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) is a specific earmarked grant provided 

by the Government which provides the major source of funding for schools 

and the provision of support to them. It is notionally split into four ‘blocks’: 

Early Years, High Needs Central School Services and Schools.  

Page 183



All DSG funding must be spent on schools or support to them. 

Starting in 2018-19, funding allocations to each local authority’s Schools Block 

of the DSG are based on notional funding for each school using the National 

Funding Formula, which is determined by the DfE. Individual local authorities 

use the Schools Block funding to set a local formula using the available 

funding and in accordance with funding regulations, which limit the discretion 

of authorities.  

Local authorities will continue to set local formulas until at least 2022-23. DfE 

policy is that in the longer term local formulas will be replaced by the NFF, 

which will determine allocations to individual schools. The Government is 

encouraging local authorities to align their local formula with the NFF and is 

planning to consult about replacing local formulas in the near future. 

The NFF puts more funding into pupil-led factors than school-led factors, 

which could create longer-term challenges for smaller schools, because the 

increase in pupil-led funding will be of less benefit to schools with smaller 

numbers of pupils. The NFF will include minimum funding levels which may 

reduce the amount that can be allocated through factors such as deprivation. 

Consultation 

The Council must consult with schools and the Schools Forum before setting 

its local funding formula for mainstream schools. The latter is a statutory 

consultative body, mainly consisting of representatives of head teachers, 

governors and academy trusts, plus Trade Unions.  

The Schools Forum received reports about these issues in September 2020. 

A consultation document is to be made available to schools through the 

Schools Extranet after the October half term holidays. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

An Equality Impact Assessment has been completed and is attached at 

Appendix 5. In summary, with the exception of age, the formula does not 

differentiate according to any of the protected characteristics from an Equality 

Act perspective. 

The differentiation in respect of age is in accordance with the factor values 

attached to each key stage in the education lifecycle, which is common 

practice and a key feature of the existing local formula across the country and 

the NFF, and recognises differences in the provision required by pupils of 

different ages. 

Page 184



Faith schools receive less funding per pupil, on average, compared to non-

faith schools. However, it should be noted that the formula does not 

differentiate between schools in terms of religion but does take account of 

additional needs in calculating allocations. A comparison of faith and non-faith 

schools supports a view that differences between these types of school is a 

result of differences in the proportion of pupils who are eligible for additional 

needs funding. 

Where funding reduces from year-to-year schools will continue to be 

supported to understand the implications, to forecast any budget shortfall and 

to identify appropriate savings that can be made to balance the budget. Where 

a staff restructuring is necessary schools will also continue to be supported 

through this process 

Climate Change 

None 

Human Rights 

None 

Crime and Disorder 

None 

Staffing 

There are likely to be consequential restructuring and potential redundancies 

in schools where funding is reduced. 

Accommodation 

None 

Risk 

There is a risk of significant turbulence for schools if there is a ‘cliff-edge’ 

change in funding when their funding changes to the NFF. 

Procurement 

None 

  

Page 185



Appendix 2:  Estimate of Schools Block Funding for 2021-22 

 

Mainstream primary and secondary 
formula funding forecast  

Calculation  20-21   21-22  

Primary Unit of Funding (£/pupil) A £4,405.58  £4,730.80  

Primary pupils B  38,844   39,049  

Funding attracted by primary pupils (£) C = A x B  171,130,350   184,733,163  

Secondary Unit of Funding (£/pupil) D £5,382.04  £5,828.81  

Secondary pupils E  25,880   26,437  

Funding attracted by secondary pupils (£) F = D x E  139,287,195   154,096,226  

Funding for premises (£) G  6,674,643   6,749,597  

Primary growth funding (£/pupil) H £1,425  £1,455  

Primary pupils attracting growth funding J  321   474  

Funding for primary growth (£) K = H x J  457,425   689,670  

Secondary growth funding (£/pupil) L £2,130  £2,175  

Secondary pupils attracting growth funding M  932   639  

Funding for secondary growth (£) N = L x M  1,984,095   1,388,738  

Rates adjustment (£) P  15,570   42,499  

Total funding (£) 
R = 
C+F+G+K+N+P 

 319,549,278   347,699,893  

 

 

  

Page 186



Appendix 3:  Formula funding factor values using planned and 
reduced rate of transition 

 

Formula factor 
category 

 Formula factor 

Planned 
rate 

formula 
values 

£/pupil or 
school 

Reduced 
rate 

formula 
values 

£/pupil or 
school 

Difference 
in formula 

values 
£/pupil or 

school 

Basic funding per 
pupil  

 Primary  3,181.62 3,179.97 (1.65) 

 KS3  4,486.67 4,380.72 (105.95) 

 KS4  5,056.16 5,245.90 189.74 

Deprivation  

 Free School Meals 
(Primary)  

468.63 422.83 (45.80) 

 Free School Meals 
(Secondary)  

468.63 790.28 321.65 

 FSM6 (Primary)  585.79 526.38 (59.41) 

 FSM6 (Secondary)  855.77 767.58 (88.19) 

 IDACI Band F (Primary)  219.04 249.01 29.97 

 IDACI Band E (Primary)  264.88 300.47 35.59 

 IDACI Band D (Primary)  417.70 440.68 22.99 

 IDACI Band C (Primary)  453.35 482.83 29.48 

 IDACI Band B (Primary)  483.92 528.21 44.30 

 IDACI Band A (Primary)  631.64 739.84 108.20 

 IDACI Band F (Secondary)  315.82 328.37 12.55 

 IDACI Band E (Secondary)  422.79 435.48 12.69 

 IDACI Band D (Secondary)  590.89 583.95 (6.94) 

 IDACI Band C (Secondary)  641.83 638.50 (3.33) 

 IDACI Band B (Secondary)  692.76 697.33 4.57 

 IDACI Band A (Secondary)  881.24 941.71 60.48 

EAL  
 Primary  560.32 503.09 (57.23) 

 Secondary  1,512.88 1,356.34 (156.54) 

Mobility  
 Primary  916.89 697.04 (219.85) 

 Secondary  1,314.22 997.98 (316.23) 

LPA  
 Primary  1,115.55 1,034.25 (81.30) 

 Secondary  1,691.16 1,558.98 (132.18) 

Lump sum  
 Primary  117,800.00 120,555.56 2,755.56 

 Secondary  117,800.00 122,222.22 4,422.22 

Sparsity  
 Primary  45,000.00  32,472.22  (12,527.78) 

 Secondary  70,000.00  60,927.78  (9,072.22) 

Page 187



Appendix 4:  Formula funding factor allocations using planned 
and reduced rate of transition 

 

Formula factor category  Formula factor 

Difference 
in 

allocations 
£ 

Difference 
in 

allocations 
% 

Basic funding per pupil 

Primary (64,000) (0.02%) 

KS3 (1,701,000) (0.49%) 

KS4 1,970,000  0.57%  

Deprivation 

Free School Meals (Primary) (468,000) (0.13%) 

Free School Meals (Secondary) 1,837,000  0.53%  

FSM6 (Primary) (731,000) (0.21%) 

FSM6 (Secondary) (767,000) (0.22%) 

IDACI Band F (Primary) 156,000  0.04%  

IDACI Band E (Primary) 196,000  0.06%  

IDACI Band D (Primary) 104,000  0.03%  

IDACI Band C (Primary) 93,000  0.03%  

IDACI Band B (Primary) 136,000  0.04%  

IDACI Band A (Primary) 235,000  0.07%  

IDACI Band F (Secondary) 43,000  0.01%  

IDACI Band E (Secondary) 48,000  0.01%  

IDACI Band D (Secondary) (21,000) (0.01%) 

IDACI Band C (Secondary) (6,000) (0.00%) 

IDACI Band B (Secondary) 9,000  0.00%  

IDACI Band A (Secondary) 82,000  0.02%  

EAL 
Primary (38,000) (0.01%) 

Secondary (16,000) (0.00%) 

Mobility 
Primary (61,000) (0.02%) 

Secondary (2,000) (0.00%) 

LPA 
Primary (1,001,000) (0.29%) 

Secondary (665,000) (0.19%) 

Minimum per-pupil funding   57,000  0.02%  

Total for pupil-led factors   (577,000) (0.17%) 

Lump sum 
Primary 584,000  0.17%  

Secondary 137,000  0.04%  

Sparsity 
Primary (137,000) (0.04%) 

Secondary (8,000) (0.00%) 

Total for school-led factors   577,000  0.17%  

  

Page 188



Appendix 5:  Equality Impact Assessment 

 

Durham County Council Equality Impact Assessment 

NB: The Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010) requires Durham County 

Council to have ‘due regard’ to the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, 

harassment and victimisation, advance equality of opportunity and foster good 

relations between people from different groups. Assessing impact on equality and 

recording this is one of the key ways in which we can show due regard. 

Section One: Description and Screening 

Service/Team or Section 

 

Financial Services, School Funding Team 

Lead Officer 

 

David Shirer 

Title 

 

Mainstream primary and secondary formula 
2021-22 

MTFP Reference (if 
relevant) 

 

 

Cabinet Date (if relevant) 

 

18 November 2020 

Start Date 

 

1 April 2021 

Review Date 

 

 

 

  

Page 189



Subject of the Impact Assessment 

Please give a brief description of the policy, proposal or practice as appropriate (a 
copy of the subject can be attached or insert a web-link): 

 

The Council is required to set a local formula to distribute funding to mainstream 
primary and secondary schools, including academies.   Government policy is to 
replace local formulas with the National Funding Formula (NFF). There is no date for 
the replacement of local formulas, but it will be no earlier than 2022-23.    

 

Since 2018-19 the local formula in Durham has been transitioning towards 
convergence with the NFF. The formula adopted in recent years has recognised the 
need to reduce differences between the local formula and the NFF, in order to avoid 
excessive funding turbulence when the NFF replaces local formulas. 

 

Based on the rate of transition used in past years, 2021-22 is the year in which the 
local formula will be fully aligned to the NFF. This means that the factor values will 
be as close to the values in the NFF as is possible.  

 

It is not possible to use exactly the same factor values, because the values must be 
adjusted so that the overall allocation to schools through the formula matches the 
total funding available. 

 

A national EIA for the NFF is available through the gov.uk website: 

 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/
attachment_data/file/901889/FINAL_2021-22_NFF_Policy_Document_MB.pdf 

  

(Pages 18 to 20) 

 

This is relevant, because the transitional option, is based on the NFF. 

The council has also considered an option to reduce the rate of transition, so the 
local formula would not be fully aligned to the NFF until 2022-23. 

Page 190

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/901889/FINAL_2021-22_NFF_Policy_Document_MB.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/901889/FINAL_2021-22_NFF_Policy_Document_MB.pdf


The effect of this option on funding is limited: 

 
Average 
funding 
£/school 

Average 
funding 
£/pupil 

Primary - planned rate 877,000 5,240 

Primary - reduced rate 872,000 5,208 

Change from planned to reduced rate (5,000) (31) 

Percentage of planned rate (0.57%) (0.60%) 
   

Secondary - planned rate 5,023,000 5,993 

Secondary - reduced rate 5,052,000 6,036 

Change from planned to reduced rate 29,000 42 

Percentage of planned rate 0.58% 0.71% 

 

Because of the limited impact this is not considered further in this impact 
assessment. 

 

Who are the main stakeholders? (e.g. general public, staff, members, specific 
clients/service users): 

 

Pupils, their families and school-based staff.   Also affected are the Council, which 
is responsible for maintaining schools, academy trusts and Roman Catholic and 
Church of England diocese, in respect of voluntary controlled and voluntary aided 
schools. 

 

  

Page 191



Screening 

Is there any actual or potential negative or positive impact on the following 
protected characteristics? 

 

Protected Characteristic Negative Impact 

Indicate: Y = Yes, 

N = No, ? = unsure 

 

Positive Impact 

Indicate: Y = Yes, 

N = No, ? = unsure 

 

Age N N 

Disability N Y 

Marriage and civil partnership  

(workplace only) 
N N 

Pregnancy and maternity N N 

Race (ethnicity) N N 

Religion or Belief N N 

Sex (gender) N N 

Sexual orientation N N 

Transgender N N 

 

Please provide brief details of any potential to cause adverse impact. Record full 
details and analysis in the following section of this assessment. 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 192



How will this policy/proposal/practice promote our commitment to our legal 
responsibilities under the public sector equality duty to: 

• eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation,  

• advance equality of opportunity, and  

• foster good relations between people from different groups? 
 

The formula includes factors which act as proxy measures for pupils who are likely 
to need additional support to achieve the expected level of attainment, which will 
contribute to increasing equality of opportunity. 

 

The formula does not differentiate between pupils from different groups and 
allocates funding on the basis of factors that are likely to be relevant to their 
educational needs. 

 

 

Evidence 

What evidence do you have to support your findings?  

Please outline your data sets and/or proposed evidence sources, highlight any 
gaps and say whether or not you propose to carry out consultation. Record greater 
detail and analysis in the following section of this assessment. 

 

 

NFF EIA available through the gov.uk website: 

 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/upload
s/attachment_data/file/901889/FINAL_2021-
22_NFF_Policy_Document_MB.pdf 

 (Pages 18 to 20) 

Analysis in respect of faith schools (see below) 

 

  

Page 193

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/901889/FINAL_2021-22_NFF_Policy_Document_MB.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/901889/FINAL_2021-22_NFF_Policy_Document_MB.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/901889/FINAL_2021-22_NFF_Policy_Document_MB.pdf


Screening Summary 

On the basis of this screening is there: 

 

Confirm which 
refers (Y/N) 

Evidence of actual or potential impact on some/all of the protected 
characteristics which will proceed to full assessment? 

Y 

No evidence of actual or potential impact on some/all of the 
protected characteristics? 

N 

 

Sign Off 

Lead officer sign off: 

David Shirer 

 

Date: 

September 2020 

Service equality representative sign off: 

 

 

Date: 

 

If carrying out a full assessment please proceed to section two. 

If not proceeding to full assessment please return completed screenings to your 

service equality representative and forward a copy to equalities@durham.gov.uk 

If you are unsure of potential impact please contact the corporate research and 

equalities team for further advice at equalities@durham.gov.uk 

 

Page 194

mailto:equalities@durham.gov.uk
mailto:equalities@durham.gov.uk


Section Two: Data analysis and assessment of impact 

Please provide details on impacts for people with different protected characteristics 

relevant to your screening findings. You need to decide if there is or likely to be a 

differential impact for some. Highlight the positives e.g. benefits for certain groups, 

advancing equality, as well as the negatives e.g. barriers for and/or exclusion of 

particular groups. Record the evidence you have used to support or explain your 

conclusions. Devise and record mitigating actions where necessary. 

Protected Characteristic: Age 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Record of evidence to support 
or explain your conclusions on 
impact. 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 

No adverse impact 

 

 

 

Basic funding per pupil 
increases from primary 
(reception to Year 6) to KS3 
(Years 7 to 9) to KS4 (Years 
10 to 11).   This is in line with 
normal practice in most 
authorities and the NFF and 
recognises the increasing cost 
per pupil as they get older: As 
pupils progress through key 
stages, the breadth and 
complexity of the curriculum 
increases, requiring more 
subject experts, specialist 
teaching facilities and 
examination fees expenditure. 
(NFF EIA, paragraph 19, 
DfE). 

 

None 

 

Basic funding per 
pupil in 2021-22 
formula options  
(£ / pupil) 

Primary KS3 KS4 

 Non-faith schools  3,181.62 4,486.67 5,056.16 

 Faith schools  3,181.62 4,486.67 5,056.16 
 

 

 

Page 195



Protected Characteristic: Disability 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 

Limited positive impact 

 

 

 

 

 

Most funding to meet the 
needs of children with 
disabilities is provided 
separately to this formula. 

 

 

None 

 

Protected Characteristic: Marriage and civil partnership  (workplace only) 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 

N/A 

 

 

  

 

Protected Characteristic: Pregnancy and maternity 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 

None 

 

 

 

This is not relevant to school 
funding 

 

None 

 

Page 196



Protected Characteristic: Race (ethnicity) 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 

Limited positive impact 

 

The transitional formula 
includes a factor in respect 
of pupils with English as an 
Additional Language 
providing slightly more 
resources to schools for 
such pupils.    

 

The transitional formula 
includes a mobility factor, 
which is potentially relevant 
to Gypsy/Roma pupils and 
pupils of Irish traveller 
heritage.      

 

 

The formula includes factors 
which provide for additional 
needs relevant to race / 
ethnicity 

 

 

 

 

 

None 

 

  

Page 197



Protected Characteristic: Religion or belief 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 

The formula is applied to 
Roman Catholic primary and 
secondary schools and 
Church of England primary 
schools (there are no Church 
of England secondary 
schools).   The formula does 
not differentiate between 
schools according to whether 
they are faith schools or not.    

 

Funding per pupil for faith 
schools is less than for other 
schools: 

 

 
£/pupi

l 

Primary Secular  5,384  

Primary Faith  4,898  

Secondary 
Secular  

6,039  

Secondary 
Faith  

5,688  

 

This is a result of applying 
the formula, which takes 
account of additional needs 
(deprivation, English as an 
Additional Language, mobility 
and Low Prior Attainment), 
where faith schools tend to 
have fewer eligible pupils.  

 

 

The proportion of pupils who 
are eligible for funding through 
additional needs factors is 
higher for non-faith schools in 
most categories which is 
predominately why faith 
schools will see a smaller 
increase in funding per pupil. 

 

See ‘Appendix A’ 
accompanying this EIA 

 

None 

 

Page 198



Protected Characteristic: Sex (gender) 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 

The formula does not 
differentiate between pupils 
on this basis and there are 
no single-sex schools 
affected by the formula 

 

 

 

 

 

None 

 

Protected Characteristic: Sexual orientation 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 

None 

 

 

 

 

The formula does not 
differentiate between pupils 
on this basis 

 

None 

 

Protected Characteristic: Transgender 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 

None 

 

 

The formula does not 
differentiate between pupils 
on this basis 

 

None 

 

 

Page 199



Section Three: Conclusion and Review 

Summary 

Please provide a brief summary of your findings stating the main impacts, both 
positive and negative, across the protected characteristics. 

 

With the exception of age, the formula does not differentiate according to protected 
characteristics.   The differentiation in respect of age is in accordance with 
common practice that recognises differences in the provision required by pupils of 
different ages. 

 

Faith schools generally receive less funding than non-faith schools. The formula 
does not differentiate between schools but does take account of additional needs.   
A comparison of faith and non-faith schools shows that the proportion of pupils 
who are eligible for additional needs funding in is smaller in faith schools. 

 

 

Will this promote positive relationships between different communities? If so how? 

No impact expected 

 

 

Action Plan 

Action Responsibility Timescales for 
implementation 

In which plan will 
the action appear? 

    

    

    

    

    

 

  

Page 200



Review 

Are there any additional assessments that need to be 
undertaken? (Y/N) 

N 

 

Sign Off 

Lead officer sign off: 

 

 

Date: 

Service equality representative sign off: 

 

 

Date: 

 

Please return the completed form to your service equality representative and forward 

a copy to equalities@durham.gov.uk 

 

  

Page 201

mailto:equalities@durham.gov.uk


Appendix A: Comparison of proportions of pupils with additional needs 

between secular and faith Schools 

Additional 
needs 
category 

Additional needs factor 

Proportio
n of 

pupils 
eligible in 
secular 
schools 

Proportio
n of 

pupils 
eligible in 

faith 
schools 

Faith 
proportio

n less 
secular 

proportio
n 

Deprivatio
n 

Free School Meals Entitlement 
(Primary) 

29.37%  17.12%  (12.24%) 

Free School Meals Entitlement 
(Secondary) 

23.14%  13.13%  (10.01%) 

FSM6 (Primary) 35.15%  21.06%  (14.09%) 

FSM6 (Secondary) 23.14%  20.29%  (2.84%) 

IDACI Band F (Primary) 13.24%  13.37%  0.12%  

IDACI Band E (Primary) 15.57%  10.10%  (5.47%) 

IDACI Band D (Primary) 12.89%  7.64%  (5.25%) 

IDACI Band C (Primary) 9.03%  5.37%  (3.66%) 

IDACI Band B (Primary) 8.06%  7.39%  (0.66%) 

IDACI Band A (Primary) 6.24%  3.78%  (2.45%) 

IDACI Band F (Secondary) 12.16%  16.65%  4.49%  

IDACI Band E (Secondary) 14.54%  12.32%  (2.21%) 

IDACI Band D (Secondary) 11.61%  9.59%  (2.02%) 

IDACI Band C (Secondary) 7.40%  6.50%  (0.90%) 

IDACI Band B (Secondary) 7.83%  5.51%  (2.32%) 

IDACI Band A (Secondary) 5.61%  2.63%  (2.98%) 

English as 
an 
Additional 
Language 

Primary 1.43%  2.46%  1.03%  

Secondary 0.41%  0.32%  (0.09%) 

Mobility 
Primary 0.80%  0.46%  (0.34%) 

Secondary 0.01%  0.11%  0.10%  

Low Prior 
Attainment 

Primary 32.85%  27.71%  (5.15%) 

Secondary 19.52%  16.55%  (2.97%) 

 

 

 

Page 202



 

  

  

Cabinet 

18 November 2020 

 Regional Adoption Agency – Full 

Business Case 

 Ordinary Decision  

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

John Pearce, Corporate Director of Children and Young People’s 
Services 

Cllr Olwyn Gunn, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Children and Young 
People’s Services  

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide. 

Purpose of the Report 

1 The full business case (attached in Appendix 2) for the Regional 
Adoption Agency (RAA) – Adopt Coast to Coast sets out the 
Partnership Model agreement reached by Durham, Cumbria and 
Together for Children/Sunderland to work collaboratively to develop and 
deliver their respective adoption services under the leadership of the 
Regional Adoption Agency Head of Service whose joint appointment all 
have agreed. 

Executive summary 

2 The Council has responded to the Government requirements to move to 
RAAs where its aspiration is to have fewer organisations recruiting and 
assessing adopters and having organisations that are operating at 
much greater scale. 

3 This intention was set out in the Education and Adoption Act 2016 
which introduced power in March 2018 for the Secretary of State to 
require local authorities to carry out their adoption functions jointly. 

4 The Government’s vision for the future of adoption services and 
provision in England encompasses: 

Page 203

Agenda Item 11



(a) a system where children are matched with the most suitable 
adopter as quickly as possible; 

(b) improved targeted recruitment taking place at an efficient scale 
to provide a pool of ‘adoption ready’ adopters large enough and 
well enough matched to the needs of children waiting; 

(c) improved and sufficient high-quality adoption support services 
available nationwide; 

(d) potential for efficiency savings avoiding duplication and 
operating on a greater scale. 

5 Significant work has been undertaken since the last report to Cabinet in 
December 2018 which sought approval for further work to develop a 
hosted model.  A number of practical issues were raised about the 
hosted model due in the main to the large geographic footprint of the 
proposed Coast to Coast Adoption Agency. 

6 Following discussions with the Department for Education (DfE) it was 
agreed to look at alternative models that were being developed 
nationally.  This time period has enabled the Local Authorities to explore 
a newer RAA Model that provides a better fit for Adopt Coast to Coast. 

7 The Partnership Model is one which the respective Local Authorities 
believe enables the necessary collaboration to achieve the vision set 
out by the Government.  Adopt Coast to Coast as a Partnership Model 
will be delivered through a Hub and Spoke structure. 

8 The Hub will initially be based in County Durham and has been kept 
deliberately small and cost effective.  It will consist of the RAA Head of 
Service and a Communications and Marketing Officer and will have 
access to a number of support services such as Performance and 
Finance which will be provided in kind from each of the three partners.  
The Hub costs will be shared equally by each Local Authority. 

9 There will be three spokes: 

(a) Cumbria; 

(b) Durham; 

(c) Together for Children. 

9 The staff in the spokes will continue to be employed by their existing 
organisations and work together to achieve the shared vision for Adopt 
Coast to Coast: 

Page 204



“children will achieve their full potential within a loving and secure 

family, and everyone affected by adoption will receive a high-quality 

innovative and sustainable service” 

10 The RAA Head of Service has been appointed and took up the post on 
1 September 2020.  The line management of the RAA Head of Service 
will be undertaken by Head of Children’s Social Care, Durham. 

11 The Key milestones for the project are: 

(a) Full Business Case approved by all three partners – November 
2020; 

(b) Shadow Go Live – 1st February 2021; 

(c)   Live – 1 April 2021. 

12 To meet the Government’s deadline for go live (early Spring 2021) there 
has been a significant investment of time in developing an agreed 
model of practice for Adopt Coast to Coast.  The modelling has had the 
advantage of the learning from the RAAs that have gone live both 
regionally and nationally. 

13 The detailed proposals are set out in the appended Full Business Case 
which will require agreement by the DfE. 

Recommendation 

14 Cabinet is recommended to approve: 

(a) the Full Business Case for establishing Adopt Coast to Coast 

Regional Adoption Agency with Cumbria County Council, Durham 

County Council and Together for Children / Sunderland City 

Council. 

 

  

Page 205



Background 

15 In 2016 the DfE in its legislation and guidance was clear about the 
requirement for all Local Authorities to be part of the national RAA 
programme.  The region split to the north where Northumberland, 
Newcastle, North Tyneside, South Tyneside and Gateshead agreed to 
establish a hosted model RAA and all of the Teesside Authorities, 
including Darlington to the south of the region also established a hosted 
model RAA. 

14 In seeking to comply with the national direction of travel for Local 
Authority Adoption Services Durham commenced discussions with 
Sunderland (now Together for Children) and Cumbria in 2016.  The 
Adopt Coast to Coast vision was realised and the partnership of three 
Local Authorities who all have Adoption Services rated Good by Ofsted, 
has provided a strong foundation for continued collaborative working in 
the intervening period. 

15 A DfE grant has enabled the development of the model and practice 
across the 3 Local Authorities in conjunction with the 4 Voluntary 
Adoption Agencies which have office bases in the geographical footprint 
of Adopt Coast to Coast. 

16 The remaining funds available in the DfE grant will meet the ongoing 
support and development costs of the RAA ahead of the go live launch. 

Conclusion 

17 Cabinet is respectfully asked to approve the Full Business Case for 
Adopt Coast to Coast to enable a formal launch on 1 April 2021. 

Background papers 

• Cabinet report dated 12 December 2018 entitled ‘Regional Adoption 
Agency Arrangements’  

Other useful documents 

• Business case appendix 2 

Author(s) 

Paula Gibbons, Head of Regional Adoption Agency 

  

Page 206



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

The Council is under a legal duty to maintain an adoption service for its area.  
The Department for Education has expressed its desire for Local Authorities to 
establish Regional Adoption Agencies with partner LAs and Voluntary 
Adoptions Agencies.  Failure to do so may lead to a direction for the Secretary 
of State to enter into such an arrangement. 

Finance 

The finance model proposed for Adopt Coast to Coast is that the current 
Adoption Service’s budget shall remain in each respective Local Authority.  As 
such and in the best interests of the partnership each Local Authority will 
agree that there will be no material changes to the current structure without 
consultation with the other partners where this may impact on the future 
managerial or financial arrangements. 

The hub costs will be the responsibility of the RAA Head of Service, and each 
Local Authority will contribute 1/3 of these, c£50K. 

There will be an element of the budget such as Adoption Support and 
Interagency Fees which are jointly controlled by the Local Authority and RAA. 

The RAA Head of Service will have oversight of the Interagency Adoption 
Fees, Adoption Allowances, and Post Adoption Support Commissioned 
Services for each of the Local Authorities, to enable efficiencies to be 
achieved with accountability through the Governance Board. 

A budget will be established in the Hub authority with the Contributions from 
the two partner authorities recorded as income.  Any over or underspends at 
the year-end will be distributed as equal thirds between the three partner 
authorities. 

The budget will be monitored internally as part of the hub authority’s usual 
internal governance cycle with quarterly outturn reports being presented to the 
RAA Governance Board for review. 

The RAA Head of Service will produce an annual financial report summarising 
adoption activity across the RAA including a breakdown of direct placement 
costs and statistics relating to the timeliness of the adoption process. 

Set-up costs will be funded by the DfE grant held by Durham County Council 
until this is exhausted and only if this insufficient should any remaining costs be 
shared between the three Local Authorities. 

Page 207



Consultation 

As part of the development work prior to the formal launch the RAA Head of 
Service will take the lead in developing and maintaining the active participation 
of Stakeholder groups who are affected by Adoption. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Not applicable. 

Climate Change 

None. 

Human Rights 

None. 

Crime and Disorder 

None. 

Staffing 

Two new posts are being created in the Hub; the RAA Head of Service post is 
recruited to and the Communications and Marketing Officer is to be 
advertised.  There are no other implications for staffing in the 3 hubs as all 
current staff within the three Local Authority Adoption services are remaining 
employed within their own Local Authorities. 

Accommodation 

None. 

Risk 

Should Adopt Coast to Coast not go live on 1 April 2020, the Secretary of 
State could make directions for all or any of Durham County Council’s 
Adoption functions to be undertaken by another Agency. 

Procurement 

Not applicable. 

 

  

Page 208



Appendix 2:  Full Business Case  

 

See Appendix 2 attached. 

 

Page 209



This page is intentionally left blank



Full Business Case – Adopt Coast to Coast  
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 1 of 40 

 

 
 

 
 

 
Full Business Case 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Date   September 2020 
Version  0.9 
Status:   Final  

 
  

Page 211



Full Business Case – Adopt Coast to Coast  
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 2 of 40 

Contents  
 
1. Introduction ...................................................................................................................... 3 
2. Executive Summary and Recommendations ................................................................... 4 

2.1 Executive Summary ............................................................................................... 4 
2.2  Recommendations ................................................................................................. 5 

3. Context and Background ................................................................................................. 6 
4. Delivery Model ................................................................................................................. 7 
5. Vision and Objectives ...................................................................................................... 9 

5.1 Strategic Objectives: .............................................................................................. 9 
5.2 Outcomes and Benefits of the RAA ..................................................................... 11 
5.3 Services in Scope ................................................................................................ 11 
5.4 Services Out of Scope ......................................................................................... 12 
5.5 The Role of the Voluntary Adoption Agencies ..................................................... 12 
5.6 Early Permanence ............................................................................................... 13 

6. Design of the Regional Adoption Agency ..................................................................... 155 
6.1 Functions and Responsibilities .......................................................................... 155 
6.2 Staffing and HR Considerations .......................................................................... 17 
6.3 Accommodation and Property ............................................................................. 17 
6.4 ICT ....................................................................................................................... 18 
6.5 Performance Management .................................................................................. 19 
6.6 Information Governance .................................................................................... 222 
6.7 Communications and Marketing .......................................................................... 22 
6.8 Governance Arrangements ................................................................................. 23 

7. Financial Implications ..................................................................................................... 26 
7.1  Approach ............................................................................................................. 26 
7.2  Hub Costs ............................................................................................................ 28 
7.3 Interagency Fees ................................................................................................. 27 
7.4  Set Up Costs ....................................................................................................... 29 
7.5 Commissioning Arrangements............................................................................. 29 

8. Plan and Next Steps / Risk Assessment ........................................................................ 30 
8.1 Overall Project Plan ............................................................................................. 30 
8.2 Project Governance Arrangements ..................................................................... 31 
8.3 High Level Risk Register ..................................................................................... 32 

Appendix 1 – Matrix Management Arrangements .............................................................. 34 
Appendix 2 – High Level Function Map ........................................................................... 378 

Appendix 2.1 – Adopter Journey .................................................................................... 38 
Appendix 2.2 – Child Journey ........................................................................................ 39 
Appendix 2.3 – RAA Management Function .................................................................. 40 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 212



Full Business Case – Adopt Coast to Coast  
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 3 of 40 

1. Introduction 

 
In June 2015, the Department for Education (DfE) published ‘Regionalising Adoption’ 

and asked all adoption agencies in England to consider how to work much more closely 

together on a regional basis. This was enacted as the Education and Adoption Act 

2016 which advised authorities and voluntary adoption agencies to join together to 

form Regional Adoption Agencies (RAA).  

 

The Vision for a Regionalised Adoption System: 

 

‘A system where matching is as quick as possible, recruitment is as effective as 

possible and adoption support quality is high’ 

 

The vision for the future of adoption in England encompasses: 

• A system where children are matched with the most suitable adopter as 

quickly as possible 

• Recruitment taking place at an efficient scale to provide a pool of ‘adoption 

ready’ adopters large enough and well enough matched to the needs of 

children waiting 

• Enough high-quality adoption support services available nationwide 

 

Adopt Coast to Coast is a Regional Adoption Agency between Cumbria County 

Council, Durham County Council and Together for Children / Sunderland City Council, 

working with a Voluntary Adoption Agency (VAA) Alliance.  The VAA Alliance is made 

up of the following VAAs; ARC Adoption NE, Barnardo’s, Caritas Care Adoption and 

Adoption Matters.    

 

Established on the 1st April 2017, Together for Children delivers children’s services on 

behalf of Sunderland City Council. Together for Children is owned by Sunderland City 

Council but controlled by an independent board to ensure operational independence. 

 

 
 

Page 213



Full Business Case – Adopt Coast to Coast  
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 4 of 40 

2. Executive Summary and Recommendations 

2.1 Executive Summary 

 
Cumbria County Council, Durham County Council and Together for Children / 

Sunderland City Council have been working together since December 2016 to 

consider how they could develop a Regional Adoption Agency (RAA). In December 

2017 a bid to establish a RAA was submitted to the Department for Education and 

this was approved in March 2018. 

 

All three adoption services are judged to be GOOD by OFSTED, and as a partnership 

they value the strengths that each of the organisations brings to the RAA. Some of 

the benefits of an RAA include: 

 

• Better outcomes for Children, Adopters and Birth Families 

• More Adopters for our Children 

• Ability to share resources 

• Ability to share expertise and best practice 

 

The RAA will be called Adopt Coast to Coast and it will have its own brand. 

 

The vision for Adopt Coast to Coast is that children will achieve their full potential 

within a loving and secure family, and everyone affected by adoption will receive a 

high-quality innovative and sustainable service. 

 

The overall objectives for Adopt Coast to Coast are to: 

 

• Provide child-centred services 

• Deliver a high-quality accessible service to adopters and potential adopters 

• Provide an accessible independent service for birth families affected by adoption  

• Create strong partnership working with Local Authorities, the Voluntary Adoption 

Agencies and universal services 

• Offer a service which is high-quality and provides good value for money  

 

It is recommended that Coast to Coast RAA is established as a Partnership Model 

with a Hub and Spoke delivery. 

 

The Hub will consist of the RAA Head of Service and a Communications and 

Marketing Officer and will have access to a number of support services such as 

Performance and Finance. 

 

 

Page 214



Full Business Case – Adopt Coast to Coast  
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 5 of 40 

There will be three spokes: 

 

• Cumbria 

• Durham 

• Together for Children 

 

The staff in the spokes will continue to be employed by their existing organisations.  

 

The finance model proposed for Adopt Coast to Coast is that the current Adoption 

Service’s budget shall remain in each respective Local Authority.  As such and in the 

best interests of the partnership each Local Authority will agree that there will be no 

material changes to the current structure without consultation with the other partners 

where this may impact on the future managerial or financial arrangements.   

 

The hub costs will be the responsibility of the RAA Head of Service, and each Local 

Authority will contribute 1/3 of these. 

 

The RAA wants to build and develop further its strong relationship with the Voluntary 

Adoption Agencies. Their involvement will support the RAA in meeting its sufficiency 

target. The VAA will work collectively as an alliance and will be key to the delivery of 

some of the functions. They will also be involved in the Governance of the RAA. 

 

A Governance Board will oversee the RAA, set its strategic objectives, performance 

targets and ensure it delivers good outcomes for Children and Young People. Lead 

Members will meet every six months with the Governance Board and all Members 

will have oversight through existing arrangements such as Corporate Parenting 

Boards. 

 

The aim is for Adopt Coast to Coast to go live on the 1st April 2021. 

 

 

2.2  Recommendations 

 

It is recommended that Members approve: 

 

1. The Full Business Case for establishing Adopt Coast to Coast Regional 

Adoption Agency with Cumbria County Council, Durham County Council and 

Together for Children / Sunderland City Council  

 

  

Page 215



Full Business Case – Adopt Coast to Coast  
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 6 of 40 

3. Context and Background 
 
Cumbria County Council, Durham County Council and Together for Children / Sunderland 

City Council have been working together since December 2016 to consider how they could 

develop a Regional Adoption Agency (RAA). In December 2017 a bid to establish a RAA 

was submitted to the Department for Education and this was approved in March 2018. 

 

All three adoption services are judged to be GOOD by OFSTED, and as a partnership they 

value the strengths that each of the organisations brings to the RAA. Some of the benefits 

of an RAA include: 

 

• Better outcomes for Children, Adopters and Birth Families 

• More Adopters for our Children 

• Ability to share resources 

• Ability to share expertise and best practice 

 

We are also working in partnership with the Voluntary Adoption Agency Alliance (ARC 

Adoption NE, Barnardo’s, Caritas Care Adoption and Adoption Matters) to support us in the 

development of the RAA and then as partners in delivering good outcomes for children. 

 

Adopt Coast to Coast RAA has significant challenges to overcome: 

 

• An increasing number of Children Looked After 

• A high number of Adoptions 

• An increasing complexity of Adoption needs 

• Ability to recruit sufficient Adopters 

 

 Total Population 
(mid 2018 
estimates) 

Number of 
Children Looked 

After  
As at March 2020 

Number of 
Adoptions 

2019 - 2020 

Cumbria CC 498,888 721 (+38) 32 (-6) 

Durham CC 523,662 
 

914 (+74) 55 (+10) 

Together for Children 277,417 582 (-13) 35(-2) 
(+/- difference on last year’s figures) 

 

Working collectively together as the Regional Adoption Agency with a strong partnership 

with the Voluntary Adoption Agencies through their Alliance, will help to ensure we meet the 

needs of our Children and Young People, our Adopters and our Birth Families. 

 

 

 

Page 216



Full Business Case – Adopt Coast to Coast  
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 7 of 40 

 

4. Delivery Model 
 
Regional Adoption Agencies have been set up in several different ways depending on the 

context and challenges facing the partner organisations. 

 

The new preferred legal model for the RAA is based on a collaborative “hub and spoke” 

model between the three authorities and Together for Children (TfC). 

  

Under this model, the three authorities/TfC would agree to collaborate in relation to the 

performance of their statutory adoption functions through a legally binding RAA partnership 

agreement. 

  

The parties would jointly operate a central RAA “hub” for collaboration purposes which would 

comprise a joint Governance Board (which will be responsible for “key” RAA decisions), a 

regional joint RAA Head of Service (which would be employed by one of the authorities but 

would report to the Governance Board) and other relevant central services. 

  

The funding and governance arrangements for the RAA “Hub” will need to be defined in the 

partnership agreement. 

  

Each authority would then continue to operate at a local “spoke”, under the day-to-day co-

ordination of the joint RAA Head of Service and implement the agreed joint plans, policies 

and strategies as approved by the Governance Board. 

  

There is no single legal authority under this model and given that the adoption functions 

continue to be discharged by each authority at a local level, there is no formal delegation of 

statutory powers and no TUPE transfer of staff. 

  

Detailed heads of terms for the partnership/collaboration agreement will be developed as 

part of the next stage of the process. 

 

The Hub will consist of the RAA Head of Service and a Communications and Marketing 

Officer and will have access to a number of support services such as Performance and 

Finance. 

 

There will be three spokes: 

 

• Cumbria 

• Durham 

• Together for Children 

 

 

Page 217



Full Business Case – Adopt Coast to Coast  
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 8 of 40 

 

The RAA Head of Service will manage the function through a Matrix Management approach 
as set out below: 
 

• The hub costs will be the responsibility of the RAA Head of Service, and each Local 
Authority will contribute 1/3 of these. 
 

• RAA Head of Service will line manage the lead adoption person (hereafter referred 

to as Adoption Manager, though this title is not used in all organisations) in each 

spoke for the delivery of the RAA function and some 1:1s and appraisals will be done 

jointly with the Local Authority line manager. 

• If there are any major changes to staffing (i.e. beyond vacancy management) these 

would come back to Gov Board for approval. 

• There will be an element of the budget such as Adoption Support and Interagency 

Fees which are jointly controlled by the Local Authority and RAA. 

 
Further details of how the matrix management approach will work are set out in Appendix 1.   
 

 

  

Page 218



Full Business Case – Adopt Coast to Coast  
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 9 of 40 

5. Vision and Objectives  
 
Our vision is that children will achieve their full potential within a loving and secure family 
and everyone affected by adoption will receive a high-quality innovative and sustainable 
service. 
 

5.1 Strategic Objectives: 

 

Our overall objectives for Adopt Coast to Coast are to: 

 

• Provide child-centred services. 

• Deliver a high-quality accessible service to adopters and potential adopters. 

• Provide an accessible independent service for birth families and others affected by 

adoption.  

• Create strong partnership working with Local Authorities, the Voluntary Adoption 

Agencies and universal services. 

• Offer a service which is high-quality and provides good value for money. 

 

We will deliver our objectives by: 

 

1. Providing child-centred services through: 

• Placing the child at the centre throughout their adoption journey, including into 

adulthood. 

• Securing early permanence to prevent delay and achieve the best possible 

outcomes. 

• Recognising the child’s voice in permanence planning and ensuring 

communication is effective to enable them to understand their life narrative. 

• Creating a sense of belonging for the child, in a secure permanent family and 

in the wider adoption community. 

• Ensuring access to support at the level and time that it is needed. 

• Ensuring sufficient adopters to promote the best possible match for the child. 

 

2. Giving a high-quality accessible service to adopters and potential 

adopters through: 

• Ensuring applicants receive a sensitive, flexible and welcoming service. 

• Responding to enquiries from potential adopters in a timely manner. 

• Giving prospective adopters clear, realistic and timely feedback at all stages 

of their enquiry and application. 

• Ensuring that adopters fully contribute to an evidence-based assessment, 

approval and matching process. 

Page 219



Full Business Case – Adopt Coast to Coast  
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 10 of 40 

• Providing consistent quality of adoption support that is relevant to individual 

adopter family’s needs. 

• Identifying and progressing potential matches at the earliest possible stage. 

• Providing qualified, skilled and experienced staff to support and guide 

adopters throughout their journey. 

• Offering consistent, high quality, up to date training throughout, to enable 

adopters to understand the lifelong impact of adoption. 

 

3. Providing an accessible independent service for birth families and others 

affected by adoption which will include: 

• Support for birth family members whose children have a plan of adoption and 

enabling them, at any point, to contribute to the child’s understanding of their 

life story. 

• Intermediary services to birth family members and adopted adults. 

• A letterbox service to facilitate ongoing positive contact between birth families 

and children. 

• Facilitation of direct contact where this meets the child’s needs. 

 

 

4. Creating strong partnership working with Local Authorities, Voluntary 

Adoption Agencies and universal services by: 

• Ensuring Voluntary Adoption Agencies have a full and active role in the 

delivery of Adopt Coast to Coast services. 

• Sharing learning and striving for evidence-based best practice. 

• Ensuring consistent and long-term sustainability of service delivery and 

funding to the Voluntary Adoption Agencies for the benefit of children. 

 

 

5. Offering a service which is high-quality and provides good value for 

money through: 

• Demonstrating consistently excellent practice which results in excellent 

outcomes for children. 

• Ensuring consistency of quality of service provision across Adopt Coast to 

Coast. 

• The efficient, effective and innovative use of resources. 

• Effectively commissioning and reviewing appropriate services. 

• Developing and implementing clear minimum standards. 

• Continually learning from stakeholders, best practice and adapting services 

accordingly. 

 

 

Page 220



Full Business Case – Adopt Coast to Coast  
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 11 of 40 

 

5.2 Outcomes and Benefits of the RAA 

 

There is commitment from each organisation to work together in a single RAA across 

the geographical area proposed, to achieve:  

 

• A culture of early permanence planning in order to identify suitable adopters 

for children at the earliest possible stage during the care planning process to 

ensure the timeliness of the child moving in with their adoptive family.  

 

• Marketing activity and recruitment of prospective adoptive families to meet the 

needs of the range of children, including sibling groups.  

 

• Assessment and training of prospective adopters to a consistently high 

standard.   

 

• Development of services across the range of adoption functions in the RAA 

through the capturing of stakeholder views and best regional and national 

practice. 

 

• Matching, linking and adoption support that enables children to live in 

supportive and safe placements with their adoptive families. 

 

• Pre and Post Adoption support tailored to meet the needs of the children and 

adoptive families and to deliver this as a consistent package of support across 

the RAA area. 

 

• Effective and easily accessible Birth Family support. 

 

• Access to consistent and responsive Intermediary Services.  

 

5.3 Services in Scope 

 

Included within the scope of the Regional Adoption Agency are: 

 

• Early Permanence planning 

• Marketing activity and recruitment of prospective adopters 

• Assessment and training of prospective adopters 

• Tracking, Linking and Matching 

• Pre and Post Adoption Support  

• Birth Family Support 

Page 221



Full Business Case – Adopt Coast to Coast  
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 12 of 40 

• Intermediary Services 

 

The expectation would be that all adoption functions as currently carried out by 

Cumbria County Council, Durham County Council and Together for Children / 

Sunderland City Council or commissioned by them would be in scope of the new 

RAA.  The commissioning of interagency placements as undertaken currently would 

continue. It is anticipated that adoption support services currently commissioned, will 

remain so in the initial stages of the RAA to ensure consistency for children and 

adopters. The expectation would be that at some point the RAA would procure 

services across the region.   

 

5.4 Services Out of Scope 

 

Special Guardianship Order assessments and subsequent support services have not 

been included in the scope of the RAA at this point.   

 

Fostering Services are also out of scope. 

 

 

5.5 The Role of the Voluntary Adoption Agencies 

 
It is envisaged that the Voluntary Adoption Agencies would play a key role in the 

Regional Adoption Agency. 

 
It is becoming increasingly difficult to meet the demand and the increasingly complex 

needs of our children and young people. We believe that by working in partnership 

with the Voluntary Adoption Agencies through their Alliance, we will be in a stronger 

position to meet the needs of children with a plan of adoption. 

 

We want a different relationship. We envisage that: 

 

• The Voluntary Adoption Agencies (VAA) alliance will work with us each year 

to look at our needs and help us develop our sufficiency plan. 

• From this we will identify our gaps and plan our recruitment campaigns. 

• We will have an agreement with the VAA Alliance to provide a specific number 

and type of prospective adoptive families over the year. The management of 

the process will be set out in the commissioning arrangements. 

• We would include the VAA alliance in our regular tracking and matching 

meetings so that we can identify suitable matches at the earliest opportunity. 

• We would develop our best practice collectively with all partners learning from 

each other. This would include some joint training and development days. 

 

Page 222



Full Business Case – Adopt Coast to Coast  
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 13 of 40 

 

 

The benefits of this approach are: 

 

• We would be able to match and place children more quickly. 

• We would ensure the children have the most suitable prospective adoptive 

family to meet their needs. 

• We have shared responsibility for the recruitment of prospective adopters with 

the VAA alliance supporting us by recruiting prospective adopters including for 

our ‘harder to place’ children. 

• There would be a greater number of prospective adoptive families available 

across the RAA / VAA alliance. 

• We would have a stronger relationship between the RAA and the VAA alliance. 

• This approach would build stability in the VAA sector in the region. 

 

 

In addition to the recruitment of prospective adoptive families (as described above), 

the VAA can potentially provide a range of additional services to the RAA. Initially it 

is envisaged that existing contracts are reviewed and then extended where 

appropriate. During the first twelve months, the RAA will assess its needs and 

contract services as appropriate. 

 

 

5.6 Early Permanence 

 
In working together to extend and improve the early permanence planning for children 

we can ensure that children have the best start in life by being part of a permanent, 

safe and loving family as early as possible in their lives.  Our RAA will be focused on 

developing and maintaining strong links required with the teams who care plan for 

children, so we are involved and informed at the earliest possible stage.   

Early permanence planning will ensure that we are working together to seek the right 

prospective adoptive family as early as possible.  We will develop recruitment and 

marketing strategies that target recruitment of families who can best meet the needs 

of the children for whom we are seeking families.  Together we can use our combined 

expertise to support staff who prepare children to move to their new families and as 

an RAA identify and deliver bespoke adoption support to meet the individual needs 

of the child and their prospective adoptive family. 

 

Early Permanence will include: 

 

• Early Placement Planning 

• Concurrency 

Page 223



Full Business Case – Adopt Coast to Coast  
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 14 of 40 

• Fostering for Adoption 

 

We will work across the Local Authority partners to create a culture of Early 

Permanence planning in order to identify possible suitable prospective adopters for 

children at the earliest stage during the care planning process. Earlier placement 

supports the best outcomes for children.  

 

What this means in practice: 
 

• Each Local Authority will have an Early Permanence Strategy which will 

include all children regardless of route to permanence. 

 

• We need to support the embedding of early permanence thinking within each 

Local Authority, so this practice is integrated into the culture and practice of 

the organisation with senior managers and legal teams supporting the 

principles and the benefits of early permanence. 

 

• We will do this by ensuring that early permanence is a fundamental part of 

social work practice. 

 

• This will be achieved by: 

 

o Ensuring effective leadership around early permanence. 

o Constant raising of awareness – through meetings and other 

engagement opportunities. 

o Effective and ongoing training for all staff – recognising the turn-over in 

children’s care planning teams. 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 224



Full Business Case – Adopt Coast to Coast  
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 15 of 40 

6. Design of the Regional Adoption Agency   

6.1 Functions and Responsibilities 

 
In the Partnership Model which is being proposed for Adopt Coast to Coast some of 

the functions will be undertaken centrally in the Hub and other functions will be 

delivered locally in the Spokes. 

 

 

 

 
 

 

The RAA wants to build and develop further its strong relationship with the Voluntary 

Adoption Agencies as described in section 5.3. As shown below, this means that the 

VAA, through its alliance, will be key to the delivery of some of the functions. 

 

 

Set out in Appendix 2 are high-level maps of how this will work in practice. 

 

Whilst delivery will be devolved to the localities the RAA Head of Service will have 

overall responsibility for quality management and practice oversight. It is expected 

that there will be high quality and consistent practice across the RAA. 

 

Function What Responsible 

Marketing Brand 

Website 

Marketing 

 

RAA Hub 

 Events 

Campaigns 

Information Sessions 

RAA Hub/ Locality 

C
en

tr
al

 H
u

b

Cumbria Spoke

Durham Spoke

Together for 
Children Spoke

Page 225



Full Business Case – Adopt Coast to Coast  
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 16 of 40 

Function What Responsible 

Adopter Recruitment Enquiries 

 

RAA Hub 

Locality 

Adopter Assessment Training 

Stage 1 (ROI/Statutory 

Checks) 

Stage 2 (Assessment) 

Panel 

Agency Decision Maker 

(ADM) 

Locality 

Early Permanence 

(EP)/Permanence 

planning  

Early tracking 

Consideration if EP 

placement  

ADM /Child Should be 

Placed for Adoption 

Locality 

Tracking, Family 

Finding and Matching 

Early Tracking 

Centralised Tracking 

Family Finding 

Linking and Matching 

RAA Core Function 

undertaken jointly with 

Hub, Localities and VAA 

Alliance 

Placement Planning ADM for the Match 

Placement planning and 

Introductions  

Placement 

Court 

Locality 

Other Locality Work Post Box 

Life Story Work 

Administration of Panels 

Management of Adoption 

Support Fund 

Birth Records and 

Intermediary work 

Independent service for birth 

families 

Administration and review of 

Adoption Allowances 

Adoption Support 

Localities 

 

Some aspects of this 

work are currently 

provided through 

commissioned services.  

Head of Service to take 

lead in reviewing these 

and offer proposals for 

future commissioning 

activity. 

Other RAA Core 

Functions 

Sufficiency Planning 

Performance Management 

and Returns 

Governance Board 

Finance and Budget 

monitoring 

RAA Core Function 

undertaken jointly with 

Hub, Localities and VAA 

Alliance. 

 

Page 226



Full Business Case – Adopt Coast to Coast  
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 17 of 40 

6.2 Staffing and HR Considerations 

6.2.1 Staffing Roles 

 

The Hub with consist of two employees: 

 

• RAA Head of Service 

• Communications and Marketing Officer 

 

All other adoption staff will continue to be employed by the localities.  

 

6.2.2 HR Considerations 

 
In the Partnership Model proposed for Adopt Coast to Coast, apart from the posts in 

Hub, all the staff will continue to be employed by their existing employer. This means 

that there is minimal impact on the staff and no changes to their terms and conditions. 

 

There will still be a need to consult with staff and the Unions on the establishment of 

the RAA. 

 

The detailed workplan and timescale will form a key part of the implementation and 

key tasks include: 

                    

• Staff and Union consultation 

• Recruit Communications and Marketing Officer 

• Training and development 

• Staff team building 

 

6.3 Accommodation and Property 

 

Adopt Coast to Coast will operate across a very large geographical area and 

therefore needs to be fully flexible in the way it delivers services. 

 

Each of the Local Authorities will continue to provide accommodation for all the staff 

they employ, and agile working practices will continue to be a key aspect of 

successful service delivery.  It will be equally important that staff groups can meet to 

review and develop service provision which will support a cohesive shared vision.  

This need can be met through a mixed model of engagement including face to face 

and virtual.   

 

Maintaining a presence in their respective Local Authority accommodation will enable 

staff to continue to work closely with their respective Children’s Social Care teams. 

Page 227



Full Business Case – Adopt Coast to Coast  
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 18 of 40 

 

The features of the ways of working are set out below: 

 

• Most staff need to continue to be fully agile using a laptop and phone. 

• Business support / administration staff would continue to work as they 

currently do. 

• Access to other partner’s accommodation would assist Local Authority staff in 

working more agilely across the geographical footprint of Adopt Coast to 

Coast. 

• The RAA Head of Service will need the flexibility to work across the 

geographical footprint of the RAA.  

• Team meetings/service development sessions will be a mix of face to face and 

virtual depending on the activity and the needs of the staff. 

• Supervision will be a mix of face to face and virtual taking into account the 

needs of the supervisee. 

 

6.4 ICT 

 
There are several elements to the ICT solution: 

 

• A Single Point of Contact for the RAA 

• Provision of Desktop / Equipment 

• A Matching and Tracking System 

• Website 

 

A Single Point of Contact for RAA 

 

The RAA will require a single point of contact which is supported by appropriate 
telephony, website and email arrangements.  This also includes a single point of 
storage for relevant RAA document such as procedures, policies etc, which are 
accessible across the Adopt Coast to Coast Area. 

  

Desktop / Equipment 

 

The basic desktop and equipment need of each employee are expected to be the 
responsibility of the employer of the staff member who will provide the ICT needed 
which will include: 

 

• Laptop or Desktop 

• Ability to print to any device in their Local Authority buildings 

• Mobile/Smart Phone 

Page 228



Full Business Case – Adopt Coast to Coast  
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 19 of 40 

• MS-Office 

• E-mail 

• Video conferencing etc 

 

Adoption Case Management System 
 

Each of the spokes will continue to use their existing Children’s Social Care system 

to record all Adoption activity.  

 

There is a need to develop a system to support the Tracking, Matching and Family 

Finding.  

 

Inherent in the above is the need to be clarify flows of data between the Hub and the 

Spokes, as well as clarity in relation to the recording of relevant data items between 

systems. 

 

Website 
 
The RAA will have its own website with its own brand and will be a customer portal 
including information about adoption and enquiry forms where appropriate. 

 

6.5 Performance Management  

 
Performance Management Framework 
 

Adopt Coast to Coast must have a clear set of performance indicators which will help 

it to assess how well it is performing against its objectives. The indicators should give 

a balanced picture of performance that reflects all aspects of the service. Adopt Coast 

to Coast will use the Balanced Scorecard approach to make sure it has a rounded 

picture of performance.  

 

The scorecard covers four key aspects of performance: 

 

• Customers – this looks at the impact of the RAA in terms of the community, 

services users and customers. It involves looking at how well the RAA has met 

the needs of service users and the perception of the organisation from the 

viewpoint of the community / service user which will include outcome indicators 

like customer satisfaction, and other feedback from users such as review, 

compliments and complaints.  

 

• Business – this focuses on how well the processes which are critical to 

effective service delivery are working and will include all the Adoption Scorecard 

measures. This encourages managers to identify what the key business 

Page 229



Full Business Case – Adopt Coast to Coast  
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 20 of 40 

processes are, to look at performance in carrying out those processes and to 

establish targets for improving performance. 

 

• Resources – these indicators focus on how well the RAA’s resources are being 

used and might include finance, equipment or other physical assets. 

 

• People – indicators in this aspect focus on actions or initiatives intended to 

deliver service improvements, these might for example include employees 

training and development. 

 

There will be two types of performance measures: 

 

1. Primary Measures – Balanced Scorecard as reported to Governance Board (set 

out below) 

2. Secondary Measures – providing additional performance information to support 

wider business improvements 

 
 

RESOURCES (R) 
 
1. Interagency budget targets are 

achieved. 
2. Budget targets/savings achieved. 
3. Effective commissioning of 

services. 
4. Application to Adoption Support 

Fund (% of successful 
applications). 

5. Monitoring of numbers of 
externally provided workforce 
(agency staff). 

BUSINESS/PERFORMANCE (B) 
 

1. Adoption scorecard performance measures. 
2. Improved timeliness for children moving to 

adoption (measured at each stage in the 
process). 

3. Maintain the percentage of children who 
cease to be looked after by adoption.  

4. Improving the outcomes for siblings who 
need to live together, harder to place and 
older children. 

5. Ensure placement sufficiency for children 
who need an early permanence placement 
via Fostering for Adoption and 
Concurrency. 

6. Monitor the number of disruptions pre and 
post-order using learning to improve 
practice. 

7. Increase recruitment of prospective 
adopters from all sectors of the community.  

8. Ensure statutory timescales for 
assessments of adopters are met. 

9. Contribute to good Ofsted outcomes for 
Children’s Services in the three Local 
Authorities. 

10. Develop measures to demonstrate impact 
and effectiveness of Adoption Support. 

Page 230



Full Business Case – Adopt Coast to Coast  
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 21 of 40 

11. Case Audits (number of case audits, 
judgement on quality of case recording). 

 

EMPLOYEES (E) 
 
1. Employee satisfaction levels (via 

survey). 
2. Number of team 

development/whole service days – 
feedback. 

3. Sickness and capability levels. 
4. % employees who have an annual 

appraisal (e.g., leading to 
shadowing to meet service 
objectives). 

5. % of employees who have access 
to Supervision (monthly). 

6. Training – satisfaction – meets 
service needs and PDP needs. 

7. Timeliness of successful 
recruitment and appointment to 
first time advert. 

8. Staff turnover. 
9. Monitoring of numbers of 

externally provided workforce 
(agency staff). 

 

CUSTOMERS (C) 
 

1. Monitor number and nature of complaints. 
2. Ability to meet assessed need. 
3. Customer satisfaction measures: 

a. Adoptee 
b. Adopter 
c. Birth Parent 

4. Partner Local Authority Children’s Social Care 
satisfaction. 

 
[How: questionnaires, Panel Member feedback, 
mystery shopper, user groups, feedback from 
Children’s Social Work Teams, IRO’s]. 
 

 
 
 

OFSTED and Regulatory Framework 
 

Each Local Authority will continue to be inspected by Ofsted under the ILACS 

framework and will be evaluated on the effectiveness of the recruitment, assessment 

and training of prospective adopters.  As partners in Adopt Coast to Coast each Local 

Authority must demonstrate how the hub and spoke arrangement complies with their 

statutory responsibilities to meet the needs of their local children.  In respect of the 

hub functions the inspectors will look at each Local Authority’s arrangements to 

assure itself that the hub is meeting the needs of local children.  To support the 

inspection process the RAA will need to provide the necessary information for each 

Local Authority. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 231



Full Business Case – Adopt Coast to Coast  
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 22 of 40 

6.6 Information Governance 

 
Information governance protocols will ensure that outcomes are delivered with 

regards to: 

 

• Data Protection registration 

• Privacy Impact Assessment 

• Information Sharing Agreements 

• Records Management / Storage / retention 

• Information and Data ownership 

• Freedom of Information 

• Complaints / customer feedback / escalation policy / role of Adopt 

Coast to Coast Governance Board 

• Training and Awareness 

• Lone Working policy 

• IG policies and procedures 

 

And compliance with: 

 

• ISO27001 Information Security Management System standard,  

• PSN and PCIDSS requirements,  

• ISO9001 Quality Management System standard 

• Compliance with HSCN connection requirements 

• Adoption Agencies Regulations and National Minimum Standards 

 
 

6.7 Communications and Marketing 

 
Adopt Coast to Coast will have its own identity and its own brand and website.  

 

 
 

 

Page 232



Full Business Case – Adopt Coast to Coast  
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 23 of 40 

 

• Website and URL adoptc2c.org.uk 

 

 

A detailed communications and marketing plan will be developed to support the 

implementation and operation of the RAA. 

 

6.8 Governance Arrangements 

6.8.1 Partnership Model 

 
The Coast to Coast RAA will be established on the basis of a Partnership Model with 
a Hub and Spoke delivery. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

6.8.2 Adopt Coast to Coast Governance Board 

 
The purpose of the Board is to be responsible for the strategic oversight of Adopt 

Coast to Coast. It is proposed that the Governance Board meet at least every 3 

months. 

 

The main functions of the Board are to: 

 

 

• Ensure children with a plan of adoption and their adoptive families receive a 

 

Page 233



Full Business Case – Adopt Coast to Coast  
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 24 of 40 

good service from the RAA in partnership with the Local Authorities. 

• Develop strategy and set strategic direction for Adopt Coast to Coast. 

• Agree all policy decisions. 

• Recruitment, suspension, dismissal of the RAA Head of Service. 

• Ensure there is appropriate supervision, professional development and 

support provided to the RAA Head of Service. 

• Propose and recommend the budget and other resources to the three 

Authorities. 

• Recommend in year variations to the budget which are outside agreed limits, 

to the three Authorities. 

• Any proposed procurement which is not expressly approved in the budget will 

be referred by the Governance Board to the three authorities depending on 

value. 

• Agree the Commissioning Strategy. 

• Agree the performance targets. 

• Monitor performance and volumetric data. 

• Evaluate the effectiveness of the service in meeting strategic objectives. 

• Agree to changes in service delivery. 

• Agree any major staffing changes across the RAA. 

• Ensuring that RAA is supported with sufficient resources to carry out its 

functions. 

 

Governance Board Membership will be: 

• Directors of Children’s Social Care or their nominated officers 

• RAA Head of Service  

• Finance representative 

• Voluntary Adoption Agency representative 

• Staff representative 

 

The Board will be responsible for appointing the chair of Adopt Coast to Coast 

Governance Board. 

 

6.8.3 Local Authority Members 

 

Local Authority Members have a key role in ensuring that the RAA delivers good 

outcomes for Children and Young People. Their involvement and oversight will be as 

follows: 

 

• Lead Members will meet with the Governance Board quarterly to receive an 

update on progress and outcomes. 

Page 234



Full Business Case – Adopt Coast to Coast  
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 25 of 40 

• Lead Members will receive regular briefings from their Directors of Children’s 

Services. 

• Corporate Parenting Boards will receive updates on the progress and 

outcomes of the RAA. 

• Scrutiny panels will have oversight of the RAA as appropriate.  

 

 

6.8.4 Head of Service Adopt Coast to Coast 

 

The RAA Head of Service will be responsible to the Governance Board for the 

strategic development of the service. They will Chair Operational Leadership Meeting 

and manage the Senior Leadership Team. 

 

The RAA Head of Service will: 

 

• Manage the Adoption Service with the Adoption Manager in each of the three 

Local Authorities, within a matrix management arrangement with the Local 

Authority line managers.   

• Deliver service improvements and outcomes as agreed by the Governance 

Board. 

• Be responsible for the quality assurance and practice oversight across the 

RAA and over time ensure consistency of practice and common standards. 

• Manage the core expenditure from within the budgets set by the Local 

Authorities. 

• Submit quarterly performance reports and bi-annual adoption reports to the 

Governance Board. 

 

6.8.5 Operational Leadership Meeting (OLM) 

 

The RAA OLM will be responsible for considering local, regional and national drivers 

that may impact on the functions and responsibilities of the RAA.  This group will 

maintain an overview of each Local Authorities key requirements and changing 

landscape in respect of adoption matters to support a timely response from the RAA. 

 

The OLM will be chaired by the RAA Head of Service and will include, as a minimum, 

the three Local Authority strategic managers with responsibility for adoption, the 

Communications and Marketing Officer and a representative from the VAA Alliance.  

Invitations will be extended to leads in each of the three Local Authorities for IT, 

Performance, Recruitment and Marketing etc as necessary. 

 

It will: 

• Meet 6 weekly. 

Page 235



Full Business Case – Adopt Coast to Coast  
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 26 of 40 

• Consider sufficiency and volumetric data to ensure effective forward planning. 

• Highlight to the RAA Head of Service any challenges in embedding Early 

Permanence, highlighting Teams which require more support and guidance. 

For the benefit of the partners highlight any aspects of practice in Early 

Permanence which are working well. 

• Act as a ‘critical friend’ and provide feedback and challenge from other areas 

of their respective Local Authorities to promote service improvement. 

 

6.8.6 RAA Senior Leadership Team (SLT) 

 

The RAA SLT will be responsible for monitoring and delivering the operational 

aspects of Adopt Coast to Coast. It will be responsible for ensuring that strong and 

effective links are developed and maintained between the RAA and the Local 

Authorities.  

 

The SLT will be chaired by the RAA Head of Service and will include the three Local 

Authority Adoption Managers and the Communications and Marketing Officer.   

 

It will: 

 

• Meet monthly. 

• Consider sufficiency and volumetric data to ensure effective forward planning. 

• Be responsible, in partnership with the Local Authorities, for ensuring that 

Early Permanence is embedded across the partnership. 

• Will agree procedures and ways of working including those which impact on 

the Local Authority, consistent with the RAA agreed policies. 

• Will ensure quality of practice is consistently delivered across the RAA. 

 

 

 

7. Financial Implications 

7.1  Approach 

 

The finance model proposed for Adopt Coast to Coast is that the current Adoption 

Team’s budget shall remain in each respective Local Authority.  As such and in the 

best interests of the partnership each Local Authority will agree that there will be no 

material changes to the current structure without consultation with the other partners 

where this may impact on the future managerial or financial arrangements.  The hub 

costs will be the responsibility of the RAA Head of Service, and each Local Authority 

will contribute 1/3 of these.  

 

Page 236



Full Business Case – Adopt Coast to Coast  
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 27 of 40 

The Head of the RAA will oversee one staff member directly, matrix manage the 3 

Adoption Managers.   

 

The RAA Head of Service will have oversight of the Interagency Adoption 

Fees, Adoption Allowances, and Post Adoption Support Commissioned Services for 

each of the Local Authorities, to enable efficiencies to be achieved with accountability 

through the Governance Board. 

 

The table below summarises the current budgets associated with Adoption Team 

activity held within the three Local Authorities. 

 

 

Expenditure Type DCC TFC CCC HUB 
Annual 
Cost 

Staff £520,083 £488,683 £934,228 £140,709 £2,083,703 

Non Staff Costs £96,296 £156,512 £137,937 £5,000 £395,745 

Interagency Adoption 
Fees 

£1,531,000 £112,548 £100,000 
- 

 
£1,743,548 

Adoption Allowances £879,347 £483,266 £600,000 - £1,962,613 

Post Adoption 
Support 
Commissioned 
Services 

£45,640 £91,500 £63,000 

 
- 

£200,140 

 Total  £3,072,366 £1,332,509 £1,835,165 £145,709 £6,385,749 

 

 

7.2 Hub Costs 

 
The initial annual ‘Core’ budget associated with the RAA Head of Service and the 

Communications and Marketing Officer and support is estimated at c£146K which will 

be funded equally by all three participating Authorities as detailed in the Table below. 

 

Estimated Annual Core 
Budget   

RAA Head of Service  £   86,514  

Coms and Marketing 
Officer  £    40,995  

Misc.  £      3,000  

Mobile   £      1,200  

Mileage  £      2,000  

ICT  £      2,000  

Business support Cost 
(HUB)  £    10,000  

Total   £  145,709  

Page 237



Full Business Case – Adopt Coast to Coast  
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 28 of 40 

 

A budget will be established in the Hub authority with the Contributions from the two 

partner authorities recorded as income. Any over or underspends at the year-end will 

be distributed between the three partner authorities based on the proportion of the 

financial contribution. 

 

The budget will be monitored internally as part of the hub authority’s usual internal 

governance cycle with quarterly outturn reports being presented the RAA Governance 

Board for review. 

 

The RAA Head of Service will produce an annual financial report – summarising 

adoption activity across the RAA including a breakdown of direct placement costs and 

statistics relating to the timeliness of the adoption process.  

 
 

7.3  Interagency Fees 

 
It is proposed that Interagency Budgets remain within each of the participating Local 

Authorities. The placements recruited by each Local Authority and the associated 

VAA’s be pooled, with the best match for the child being the determining factor as to 

where the child is placed. 

 

Currently the income received from an outside organisation utilising a placement 

recruited by another organisation varies depending on the status of the recruiting body 

i.e. VAA or Local Authority. It has been agreed that all of the Local Authority partners 

in Adopt Coast to Coast will employ a single pricing structure. 

 

The proposed approach for dealing with Interagency Fees assumes each member of 

the partnership receives the benefit of a successful placement of a child with a 

prospective adopter they recruited, whether the child originates from the particular 

partner or from another partner within the RAA.  

 

The recommended approach for dealing with Interagency Fees is based on the 

following agreed principles - no Local Authority is worse off as a result of how the RAA 

manages interagency fees, and our priority is always to place firstly through the RAA 

Partnership. 

 

 

Cash Flow 

 

In order to ensure none of the participating members of the RAA are negatively 

affected by Cash Flow issues - it is recommended that a quarterly reconciliation is 

Page 238



Full Business Case – Adopt Coast to Coast  
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 29 of 40 

undertaken to assess the activity in the year to date with the reporting of the current 

cost / income implications for each of the RAA partners. 

 

At this point activity to date could be followed by all charges and payments between 

the partners being undertaken, or potentially just midyear payments to partner VAA’s 

with an annual exercise undertaken by the participating Local Authorities to reflect the 

financial impact of the whole year. 

 

It is proposed that the support services be provided by the hub and cost be equally 

shared with all three participating Authorities. Initial indicative support services costs 

are estimated at £18K as detailed in the table above. 

 

7.4  Set Up Costs 

 

Adopt Coast to Coast will have some one-off set up costs. These are yet to be fully 

quantified as some of these are dependent on decisions around working practices 

and any accommodation requirements. 

 

Set-up costs will be funded by the DfE grant held by Durham County Council until 

this is exhausted and only if this insufficient should any remaining costs be shared 

between the three Local Authorities. 

 

The most recent review of anticipated setup cost budgets indicates little likelihood of 

the budget overspending with the revised proposed hub and spoke delivery model 

requiring significantly less IT development than the previous hosted model. 

 

The project set up budget will continue to be monitored with returns continuing to the 

DFE on a quarterly basis and outturn forecasts to the RAA Governance Board. 

  

 

7.5 Commissioning Arrangements 

 

Each organisation currently has in place contracts for commissioned services 

associated with the delivery of their Adoption Services. 

 

It is proposed that these arrangements be recommissioned by each Local Authority 

for a further 12 months following the go live of Adopt Coast to Coast. 

 

The reason for the proposal is: 

• Provides stability to the current providers. 

• Provides stability to customers and service delivery. 

• Gives Adopt Coast to Coast time to determine which services it needs to 

Page 239



Full Business Case – Adopt Coast to Coast  
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 30 of 40 

commission in the future. 

 

 

8. Plan and Next Steps / Risk Assessment 

8.1 Overall Project Plan 

 

 
There are four stages to the project: 

 

The Key milestones for the project are: 

• Full Business Case approved by all three partners – November 2020 

• Shadow Go Live – 1st February 2021 

• Live – 1st April 2021 

 

The Implementation Project Initiation Document sets out the detailed work which is needed 

to meet the go live date of 1st April 2021. 

Vision (OBC)
Service Design 
(Full Business 

Case)

Implement 
new Service

Go Live & 
Maximise 
benefits

Outline Business 
Case

• Establish 
Governance

• Develop Vision 
and Objectives

• Stakeholder 
Engagements and 
Workshops

• Scope

• Major Decisions

• Baseline

Full Business Case

• Service Design

• Customer 
Interface

• ICT and Systems 
proposal

• Governance 
Model

• Overall business 
benefits / 
outcomes

• Financial Business 
Case

Implementation

• Legal

• Finance

• Performance 
Management

• Commissioning 
Arrangements 
(including VAA)

• ICT Systems

• Brand

• Website

• Information 
Governance

• Communications 
and Engagement

• Design - policies 
and procedures

Transition to RAA

• Set up ICT system 
/ test

• Staff training / 
Workforce 
development

• Team Building

• Organisational 
Development / 
Culture

• Establish the 
business

Page 240



Full Business Case – Adopt Coast to Coast  
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 31 of 40 

 

 

8.2 Project Governance Arrangements 

 

The existing project management and governance arrangements will remain in place 

throughout the project until the go live date.  

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

WorkstreamsProject LeadsSponsors

Governance Board

(Chair: John Pearce)

Project Board

(Chair: Paula Gibbons)

Practice and Performance

ICT

Information governance

Performance 
Management

Finance

HR

Legal

Commissioning

Communications and 
Engagement

Project  Officer

Page 241



Full Business Case – Adopt Coast to Coast  
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 32 of 40 

8.3 High Level Risk Register 

 

The following risks have been identified for the next phase of the project: 

 

Risk H/M/L Mitigation 

Staff are not engaged and on board with 
the development of Adopt Coast to Coast.  
 

M Staff have previously been 
involved in the development of 
the RAA.  Newly appointed RAA 
Head of Service will 
recommence engagement with 
staff from 1st September 2020. 

Costs of new service are too high and or 
unsustainable.   
 

H Detailed financial plans are 
developed for the Full Business 
Case.  

Sharing risk and gain - there is a risk that 
one or more partners might not commit 
due to Adopt Coast to Coast lack of 
assurance on cost / benefit. 
 

M Transparency and option 
dialogue about the potential risk 
and gains for each organisation. 

Fail to achieve buy-in from Adopters and 
Children. 

L Ensure there is the right level of 
engagement with Adopters and 
Children throughout the 
development of the service. 

Children's Care Planning Teams fail to 
come on board with the RAA objectives.                                                                           
 

M Need strong leadership from all 
the Children's care planning 
team leads and need to involve 
them in the design of the service. 
Newly appointed RAA Head of 
Service to lead on Team Building 
and OD events and service 
delivery. 
 

ICT system cannot be implemented in 
time, impacting on service delivery. 
 

M Work has already started on the 
specification of the ICT 
requirements and the hub and 
spoke model significantly 
reduces the critical nature of the 
go live date. 

Lack of involvement of Medical Advisors 
is a risk to good continuity of service once 
live. 
 

L The hub and spoke model 
significantly reduces the impact 
on the day to day practice of the 
Medical Advisors in relation to 
their adoption role.  The 
opportunity to share best 
practice across the 3 Local 
Authorities may be of positive 
benefit to their practice.    

Page 242



Full Business Case – Adopt Coast to Coast  
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 33 of 40 

Risk H/M/L Mitigation 

Communications and Marketing Officer 
post not filled 

L Job description to be reviewed 
and recruitment to commence in 
late September. 

Adopter recruitment and sufficiency 
becomes an issue for the RAA prior to 
going live. 

H Each Local Authority recognises 
the need to continue consistent 
recruitment activity until such 
time as the brand is launched 
and RAA recruitment activity 
commences. 
 

Information Governance issues may 
prevent effective working and sharing of 
data before and after going live. 

H IG group is already established 
and have commenced work on 
the Information Sharing 
Agreement. 
 

 

 

Page 243



Full Business Case – Adopt Coast to Coast  
 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 34 of 40 

Appendix 1 – Matrix Management Arrangements 
Area Ideas 

Strategic Direction / Oversight / 
Implementation 

RAA Head of Service accountable to Governance Board (GB). 

RAA Head of Service meets regularly with the Operational Leadership leads. 

RAA Head of Service develops ideas/solutions with Senior Leadership Team (SLT). 

RAA Head of Service shares ideas/solutions with Operational Leadership leads. 

RAA Head of Service presents ideas/solutions to GB. 

RAA Head of Service delivers agreed strategy on behalf of the GB. 

 

Line Management of RAA Head 
of Service 

1:1 and Professional 
Development 

Provided by the Head of Social Care for the employing organisation. 

Line Management of Adoption 
Managers 

Direct line management is provided by employing organisation – includes all employment 
issues. 

RAA line management (function) is provided by RAA Head of Service. 

Adoption Managers are part of RAA SLT.  

RAA Head of Service involved in recruitment to vacant posts. 

RAA Head of Service alongside LA line manager to undertake joint appraisals and joint 1:1 
meetings.  

 

Line Management of Hub Staff Provided by RAA Head of Service. 

P
age 244



Full Business Case – Adopt Coast to Coast  
 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 35 of 40 

Area Ideas 

Line Management of all other staff 
teams 

Provided by Adoption Managers in the Local Authority. 

RAA Head of Service is responsible for the overall Organisational Development / Team ethos 
of the organisation – shared with SLT for delivery. 

Workload / Pressures  RAA Head of Service sighted on workload and pressures in the spokes. 

Resources Any changes to resources – budget / staffing – will be the responsibility of the RAA Head of 
Service but managed through OLM and SLT. For example, vacancies will be discussed, and 
the approach agreed by OLM and SLT. 

Significant changes to resources will be agreed by GB. 

Quality Assurance and Practice RAA Head of Service will be responsible for Quality Assurance and practice oversight across 
the whole RAA. They will ensure consistency of practice and common standards. 

 

OLM will be a 6-weekly meeting with strategic managers responsible for Adoption and RAA 

Head of Service and this gives the opportunity to provide feedback and challenge from other 

areas of their respective Local Authorities as a ‘critical friend’ to promote service 

improvement. 

 

Adoption Managers are part of RAA SLT with shared responsibility for implementing agreed 
RAA practice in their teams. 

Budget The finance model proposed for Adopt Coast to Coast is that the current Adoption Service’s 
budget shall remain in each respective Local Authority.  As such and in the best interests of 
the partnership each Local Authority will agree that there will be no material changes to the 
current structure without consultation with the other partners where this may impact on the 
future managerial or financial arrangements.   P

age 245



Full Business Case – Adopt Coast to Coast  
 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 36 of 40 

Area Ideas 

The hub costs will be the responsibility of the RAA Head of Service, and each Local Authority 
will contribute 1/3 of these. 

Performance RAA Head of Service is responsible for ensuring that performance targets set by the GB are 
met. 

Collective responsibility through RAA SLT. 

ADM decisions All ADM decisions will be made by the ADM in the Local Authority: 

• Should be placed for adoption decisions 

• Prospective adopter approvals 

• Approvals of matches  

• Approval of prospective adopters as foster carers for a named child under FfA 
arrangements. 

Disputes  RAA Head of Service will have full leadership responsibility for the function of the RAA. 
However, the implementation of the service is the joint responsibility with the RAA SLT. 

Any unresolved issues will be dealt with by Governance Board. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 246



Full Business Case – Adopt Coast to Coast  
 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 37 of 40 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

P
age 247



Full Business Case – Adopt Coast to Coast  
 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 38 of 40 

Appendix 2 – High Level Function Map 

Appendix 2.1 – Adopter Journey

 

 

P
age 248



Full Business Case – Adopt Coast to Coast  
 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 39 of 40 

 

Appendix 2.2 – Child Journey 

  

P
age 249



Full Business Case – Adopt Coast to Coast  
 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 40 of 40 

 

Appendix 2.3 – RAA Management Function 

 

RAA Head of Service 
RAA Snr Leadership Team 

Operational Leadership 
Meeting 

Performance / Business 
Support 

RAA Head of Service 
Operational Leadership 

Meeting 
Performance / Business 

Support 

RAA Head of Service 
Performance / Business 

Support 

RAA Head of Service 
RAA Snr Leadership 

Team 
Operational Leadership 

Meeting 
Performance / Business 

Support 
 

P
age 250



             

       

Cabinet 

18 November 2020 

Overview and Scrutiny Review of GP 

Services in County Durham 

  

Report of John Hewitt Corporate Director of Resources  

Councillor John Robinson, Chair of Adults Wellbeing and Health 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

None 

Purpose of the Report 

1 The purpose of this report is to present for comment the Adults 
Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s review report 
focusing on GP Services in County Durham.  A copy of the report is 
attached at appendix 2.   

Executive Summary  

2 During 2018/19 the Adults Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee was engaged in a number of applications to review, merge 
or close General Practitioner (GP) branch services across County 
Durham. As part of these consultations, members received 
representations from patients, GP practice staff and councillors 
regarding the potential cumulative impact of these proposed changes 
and decided to undertake a review of the provision of and access to GP 
services across County Durham. 

3 Overall, whilst health and wellbeing has improved significantly in County 
Durham it remains worse than the England average. County Durham 
has an ageing population with higher than average numbers of people 
living with long term conditions many with complex health needs. 
Access to effective, high quality primary care to help achieve improved 
health outcomes and reduced health inequalities is essential. An 
increasing population coupled with high deprivation levels in some parts 
of County Durham means that demand for General Practice (GP) 
services is likely to increase and in order to meet this anticipated 
demand we need to insure that the County has adequate numbers of 
GPs and other healthcare professionals and that practices have 

Page 251

Agenda Item 12



effective appointment systems and a wide ranging skills mix within their 
practice teams. 

4 The review examined the extent of GP coverage across County Durham 
including practice numbers, staffing structures and skills mixes, GP 
appointment capacity and demand including non-attendance rates. The 
effectiveness of GP service provision as reflected in inspection ratings 
was considered, as well as patient satisfaction with GP services.  
Colleagues from the clinical commissioning groups explained existing 
and future workforce and demographic pressures which may impact 
upon access to GP services as well as setting out plans to address 
workforce pressures including the recruitment and retention of GPs and 
other health professionals.  The role of public health, health promotion 
and ill health prevention together with planning policies and transport 
initiatives in ensuring that GP services are sustainable and accessible 
was also assessed. 

5 The Review makes a series of recommendations which aim to improve 
the sustainability and accessibility of GP services across County 
Durham. 

6 Since the review was undertaken we have been impacted by the 
greatest medical emergency in our generation and the COVID-19 
pandemic has resulted in major changes to the way in which general 
practice services are delivered. A number of these changes support 
recommendations arising from this review including the increased use of 
technology to facilitate remote consultations and appointments. This 
experience will hopefully provide reassurance to patients that alongside 
face to face services, an increase in the use of such technology can be 
an effective, efficient and safe way of accessing GP services. 

7 The review identifies nine recommendations for the Council ,CCG, 
NEAS and CQC to consider and address through partnership working. 
In addition it is recommended that a review of progress with the report is 
undertaken six months after consideration by Cabinet and the Health 
and Wellbeing Board. 

Recommendation(s) 

 

8 Cabinet is recommended to: 

a) Endorse the recommendations contained within the review report 
and agree to work in partnership through the Health and Wellbeing 
Board to deliver the identified improvements: 

i. Recommendation One 

Page 252



The development of Primary Care Networks and the 
additional workforce investment planned are supported. 
Revised medical indemnity arrangements to promote cross 
GP practice peer support should be promoted where 
workforce pressures are impacting upon the availability of 
GP appointments. 

ii. Recommendation Two  

New practice staff roles being introduced as part of the NHS 
Long Term Plan are built into the local care navigation to 
ensure the appropriateness of future patient appointments 
as part of any Primary Care Strategy. 

iii. Recommendation Three  

An extensive communications programme identifying the 
purpose of Care Navigation and its benefits should be 
implemented by the CCG and promoted across all GP 
practices within the County. 

iv. Recommendation Four 

The use of digital technology to access primary care 
services as an alternative to face to face 
consultations/appointments with GPs should be promoted as 
a way of facilitating more accessible and timely GP advice 
and support. 

v. Recommendation Five 

As part of its inspection regime, the CQC should utilise 
information from local Healthwatch reports and reports from 
local authority health overview and scrutiny committees 
when gathering evidence to assess the effectiveness of GP 
services provision. 

vi. Recommendation Six 

Use of section 106 agreements to contribute to the 
development of enhanced health care services where 
development is taking place is supported in line with the 
emerging County Durham Plan. 

 

vii. Recommendation Seven 

Page 253



An integrated transport solution is developed to address the 
challenges faced by patients in accessing appointments to 
include specific and widely publicised patient information 
relating to the travel support available. 

viii. Recommendation Eight 

The CCG’s workforce development initiatives detailed within 
this report are supported and further development and use of 
the practice vulnerability toolkit to support vulnerable 
practices through peer support across and within Primary 
Care Networks is recommended. 

ix. Recommendation Nine 

The CCG and North East Ambulance Service NHS 
Foundation Trust develop an effective communications and 
marketing campaign to raise awareness and promote the 
availability of GP appointments via the NHS 111 Service. 

b) That a review of the progress made against the recommendations 
contained within the report will be undertaken six months after the 
report is considered by Cabinet. 

 

 

Page 254



Background 

6 During the course of 2018/19 the Adults Wellbeing and Health Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee was engaged in a number of applications to 
review, merge or close General Practitioner (GP) branch services across 
County Durham. As part of these consultations, members received 
representations from patients, GP practice staff and councillors regarding 
the potential cumulative impact of these proposed changes and decided 
to undertake a review of the provision of and access to GP services 
across County Durham 

7 Primary care is often described as the ‘front door of the NHS’ and 
provides patients with community-based access to medical services for 
advice, prescriptions, treatment or referral, usually through a General 
Practitioner (GP) or nurse. It is estimated that around 90% of interactions 
in the NHS takes place in primary care. 

8 The NHS Long Term plan published in 2019 sets out a shift from care in 
hospital settings to more community and primary care provision. 
Pressures within the healthcare system in terms of funding, staffing, 
increasing inequalities and an increasing and ageing population are 
highlighted, which coupled with the shift in provision have a big impact on 
GP service demand. 

9 County Durham Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) are clinically-led 
organisations made up of their respective GP practices. They have 
previously developed local primary care strategies which aim to ensure 
the sustainability of general practice in light of the challenges, building on 
existing strengths and ensuring safe, effective and high-quality care. The 
merger of North Durham CCG and DDES CCG to form a single CCG for 
County Durham will require a new countywide primary care strategy to be 
developed.  

10 At the time of the review there were 67 GP practices across County 
Durham - 30 in North Durham CCG and 37 in Durham Dales, Easington 
and Sedgefield CCG each having a wide range of clinical staff and skills,  
with on average 27 staff per practice. 

11 Pressures identified across primary care include an aging population with 
multiple long-term conditions and complex health needs; workforce 
pressures such as GP recruitment, retention and retirements; an 
overdependence on face to face appointments and the lack of innovation 
in alternative methods of consultation and take up of such options. 

12 As part of the delivery of the NHS Long term plan, the development of 
Primary Care Networks (PCNs) provides the opportunity for service 
reform and supports the aspiration of fully integrated community-based 
healthcare. There are 7 new national service standards which have been 
developed for PCNs to deliver, and County Durham CCGs have 

Page 255



committed investment to support delivery of these reforms. These 
standards relate to medications review; improved health in care homes; 
high needs patients’ care; personalised care; early cancer diagnosis, 
cardio-vascular disease prevention and diagnosis and tackling 
neighbourhood inequalities. 

13 Additional workforce investment identified for PCNs includes clinical 
pharmacists, social prescribing link workers, physician associates, first 
contact physiotherapists and first contact community paramedics. An 
additional role reimbursement scheme has been established to provide 
70% of the total cost of these additional posts. Changes to medical 
indemnity arrangements arising from PCN development means that staff 
are free to work across GP practices within a PCN and support practices 
who may be struggling.  

14 The working group supports the work proposed in respect of the 
development of Primary Care Networks, investments planned, and 
recommends adoption of arrangements to work across practices to 
address any local shortfalls in access to GP services and balance 
demand. 

15 It is further recommended that the new staff roles introduced as a result 
of workforce investment are built into the local care navigation system to 
ensure that patients get the most appropriate support for their needs. 

16 The review considered a wide range of user feedback, including evidence 
from three Healthwatch survey reports and CCG patient surveys. Most 
patients experience when seeing their GP in County Durham is positive, 
with 76% of North Durham CCG patients and 75% of DDES patients who 
completed the 2018 GP Patient survey saying that it was easy to get 
through to someone at their practice, compared to 70% nationally. 

17 Patients welcome the ability to speak confidentially when visiting their GP 
and some expressed issues with the physical environment of GP 
reception areas to be able to do this. A well-managed GP reception area 
with clear access to posters, information and display screens reflected in 
positive patients’ experience. 

18 The lack of availability of same day/urgent appointments was highlighted 
as a concern by patients contacting their GP. The biggest concern 
identified by Healthwatch was the ability to get through to practices by 
telephone and successfully make an appointment.  

19 Many patients when surveyed were also unaware of the care navigation 
initiative. Whilst Care Navigation has been introduced across County 
Durham GP practices, the Healthwatch County Durham  review of this 
identified issues around the communication of the rationale for and 
benefits of care navigation to patients. It is recommended that the CCG 

Page 256



address the issues identified in the Healthwatch review of care navigation 
including communication of the process. 

20 A further area identified via the CCG survey was that fewer than 20% of 
patients used online services within their GP practice to book 
appointments, order prescriptions and access medical records with over 
50% of patients being unaware of the availability of these services. The 
working group recommend that promotion of digital technology is built 
into the new Primary Care Strategy. 

21 Consistently higher levels of satisfaction were reported across County 
Durham than the national average in terms of how good healthcare 
professionals are in giving patients sufficient time in appointments, 
listening to patients, treating patients with care and involving patients in 
decision making. 

22 Turning to external regulator and partner views on County Durham GP 
services. General practice is regulated by the Care Quality Commission 
(CQC), who rate 94% of GP practices in County Durham as either 
outstanding or good. 

23 A new CQC inspection regime is being introduced, which will focus more 
strongly on those services judged to be “requires improvement” or 
“inadequate”. As part of its inspection regime, it is recommended that the 
CQC should consider utilising information from local Healthwatch reports 
and reports from local authority health overview and scrutiny committees 
when assessing the effectiveness of GP services provision. 

24 Public Health is a key partner who work with the CCG, GP Services and 
other partners  to improve health and prevent ill-health. They also work in 
conjunction with the CCG, NHS Property and County Council planning 
team to ensure that capacity within the healthcare system and population 
growth are considered when new housing developments are being 
examined and built in as part of the emerging County Durham Plan. As 
part of local planning authority approval for new developments, 
developers are expected to contribute to new community facilities (so-
called Section 106 funding). The use of Section 106 resources has 
contributed to improvements to GP facilities in some areas in County 
Durham and should continue to be supported in line with new 
infrastructure policy proposals in the emerging County Durham Plan. 

25 As well as the availability of GP appointments, concerns exist regarding 
the ability of patients to access GP services particularly in the more rural 
areas of County Durham. There are a range of transport solutions 
available for patients to access GP services which, whilst not directly 
commissioned by the Council, are available via the Council’s Travel 
Response Centre. 

Page 257



26 These services do have restrictions/criteria placed upon their availability 
and use and it is recommended that a more joined up approach between 
the offer of healthcare appointments for both hospital and GP services 
and any patient transport requirements should be adopted to ensure 
access is equitable across the County. This may help in part to address 
the do not attend (DNA) rates for missed appointments across County 
Durham, which from October 2017 to November 2018 were 3.9% 
equating to 129,000 missed appointments. 

27 County Durham CCG has identified a range of initiatives as part of a five-
point plan to provide additional support to General Practice. These 
include a GP Career start initiative; a Federated Salaried GP scheme; 
international recruitment; a GP Resilience scheme and a GP Retention 
Scheme. 

28 A practice vulnerability tool has also been developed by CCGs and the 
Local Medical Committee utilising information from NHS England, Health 
Education England and individual GP practices to enable early 
identification of vulnerable practices and the availability of support to 
them. 

29 In view of the challenges facing General Practice across County Durham 
and nationally and having experienced first-hand the problems facing 
vulnerable practices, the review group recommends the further 
development of the sustainability toolkit and supports its use. 

30 The final area considered by the review was the way in which the NHS 
111 service is used to book in hours GP practice appointments across 
the CCG. At the time of the review there were fewer than one third of 
available booking slots utilised via NHS 111 across the CCG area. In 
view of this the working group agreed that it was essential that CCGs and 
GP services publicised and communicated the role of NHS 111 in 
signposting patients to the most appropriate health service together with 
the ability to access GP appointments through this system should this be 
clinically required. 

Service Response 

31 NHS County Durham Clinical Commissioning Group have provided an 
initial response to the review report and recommendations. 

32 The CCG acknowledges the report and the immense work undertaken by 
the members of the review group.   Recommendations within the report 
have been incorporated into the revised CCG Primary Care Strategy 
which will be presented to the January AHWOSC meeting. 

33 The CCG continue to work on Care Navigation, which includes 
introducing new templates and revising existing ones to ensure new staff 
roles and services are part of the process. 

Page 258



34 Following the outcome of the County Durham HealthWatch survey the 
CCG, in conjunction with HealthWatch, produced an action plan.  This 
action plan addressed areas of note contained within the survey.   
Refresher training continues to be provided on a regular basis for both 
new staff and current reception staff. 

35 Digital technology is a priority for the CCG and its use was accelerated 
due to the COVID Pandemic for example, ‘Triage First’ was introduced 
which moved primary care from a model of almost entirely face-to-face 
consultations to almost all consultations taking place by telephone/video 
call, together with greater use of e-consult.  It must be emphasised that 
patients are still accessing face to face consultation where clinically 
necessary. 

36 A range of campaigns have been undertaken to promote the use of NHS 
111, most recently the “Think GP First” campaign.  This was promoted 
through a range of mechanisms including the County Durham News. 

Conclusion 

37 This report provides an overview of activity undertaken, findings and 
recommendations contained in the review group report at Appendix 2. 

Background papers 

• None 

Contact:  Stephen Gwillym                                            Tel: 03000 268140 

Page 259

tel:03000


Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

None 

Finance 

None  

Consultation 

Key consultations have been used as evidence as part of the review as 

detailed throughout the report and underpins the report and 

recommendations.   

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

An Equality Impact Assessment initial screening has been undertaken in 

producing this report and recommendations 

Human Rights 

None 

Climate Change 

None 

Crime and Disorder 

None. 

Staffing 

None 

Accommodation 

None  

Risk 

None. 

Procurement  

None 

 

Page 260



1 

 

 

 
 
 
 

Adults Wellbeing and Health Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee 
 
Review Group Report  
 
GP Services in County Durham 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

September 2020 

 

Page 261



2 

 

       

 

Scrutiny@Durham.gov.uk 
03000 268140 

 

Page 262

mailto:Scrutiny@Durham.gov.uk


3 

 

Table of Contents  
 

Contents 
Chair’s Foreword ........................................................................................... 4 

Executive Summary ....................................................................................... 6 

Recommendations ............................................................................................ 10 

MAIN REPORT ............................................................................................ 12 

Background ....................................................................................................... 12 

National and Local Strategic Context ................................................................ 12 

General Practice in County Durham .................................................................. 14 

Investment in General Practice Primary Care Services .................................... 17 

Patient access and experience of GP services across County Durham ............ 20 

Care Quality Commission – Primary Care Regulation and Inspection and results 
within County Durham ....................................................................................... 26 

Issues Identified by County Durham and Darlington local medical committee .. 29 

Demand for GP services in County Durham  - public health and planning policy 
considerations ................................................................................................... 31 

Transport access GP services in County Durham............................................. 34 

CCG led initiatives to address workforce pressures within General Practice .... 38 

The role of NHS 111 in accessing Healthcare Appointments ............................ 41 

Impact of COVID-19 on healthcare services and general practice .................... 43 

 

 
 
           
   
   
   

   
   
   

 
 
 

 

  

Page 263



4 

 

Chair’s Foreword 
 
 

Overall, whilst health and wellbeing has improved 
significantly in County Durham it remains worse than the 
England average. County Durham has an ageing population 
with higher than average numbers of people living with long 
term conditions many with complex health needs. Access to 
effective, high quality primary care to help achieve improved 
health outcomes and reduced health inequalities is essential. 
An increasing population coupled with high deprivation levels 

in some parts of County Durham means that demand for General Practice 
(GP) services is likely to increase and in order to meet this anticipated 
demand we need to insure that the County has adequate numbers of GPs and 
other healthcare professionals and that practices have effective appointment 
systems and a wide ranging skills mix within their practice teams. 
 
The review group examined the extent of GP coverage across County 
Durham including practice numbers, staffing structures and skills mixes, GP 
appointment capacity and demand including non-attendance rates. The 
effectiveness of GP service provision as reflected in inspection ratings was 
considered, as well as patient satisfaction with GP services.  Colleagues from 
the clinical commissioning groups explained existing and future workforce and 
demographic pressures which may impact upon access to GP services as well 
as setting out plans to address workforce pressures including the recruitment 
and retention of GPs and other health professionals.  The role of public health, 
health promotion and ill health prevention together with planning policies and 
transport initiatives in ensuring that GP services are sustainable and 
accessible was also assessed. 
 
The review group has made a series of recommendations which aim to 
improve the sustainability and accessibility of GP services across County 
Durham. 
 
Since the review was undertaken we have been impacted by the greatest 
medical emergency in our generation and the COVID-19 pandemic has 
resulted in major changes to the way in which general practice services are 
delivered. A number of these changes support recommendations arising from 
this review including the increased use of technology to facilitate remote 
consultations and appointments. This experience will hopefully provide 
reassurance to patients that alongside face to face services, an increase in 
the use of such technology can be an effective, efficient and safe way of 
accessing GP services. 
 
I would like to thank all those who took part in the review for their time and 
support especially representatives from the County Durham Clinical 

Page 264



5 

 

Commissioning Groups, North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation 
Trust, the Care Quality Commission, County Durham and Darlington local 
medical committee and officers from the County Council’s public health, 
planning policy and integrated transport teams.    
        
 
Councillor John Robinson 
Chairman 
Adults Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Page 265



6 

 

Executive Summary  
 

 
1 During the course of 2018/19 the Adults Wellbeing and Health Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee was engaged in a number of applications to 
review, merge or close General Practitioner (GP) branch services across 
County Durham. As part of these consultations, members received 
representations from patients, GP practice staff and councillors regarding 
the potential cumulative impact of these proposed changes and decided to 
undertake a review of the provision of and access to GP services across 
County Durham 

2 Primary care is often described as the ‘front door of the NHS’ and provides 
patients with community-based access to medical services for advice, 
prescriptions, treatment or referral, usually through a General Practitioner 
(GP) or nurse. It is estimated that around 90% of interactions in the NHS 
takes place in primary care. 

3 The NHS Long Term plan published in 2019 sets out a shift from care in 
hospital settings to more community and primary care provision. Pressures 
within the healthcare system in terms of funding, staffing, increasing 
inequalities and an increasing and ageing population are highlighted, which 
coupled with the shift in provision have a big impact on GP service 
demand. 

4 County Durham Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) are clinically-led 
organisations made up of their respective GP practices. They have 
previously developed local primary care strategies which aim to ensure the 
sustainability of general practice in light of the challenges, building on 
existing strengths and ensuring safe, effective and high-quality care. The 
merger of North Durham CCG and DDES CCG to form a single CCG for 
County Durham will require a new countywide primary care strategy to be 
developed.  
  

5 At the time of the review there were 67 GP practices across County 
Durham - 30 in North Durham CCG and 37 in Durham Dales, Easington 
and Sedgefield CCG each having a wide range of clinical staff and skills,  
with on average 27 staff per practice. 

 
6 Pressures identified across primary care include an aging population with 

multiple long-term conditions and complex health needs; workforce 
pressures such as GP recruitment, retention and retirements; an 
overdependence on face to face appointments and the lack of innovation in 
alternative methods of consultation and take up of such options. 

 

Page 266



7 

 

7 As part of the delivery of the NHS Long term plan, the development of 
Primary Care Networks (PCNs) provides the opportunity for service reform 
and supports the aspiration of fully integrated community-based 
healthcare. There are 7 new national service standards which have been 
developed for PCNs to deliver, and County Durham CCGs have committed 
investment to support delivery of these reforms. These standards relate to 
medications review; improved health in care homes; high needs patients’ 
care; personalised care; early cancer diagnosis, cardio-vascular disease 
prevention and diagnosis and tackling neighbourhood inequalities. 
  

8 Additional workforce investment identified for PCNs includes clinical 
pharmacists, social prescribing link workers, physician associates, first 
contact physiotherapists and first contact community paramedics. An 
additional role reimbursement scheme has been established to provide 
70% of the total cost of these additional posts. Changes to medical 
indemnity arrangements arising from PCN development means that staff 
are free to work across GP practices within a PCN and support practices 
who may be struggling.  

 
9 The working group supports the work proposed in respect of the 

development of Primary Care Networks, investments planned, and 
recommends adoption of arrangements to work across practices to 
address any local shortfalls in access to GP services and balance demand.  

 
10 It is further recommended that the new staff roles introduced as a result of 

workforce investment are built into the local care navigation system to 
ensure that patients get the most appropriate support for their needs. 
 

11 The review considered a wide range of user feedback, including evidence 
from three Healthwatch survey reports and CCG patient surveys. Most 
patients experience when seeing their GP in County Durham is positive, 
with 76% of North Durham CCG patients and 75% of DDES patients who 
completed the 2018 GP Patient survey saying that it was easy to get 
through to someone at their practice, compared to 70% nationally.  

 
12 Patients welcome the ability to speak confidentially when visiting their GP 

and some expressed issues with the physical environment of GP reception 
areas to be able to do this. A well-managed GP reception area with clear 
access to posters, information and display screens reflected in positive 
patients’ experience. 

 
13 The lack of availability of same day/urgent appointments was highlighted 

as a concern by patients contacting their GP. The biggest concern 
identified by Healthwatch was the ability to get through to practices by 
telephone and successfully make an appointment.  
 

Page 267



8 

 

14 Many patients when surveyed were also unaware of the care navigation 
initiative. Whilst Care Navigation has been introduced across County 
Durham GP practices, the Healthwatch County Durham  review of this 
identified issues around the communication of the rationale for and benefits 
of care navigation to patients. It is recommended that the CCG address the 
issues identified in the Healthwatch review of care navigation including 
communication of the process. 

 
15 A further area identified via the CCG survey was that fewer than 20% of 

patients used online services within their GP practice to book 
appointments, order prescriptions and access medical records with over 
50% of patients being unaware of the availability of these services. The 
working group recommend that promotion of digital technology is built into 
the new Primary Care Strategy. 

 
16 Consistently higher levels of satisfaction were reported across County 

Durham than the national average in terms of how good healthcare 
professionals are in giving patients sufficient time in appointments, listening 
to patients, treating patients with care and involving patients in decision 
making.  

  
17 Turning to external regulator and partner views on County Durham GP 

services. General practice is regulated by the Care Quality Commission 
(CQC), who rate 94% of GP practices in County Durham as either 
outstanding or good. 

 

18 A new CQC inspection regime is being introduced, which will focus more 
strongly on those services judged to be “requires improvement” or 
“inadequate”. As part of its inspection regime, it is recommended that the 
CQC should consider utilising information from local Healthwatch reports 
and reports from local authority health overview and scrutiny committees 
when assessing the effectiveness of GP services provision. 

 

19 Public Health is a key partner who work with the CCG, GP Services and 
other partners  to improve health and prevent ill-health. They also work in 
conjunction with the CCG, NHS Property and County Council planning 
team to ensure that capacity within the healthcare system and population 
growth are considered when new housing developments are being 
examined, and built in as part of the emerging County Durham Plan. As 
part of local planning authority approval for new developments, developers 
are expected to contribute to new community facilities (so-called Section 
106 funding). The use of Section 106 resources has contributed to 
improvements to GP facilities in some areas in County Durham and should 
continue to be supported in line with new infrastructure policy proposals in 
the emerging County Durham Plan. 

 

Page 268



9 

 

20  As well as the availability of GP appointments, concerns exist regarding 
the ability of patients to access GP services particularly in the more rural 
areas of County Durham. There are a range of transport solutions available 
for patients to access GP services which, whilst not directly commissioned 
by the Council, are available via the Council’s Travel Response Centre. 

 
21 These services do have restrictions/criteria placed upon their availability 

and use and it is recommended that a more joined up approach between 
the offer of healthcare appointments for both hospital and GP services and 
any patient transport requirements should be adopted to ensure access is 
equitable across the County. This may help in part to address the do not 
attend (DNA) rates for missed appointments across County Durham, which 
from October 2017 to November 2018 were 3.9% equating to 129,000 
missed appointments. 

 
22 County Durham CCG has identified a range of initiatives as part of a five-

point plan to provide additional support to General Practice. These include 
a GP Career start initiative; a Federated Salaried GP scheme; international 
recruitment, a GP Resilience scheme and a GP Retention Scheme. 

 
23 A practice vulnerability tool has also been developed by CCGs and the 

Local Medical Committee utilising information from NHS England, Health 
Education England and individual GP practices to enable early 
identification of vulnerable practices and the availability of support to them. 
 

24 In view of the challenges facing General Practice across County Durham 
and nationally and having experienced first-hand the problems facing 
vulnerable practices, the review group recommends the further 
development of the sustainability toolkit and supports its use. 

 
25 The final area considered by the review was the way in which the NHS 111 

service is used to book in hours GP practice appointments across the 
CCG. At the time of the review there were fewer than one third of available 
booking slots utilised via NHS 111 across the CCG area. In view of this the 
working group agreed that it was essential that CCGs and GP services 
publicised and communicated the role of NHS 111 in signposting patients 
to the most appropriate health service together with the ability to access 
GP appointments through this system should this be clinically required. 

  

Page 269



10 

 

 
 

Recommendations 
 

Recommendation 1  

26 The development of Primary Care Networks and the additional workforce 
investment planned are supported. Revised medical indemnity 
arrangements to promote cross GP practice peer support should be 
promoted where workforce pressures are impacting upon the availability of 
GP appointments. 

Recommendation 2  

27 New practice staff roles being introduced as part of the NHS Long Term 
Plan are built into the local care navigation to ensure the appropriateness 
of future patient appointments as part of any Primary Care Strategy. 

Recommendation 3  

28 An extensive communications programme identifying the purpose of Care 
Navigation and its benefits should be implemented by the CCG and 
promoted across all GP practices within the County. 

Recommendation 4 

29 The use of digital technology to access primary care services as an 
alternative to face to face consultations/appointments with GPs should be 
promoted as a way of facilitating more accessible and timely GP advice 
and support. 

Recommendation 5 

30 As part of its inspection regime, the CQC should utilise information from 
local Healthwatch reports and reports from local authority health overview 
and scrutiny committees when gathering evidence to assess the 
effectiveness of GP services provision. 

Recommendation 6  

31 Use of section 106 agreements to contribute to the development of 
enhanced health care services where development is taking place is 
supported in line with the emerging County Durham Plan. 

Recommendation 7 

32 An integrated transport solution is developed to address the challenges 
faced by patients in accessing appointments to include specific and widely 
publicised patient information relating to the travel support available.  

Page 270



11 

 

Recommendation 8 

33 The CCG’s workforce development initiatives detailed within this report are 
supported and further development and use of the practice vulnerability 
toolkit to support vulnerable practices through peer support across and 
within Primary Care Networks is recommended.  

Recommendation 9 

34 The CCG and North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust 
develop an effective communications and marketing campaign to raise 
awareness and promote the availability of GP appointments via the NHS 
111 Service. 

Page 271



12 

 

MAIN REPORT 
 
Background 
 
35 During 2018/19, the Adults Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee engaged in several consultation and engagement processes 
undertaken by GP practices which included reductions in practice branch 
sites, reductions in pharmacy/dispensing provision and branch closures. 
During these processes, the Committee have become increasingly 
concerned at the issues involving GP recruitment, retention, retirement and 
other workforce related pressures that are impacting on the level of service 
provision available to residents within County Durham. 

36 There are concerns, nationally, regionally and locally about the falling 
number of GPs, the availability of GP appointments, the number of GP 
practices that are accepting new patients, the range of services available 
from GP practices, and the reduction in the number of GP branch sites. 

37 The review sought to ascertain the extent of GP coverage across County 
Durham and identify the range of services offered by GP practices and the 
issues and barriers facing patients in accessing their GP. 

National and Local Strategic Context 
Key Findings 

 
• Primary Care is considered to be the “front door” of the 

National Health Service (NHS) with an estimated 90% of 
interactions within the NHS taking place in Primary Care; 

 

• The NHS Long Term plan published in 2019 sees plans for a 
shift from care in hospital settings to more community and 
primary care provision; 
 

• Pressures within the Healthcare system in terms of funding, 
staffing, increasing inequalities and an increasing and ageing 
population are acknowledged within the Plan. 
 

• County Durham CCGs have previously developed their own 
primary care strategies and the merger of North Durham CCG 
and DDES CCG to form a single CCG for County Durham will 
require a new Countywide Primary Care strategy to be 
developed  

Page 272



13 

 

38 Primary care is often described as the ‘front door of the NHS’ and provides 
patients with community-based access to medical services for advice, 
prescriptions, treatment or referral, usually through a General Practitioner 
(GP) or nurse. General practice is the first point of contact with the NHS for 
most people. Other primary care providers include dentists, community 
pharmacists and optometrists. It is estimated that around 90% of 
interactions in the NHS takes place in primary care. 

39 General practice, both nationally and locally, is under pressure due to 
rising demand for GP appointments particularly as a result of growing 
complexity of patient health conditions and their expectations from the 
health service. All this is set against constraints associated with the 
availability of financial and staffing resources. 

NHS Five Year Forward View 2014 

40 The NHS Five Year Forward View, published in October 2014, set out the 
direction of future healthcare, and put forward a number of new innovative 
models of care which encourage integration and a patient centred 
approach to delivery of care across a geographic population. The report 
recognises the vital role which primary care plays at the heart of the NHS, 
and outlines the need for improvement and innovation, including an 
ambition to improve access and deliver more personalised, proactive and 
co-ordinated care. 
 
General Practice Forward View 2016 

41 The General Practice Forward View published in April 2016 set out NHS 
England's approach to strengthening general practice and service 
transformation. It set out plans to enable CCGs to commission and fund 
additional capacity across England to ensure that, by 2020 everyone has 
improved access to GP services including sufficient routine appointments 
at evenings and weekends to meet locally determined demand, alongside 
effective access to out of hours and urgent care services. The report also 
details 10 high impact changes to help release time for care. (Appendix 1) 

NHS Long Term Plan 2019 

42 The NHS Long Term Plan emphasises a shift of focus away from hospitals 
and towards community and primary care; reshaping ‘the NHS around the 
changing needs of patients’. The Long Term Plan also acknowledges 
challenges around funding, staffing, increasing inequalities and pressures 
from a growing and ageing population. The plan sets out how the NHS will 
move to a new service model in which patients get more options, better 
support and properly joined up care at the right time in the optimal setting. 

Local Strategic Delivery in County Durham 

Page 273



14 

 

43 North Durham CCG and Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG 
have each developed a General Practice Primary Care strategy which aims 
to ensure the sustainability of general practice in light of the challenges, 
building on existing strengths and ensuring safe, effective and high-quality 
care. 

44 Common areas across both CCGs include improving access to general 
practice; workforce sustainability; workload/resilience; and care redesign 
linked to the integration agenda and digital infrastructure. 

45 At the end of evidence gathering, the Adults Wellbeing and Health OSC 
received details of an application to merge the two CCGs into one 
organisation to cover the whole of County Durham. This would take effect 
from 1 April 2020 and the new organisation planned to develop a single 
primary care strategy for County Durham. 

46 The key findings and recommendations within this report should be used 
as evidence to support the development of a countywide Primary Care 
Strategy by the NHS County Durham Clinical Commissioning Group. 

General Practice in County Durham 
Key Findings 

 

47 At the time of this review there were 67 GP practices within County 
Durham with 30 practices with a total practice population of 262,686 in 

• At the time of the review there were 67 GP practices across 
County Durham - 30 in North Durham CCG and 37 in Durham 
Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG; 
 

• GP practices have a wide range of clinical staff and skills 
mixes with on average 27 staff per practice; 
 

• Do not attend (DNA) rates for missed appointments from 
October 2017 to November 2018 were 3.9% equating to 
129,00 missed appointments ; 
 

• Pressures identified across primary care include an 
increasing aging population with multiple long-term conditions 
and complex health needs, workforce pressures such as GP 
recruitment, retention and retirements; an overdependence on 
face to face appointments and the lack of innovation in 
alternative methods of consultation. 

 

Page 274



15 

 

North Durham CCG area and 37 practices with a total practice population 
of 292,701 in Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG. 

48  In respect of staffing structures with GP practices in County Durham the 
data shows the following:- 

 

Staffing 

 

North Durham CCG 

 

DDES CCG 

Average no. of 
GPs per practice 

6.8 

 

5.7 

Average no. of 
Nurses per 
practice 

4.1 4.9 

Average no. of Non 
GP/Nursing staff 
per practice 

2.7 3.0 

Average total no. 
of staff per practice 

27.1 27.4 

 

49 The review group received evidence regarding GP workload for the 12 
months from November 2017 to October 2018. Over this period the total 
number of appointments booked across County Durham was 3,307,546. 
The “Did Not Attend” rate for this period was 3.9% which equated to 
around 129,000 missed appointments. 

50 DNA appointments have an enormous impact on the healthcare system in 
terms of increasing both costs and waiting times.  More than 15 million 
general practice appointments are wasted each year because patients do 
not turn up and fail to warn surgeries that they will not be attending. Each 
appointment costs an average of £30, putting the cost to the NHS at more 
than £216 million on top of the disruption for staff and fellow patients. 
 

51 A number of GP appointments have been estimated as avoidable and 
could have been seen outside of General Practice. Schemes such as Care 
Navigation, which appropriately signposts patients to an alternative 
pathway should help in reducing ‘avoidable’ appointments. Active 
signposting is one of the 10 high impact changes to release time for care. 

52 NHS England promoted the principle of care navigation which offered 
individuals choice by providing information to help them move through 

Page 275



16 

 

health and social care services and access the support that was right for 
them. The introduction of care navigation in County Durham involved the 
training of GP practice teams to support patients by sign posting them to 
the most appropriate professional or service. The aim of this was to help 
patients receive the right care first time as efficiently as possible. Care 
navigation also provides  patients in primary care with a link to sources of 
support within community to help improve their health and wellbeing. 

53 A number of GP workforce challenges were identified across County 
Durham. The County has an ageing population with increasingly complex 
health needs . It was also noted that a number of GP's across County 
Durham would be eligible to retire within the next 10 years (24% of GPs in 
DDES CCG and 21% of GPs in North Durham CCG). This could potentially 
mean a reduction in the number of appointments available to patients. The 
need for workforce transformation based upon new models of care and an 
increased skill mix within general practice also needed to be addressed 
within the context of already identified workforce pressures within the NHS 
and a finite resource envelope to fund this.  

54 The number of DNA in respect of appointments across County Durham 
identified in paragraph 50 above highlighted the importance of CCGs and 
GP practices working to support the service in reducing these.  

55 The importance of digital infrastructure to support new models of care 
across general practice cannot be understated. A range of digital 
approaches have been identified by CCGs in County Durham such as:- 

• E-consultations; 

• Online access to clinical records in care homes; 

• Access to PC clinical care records in 13 North East Trusts; 

• Electronic hospital correspondence; 

• Health and Social Care Network Implementation; 

• Veteran Health support; 
 

  

Page 276



17 

 

 

Investment in General Practice Primary Care Services 
Key Findings 

 

56 In order to deliver the NHS long term plan 2019, a 5 year framework for GP 
contract reform was developed for 2019 /2020. Key themes amongst the 
contract reform included the introduction of a new primary care network 
(PCN) contract and funding to deliver new services at PCN level. 

57 The PCN is considered to be the foundation of all integrated care systems 
and it was essential that PCN's work in an integrated way with other 
community health services such as community nurses, geriatricians 
common dementia workers and podiatrists/chiropodists.  

58 During the course of the review details were received regarding the initial 
registration of primary care networks across County Durham with the 
deadline set for CCG's to confirm PCN network coverage and approved 
variations to existing contracts by 31st May 2019. 

59  The establishment of PCNs required existing GP practices to join together 
to form collaborative PCNs which covered between 30,000-50,000 

• The development of Primary Care Networks proposed under 
the NHS Long Term plan provides the opportunity for service 
reform; 

• 7 new national service standards have been developed for 
PCNs to deliver; 

• County Durham CCGs committed to support primary care with 
the 2018/19 investment forecast for primary care across 
County Durham being £93,944,000; 

• Additional workforce investment identified for PCNs to include 
clinical pharmacists, social prescribing link workers, physician 
associates and first contact physiotherapists and first contact 
community paramedics; 

• An additional role reimbursement scheme established to 
provide 70% of the total cost of these additional posts. For an 
average PCN with a patient coverage of 50,000 this would 
mean an additional investment of £92,000 from July 2019 
rising to £726,000 in 2023/24: 

• Changes to medical indemnity arrangements arising from 
PCN development means that staff are free to work across 
GP practices within a PCN and support practices who may be 
struggling. 

Page 277



18 

 

population. Whilst these upper and lower thresholds have been set by NHS 
England it was considered reasonable that where low population density 
across a large rural and remote area existed this may result in a slightly 
smaller network list size.  

60 PCN boundaries were required to make sense to constituent GP practices; 
other community based providers who configure their teams accordingly 
and to its local community whose area it served. The networks were 
required to deliver the “triple integration” of primary and specialist care, 
physical and mental health services and health with social care.  

61 Recurring funding of £30,000,000 per annum nationally commencing in 
2019/20 would be available to improve access to general practice. This 
would contribute to the introduction of 111 direct booking and 100% 
coverage in a PCN for evening morning and weekend extended GP slots. It 
was envisaged that by April 2021, this together with existing funding would 
deliver a single combined access offer.   

62 As part of the development of primary care networks, 7 national service 
specifications to be delivered by PCNs were established by NHS England 
which were due to commence in April 2020/21. These service 
specifications were:- 

(i) Structured Medications Review and Optimisation; Structured 
medication review will be undertaken by the pharmacists employed by the 
network 

(ii) Enhanced Health in Care Homes, to implement the vanguard model;  

(iii) Anticipatory Care requirements for high need patients typically 
experiencing several long term conditions, joint with community services; 
(co-ordinated care pathway in Co Durham) to follow new community-led 
urgent response and reablement service  

(iv) Personalised Care, to implement the NHS Comprehensive Model;  

(v) Supporting Early Cancer Diagnosis;  

(vi) Cardio Vascular Disease Prevention and Diagnosis; and from 
(2021/22) 

(vii) Tackling Neighbourhood Inequalities.  

63 In order to support the delivery of general practice primary care services, 
County Durham CCGs committed to support primary care with the 2018/19 
investment forecast for primary care across County Durham being 
£93,944,000 in total. 

Page 278



19 

 

64 The NHS long term plan also declared a commitment to the principle of 
shared savings which NHS England anticipated would cover avoidable 
A&E attendances; avoidable emergency admissions; timely hospital 
discharge supported by integrated primary and community care teams; 
outpatient redesign to deliver some services within a primary care network 
and prescribing costs. 

65 Within County Durham it was noted that a scheme had been developed 
whereby GP practices had control of the CCG budget and were 
accountable for their own spending.  

66 In terms of additional workforce investment, the newly developed primary 
care networks were potentially to recruit an additional 22,000 staff 
nationally across a wide range of clinical disciplines including clinical 
pharmacists and social prescribing link workers in 2019. The addition of 
physician associates and first contact physiotherapists was planned for 
2020 with first contact community paramedics targeted for introduction in 
2021. In order to fund these additional posts, an additional role 
reimbursement scheme had been established which would provide 70% of 
the total cost of these additional posts. For an average PCN with a patient 
coverage of 50,000 this would mean an additional investment of £92,000 
from July 2019 rising to £726,000 in 2023/24.   

67 Significantly GP practices under the new contractual arrangements would 
no longer be required to provide their own medical indemnity as it would 
move to a crown indemnity insurance coming covering all GP practices , 
doctors, and their staff including advanced nurse practitioners. With no 
indemnity issues staff would no longer be tied to a specific practice and 
could work across multiple practices within a single PCN. 

Recommendations 1 and 2  

68 The development of Primary Care Networks and the additional workforce 
investment planned are supported. Revised medical indemnity 
arrangements to promote cross GP practice peer should be promoted 
where workforce pressures are impacting upon the availability of GP 
appointments. 

69 New practice staff roles being introduced as part of the NHS Long Term 
Plan are built into the local care navigation to ensure the appropriateness 
of future patient appointments as part of any Primary Care Strategy. 

  

Page 279



20 

 

 

Patient access and experience of GP services across County  
Durham 
Key Findings 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

70 The review group were keen to consider evidence from patients about their 
experience in accessing GP service. Several sources of this information 
were presented to the review group including :- 

• Most patients considered that they had a positive experience 
when seeing their GP; 

• 76% of North Durham CCG patients and 75% of DDES 
patients who completed the 2018 GP Patient survey 
considered that it was easy to get through to someone at their 
practice; 

• Healthwatch County Durham reported in their survey that 
patients’ biggest concern was the ability to get through to their 
practice by telephone and successfully make an appointment; 

• Many patients when surveyed were unaware of the Care 
Navigation initiative being introduced across County Durham 
CCGs; 

• Patients welcome the ability to speak confidentially when 
visiting their GP and some expressed issues with the physical 
environment of GP reception areas to be able to do this; 

• A well-managed GP reception area with clear access to 
posters, information and display screens reflected in positive 
patients’ experience; 

• The lack of availability of same day/urgent appointments was 
highlighted as a concern by patients contacting their GPs; 

• Fewer than 20% of patients use online services within their 
GP practice to book appointments, order prescriptions and 
access medical records with over 50% of patients being 
unaware of the availability of these services; 

• Consistently higher levels of satisfaction were reported across 
County Durham than the national average in terms of how 
good healthcare professionals are in giving patients sufficient 
time in appointments, listening to patients, treating patients 
with care and involving patients in decision making;  

• Whilst Care Navigation has been introduced across County 
Durham GP practices, the Healthwatch County Durham  
review of this identified issues around the communication of 
the rationale for and benefits of care navigation to patients.  

Page 280



21 

 

• Healthwatch County Durham's “Access to GP appointments systems” 
report published in November 2018  

• Healthwatch County Durham's “GP Practice Enter and View” summary 
report published in September 2018  

• Summary of the 2018 GP Patient Survey – Patient Satisfaction 

• Healthwatch County Durham's “Primary Care Navigation” report 
published in March 2019  

 

71 The first report highlighted that for most patients seeing their GP was a 
positive experience although some had voiced concerns about their 
inability to make GP appointments quickly and at the time they need them. 
Feedback from patients indicated that the biggest concern was their ability 
to get through to their GP by telephone particularly at peak times. They 
were often frustrated in being advised when they did speak to the surgery 
that all appointments for that day had been taken and that they would need 
to call back the next day.   

72 Concern was also expressed at patient ability to talk confidentially when 
attending they GP particularly in the reception area. 43% of patients 
surveyed said they were not able to speak confidentially which again 
proved frustrating given the importance placed upon this by patients. 
Triage systems introduced by some surgeries appeared to be well received 
by those patients who had accessed them. The opportunity to discuss 
symptoms with a GP and being assessed on the need to access an 
appointment urgently was found to be reassuring and effective with 71% of 
patients indicating that it worked well. 

73 At the time of producing the Healthwatch report, the care navigation 
system was being adopted by all GP practices within County Durham to 
mixed responses by patients with a significant number of patients unaware 
of the system.  

74 The GP practice enter and view summary report detailed feedback 
obtained by Healthwatch County Durham as part of enter and view visits to 
8 GP practices across County Durham. As part of this process patients 
indicated that they value all practice staff considering them to be caring, 
friendly, approachable and patient, with patients feeling well informed and 
listened to as part of their appointments. Seeing the same nurses and 
doctors created a trusting environment and increased patient confidence in 
terms of their experience.  

75 In terms of service provision across the practices visited, patients felt 
happy with the appointment systems considering that the practices had 
flexible opening hours and they did not feel rushed in an appointment. 
Patients welcomed those practices that offered good support for mental 
health, specialist clinics and had close links with local pharmacies.   

Page 281



22 

 

76 Patients considered the physical environment within which they received 
GP services important with effective management of publicity and 
information a key factor also. Some feedback was obtained that screens 
within GP reception areas sometimes made communication more difficult 
and those practices where publicity and information was less well managed 
led to a less positive experience.  

77 As part of face to face interviews with patients as part of the enter and view 
process, concern was again expressed regarding the difficulty of getting 
through on the telephone to make an appointment or indeed not knowing 
your position within a telephone queue. There was also frustration at not 
being able to see your preferred GP with some practices utilising locum 
doctors frequently thus reducing the ability to develop patient/GP 
relationships.  

78 Key recommendations put forward by Healthwatch County Durham to the 
CCG for GP practices to consider include assessing and reviewing the 
accessibility of reception areas, having easy to read and well managed 
notice boards and publicity materials, reviewing the practices’ 
appointments system and assessing the effectiveness of its telephony and 
undertaking a review of practice websites to ensure that all information 
detailed therein is up to date and relevant.  

79 Key findings identified within the 2018 NHS England GP patient survey 
included:- 

• 76% of patients within DDES CCG and 75% within North Durham CCG 
considered that it was easy to get through to someone at their GP 
practise on the telephone compared with 70% nationally; 

• More than 50% of patients across both CCG's were unaware of the 
availability of online services within their practice including booking 
appointments, ordering prescriptions and accessing medical records; 

• fewer than 20% of patients within County Durham used the 
aforementioned online services within their practice; 

• 50% of patients across County Durham see or speak to their preferred 
GP when they would like to which is the same as national data; 

• Before trying to get on appointment with their GP :- 

o Fewer than 30% of patients looked for information online  

o 12% of patients spoke to a pharmacist  

o 29% of patients tried to treat themselves/self manage their 
symptoms  

Page 282



23 

 

o 8% of patients called an NHS helpline such as NHS 111 

o 24% of patients asked a friend or family member for advice   

o 40% of patients did not try to obtain any information or advice.  

• 43% of patients who attempt to make an appointment expected the 
appointment to be on the same day as calling; 

• 45% of patients within DDES CCG and 53% within North Durham CCG 
refused to take appointments offered because there weren't any 
appointments available for the time of day requested compared with 
47% nationally; 

• 87% of patients within DDES CCG and 83% in North Durham CCG 
received an appointment to see someone at their GP practice compared 
with 8% and 11% telephone consultation, 4% were offered another 
general practice location, 1% home visit and no offers of online 
consultations;  

• Ratings were consistently better than nationally on how good the 
healthcare professional seen was at affording patients sufficient time 
during their appointment, listening to patients, treating patients with care 
and concern, and involving patients in decisions about their care and 
treatment; 

• 96% of patients across County Durham had confidence and trust in the 
healthcare professional that they spoke to or saw which mirrored 
national data and 95% of patients across County Durham considered 
that their needs were met during their last GP appointment which again 
mirrored national data; 

• 85% of patients in DDES CCG considered their experience of their GP 
practice to be good compared with 88% in North Durham CCG and 84% 
nationally.   

Care Navigation 

80 As part of the NHS Five Year Forward View, a new five-year £45 million 
fund was created to contribute towards the costs for practices of training 
reception and clerical staff to undertake enhanced roles in active 
signposting and management of clinical correspondence.  This “Care 
Navigation” system provides patients with a first point of contact in their 
practice which aimed to direct them to the most appropriate source of help. 
Website and app-based portals could provide self-help and self-
management resources as well as sign posting to the most appropriate 
professional. Receptionists acting as care navigators ensure patients are 
booked with the right person first time.  

Page 283



24 

 

81 Non-clinical GP staff were provided with training and access to a directory 
of information about services in order to assist the direction of patients to 
the most appropriate source of help or advice including services in the 
community as well as within the practice. 

82 Introduced in 2018 care navigation was developed by CCGs in County 
Durham in an attempt to improve patient experience in contacting GP 
services. The aim of care navigation was to ensure that every patient was 
able to see the right person to provide them with the right care at the right 
place and time. This supported GPs to manage their practices so that 
appointments are available to patients when they need them and also 
offered patients choice about where and with whom they receive treatment 
and support.  

83 The CCGs emphasise that patients do not have to accept what is offered 
through care navigation and can still request to see a GP or another 
member of practice staff. A note that the offer of care navigation was 
declined is added to a patient record in order to monitor the service.  

84 In order to independently evaluate the care navigation system, 
Healthwatch County Durham was asked by the CCG to undertake research 
into the experience of primary care staff and patients in County Durham. 

85 In respect of staff responses, 79% responded that care navigation was 
working well on a day to day basis with 86% of respondents indicating that 
they were supported by other reception and administrative staff whilst 73% 
felt supported by practice managers. 85% of respondents felt that they had 
sufficient knowledge to enable them to implement care navigation 
effectively and 80% also felt they had sufficient information regarding 
external and alternative service provision. Staff also would like to see 
physiotherapy and dental services also included in the care navigation 
programme, and 75% of respondents felt that they did not need any further 
ongoing support.  

86 Regarding responses received from patients, of the 79% of respondents 
who made their appointment by telephone, 62% confirmed that they had 
heard a telephone message explaining the care navigation process and 
thought they would be asked some questions to best direct their inquiry.  

87 60% of respondents were happy to explain to care navigators the reason 
for their call or visit with 74% feeling that they were listened to. 71% had 
confidence in the person that they were talking to while 76% felt the 
information provided to them about care navigation was clear and relevant. 
73% were happy with the outcome of the care navigation process and as a 
result of the conversation with the care navigator, 64% were given an 
appointment with a GP.  

Page 284



25 

 

88 Care navigation is seen as a positive development by both staff and 
patients but more could be done to improve the service.  Many comments 
were received on how the service could be improved and these have been 
submitted to the CCGs as part of the evaluation process.  

89 Training was a theme that emerged across several questions, both in 
relation to training new staff and ongoing training for staff who are already 
using the system.  Consideration should be given to responding to this 
need as staff commented that they felt this was important to support staff to 
develop their confidence and skills base.  

90 Staff commented that they are unclear as to how to link to external services 
once they have signposted a patient and further clarity on this would be 
helpful for staff as would additional information on waiting/opening times for 
these services.   

91 Staff made some specific comments around receiving updates e.g. 
feedback showing what difference care navigation had made to GP 
appointments and sharing best practice between surgeries. 
Communicating positive messages to staff via newsletters etc could be 
considered.   

92 Feedback highlighted that 25% patients did not hear a message when they 
telephoned to make an appointment.  The CCG could re-iterate the 
importance of this message and ask all practices to ensure a message is 
relayed explaining the purpose of Care Navigation.    

93 Respondents repeatedly made the comment that the receptionist was not 
qualified to deal with their problem.  Surgeries could relay in their 
telephone message that navigators are trained to take the call but will not 
make a clinical decision, as this message is currently not getting across to 
patients.  

94 Comments were made about the recorded telephone message being 
frustratingly long, particularly when having to ring repeatedly at 8.00am.  
Patients also asked if the telephone systems could tell them their number 
in the queue.  

95 Consideration should be given to patients with hearing loss as they 
reported that they found the system difficult to access.  Technology could 
be used to support these patients.  

96 Whilst 69% of patients were happy to explain to the receptionist the reason 
for their call, those who weren’t happy had concerns about confidentiality 
and privacy.  All surgeries should look at their reception areas and call 
handling to ensure they are maximizing the opportunity for patients to 
speak in private.    

Page 285



26 

 

97 Although patients were not asked about their experiences of getting an 
appointment with a GP, many of the comments received related to this.  
The lack of available appointments, the difficulty of having to ring the 
surgery at 8.00am or visit at that time and the length of time patients had to 
wait before they were able to see a GP were repeatedly raised.  Patients’ 
concerns could be addressed by providing further information on Care 
Navigation that highlights the aim of reducing the demand for GP 
appointments. The importance of promoting Care Navigation, the rationale 
for the system and the benefits delivered by the system, including access 
to a wider range of services, cannot be understated.  

98 The Working group recognises the benefits of the Care Navigation process 
as an effective mechanism to ensure that patients are offered 
appointments with clinical staff which are appropriate to their needs and 
also signposts patients to alternative care pathways which may be more 
effective. 

Recommendation 3  

99 An extensive communications programme identifying the purpose of Care 
Navigation and its benefits should be implemented by the CCG and 
promoted across all GP practices within the County. 

Recommendation 4 

100 The use of digital technology to access primary care services as an 
alternative to face to face consultations/appointments with GPs should be 
promoted as a way of facilitating more accessible and timely GP advice 
and support.  

Care Quality Commission – Primary Care Regulation and 
Inspection and results within County Durham 
 

Key Findings 

Page 286



27 

 

 

 

101 The Care Quality Commission(CQC) is the statutory regulator for health 
care and adult social care in England, monitoring services including adult 
social care services, independent mental health locations, NHS ambulance 
trusts, hospices, dental practices, independent acute hospitals, NHS acute 
hospital trusts, NHS mental health trusts, primary medical care services 
and NHS or independent community health providers/locations. 

102 The CQC has developed a revised strategy which reflects a change in 
use and delivery of regulated services and also acknowledges a reduction 
in the level of resource available to the CQC to deliver its functions. 

103 The ambition of the CQC strategy is for a more targeted responsive and 
collaborative approach to regulation to ensure that more people get high 
quality health and social care. The strategy has been developed based 
upon feedback from service recipients, providers’ staff and partners as well 
as learning from more than 22,000 inspections. 

104 The fundamental principles underpinning the CQC's current model of 
regulation includes:- 

• registration of those who apply to provide health and adult social care 
services; 

• monitoring services, carrying out expert inspections and providing 
judgments and ratings in respect of the services including 
recommendations for improvement; 

• undertaking enforcement action where poor care/services are found 
and requiring providers to improve; 

• providing an independent voice on the state of health and adult social 
care in England.   

• The Care Quality Commission has reviewed its Primary Care 
inspection regime to reflect a change in the delivery of 
regulated services and the reduction of resources available to 
the CQC; 

• 94% of GP practices in County Durham are rated by the CQC 
as either outstanding or good; 

• The new inspection regime will focus on those services 
judged to be “requires improvement” or “inadequate”; 

• As part of its inspection regime, the CQC should utilise 
information from local Healthwatch reports and reports from 
local authority health overview and scrutiny committees when 
assessing the effectiveness of GP services provision. 
 

Page 287



28 

 

105 The CQC inspection regime is based upon five key questions: whether 
services are safe; effective; caring; responsive to people's needs and well 
led. Following an inspection, a report detailing the inspection findings and 
an assessment of the organisation as either outstanding, good, requires 
improvement or inadequate is given. 

106 An analysis of CQC ratings across GP practices as at March 2019 
highlighted the following results: 

CQC Rating National North-East 
County 
Durham 

Outstanding 4.7%  8.1%  10%  

Good 90.2%  87.5%  84%  

Requires 
Improvement 

3.8%  3.5%  4%  

Inadequate 1.3%  0.9%  1%  

 

107 With effect from 20 February 2019 the CQC regulation of general 
practice was changed. A new insight model was developed and introduced 
which used nationally available data to assist inspectors to monitor 
providers and plan inspections . This information was to be used as part of 
the evidence base within inspection reports. 

108 A refined approach to inspection and rating population groups and 
introduction of short inspection reports were implemented in April 2018. 
Inspection intervals of a maximum of five years for providers rated as good 
or outstanding were introduced with a proportion of such providers being 
inspected every year in order to ensure that all were inspected within the 
five year period. The CQC would continue to inspect providers rated 
inadequate within six months and those rated as requiring improvement 
within 12 months; these inspections would continue to be fully 
comprehensive looking at all five key questions within the inspection 
matrix. 

109 From April 2019, inspections of providers rated as good or outstanding 
would be focused rather than comprehensive, with the focus determined by 
what the CQC knows about each service including data, information from 
the provider, from stakeholders and the findings from previous CQC 
inspections. The use of short notice or unannounced inspections would 
continue if information was received by CQC that was of urgent concern for 
example from whistleblowers. 

Page 288



29 

 

110 Information from stakeholders which may be used to contribute to CQC 
inspection and regulation may include local Healthwatch reports and 
reports from local authority health overview and scrutiny committees.  

111 CQC representatives acknowledged that there were pressures within 
the CQC in respect of the capacity of inspectors to undertake inspections 
each year in view of the team covering Cumbria and the North East which 
contained approximately 350 GP practices. It was in order to address these 
capacity pressures that the CQC had decided to amend its inspection 
regime.  

112 The review group was pleased to note the high levels of inspection 
standards within County Durham and also the work undertaken across 
County Durham to address those GP practices which require improvement 
or are judged to be inadequate. The CCG were determined to ensure that 
those poor performing practices were able to access peer support from 
those judged to be outstanding. 

Recommendation 5 

113 As part of its inspection regime, the CQC should utilise information from 
local Healthwatch reports and reports from local authority health overview 
and scrutiny committees when gathering evidence to assess the 
effectiveness of GP services provision. 

Issues Identified by County Durham and Darlington local medical 
committee  
 

114 The working group received evidence from Dr David Robertson, 
honorary secretary of the County Durham and Darlington local medical 
committee. Dr Robertson indicated that he considered that being a GP was 
a rewarding occupation and felt fortunate to be working in County Durham 
with well led Clinical Commissioning Groups who provided excellent 
support to general practice. 

115 He indicated however that there were pressures within general practice 
which included :- 

• an ageing population within County Durham with more people having 
multiple long-term conditions which were difficult to manage as 
demands on GPs increased; 

• there was an increasing expectation being placed upon general practice 
to deliver more treatments, therapies and support; 

• The impact of lifestyle issues within County Durham contributed 
significantly to ill health and long term health conditions; 

Page 289



30 

 

• There was an increase in demand for general practice; 

• There was an ageing workforce amongst GPs with many over the age 
of 50 wanting to cut their working hours or retire and an increase in the 
use of salaried GPs/ locum GPs rather than GPs wanting to become 
practice partners; 

• There was a sense of frustration across general practice that whilst 90% 
of work carried out within the NHS was carried out in primary care only 
10% of NHS resource was allocated to it; 

• The need for more fit for purpose modern GP surgeries was clear with 
the development of primary care networks to allow GP practises to work 
collaboratively and share staffing resource as well as developing an 
extended health care service to include pharmacy, social prescribing, 
physiotherapy and other specialisms.      

116 Dr Robertson supported the principles of health and social care 
integration with the development of “teams around patients” a positive 
example of innovation within the County Durham healthcare system. This 
coupled with an effective public health service to address the issues 
around health improvement and health inequality could assist in 
addressing the pressures being experienced within primary care.  

117 The review group whilst considering the representations made by the 
local medical committee, suggested that GPs could make more use of 
patient reference groups and local intelligence when considering service 
provision and any need for change. 

118 Dr Robertson also identified pressures placed upon general practice by 
way of the contractual demands placed upon primary care which had often 
led to a default position whereby appointments were offered to patients to 
ensure a steady stream of attendance at GP practices and thus provide the 
practice with income. Potential changes to GP contracting arrangements 
could deliver beneficial changes to the system which may reduce the need 
for face to face appointments for patients. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 290



31 

 

Demand for GP services in County Durham  - public health and 
planning policy considerations 
Key Findings 

119 As detailed earlier in this report, as part of the development of primary 
care networks, NHS England requires seven national service specifications 
to be delivered one of which involves tackling neighbourhood inequalities. 
The links between health and the built and natural environment together 
with the role of the environment in shaping the social, economic and 
environmental determinants of health are increasingly recognised and 
understood.  

120 In order to assess the increasing level of demand being placed upon 
general practice, the working group examined the steps being taken in 
respect of health promotion and ill health prevention.  In examining the 
wider determinants of health, it was acknowledged that the tailoring of 

 

• An effective health promotion programme which aims to 
reduce health inequality ultimately reduces pressures on the 
NHS; 

• There is a need for much greater integration across health, 
social care and wider public services which would include 
better information sharing, collaboration and shared decision 
making to improve peoples’ health and wellbeing; 

• The development of primary care networks and the 
establishment of “teams around patients” across County 
Durham ensures that better health and social care integration 
is being delivered.  

• Health promotion and ill health prevention initiatives being 
implemented within County Durham in conjunction with other 
public sector partners are seen as critical in attempting to 
reduce the burden upon primary care by encouraging people 
to take more responsibility for their health and wellbeing; 

• New housing developments and an increasing population 
within County Durham may impact upon the capacity 
available within General Practice; 

• CCGs, NHS Property Services and Public health are all 
consulted in respect of housing development applications and 
have engaged in the development of the emerging County 
Durham Plan; 

• Section 106 monies have been used to support GP services 
within County Durham in specific areas and this is to be 
supported. 

Page 291



32 

 

public health services to local need would support economic growth and 
required effective policies in areas such as housing and leisure.  

121 In November 2018 the Department of Health and Social Care published 
“Prevention is better than cure” which set out the government’s vision for 
stopping health problems arising and supporting people to manage their 
own health. The document goal was to improve healthy life expectancy by 
at least five years and to close the life expectancy gaps between the 
richest and poorest in society.   

122 An effective health promotion programme which aims to reduce health 
inequality ultimately reduces pressures on the NHS, social care and other 
public services which have been growing year on year and prompted this 
review.  

123 Evidence received from public health emphasised the need for much 
greater integration across health, social care and wider public services 
which would include better information sharing, collaboration and shared 
decision making to improve peoples’ health and wellbeing. 

124 The development of primary care networks and the establishment of 
“teams around patients” across County Durham had been important in 
ensuring that better health and social care integration was being delivered. 
The health promotion and ill health prevention initiatives being 
implemented within the County in conjunction with other public sector 
partners are seen as critical in attempting to reduce the burden upon 
primary care by encouraging people to take more responsibility for their 
health and wellbeing. The working group was encouraged by these 
initiatives and considered that the success of such initiatives depended 
upon an effective and sustained communication strategy.  

125 In examining the demand being placed upon general practice, the 
working group were conscious of the impact of an increasing population 
within County Durham coupled with more housing developments. 
Anecdotal evidence received by members suggested that any increase in 
housing provision to meet a rising population across County Durham would 
inevitably place additional pressure upon general practice and lead to 
further reductions in GP appointment availability and increased pressure 
upon other parts of the healthcare system including potentially accident 
and emergency departments. 

126 In order to establish if this was the case, the working group examined 
the emerging County Durham plan and the key policies therein around 
economic growth and investment within County Durham, the provision of a 
wide choice of housing to meet need and enhancing the natural, built and 
historic environment.  

Page 292



33 

 

127 Regarding future housing development, the emerging County Durham 
plan detailed proposals for at least 24,852 new homes with 15,946 sites 
identified as having planning permission or already being under 
construction. 

128 The plan included an infrastructure delivery plan which has been 
developed in conjunction with NHS property services, public health and 
County Durham CCGs. Members noted that previous population growth 
within County Durham had been absorbed by existing healthcare facilities 
and it was acknowledged that future increases in population could 
potentially put pressure on existing healthcare infrastructures in some 
areas. No funding was currently in place to support capital investment in 
new clinical space or recurrent revenue costs. 

129 It is acknowledged that healthcare infrastructure is an expensive 
resource and as demand and population within the County grows this 
resource will need to be used as fully as possible. Consideration has been 
given as to whether additional funds could be identified to support 
extending current or new healthcare facilities as part of the planning 
process. This however would not address any long-term revenue 
implications or recruitment pressures. 

130 Throughout the development of the County Durham plan, housing sites 
have been shared with public health, NHS property services and the CCGs 
whilst the housing sites identified within the plan had informed the County 
Durham pharmaceutical needs assessment. 

131 In considering the impact of new housing development, it was noted 
that CCGs were engaged within the consultation process for planning 
applications to establish their impact on GP provision. In assessing this 
impact, the planning policy currently worked on the basis of 1700 patients 
per full time equivalent (FTE) GP and, assuming 2.2 patients per house, 
this would result in 773 new dwellings creating the need for one FTE GP. 
This equated to an approximate cost of £71 per dwelling where need was 
established with mitigation being secured through section 106 agreements 
to reflect this additional demand for GPs created over and above natural 
population changes. This would be utilised for capital contributions to 
enhanced services rather than ongoing revenue costs.   

132 In utilising section 106 agreements in this way, financial contributions 
had been secured towards extending existing GP practices in Sedgefield 
and West Rainton. 

133 Members supported the use of section 106 agreements to contribute to 
the development of enhanced health care services where demand could be 
demonstrated and endorsed the proposed policies and approach set out 
within the County Durham plan. 

Page 293



34 

 

Recommendation 6  

134 Use of section 106 agreements to contribute to the development of 
enhanced health care services where development is taking place is 
supported in line with the emerging County Durham Plan. 

Transport access GP services in County Durham 
Key Findings 

 

135 As well the need to identify the range and scope of GP services across 
County Durham, the review group had also identified within its terms of 
reference the need to examine the local authority’s role and responsibilities 
in developing and delivering sustainable transport solutions which would 
support access to GP services.  

136 Evidence already received by the working group in identifying the 
number of GP practices across County Durham together with feedback 
from the County Durham and Darlington local medical committee 
established that not every settlement within the County had a GP practice. 
Indeed the development of larger GP practice groups together with the 
pressures placed upon the smaller GP practices in terms of availability of 
appointments often required patients to travel in order to access GP 
services. 

137 In an area as large as County Durham this often requires long journeys 
which, given the issues identified within the County in respect of car 
ownership, often required accessing public transport or alternative 
transport solutions.  

138 Whilst many of the towns and villages within County Durham were 
served by an accessible public transport network, there were some 
concerns that had been identified in terms of the more rural areas of 

• As well as the availability of GP appointments, concerns exist 
regarding the ability of patients to access GP services 
particularly in the more rural areas of County Durham; 

• There are a range of transport solutions available for patients 
to access GP services which whilst not directly commissioned 
by the Council are available via the Council’s Travel 
Response Centre; 

• The services do have restrictions/criteria placed upon their 
availability and use; 

• a more joined up approach between the offer of healthcare 
appointments for both hospital and GP services and any 
patient transport requirements should be adopted. 

Page 294



35 

 

County Durham where the lack of commercially viable bus routes had led 
to the council subsidising bus services. 

139 In view of this, a range of alternative transport solutions providing 
access to health appointments had been developed and, whilst the County 
Council did not commission any services specifically for access to health, it 
did play a role in many of the services on offer. 

Patient Transport Service (PTS) 

140 Operated by the North East Ambulance Service (NEAS), this service 
provides pre-planned non-emergency transport to out-patients' 
appointments, clinics, physiotherapy and non-urgent inter-hospital transfers 
for patients who have a medical condition that would prevent them from 
travelling to a treatment centre by any other means, or who require the 
skills of an ambulance care assistant during the journey. 

141 The transport is fully accessible but eligibility criteria apply for this 
service and people wishing to book are asked a series of questions to 
determine eligibility. 

142 With the exception of a small number of GP surgeries in North Durham, 
the service for the County Durham clinical commissioning groups (CCGs) 
areas is booked through the County Council’s Travel Response Centre 
(TRC). The others are booked by the GP surgery, directly. 

143 In the case of the TRC, people who are not eligible for PTS are 
signposted to alternative services. 

Help to Health 

144 Help to Health is a pre-bookable countywide volunteer driver service, 
operated by charities Supportive and Volunteering Matters, on behalf of 
County Durham's CCGs, helping patients attend hospital and other health 
appointments. 

145 The service is available between 08:30 and 17:30, Monday to Friday 
and needs to be booked at least 48 hours in advance of the journey.  

146 There is a charge of 45p per passenger mile for this service with a cap 
of £10 per journey. The service does not provide accessible vehicles, 
although anyone whose wheelchair can be folded and stored would be 
able to use the service.  

147 The County Council worked in partnership with the CCGs and the NHS 
North of England Commissioning Support Unit to develop the specification 
and facilitate the procurement of this service. 

Other volunteer transport services 

Page 295



36 

 

148 There are a number of additional volunteer driver services that the 
County Council are aware of, but have no role in, that provide access to 
health appointments. 

149 British Red Cross offers door-to-door transport support for people 
affected by crisis to access medical appointments and essential daily 
needs. 

150 “Daft as a brush” cancer patient care provides free transport for 
outpatients who are undergoing chemotherapy and radiotherapy cancer 
treatment. This service cannot be booked directly but needs to be referred 
through nurse or consultant.   

151 Friends of Darlington Memorial Hospital provides a free volunteer driver 
scheme for patients who have difficulty getting to and from the hospital.  

152 North Tees and Hartlepool NHS Foundation Trust provides a volunteer 
driver scheme to help patients get to and from their hospitals. 

Link2 

153 Link2 is a pre-bookable bus service for people making journeys (up to 
five miles) where there is no other suitable bus, for example in rural areas 
where bus services may be limited, or those unable to access mainstream 
public transport due to mobility issues. 

154 Fares are the same as regular bus services and concessionary pass 
holders travel for free. The fully accessible Link2 buses run Monday to 
Friday from 8.00am to 6.00pm. 

155 Eligibility criteria apply and bookings are made through the County 
Council’s TRC on a first come, first served. Bookings can be made 2 
weeks in advance of the journey. 

156 The service is procured and paid for by the County Council and is run 
with a combination of external contractors and the County Council’s in-
house fleet. 

157 In examining the aforementioned services, potential gaps in current 
provision have been identified. Whilst the Link 2 service provides a fully 
accessible service accommodating wheelchair users, journeys are limited 
to 5 miles meaning that not all appointments to healthcare facilities would 
be accessible. The first come first served booking arrangement also placed 
restrictions upon passengers being able to access the service. 

158 The provision of additional transport services for hospital visitors is also 
restricted. While both the PTS and Help to Health services, under certain 
circumstances, allow companions to travel with a patient (eligibility criteria 

Page 296



37 

 

apply to PTS) none of the above services, other than the Link2 service 
allows transport for visitors. In the case of the Link2 service the provision is 
limited, given the 5 mile journey limit and eligibility criteria. 

159 In considering the difficulties identified in terms of transport accessibility, 
the working group considered that a more joined up approach between the 
offer of healthcare appointments for both hospital and GP services and any 
patient transport requirements needed to be adopted. This could go some 
way to addressing the challenges faced by patients in being able to access 
those appointments offered particularly where these involved early morning 
or late evening appointments which may require long and expensive 
journeys.  

160 It was also suggested that an exploration of alternative ways in which to 
access healthcare appointments and consultations which would negate the 
requirement for patients to travel should be undertaken. The use of new 
technology, remote/virtual consultations and an increasing ability for 
patients to manage their own health conditions could be examples where 
this could be achieved. 

161 The importance of integrating health and social care services identified 
throughout this review should include an effective and integrated transport 
system to access healthcare. 

Recommendation 7 

162 An integrated transport solution is developed to address the challenges 
faced by patients in accessing appointments to include specific and widely 
publicised patient information relating to the travel support available. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 297



38 

 

CCG led initiatives to address workforce pressures within General 
Practice 
  
Key Findings 

 

163 The review group received evidence detailing steps being taken by the 
CCGs to improve access to general practice. Improving access to GP 
appointments was one of the main elements of the NHS England strategy 
to support and improve primary care services. Amongst the plans to 
achieve this was the desire to provide extended access to appointments 
with GPs or nurses outside of normal practice opening hours which may 
include evenings or at weekends. The rationale for this was about giving 
patients the convenience and choice to have an appointment at a time that 
better suited their needs and also assisted those patients who may 
struggle to find an appointment to fit in with work and family life.  

164 In order to respond to the primary care workforce challenge County 
Durham CCG's collaboratively developed a 5-point plan which was 
designed to provide additional support to General Practice and included 
the following initiatives:- 

• County Durham CCGs developed a five-point plan to provide 
additional support to General Practice; 

o A GP Career start initiative to attract GPs to posts in 
General Practice early in their careers was set up in 
partnership with Health Education North East – and has 
attracted over 40 GPs to County Durham in the last 5 
years; 

o Federated Salaried GP scheme – encouraging the 
employments of GPs across a GP federation to enable 
staff to work across multiple GP practices; 

o International recruitment – A national scheme hosted by 
NHS England 

o GP Resilience scheme – A national scheme led by 
NHS England to promote sustainable GP Practices 

o GP Retention Scheme – Led by NHS Education 
England offering financial and educational support to 
GPs who may otherwise leave the profession 

• A practice vulnerability tool has been developed by CCGs and 
the Local Medical Committee utilising information from NHS 
England, Health Education England and individual GP 
practices to enable early identification of vulnerable practices 
and the availability of support to them. 

Page 298



39 

 

• GP Career Start  - This initiative is aimed at attracting GPs who are 
looking for the opportunity to take up a post in general practice at an 
early point in their career and offers them the chance for ‘added value’ 
personal development e.g. medical student teaching, minor surgery, as 
well as benefit from a mentorship programme whilst at the same time 
trying to expand the role of primary care within the local health 
economy. The scheme, run in partnership with Health Education North 
East, has proved successful in expanding the GP workforce, with over 
40 GPs recruited across County Durham since the scheme commenced 
in DDES in 2015 and North Durham in 2016; 

• Federated Salaried GPs – The aim of this is to encourage the 
employment of GP and other health professionals across GP 
federations which will enable staff to work across multiple GP practices 
in the same Federation: 

• International recruitment - The international recruitment programme, 
hosted by NHS England, aims to recruit primary care clinicians from 
overseas, providing support to doctors making this challenging 
transition from other countries whilst providing reassurance to the 
recruiting practice that the doctor who joins them will be a valued 
member of their team; 

• GP Resilience Scheme - The scheme, led by NHS England, aims to 
deliver a menu of support that will help practices to become more 
sustainable and resilient, better placed to tackle the challenges they 
face now and into the future, and securing continuing high quality care 
for patients. In 2016/17 there was £16m available to be invested in 
support to help practices become more sustainable and resilient, with 
£8m available in 2017/18 and per year thereafter until March 2020; 

• GP Retention Scheme - This is a Health Education England scheme, 
which offers a package of financial and educational support to help 
doctors, who might otherwise leave the profession, remain in clinical 
general practice.  The CCG identified those GPs who in the next five 
years would retire from the NHS.  The primary care team work with 
those clinicians to support revalidation, provide training and 
development with the potential to extend employment within the NHS 

165 A practice sustainability tool has been developed by the CCGs in 
conjunction with the County Durham and Darlington local medical 
committee. The tool draws on information already available from NHS 
England and Health Education England with additional information 
completed by individual practices.  Based upon the information provided a 
scoring mechanism based upon agreed criteria was used to identify 
vulnerable practices and which subsequently allowed CCGs to work with 
them on a tailored offer of support appropriate to their needs. 

Page 299



40 

 

166 Examples of work around practice vulnerability reported by CCG 
representatives to the review group included:- 

• developing a package of support for practice mergers, particularly 
relevant to those practices experiencing difficulty in continuing to 
manage their patient register and contracting obligations due to GP 
shortage and long-term GP vacancies; 

• encouraging practices to share any emerging issues (e.g. staff 
resource) with their CCG at an early stage so we can work together 
to provide the right support, as soon as possible; 

• support around management of workload;  

• approaching practices assessed as being more resilient, to see if 
they would be willing to offer support to less resilient practices;  

• facilitating and establishing a register of GP practices and 
Federations to share their experience and learning e.g. pre CQC 
advice and practice improvement; development of significant event 
process; clinical meeting templates; policies and procedures; 
practice mergers and leadership; and 

• benchmarking the CCG offer of support to general practice, with 
other CCGs to determine if further actions can be taken to promote 
sustainability. 

167 In view of the challenges facing General Practice across County 
Durham and nationally and having experienced first-hand the problems 
facing vulnerable practices, the review group welcomes the development of 
the sustainability toolkit and supports its use. 

Recommendation 8 

168 The CCG’s workforce development initiatives detailed within this report 
are supported and further development and use of the practice vulnerability 
toolkit to support vulnerable practices through peer support across and 
within Primary Care Networks is recommended.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 300



41 

 

The role of NHS 111 in accessing Healthcare Appointments 
 

Key Findings 

 

169 Throughout the review process an issue that has been consistently 
raised as a matter of concern has been the effectiveness of the NHS 111 
service in signposting patients to appropriate healthcare services and their 
role in the direct booking of GP in-hours appointments. 

170 Evidence was obtained in respect of the NHS 111 pathways and direct 
booking processes. 

171 NHS 111 was introduced in 2011 as a replacement for NHS Direct. The 
service deals with a range of calls and aims to assess the needs of a 
patient telephoning the service and to direct the patient to a service that is 
the most appropriate within a set timeframe.  

172 All call handlers follow a nationally mandated algorithm designed as 
NHS pathways for both 111 and 999 calls. Call handlers at no point 

• The NHS 111 Service introduced in 2011 triages 
patients/callers and directs them to a range of healthcare 
services which are deemed as most appropriate within a set 
timeframe; 

• Call handlers follow a nationally mandated algorithm called 
NHS Pathways to assess patients/callers and direct them to 
the most appropriate service within an agreed Directory of 
Services; 

• The NHS 111 service is operated within the North East by 
North East Ambulance Service Foundation Trust; 

• The directory of services is compiled by commissioners and 
providers and reviewed twice a year to ensure that services 
are up to date and reflect advances in national clinical 
standards; 

• Utilisation of direct booking of patients into GP appointments 
via NHS 111 between 2016 and 2018 in North Durham CCG 
was 29.87% and 35.29% in DDES CCG; 

• Previous CCG Service changes have promoted the use of the 
111 service as an alternative to walk-in presentations to 
accident and emergency departments or urgent care centres; 

• The success of NHS 111 and the direct booking of 
appointments within general practice relies upon effective 
communication and marketing campaigns to increase public 
awareness of the service.  

Page 301



42 

 

diagnose patients but based upon the patient/callers answers to set 
questions within the algorithm signpost patients into services available 
within an agreed directory of services compiled by commissioners and 
providers. 

173 Each health advisor undergoes extensive training to ensure that they 
are able to use the system safely and effectively and are supported by and 
have access to clinicians should a specialised assessment be required.   

174 As part of this process it has been acknowledged that the services to 
which patients are signposted are based upon commissioners’ preferences  
or appropriateness of patient requirements and not necessarily those 
services most local to the patient/caller. 

175 The agreed pathways are reviewed twice per year to ensure that they 
remain up to date  and that they reflect advances in national clinical 
standards and services.  

176 It was established that each call triggered the triage process and in the 
event that a patient’s symptoms deteriorated and they rang 111 again the 
triage process would start from the beginning . However if such calls are 
recorded on numerous occasions over a period of four days then this 
automatically triggers a referral directly to a clinician.  

177 In analysing the utilisation for the 111 direct booking service between 
June 2016 and September 2018,  it was established that within the North 
East region this currently stood at 31.14% although there was a variation of 
some 15% between the highest and lowest performing CCG. For DDES 
CCG this stood at 35.29% and for North Durham CCG 29.87%.  

178 Reference was made to previous reports considered by the Adults 
Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee regarding the 
NHS 111 service and the DDES CCG reviews of urgent care and 
extended/enhanced access to primary care which had promoted the use of 
the 111 service as an alternative to walk-in presentations to accident and 
emergency departments or urgent care centres.  

179 It was also reported that GP practices had agreed to set aside a number 
of appointments for utilisation via the 111 service in order to reduce 
demand upon A&E and where clinically appropriate.  

180 The success of the 111 service was ultimately dependent upon how 
well informed the public was on how the service operated, its service 
pathways and the rationale for signposting to services. There was also a 
significant reliance upon the directory of services and it needed to be 
constantly updated to make sure that patients were directed to the right 
place for the right care.  

Page 302



43 

 

181 In view of this the working group agreed that it was essential that CCGs 
and GP services publicised and communicated the role of NHS 111 in 
signposting patients to the most appropriate health service together with 
the ability to access GP appointments through this system should this be 
clinically required. 

Recommendation 9 

182 The CCG and North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust 
develop an effective communications and marketing campaign to raise 
awareness and promote the availability of GP appointments via the NHS 
111 Service. 

Impact of COVID-19 on healthcare services and general practice 
 

183 A novel coronavirus - severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 
(SARS-CoV-2) – was identified in Wuhan, China at the end of 2019.  The 
virus is highly infectious and causes a respiratory illness called COVID-19. 

184 The virus spread rapidly across the world and was declared a global 
pandemic by the World Health Organisation on 11 March 2020. 
Organisations which make up the County Durham Care Partnership all had 
emergency and business continuity management planning frameworks in 
place, which enabled the system to respond promptly to the threat as it 
emerged.  The health and social care system across County Durham has 
had to respond dynamically and innovatively revising its approach as the 
national coronavirus action plan, guidance and recovery strategy evolved. 

185 The pandemic has had a significant impact on the way that health and 
care services are delivered to people in County Durham and it is likely that 
the impact will be ongoing for some time as long as COVID-19 remains a 
risk to health.   

186 Primary care services have adapted very rapidly with a move to a total 
triage system and most activity taking place via telephone or video 
conferencing. These changes reflect a number of key findings within this 
report and recommendations arising from this review including the 
increased use of technology to facilitate remote consultations and 
appointments, and increased use of the NHS 111 system. Behavioural 
changes amongst the population during this pandemic will hopefully 
provide reassurance to patients and lead to an increase in the use of such 
technology where appropriate, alongside face to face services, as an 
effective, efficient and safe way of accessing GP services. 
 

187 As part of the service recovery and restoration planning process for 
COVID-19 consideration needs to be given to how primary care can be 
delivered effectively and safely in the future. This report and its 

Page 303



44 

 

recommendations should be used as evidence as part of the development 
of future primary care services.   

 

  

Page 304



45 

 

Appendix 1:  10 High Impact Actions to Release Time for Care 

1. Active signposting: Provides patients with a first point of contact which directs 
them to the most appropriate source of help. Web and app-based portals can 
provide self-help and self-management resources as well as signposting to the 
most appropriate professional. 

 
2. New consultation types: Introduce new communication methods for some 

consultations, such as phone and email, improving continuity and convenience 
for the patient, and reducing clinical contact time 

 
3. Reduce Did Not Attend (DNAs): Maximise the use of appointment slots and 

improve continuity by reducing DNAs. Changes may include redesigning the 
appointment system, encouraging patients to write appointment cards 
themselves, issuing appointment reminders by text message, and making it 
quick for patients to cancel or rearrange an appointment. 

 
4. Develop the team: Broaden the workforce in order to reduce demand for GP 

time and connect the patient directly with the most appropriate professional. 

 
5. Productive work flows: Introduce new ways of working which enable staff to 

work smarter, not harder. 

 
6. Personal productivity: Support staff to develop their personal resilience and 

learn specific skills that enable them to work in the most efficient way possible. 

 
7. Partnership working: Create partnerships and collaborations with other 

practices and providers in the local health and social care system. 

 
8. Social prescribing: Use referral and signposting to non-medical services in 

the community that increase wellbeing and independence. 

 
9. Support self care: Take every opportunity to support people to play a greater 

role in their own health and care with methods of signposting patients to 
sources of information, advice and support in the community. 

 
10. Develop QI expertise: Develop a specialist team of facilitators to support 

service redesign and continuous quality improvement. 

                                         

Page 305

https://www.networks.nhs.uk/nhs-networks/releasing-capacity-in-general-practice/messageboard/1-active-signposting
https://www.networks.nhs.uk/nhs-networks/releasing-capacity-in-general-practice/messageboard/2-new-consultation-types
https://www.networks.nhs.uk/nhs-networks/releasing-capacity-in-general-practice/messageboard/3-reduce-dnas
https://www.networks.nhs.uk/nhs-networks/releasing-capacity-in-general-practice/messageboard/4-develop-the-team
https://www.networks.nhs.uk/nhs-networks/releasing-capacity-in-general-practice/messageboard/5-productive-work-flows
https://www.networks.nhs.uk/nhs-networks/releasing-capacity-in-general-practice/messageboard/6-personal-productivity
https://www.networks.nhs.uk/nhs-networks/releasing-capacity-in-general-practice/messageboard/7-partnership-working
https://www.networks.nhs.uk/nhs-networks/releasing-capacity-in-general-practice/messageboard/8-use-social-prescribing
https://www.networks.nhs.uk/nhs-networks/releasing-capacity-in-general-practice/messageboard/9-support-self-care-and-management
https://www.networks.nhs.uk/nhs-networks/releasing-capacity-in-general-practice/messageboard/10-build-qi-expertise


This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

Durham County Council Equality Impact Assessment 

NB: The Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010) requires Durham County 

Council to have ‘due regard’ to the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, 

harassment and victimisation, advance equality of opportunity and foster good 

relations between people from different groups. Assessing impact on equality and 

recording this is one of the key ways in which we can show due regard. 

Section One: Description and Screening 

Service/Team or Section 
 

Resources/Strategy - Overview and Scrutiny 

Lead Officer 
 

Stephen Gwillym – Principal Overview and 
Scrutiny Officer 

Title 
 

Adults Wellbeing and Health OSC – Review of GP 
Services in County Durham 

MTFP Reference (if 
relevant) 
 

N/A 

Cabinet Date (if relevant) 
 

18 November 2020 

Start Date 
 

January 2019 

Review Date 
 

 

 

Subject of the Impact Assessment 

Please give a brief description of the policy, proposal or practice as appropriate (a 
copy of the subject can be attached or insert a web-link): 
 

During 2018/19 the Adults Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee was engaged in a number of applications to review, merge or 
close GP branch services across County Durham. As part of these 
consultations, members received representations from patients, GP practice 
staff and Councillors regarding the potential cumulative impact of these 
proposed changes and decided to undertake a review of the provision of 
and access to GP services across County Durham. 
 
The following terms of reference were agreed by the committee at its 

meeting on 19 January 2019: 

• To establish the respective roles and responsibilities of NHS 
England and Clinical Commissioning Groups in terms of the 
commissioning of GP services across County Durham. 

 

Page 307



 2 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

• To establish the extent of GP coverage across County Durham 
including information in respect of:- 

 
o The number of GP practices in County Durham; 
o Practices boundaries in County Durham including practice 

list sizes; 
o Staffing structures within GP practices; 
o Single vs multiple branch GP practices; 
o Skills mix across GP practices; 
o GP Appointment capacity and demand for appointments 

across GP practices including DNA rates. 
 

• To ascertain the effectiveness of GP service provision is monitored 
including CQC inspection ratings across County Durham together 
with information in respect of the CQC Inspection of GP process. 

 

• To establish patient satisfaction ratings for GP practices from the 
patient survey on a practice by practice basis and to compare 
these with the national picture. 

 

• To establish existing and future workforce and demographic 
pressures which may impact on current and future access to GP 
services. 

 

• To identify areas of good practice and share learning in respect of 
management of appointments and access to services to all 
patients. 

 

• To identify the work undertaken and planned by Clinical 
Commissioning Groups to:- 

o address workforce pressures and skill mix. 
o Resilience.  
o address recruitment and retention at start and end of career. 
o to improve access. 
o to improve quality. 
o to commission additional services to support primary care. 

 

• To identify and examine the local authority’s role and 
responsibilities in developing and delivering sustainable transport 
solutions which support access to GP services.  

 
The Review Group identified key findings and recommendations which 
include:- 
 

a) The provisions of the NHS Long Term Plan, the development of 
Primary Care Networks and the proposed levels of investment to 

Page 308



 3 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

improve and increase staffing resources and skills mixes within 
General Practice. 

b) The findings of Healthwatch County Durham’s review of Care 
Navigation and the need for a robust communications and 
engagement strategy to promote Care Navigation across all GP 
Practices in County Durham. 

c) The promotion of alternative methods of accessing Primary Care 
appointments to face to face by utilising new technology which will 
facilitate online service provision. 

d) The use of local intelligence by the Care Quality Commission as 
part of its revised inspection regime.  

e) The use of Section 106 agreements and any resources generated 
therefrom to contribute to enhanced health services where 
increased demand is demonstrated. 

f) The need for an integrated transport solution which supports 
people to access GP services and associated marketing and 
communications information. 

g) Continuation of and support for the workforce development 
initiatives identified and introduced by County Durham CCGs to 
address GP recruitment and retention as well as the practice 
vulnerability toolkit developed across County Durham. 

h) NHS 111 service’s role in arranging direct appointments with GPs 
where appropriate and the promotion of this facility across the 
community of County Durham. 

 
 

 

Who are the main stakeholders? (e.g. general public, staff, members, specific 
clients/service users): 
 

General Public, DCC Staff, DCC Councillors, NHS Partners including CDDFT, 
NEAS FT, TEWV FT and NHS County Durham CCG, Health service recipients, 
County Durham Healthwatch Care Quality Commission and GP Practices.  

 

Screening 

Is there any actual or potential negative or positive impact on the following 
protected characteristics? 

Page 309



 4 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

 

Protected Characteristic Negative Impact 
Indicate: Y = Yes, 
N = No, ? = unsure 
 

Positive Impact 
Indicate: Y = Yes, 
N = No, ? = unsure 
 

Age 
 

N Y – The review 
recommends the 
use of new 
technology to 
improve ways of 
accessing GP 
services 

Disability 
 

N Y – The review 
recognises the 
demands placed 
upon General 
Practice by an aging 
population with 
multiple long term 
health conditions 
and makes 
recommendations 
which aim to 
improve access to 
General Practice  

Marriage and civil partnership  
(workplace only) 

N N 

Pregnancy and maternity 
 

N Increased options 
for accessing 
General Practice 
services and 
identification of 
additional health 
services that can be 
offered within 
general practice 

Race (ethnicity) 
 

N N 

Religion or Belief 
 

N N 

Sex (gender) 
 

N N 

Sexual orientation 
 

N N 

Transgender 
 

N N 

 

Please provide brief details of any potential to cause adverse impact. Record full 
details and analysis in the following section of this assessment. 

Page 310



 5 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

 

Negative impact is not anticipated as a result of the proposed recommendations. 
 

 

How will this policy/proposal/practice promote our commitment to our legal 
responsibilities under the public sector equality duty to: 

• eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation,  

• advance equality of opportunity, and  

• foster good relations between people from different groups? 
 

The recommendations seek to ensure equity of access to General Practice 
services across all communities included all protected characteristics. 
 
There are particular benefits in terms of improving access to GP services by 
offering remote/virtual consultations and the ability to order repeat medicines 
online which are areas that have been identified as being under-utilised until the 
onset of the COVID-19 pandemic. Transport implications and solutions to access 
services are reflected within the report and solutions to identify and support 
vulnerable GP practices and ensure their sustainability are also acknowledged as 
key to ensuring equity of access to GP services across County Durham. 

 

Evidence 

What evidence do you have to support your findings?  
Please outline your data sets and/or proposed evidence sources, highlight any 
gaps and say whether or not you propose to carry out consultation. Record greater 
detail and analysis in the following section of this assessment. 
 

Evidence supporting the recommendations made by the AHWOSC Review Group 
came from North Durham and  DDES CCG; North East Ambulance Service NHS 
FT; Care Quality Commission; DCC Public Health, Planning Policy and Transport 
teams; NHS England’s 2018 GP Patient Survey; Reports by County Durham 
Healthwatch into Care Navigation; Access to GP Services survey and GP Enter 
and View visits.  
 

GP Services 

across.pptx  

GPPS_CCG_results_2

018_05032019.pptx  

Agenda Item 6 - 

County Durham Healthwatch - Care Navigation Report.pdf 

AWHOSC - Directory 

of Services Presentation (2).pdf 

GP appointments 

report 2018.pdf  

E&V Executive 

Summary.pdf  
 

Screening Summary 

On the basis of this screening is there: 
 

Confirm which 
refers (Y/N) 

Page 311



 6 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

Evidence of actual or potential impact on some/all of the 
protected characteristics which will proceed to full 
assessment? 
 

Individual EIAs 
will be 
undertaken by 
the relevant 
service groupings 
and the County 
Durham Clinical 
Commissioning 
Group following 
agreement by 
Cabinet of any of 
the 
recommendations 
contained in the 
review report. 

No evidence of actual or potential impact on some/all of the 
protected characteristics? 
 

N 

 

Sign Off 

Lead officer sign off:  

 
 

Date: 17/09/2020 

Service equality representative sign off: 
 
Mary Gallagher, Equalities Team Leader 
 

Date: 13/10/2020 

 

If carrying out a full assessment please proceed to section two. 

If not proceeding to full assessment please return completed screenings to your 

service equality representative and forward a copy to equalities@durham.gov.uk 

If you are unsure of potential impact please contact the corporate research and 

equalities team for further advice at equalities@durham.gov.uk 

 

  

Page 312

mailto:equalities@durham.gov.uk
mailto:equalities@durham.gov.uk


 

Cabinet 

18 November 2020 

Director of Public Health Annual Report 

2020 

   

Report of: 

Jane Robinson, Corporate Director, Adult & Health Services 

Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health County Durham  

Councillor Lucy Hovvels, Portfolio Lead for Adult and Health 

Services 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 The purpose of this report is for Cabinet to receive the 2020 Annual 
report of the Director of Public Health for County Durham (Appendix 2). 

Executive summary 

2 Under the Health and Social Care Act 2012, one of the statutory 
requirements of the Director of Public Health is to produce an annual 
report about the health of the local population.  The local authority has a 
duty to publish the report.  The government has not specified what the 
annual report might contain and has made it clear that this is a decision 
for individual Directors of Public Health to determine. 

3 The DPH annual report for 2020 focuses on the following: 

a) Health and wellbeing across County Durham  

b) Response to COVID-19  

c) Approach to Wellbeing  

d) The Taylor’s Community  

e) How we have worked with partners to impact on the Health and 
Wellbeing of residents living in County Durham 

f) Update on the seven public health strategic priorities 

g) A focus on the following strategic priorities and recommendations 
for their future work: 

Page 313

Agenda Item 13



i. Good jobs and places to live learn and play  

ii. Every child to have the best start in life 

h) Update on recommendations from 2019  

i) A set of recommendations based on the two priority areas of 
focus. 

 

Recommendations 

4 Cabinet is recommended to: 

(a) Receive the 2020 annual report of the Director of Public Health, 
County Durham. 

(b) Agree to publish the annual report. 

Page 314



Background 

2018 DPH annual report 

5 The 2018 report focused on the new vision for the public’s health in 
County Durham.  The report shared the work that has been done to set 
out a new vision for the health and wellbeing of County Durham.   

6 The report was based around a fictional family ‘The Taylors’ describing 
the challenges facing the family, focussing on the ‘assets’  the family 
had and how these can protect health and wellbeing. 

7 The 2018 report set out seven strategic priorities and specific actions 
against each priority for the forthcoming year. 

• Good jobs and places to live, learn and play 

• Every Child to Have the Best Start in Life   

• Mental Health at Scale 

• High quality drug and alcohol services 

• Healthy workforce 

• Promoting positive behaviours 

• Better quality of life through integrated health and care services 
 

8 The 2018 report ended with a short set of recommendations. 

2019 DPH annual report 

9 The DPH annual report for 2019 focussed on the following: 

• Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) / Durham Insight; 

• Update on recommendations from 2018 DPH annual report; 

• Taylor family (one year on); 

• Mental health at scale; 

• Healthy workforce. 

 
2020 DPH annual report 

10 The DPH annual report for 2020 includes the following: 

a) Health and Wellbeing across County Durham;  

b) Response to COVID-19;  

c) Approach to Wellbeing;  

d) The Taylor’s Community;  

Page 315



e) How we have worked with partners to impact on the Health and 
Wellbeing of residents living in County Durham; 

f) Update on the seven public health strategic priorities; 

g) A focus on the following strategic priorities and recommendations 
for their future work: 

i. Good jobs and places to live learn and play;  

ii. Every child to have the best start in life; 

h) Update on recommendations from 2019;  

i) A set of recommendations based on the two priority areas of 
focus. 

11 The response to the COVID-19 pandemic is a specific focus to this 
year’s DPH annual report.  The COVID-19 pandemic is one of the 
greatest public health challenges in living memory, with significant 
repercussions for health and wellbeing. 

12 The COVID-19 pandemic and the public health measures that followed 
have highlighted the important role of Public Health in protecting the 
public from infectious diseases and supporting and improving their 
health and wellbeing.  

13 The response has also clearly demonstrated that health and wellbeing 
is everyone’s business and the vital part that individuals, communities, 
businesses, services and organisations play in controlling the virus and 
working alongside our residents.  

14 This year’s DPH annual report, provides an update on how DCC have 
responded to the COVID-19 pandemic to reduce and control 
transmission of the virus, support our communities, and maintain our 
essential services.  

15 The annual report provides an update on the progress made on the 
seven public health strategic priorities. Many of our public health 
services needed to change or adapt to continue to safely deliver during 
the COVID-19 lockdown and restrictions. Services developed innovative 
new ways of working to continue to support vulnerable groups.  

16 The annual report will be uploaded onto the council website and copies 
provided to a range of organisations and individuals including the 
County Durham clinical commissioning groups, NHS England, voluntary 
and community sector, foundation trusts, Public Health England, North 
of England Commissioning service.   In addition, copies will be made 

Page 316



available to the members library, to individual members (where 
requested), Cabinet, Overview and Scrutiny Committees and officers.  

Next year’s DPH annual report 

17 The 2021 DPH annual report will focus on the following strategic 
priorities: 

a) High quality drug and alcohol services; 

b) Better quality of life through integrated health and care services; 

c) Promoting positive behaviours; 

d) COVID-19 recovery. 

 

Main Implications 

Legal 

18 It is a statutory responsibility for the Director of Public Health in a local 
authority to prepare an annual report on the health of the local 
population. 

Conclusion 

19 This report provides examples of how we have been working on 
updates on the seven priorities that were set out in the 2018 annual 
report, and has an in-depth focus on giving every child the best start in 
life and promoting good jobs and places to live, learn and play. It also 
introduces a new evidence-based Approach to Wellbeing that has been 
developed and will be used to help empower our communities and build 
their resilience. 

20 The COVID-19 pandemic is far from over; however we are committed to 
working in partnership with partners, communities, and residents to 
continue to protect and support the health and wellbeing of all County 
Durham’s residents. Public health services will continue to learn, adapt 
and innovate as we support our communities to respond and then 
recover from what has been an extremely challenging time.  

21 In the year ahead we will continue to work closely with our partners and 
communities to protect and improve the health and wellbeing of people 
in County Durham. As ever, reducing health inequalities is a core 
principle that will guide us in this work. 

 

Page 317



Background papers 

• DPH annual report 2018 

https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/10077/Director-of-Public-Health-
Annual-Report-
2018/pdf/PublicHealthAnnualReport2018.pdf?m=636760677930970000  

• DPH annual report 2019 

https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/31646/Director-of-Public-Health-
Annual-Report-
2019/pdf/DPHannualreport2019.pdf?m=637111369766770000 

 

Other useful documents 

• None 

Contact: Amanda Healy Tel:  03000 264323 

   

  

Page 318

https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/10077/Director-of-Public-Health-Annual-Report-2018/pdf/PublicHealthAnnualReport2018.pdf?m=636760677930970000
https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/10077/Director-of-Public-Health-Annual-Report-2018/pdf/PublicHealthAnnualReport2018.pdf?m=636760677930970000
https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/10077/Director-of-Public-Health-Annual-Report-2018/pdf/PublicHealthAnnualReport2018.pdf?m=636760677930970000
https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/31646/Director-of-Public-Health-Annual-Report-2019/pdf/DPHannualreport2019.pdf?m=637111369766770000
https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/31646/Director-of-Public-Health-Annual-Report-2019/pdf/DPHannualreport2019.pdf?m=637111369766770000
https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/31646/Director-of-Public-Health-Annual-Report-2019/pdf/DPHannualreport2019.pdf?m=637111369766770000


Appendix 1:  Implications 

 

Legal Implications  
Section 73B (5) of the Health and Social Care Act 2012 amended the National 
Health Service Act 2006 to include the requirement that the Director of Public 
Health for a local authority must prepare an annual report on the health of the 
people in the area of the local authority and the local authority publish the 
report.  
 

Finance  
No impact at present.   However key public health interventions are dependent 
on the public health ring fenced grant.   
  

Consultation  
This is the independent report of the Director of Public Health and is not 
subject to consultation.  
 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty  
No impact. 
 

Climate Change  
No impact. 
 

Human Rights  
No impact.  
 

Crime and Disorder  
No impact. 
 

Staffing  
Staff time to produce the 2020 annual report.  
 

Accommodation  
No impact.  
 

Risk  
No impact.  
 

Procurement  
No impact but should inform council commissioning plans in relation to 
services that impact on the health of the population.  
 

Page 319



This page is intentionally left blank



Director of Public Health Annual Report 2020

Healthy Lives, 
Healthier Communities
Protecting and supporting the people of County Durham

Page 321



Contents

   Page 

Foreword  ............................................................................................................. 3

Health and wellbeing across County Durham ..................................................... 4

Response to COVID-19  ....................................................................................... 6

Approach to Wellbeing  ...................................................................................... 10

The Taylor’s Community  .................................................................................... 12

How we have worked with partners to impact on  ............................................. 13 
Health and Wellbeing of  residents living in County Durham

Update on the seven public health strategic priorities  ...................................... 14
and the specific actions against each priority area 

Good jobs and places to live learn and play  .................................................... 16

Every child to have the best start in life  ............................................................. 20

Update on recommendations from 2019  .......................................................... 24

Recommendations for 2020  .............................................................................. 25

 
    

    

1

Acknowledgements 

Many thanks to  

Michelle Baldwin – Public Health Strategic Manager
Sean Barry – Public Health Practitioner
Julie Bradbrook – Partnerships Team Manager
Joy Evans – Public Health Advanced Practitioner 
Michael Fleming – Strategic Manager, Research and Intelligence
Thelma Lambert – Regional Support Officer
Lisa Lynch – Public Health Programme Manager
Jane Marley – Better Health at Work Project Officer 
Karen McCabe – Strategic Manager Wellbeing and Partnerships
Cat Miller – Wellbeing Approach Programme Manager
Jodie Norman – Public Health Practitioner
Rachel Osbaldeston – Public Health Advanced Practitioner
Jon Quine – Commissioning Delivery Manager, NHS North of  England Commissioning Support
Phil Ray – Public Health Advanced Practitioner
Luke Robertshaw – Public Health Speciality Registrar
Helen Riddell – Public Health Advanced Practitioner
Kirsty Roe – Public Health Intelligence Specialist
Mick Shannon – Public Health Advanced Practitioner 
Tracey Sharp – Independent Consultant in Public Health
Tammy Smith – Public Health Advanced Practitioner
Jane Sunter – Public Health Strategic Manager
Chris Woodcock – Public Health Strategic Manager

Design and Print, Durham County Council

P
age 322



32

Foreword

Welcome to my third annual report. It is my role as Director of  Public Health to promote and 
protect the health and wellbeing of  people in County Durham. 

I would like to acknowledge the sadness experienced across our communities for the loss 
of  life and any families affected due to the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic, and express 
our thanks to all NHS and social care colleagues, care workers and key workers who have 
worked extremely hard to ensure that services continue in County Durham.

The COVID-19 pandemic and the public health measures that followed have highlighted 
the important role of  Public Health in protecting the public from infectious diseases and 
supporting and improving their health and wellbeing. The response has also clearly 
demonstrated that health and wellbeing is everyone’s business and the vital part that 
individuals, communities, businesses, services and organisations play in controlling the 
virus and working alongside our residents. Throughout the pandemic, I have been privileged 
to work across sectors to lead our public health response, with incredible support from my 
highly motivated, dedicated and skilled public health team. In this report, I outline some 
ways that we have responded to reduce and control transmission of  the virus, support our 
communities, and maintain our essential services. I am extremely proud of  the way our 
partners and communities have responded and worked together to meet the challenges of  
COVID-19. 

This report also provides examples of  how we have been working on updates on the seven 
priorities that I set out in my first report in 2018, and has an in-depth focus on giving every 
child the best start in life and promoting good jobs and places to live, learn and play. I also 
introduce a new evidence-based Approach to Wellbeing that has been developed and will 
be used to help empower our communities and build their resilience.  

As with my previous reports we continue to follow the “Taylor” family, and there is an update 
on how the work carried out has made a difference to them. This year’s report focusses on 
the Taylors’ community and how we have worked with partners to impact on the health and 
wellbeing of  residents living in County Durham.

Last year’s report focussed on our work to improve mental health across the whole 
population and support workplace health. I’m pleased to report that the new employee 
assistance service has been launched to help support workers in small and medium 
businesses and community organisations with their mental health and wellbeing. Businesses 
have also continued to sign up, and progress in, our Better Health At Work Award scheme.

In the year ahead we will continue to work closely with our partners and communities 
to protect and improve the health and wellbeing of  people in County Durham. As ever, 
reducing health inequalities is a core principle that will guide us in this work.

 

Amanda Healy 

Amanda Healy
Director of  Public Health

P
age 323



Health and wellbeing across County Durham

The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) is a suite of  resources locally that helps to 
inform the planning and improvement of  local services, and guides us in making the best 
use of  funding available. It builds a picture of  current and future health and wellbeing needs 
of  local people. This is used to shape joint commissioning priorities to improve health and 
wellbeing as well as reduce health inequalities in our communities. It informed the recent 
refresh of  our Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy, and underpinned development of  the 
Learning Disability Commissioning Strategy, and the Children and Young Peoples Strategy 
amongst others. The development of  assets within the JSNA is a key priority. By focussing 
only on the “needs” of  local communities we do not acknowledge the importance of  the 
assets, or take account of  the protective factors and strengths within individuals and across 
communities. This should incorporate practical skills, capacity and knowledge of  residents 
and the networks and connections in a community.  
 
Durham Insight 
The JSNA is part of  Durham Insight. Durham Insight is a shared 
intelligence, research and knowledge base for County Durham, 
informing strategic planning across Durham County Council and its partners. This site 
includes in-depth JSNA and insight factsheets, health needs assessments, health equity 
audits and lots of  topic based intelligence including infographics, maps and story maps. 
New intelligence content is regularly added, and the site is continuously being developed 
and improved. www.durhaminsight.info

 

 

 

 

 

 

Intelligence led and data based decision making 
The need for local, timely and high-quality data and surveillance has been a critical factor in 
helping the County Durham COVID-19 Health Protection Assurance Board and the County 
Durham and Darlington Local Resilience Forum (LRF) to make informed decisions. Having 
access to up to date intelligence about the impact of  COVID-19 on County Durham is 
crucial to ensuring the number of  cases in our region continues to fall. The Durham Insight: 
COVID-19 dashboard is a valuable tool, providing the latest statistical information relating 
to COVID-19 in County Durham. It includes a surveillance dashboard displaying statistics 
on cases of  COVID-19 and deaths associated with it in the county and the North East as a 
whole.

In addition to this we have created a local mortality surveillance system to monitor both 
COVID-19 and non-COVID-19 deaths using local Registrar data, and an interactive mapping 
tool containing location specific lab-confirmed tests combined with a broad range of  spatial 
data relating to specific settings and risks. There is also a linked geographically specific 
dashboard containing location based summaries of  positive tests in the last 7 and 14 days.

Where we live, our services and our communities
There are many challenges to health and wellbeing especially whilst dealing with COVID-19. 
However, County Durham has many assets that can support and protect health, some of  
these are set out below:

 

4 5

Building on our assets

Where we live
13,800 businesses

21 green flags for 
parks and open spaces

2 in 5 residents live 
in rural areas

12 miles of coastline

150 miles of former 
railway paths

Durham Cathedral 
and Castle are world 
heritage sites

530,000 people live 
here, around 1 in 5 
are over the age of 65

30 dementia friendly 
communities

43 Crees *
14 Area Action 
Partnerships 

71% people working 
age are in employment

59,000 adult carers 
in County Durham

38 mutual aid shops

4 colleges

33 further education 
establishments

13 special 
educational needs 
schools

1 University

234 primary schools

52 Secondary Schools

39 libraries

12 Council owned 
leisure centres

177 breastfeeding 
friendly businesses

Our communities Our Services

Sunderland  Durham  Hartlepool
Heritage Coast

Recent developments include:

l a COVID-19 landing page 
hosting the public COVID-19 
dashboard. 

l a dashboard providing 
information on a) our Shielded 
Patient List (SPL), and                
b) comparing against other 
North East local authorities.

l Updated information on our 
economy and employment 
(together with a State of  the 
County storymap), including 
the post COVID-19 economy 
(estimated furlough numbers in 
the county, unemployment and 
claimant counts etc.

l New interactive content 
covering the Index of  Multiple 
Deprivation 2019.

*A Cree is County Durham’s version of  Australia’s Men’s Shed. Crees aim to engage with those at risk of  suicide by tackling 
social isolation and self-harm through skill-sharing and informal learning to promote social interaction. Although Crees were 
originally aimed at men, some have developed for women and young people.

P
age 324

http://www.durhaminsight.info


Response to COVID-19

The COVID-19 pandemic is one of  the greatest public health 
challenges in living memory, with significant repercussions 
for health and wellbeing. It has affected every part of  our 
society and is likely to lead to lasting changes to how we live, 
work and play. The virus is highly infectious and can cause 
severe respiratory illness. As at the end of  September, our 
county has suffered from over 4,600 confirmed infections and 
over 700 deaths associated with COVID-19. The risk of  dying 
from COVID-19 infection is highest in the elderly or those with 
underlying health conditions, however the risks are found to 
be higher in males than females; higher in those living in the 
more deprived areas than those living in the least deprived; 
and higher in those in Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) 
groups than in White ethnic groups. As well as these direct 
health consequences of  the COVID-19 virus, the subsequent   
restrictions, have affected other areas of  health and wellbeing 
including mental health, social isolation, and changes in eating, 
drinking and physical activity behaviours. The wider impacts are 
still unfolding, with concerns around the health of  the economy, 
employment, education, businesses and socio-economic 
inequalities. 

However, throughout these difficult times our services, 
communities, and residents have been working together in 
partnership to address these challenges.

The public health team have been at the heart of  the council’s 
response to the COVID-19 pandemic. 

l Emergency preparedness, response and recovery
 Since the imminent threat of  COVID-19 to our population 

became clear in January, we worked with regional partners 
including Council departments, the NHS, Public Health 
England (PHE), the Local Resilience Forum (LRF), and 
the Civil Contingencies Unit (CCU). This supported our 
planning and response to the virus. When the pandemic 
was declared as a major incident in March, we worked 
with our partners and communities to implement measures 
to help protect and support our residents, families, 
businesses, social care, community organisations, and NHS 
structures in County Durham. 

l Providing public health advice and support 
 Throughout the planning and response to the pandemic, the public health team have 

worked across council departments and with external partners to provide public health 
advice in line with national government guidance. We set up a single point of  contact 
for requests for public health advice and to date have processed over 1,000 enquires. 
For example, we have supported schools and universities to clarify, interpret and apply 
guidance so that they could operate safely and reduce the risk of  transmission of  the 
virus. Where government guidance was not available for some of  our services, we 
worked with them to develop local advice based on public health principles.  

County Durham   

Together

Better for everyone

Wash HANDS
For 20 seconds and often

Cover FACE
Wear a face covering when 
possible

2

Make SPACE
Stay 2m apart from others

Get a TEST  
If you have symptoms of 
Coronavirus 

CORONAVIRUS 
is still out there

Play your part to stay safe  
in County Durham

durham.gov.uk/coronavirus

CORONAVIRUS CORONAVIRUS 
If the NHS Calls you... 
please self-isolate 
for 14 days
Together we can keep our communities safe

County Durham   

Together

Better for everyone

l Local Outbreak Control Plan 
 In July we published a Local Outbreak Control Plan for County Durham, which sets out 

our plan to protect our local communities by preventing and controlling transmission of  
COVID-19. The plan includes provision of  clear prevention messages, rapid detection 
and management of  outbreaks, and working with various settings to implement 
appropriate infection control measures. It also outlines the support we will continue to 
offer to our communities, particularly those who are vulnerable or needing to self-isolate. 
Since July we have responded to outbreaks of  COVID-19 in care homes, workplaces 
and social settings in County Durham. This has meant working closely with colleagues 
across the council and with PHE Health Protection Team. Utilised the Health and 
Wellbeing Board as a Member-led Local Outbreak Engagement Board to support the 
ongoing response to Covid-19, providing the opportunity for members to communicate 
openly with the public and residents on this issue.

l Maintaining and adapting essential public health services
 Many of  our public health services needed to change or adapt to continue to safely 

deliver during the COVID-19 lockdown and restrictions. Services developed innovative 
new ways of  working to continue to support vulnerable groups. Some examples are:

l Drug and alcohol recovery service adopted online initial assessments for new 
clients, and also began to deliver recovery groups through online platforms 
to maintain this important element of  treatment. As pharmacies were unable 
to administer vital opioid substitution treatments, alternative methods were 
developed including secure deliveries, complemented by increased remote 
support for clients. Where face-to-face clinical appointments were necessary, 
these were conducted in recovery centres with appropriate social distancing 
and personal protective equipment.  

l Health visiting service developed enhanced support for breastfeeding mothers 
included daily phone and video calls through which health visitors were able to 
demonstrate and observe breastfeeding technique. Where necessary, face-to-
face support has been provided by a dedicated team equipped with necessary 
protective equipment. Breastfeeding peer-support groups have also moved to 
online platforms which have received positive feedback. Early signs are that 
we are seeing some improvements in breastfeeding initiation and continuation 
rates, and we are investigating the reasons for this.

l Public health team co-ordinated a multi-agency communications plan to ensure 
that victims of  domestic abuse, including children and young people knew how 
to access support during lockdown. During the pandemic we have increased 
our capacity within the specialist domestic abuse service, including the ability to 
offer dedicated remote access counselling sessions. We have also co-ordinated 
with children and young people services to ensure that vulnerable children and 
young people effected by domestic abuse could still access support. 

76

P
age 325



98

County Durham Together – Community Hub

In March 2020 we worked with our partners and the community to plan and launch County 
Durham Together, a community hub to support socially vulnerable people during the 
pandemic, particularly those who were shielding or self-isolating. The hub has helped 
coordinate food deliveries and link people to volunteers, welfare advice, and wider support 
services. Since it was launched the community hub has supported over 10,000 people. This 
has been through proactive contact with vulnerable residents that were identified, and by 
responding to incoming enquiries from the public. Over 2,000 shielding residents needed 
support with food supplies and 1,500 needed support with pharmacy supplies. 

To help identify residents deemed to be extremely vulnerable to COVID-19, our public 
health intelligence team worked with the NHS North East Commissioning Support Unit to 
develop an innovative data tool that brought together information about social vulnerability 
and existing clinical conditions. This enabled us to proactively contact those identified to 
offer them support. Over 27,000 residents in County Durham needed to shield during the 
pandemic, a further 58,500+ were identified as vulnerable.

As the pandemic progressed and people were self-isolating and shielding for a longer 
period of  time, the Hub noticed that some callers talked of  their growing loneliness and 
lack of  social contact, some people said the Hub Officer was the only person they had 
spoken to for days. In response to this the hub developed County Durham Together - Chat 
Together. The service adds to the person-centred offer of  the Hub and provides general 
companionship, a welfare check and the opportunity for a friendly conversation for people 
who were self-isolating or shielding and those who are still generally missing contact with 
family, friends and activities. The Hub also links with partner organisations to refer people for 
more specialised befriending and mental wellbeing needs where necessary. 

At the peak of  the pandemic, over 200 council staff  and over 80 NHS and Wellbeing for 
Life staff  were redeployed from their usual roles to support the community hub, which was 
functioning 7 days per week. A training programme was developed to support and develop 
staff  in their roles and enable effective responses to clients’ needs. On returning to their 
usual roles, many staff  have identified that the training and Hub experience is valued and of  
benefit to their future practice. 

Health impact assessment 
We have conducted a health impact assessment that has assessed the potential impact 
of  COVID-19 on inequalities in County Durham. This highlighted some areas that need 
to be addressed to guard against widening inequalities. Four key areas were identified: 
socio-economic factors and poverty reduction, mental health and emotional wellbeing, and 
use of  community assets and community mobilisation and inclusion of  vulnerable groups. 
Understanding these will help our services and partners across County Durham to take 
actions to reduce health inequalities. 

The COVID-19 pandemic is far from over; however we are committed to working in 
partnership with partners, communities, and residents to continue to protect and support 
the health and wellbeing of  all County Durham’s residents. Public health services will 
continue to learn, adapt and innovate as we support our communities to respond and then 
recover from what has been an extremely challenging time.

 

This is Charlie Elliott. Charlie of  Brookwood Outdoors 
CIC supported vulnerable members of  the community by 
delivering boxes of  freshly prepared hot meals.

Here are some of  our DCC staff  redeployed to prepare 
food boxes to deliver to vulnerable residents.

Community grants were given out to 
local scout groups. Funding was used 
to buy activity packs for children, 
young people and families enabling 
them to learn new skills and cook 
together at home.

The Meal Orchard project received a grant from the 3 
towns AAP which was used to deliver hot meals which were 
prepared and cooked by a local company. Lee Tones and 
his daughter Ellie volunteered to deliver the vegetables 
used in the cooking of  these meals for the Meal Orchard 
Project. 

This is Linda Parkin and her dog 
Oscar. Linda had been advised to 
shield by the NHS so could not leave 
her home to get any shopping. Linda 
received support from The County 
Durham Together Hub and one of  our 
wellbeing4Life workers arranged for 
essential groceries to be delivered to 
Linda and Oscar. 

P
age 326



Approach to Wellbeing

Over the past year we have developed an Approach to Wellbeing that we intend to build     
into all of  our organisations and services. We are confident that following this evidence-
based approach will help us promote healthier and more resilient communities across our 
county. This Approach to Wellbeing supports the delivery of  the County Durham Vision 
2035, which sets out our ambition for more and better jobs, people living longer and more 
independent lives, and connected communities. 

At the heart of  the Approach to Wellbeing is a recognition that communities play a vital role 
in their own development. By empowering local people to make decisions about issues 
that affect their communities we acknowledge their valuable contribution and responsibility, 
enabling us to work together to discover the best solutions. For example, working with 
people to co-design services will help us develop services that are tailored to communities, 
utilising their assets and targeting their needs. 

Our approach has six principles, that are underpinned by evidence drawn from published 
research, best practice and local insights. Following these principles means that our actions 
will need to be informed by conversations with people and communities, listening to their 
knowledge and experience of  what works for them. It means working in partnership with 
communities, building on their strengths while providing the support they need to manage 
challenges and setbacks they may face. It also means sharing power with communities, 
inviting them to make, or influence, important decisions that will affect them. 

10 11

Alzheimer’s Society
Dementia Friendly Communities (DFC’s) have developed as a social movement through 
empowering and supporting communities to design their own groups and to make local 
businesses and services Dementia-friendly based on the needs of  their own local area. 
There are currently 30 DFC’s across the County with more to follow. The Alzheimer’s Society 
supports these DFC’s by using networks of  service users to support in recruitment of  staff  
and in shaping services to empower its service users through tools, advice and strategies 
rather than doing things ‘to’ or ‘for’ people.

Adult and Health Commissioning
The wellbeing principles form part of  all new contracts for mental health, meaning that 
wellbeing is considered as a central part of  service delivery. This will ensure that the people 
delivering services on behalf  of  the local authority will work more closely with communities 
to build on their assets, to share decision-making and co-design services to build greater 
resilience in communities.

Holiday activities with food
Following work with families, it was identified 
that access to food and also access to positive 
and meaningful activities for children during 
school holidays was an issue. Through Area 
Action Partnerships (AAP’s), local community 
youth groups were given additional funding to 
enhance the range of  activities they could offer 
over holidays and to provide a meal with the 
activity. This meant that groups who already 
knew the children and families and were 
already delivering community-led services 
could reach more families.

We are using the Approach to Wellbeing to influence how are services are being delivered. 
For example, we are encouraging our commissioned mental health services and providers 
to work more closely with communities. We are also designing new early help services, 
working with parents, head teachers and others to identify key challenges to pupils’ 
emotional wellbeing and seeking to codesign potential solutions and support with them. 

People and Places Supporting Systems 

Using what works:
everything we do is supported by evidence   

informed by local conversations.

Empowering communities
working with communities to support 

their development and empowerment.

Working better together
working together across sectors to 

reduce duplication and ensure 
greater impact.

Being asset focused
acknowledging the different needs of  

communities and the potential of  
their assets.

Sharing decision-making
designing and developing services 

with the people who need them.

Building resilience
helping the most disadvantaged and 

vulnerable, and building up their 
future resilience.

Doing with, not to
making our health and care interventions, 

empowering and centred around 
you as an individual.

County Durham Commissioning and Delivery Plan 2020-2025
The plan sets out the commissioning and delivery intentions of  the partners of  the Integrated 
Care Board, through the life course and across 22 chapters. Each chapter is structured in 
the same format to address why change is needed, the objectives and goals of  change, 
and what interventions are going to be undertaken over the coming years to achieve these. 
The planned interventions are grouped into themes including addressing health inequalities, 
personalised care, and the Approach to Wellbeing. Utilising the approach as a means of  
framing specific interventions has introduced and challenged partners to think about system 
working which engages patients and residents, and to think more inclusively on what matters 
to communities, rather than thinking and planning along organisational perspectives alone. 
The plan is updated twice a year in the Spring and Autumn, and whilst the approach is a 
relatively new concept to many of  the partners the next iteration of  the plan will include a 
self-assessment of  the initiatives against the model, supported by the Approach to Wellbeing 
Programme Manager.

P
age 327



12 13

The Taylors’ community

In my previous reports, we have been following the Taylor family, a fictional family who 
experience the common challenges and opportunities for health and wellbeing in County 
Durham. The Taylor’s community – the people and places they live among – provide an 
important role in supporting health and wellbeing. Family, friends, neighbours and local 
services help them remain connected with others and provide opportunities for them to give 
and receive support when it is needed.

Meet Simon - Simon is a 
community support worker based 
in John’s GP surgery. Simon 
has been supporting John with 
giving up smoking and guidance 
around his alcohol consumption. 
During the COVID-19 pandemic 
John was concerned he would 
take up smoking again as the 
support from Simon might not be 
available. However, Simon kept in 
contact with John via video calls 
which has really helped John 
continue to not smoke.

Meet Mandy - Mandy runs the 
children and young people’s mental 
health support group, which Dan 
now attends. Dan struggled to 
engage in the group at first, so 
Mandy ‘buddied’ Dan up with 
another young person to provide 
some peer support. Dan is now fully 
engaged in the group and has since 
been involved in feedback events 
to help develop an online mental 
health support offer for children and 
young people during the COVID-19 
pandemic.

Meet Stephen - Stephen is 
a sports coach at the local 
leisure centre and has been 
supporting Olivia to keep 
active. Olivia enjoys the 
sessions, has made new 
friends and feels much fitter. 
She would like to do more 
sessions, but since the 
COVID-19 pandemic Stephen 
is no longer offering face-face 
sessions. However, Stephen 
has developed some online 
activity resources which Olivia 
has accessed to keep her 
motivated. 

Meet Dean - Due to the closing 
of  schools during the COVID-19 
pandemic and the children being 
at home more during the day, the 
family have struggled to provide 
additional food for the children. 
The family have accessed their 
local food bank for support. Dean 
is a volunteer at the local food 
bank and has been delivering food 
parcels to the family. 

Dan Callum OliviaJohn JeanGeorgeSarah and 
Charlie

Throughout all of  our work, we aim to promote healthier and more resilient communities in 
which residents in County Durham can thrive. There are many assets in our communities, 
but we must continue to work with our partners and the people who live there to harness 
these and support those in greatest need. Here are some examples of  the partners and 
people we work with who support residents and promote positive health and wellbeing.

Paul is one of  our Health Advocates and has been 
volunteering in this role since 2018. Paul has raised 
awareness of  many health and wellbeing campaigns 
with his colleagues across Durham County Council and 
has supported them to access these. This is Paul being 
a positive role model and signing up to the 2019 Dry 
January campaign. 

Here is what Paul said about being a Health Advocate: 

How we have worked with partners to impact on the Health and 
Wellbeing of residents living in County Durham

This is David Jones. With support from the Housing 
Solutions Warmer Homes Team David was able to 
access a free scheme and receive a grant to replace 
his current central heating system with a new one. The 
pilot scheme aimed to support older people to ensure 
their homes are warm, safe and they are not at risk of  
fuel poverty. 

Here is what David said about the scheme: 

Community Outreach 
Andrea and Elliott Snowball work as cancer awareness workers and 
deliver engagement sessions with residents in local communities across 
County Durham. The sessions raise awareness on several health-related 
topics such as smoking, alcohol, staying safe in the sun and cancer. These 
sessions support residents in understanding some of  the risks associated 
with these topics, promote good health and wellbeing and signpost people 
onto services if  further support is required. 

Community Action Team (CAT)  
The CAT brings together residents and a range of  organisations 
to tackle housing and environmental issues in a specific area by 
identifying local priorities and making best use of  resources. The 
CAT works with multi-agency partners and as well as delivering 
some level of  enforcement, CAT have a key role in promoting health 
and wellbeing and healthier lifestyles. For more information about 
how we promote healthier neighbourhoods for our residents see 
page 16.

“I am delighted with 
my new central heating 
system; my home is 
warm and comfortable 
now and I’m not 
worried about the cold 
weather and high coal 
bills anymore. I was 
amazed that I didn’t 
have to pay anything,   
it was totally free”.

“It’s given me the 
opportunity to 
promote health within 
my team and also 
meet a diverse range 
of  staff  within DCC 
which has been a real 
pleasure”

P
age 328



14

High quality drug and alcohol services 

Action  
1  To support people needing 

help with our new drug and 
alcohol service. 

2 To work with families to help 
them with drug and alcohol 
issues. 

3 Promote awareness about 
sensible levels of  alcohol 
intake.

Good jobs and places to live, 
learn and play is a focus for this 
annual report see pages 20-23

Every child to have the best 
start in life is a focus for this 
annual report see pages 16-19

Update on the seven public health strategic priorities and the 
specific actions against each priority area

In my first annual report, I identified seven key public health priorities for the Taylor family 
and local communities to lead healthier lives. These were based on the Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment (JSNA) but also evidence of  ‘what works’ to make a difference. A 
recommendation from 2018 was to implement the actions for each priority working with 
partners across County Durham. Here are some examples of  progress made.

Promoting positive behaviours 

Action  
1  Introduce the Active 30 to 

help children to become 
more active.

2 Reducing exposure to 
second hand smoke. 

3 Increase awareness about 
the risks of  alcohol.

Progress  
1  In response to COVID-19 Active 30 developed an online hub 

with physical activity resources to help support schools, 
parents and young people to keep active to support health 
and wellbeing at home. 

 www.countydurhamsport.com/young-people/active-30-durham 
2 The danger of  second hand smoke is now part of  all training 

delivered to services who work with families. This is in addition 
to inclusion on the Making Every Contact Count (MECC) 
training.

3 Implemented the recommendations from the Alcohol CLeaR 
(Challenge, Leadership, Results) self-assessment and peer 
assessment. In addition we increased the reach and uptake 
of  alcohol harm campaigns such as Dry January, What’s the 
Harm and 7 cancers. 

Better quality of life through integrated health and care services

Action  
1  Encourage people to have 

the flu vaccination.
2 To work with health and 

social care organisations to 
integrate services to improve 
quality of  life. 

3 Support people to get 
involved in local social and 
physical activities to reduce 
social isolation.

Progress  
1  The Flu Prevention Board have supported the biggest local 

joint flu vaccine programme to date with further plans to 
extend the reach and scope of  the programme into 2020/21 

2 Working with partners through the County Durham Integrated 
Care Partnership to review and implement the local System 
Plan.

3 Public health continues to support an extensive range of  
programmes to address the wider social determinants 
of  health within local communities. For example: Social 
Prescribing Link Workers - working in GP practices enabling 
patients to build confidence and access support within their 
local community, e.g. walking groups, befriending services 
and volunteering opportunities.  

Mental Health at scale

Action  
1  Support small businesses 

to take action about mental 
health, and train staff  to 
become Mental Health First 
Aiders

2 Get involved in Time to 
Change to reduce stigma 
due to mental health.

 

Progress  
1  Worked with Business Durham and its networks to support 

small and medium businesses to reduce mental health 
stigma and discrimination, including training over 80 staff  
to become Mental Health First Aiders.

2 In 2019, County Durham was successful in becoming 
a funded Time to Change Hub, enabling us to make 
positive progress in tackling mental health stigma and 
discrimination.

Healthy Workforce

Progress  
1  The BHAWA has helped facilitate 300,000 health promoting 

contacts in the workplace. Throughout the COVID19 
pandemic, demand for virtual training has continued e.g. 
health advocates and mental health awareness.

2 Across the region, County Durham continues to have the 
highest number of  registered businesses actively engaging 
and progressing the award. Recruitment of  new businesses 
has continued. County Durham, currently has 78 businesses 
working towards all levels of  the BHAWA.

3 Staff  flu campaign 2019 - 
 l  401 front line staff  were vaccinated in 2019
 l  Dry January – 360 staff  took part in 2020 campaign
 l  Mental Health – Time to Talk day and Mental Health   

 Awareness Week raising awareness of  mental health and   
 challenging stigma and discrimination

 l  Physical Activity – During the lockdown staff  have created   
 a virtual exercise forum where they share pictures and   
 routes to motivate one another.

15

Every child to 
have the best 
start in life

Good jobs 
and places to 
live, learn and 

play

High quality 
drug and 
alcohol 
services

Healthy 
workforce

Promoting 
positive 

behaviours Better quality 
of life through 

integrated 
health 

and care 
services

Mental 
health 

at scale

Action  
1  Support organisations to 

promote the wellbeing of  
their staff. 

2 Reach more organisations 
with our Better Health at Work 
award;(BHAWA).

3 Support a range of  marketing 
campaigns to promote health 
and wellbeing award.

 

Progress  
1  Service provision has transformed through the COVID-19 

pandemic to enable staff  and clients to be safe and still 
access treatment and recovery services. Referrals have seen 
stable or increased numbers accessing services. 

2 Flexible support for individual needs of  families continues 
and we have reshaped our outreach support to include video 
calls, remote working and treatment. Also, an increase in 
targeted bespoke support to 46 clients and their families 
whose treatment plans had been effected as a result of  the 
pandemic. 

3 Worked with all off-license premises to promote Chief  
Medical Officer (CMO) alcohol guidelines as part of  Alcohol 
Awareness Week.

P
age 329

http://www.countydurhamsport.com/young-people/active-30-durham 


1716

Good jobs and places to live, learn and play

In my 2018/19 report I said we would:
l  Develop health standards for private landlords to implement.

l Support older people to ensure their homes are warm and safe and not at risk of  fuel 
poverty.

l Set out a plan to restrict the increase in take-away food.

The quality of  our housing and the neighbourhoods in which we live are fundamentally 
linked to our health and wellbeing. Poor housing can contribute to various illnesses, injuries 
and mental health conditions. Deprived neighbourhoods are often associated with higher 
crime rates, unhealthy food outlets, betting shops, and stigmatisation of  communities, 
and can lead to health and social harms. However, these problems are preventable if  
root-causes of  poor-quality housing and unhealthy neighbourhood environments can 
be addressed. That is why we have been working closely with our council partners and 
communities to improve housing standards, and to promote healthier neighbourhoods for 
our residents to live in.

Why is this important?
The homes and the places in which people live are important to support their overall health 
and wellbeing – impacting on their quality of  life; their healthy life expectancy (this is the 
expected number of  years of  life spent in good health), their risk of  illness, and their access 
to appropriate support services. Improving the quality of  housing, living conditions and their 
wider environment will lead to improved health and wellbeing for our residents. This is more 
important than ever as we are now spending more time at home due to COVID-19. Whether 
people have a long term condition, are experiencing social or health inequalities or simply 
have changing needs as they get older, it is important that all homes and places in County 
Durham provide a safe, inclusive and secure environments for people to live and grow within 
their local community.

Influencing Housing
We are working with housing and planning colleagues to understand and adopt health 
interventions across housing and environmental policies, projects and actions to see living 
standards rise and fuel poverty reduce. 

Key achievements in 2019/20
l  Working with the selective licensing team we have contributed to the County Durham 

Selective Licensing Evidence Report incorporating the evidence between poor housing, 
deprivation and ill health. 

l The development of  draft licence conditions setting out the expected standards to improve 
quality of  housing and living conditions for tenants in some of  our most deprived areas.

l Health is now a cross cutting theme of  the local housing strategy. 

l Undertaken a Health Impact Assessment (HIA) of  the housing strategy, working with 
partners from housing, health and social care identifying measures that can improve 
equity of  access to quality housing, mitigate against financial barriers to having a secure 
home and prevent against accidents or injuries. 

l Produced a HIA on homelessness to consider opportunities to address those most at risk 
and to support rough sleepers. 

l Upskilling housing staff  in Make Every Contact Count (MECC) to make the most of  health 
improvement opportunities. 

Of people of 
working age are 

employed ... 
estimates

suggest this has 
decreased due to 

COVID

  

Average weekly 
earnings is 

£441 

a third
of which is 

accessible green 
space

County Durham 
covers an area of 

862 
square miles

71.4%

There is an average of 
96.1 hot food takeaways 
per 100,000 population 

in England. 
In County Durham 
the rate is 119.6

Over 13,800 
businesses and 

over 180,000 jobs

1 in 3 people 
are employed 

in public 
administration, 

health and 
education

Approximately 
570 

hot food 
takeaways across 
County Durham

It is estimated 
that 69,000 
employees 

were 
furloughed

Over 95% of 
people over the 

age of 65 receive 
winter fuel 
payments

County Durham 

has 33,500 
(14%)

households living 
in fuel poverty

P
age 330



1918

Restricting increase in take-away food 
Now more than ever it is a critical time to support residents to be of  a healthy weight. 
Evidence has reported that there is an increased risk of  COVID-19 diagnosis, serious illness 
and death among people of  excess weight. 

Work is ongoing to support our young people, families and communities to be able to live 
and interact within environments where healthier food and drink choices are the easy and 
accessible choice.

Key achievements in 2019/20
l  The County Durham Plan includes a policy which will allow us to carefully consider 

over concentrations of   hot food takeaways in our defined retail centres and will only be 
approved in certain circumstances. The policy will also ensure that in order to promote 
healthy lifestyles in young people, hot food takeaways will not be allowed within 400 
metres of  an entry point of  an existing or proposed school or further education college. 
The policy approach and evidence base have been subject to wide consultation and was 
discussed at length in front of   an independent planning inspector at the examination in 
public. Following the recent publication of  the Inspector’s report, the policy approach 
can now be afforded significant weight in determining planning applications. Full Council 
will be asked to adopt the updated policy as part of  the County Durham Plan at the 
earliest opportunity.

l Takeaway Masterclasses are to take place when safe to do so to help businesses 
promote healthy cooking practices and menu options. These will provide advice on 
simple practical changes that can be made when buying, preparing, cooking, serving 
and promoting food.

Our joint work with housing will ensure that the Taylors’ health and 
wellbeing is considered in both private and public housing. Jean 
and George were referred to Warmer Homes service by their 
GP and subsequently received a new boiler and home insulation 
making their home warmer and more energy efficient. Sarah 
and John self  referred to the Managing Money Better service 
and received advice to access lower energy tariffs and to switch 
energy providers.

The improved cooking practices and menu options adopted by 
hot food takeaways will benefit the Taylor family by improving their 
access to better quality meals when they buy takeaway foods. 

How has this work 
benefitted the Taylors

Older People in their homes
In collaboration with our housing, health and social services colleagues we have helped 
support older and vulnerable people through home adaptations, improved energy efficient 
homes, and better integrated planning to promote independence and security. These will 
help improve their quality of  life as well as prevent illnesses associated with poor housing.
County Durham has 33,500 (14%) households living in fuel poverty. Fuel poverty occurs 
when a household cannot afford to maintain an internal household temperature adequate 
for the health and wellbeing of  the occupants. Reducing fuel poverty remains one of  our 
priorities.

Key achievements in 2019/20
l  We have actively engaged with the fuel poverty group making winter warmth and 

reducing health inequalities a key strand of  their action plan.

l Refreshing the Cold Weather Plan and Heatwave Plan and implementing new local 
actions and engaging more closely with our AAPs.

l Based on information from the publication of  NICE guidance (NG6),‘Excess winter deaths 
and illness and the health risks associated with cold homes’ we identified an opportunity 
to maximise reductions in levels of  fuel poverty and cold-related illness interventions with 
a specific focus on working with primary care to identify and refer patients with chronic 
obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and asthma. 

l NG6 has also been used to embed cold-related ill health assistance into the Council’s 
Affordable Warmth Strategy.

l Working with Housing Solutions Warmer Homes Team we developed and piloted a cold 
related ill health project offering free intervention such as new or replacement boilers  / 
central heating system, home insulation and fuel energy advice to assist them mitigate 
bouts of  cold related illness and the impacts of  fuel poverty. 

l Evaluated the pilot with Teesside University and through the recommendations the 
Warmer Homes service have adapted the interventions and seen a greater uptake in GP 
surgeries engaging with the service. We will extend this engagement by working with the 
newly created social prescribing link workers across County Durham.

l Joint working with Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCG), Public Health and Housing 
Solutions has resulted in positive contacts with patients living in cold homes or having 
cold related ill health. Over the last two years a total of  1,886 households have received 
financial assistance, energy efficiency measures and central heating/boiler grants with 
£3.64m of  external funding drawn down into County Durham from the energy supply 
companies.

Betty, an elderly widow renting a house in County Durham was 
referred to Managing Money Better (MMB) as she was worried 
about increasing direct debits on her energy bills. MMB found 
she was on an expensive standard energy tariff  and made 
arrangements for her to move to a cheaper tariff, this has saved 
her £210 a year. In addition, during a visit to her home, MMB 
found Betty was eligible for a new boiler and insulation measures 
under the Energy Company Obligation Flexible health criteria.  
The work was carried out the following month.

CASE STUDY

P
age 331



1514 2120

Why is this important?
We know that the first 1000 days of  life from conception to age 2, is a critical phase, during 
which the foundations of  a child’s development are laid. If  a child’s body and brain develop 
well their life chances are improved. 

We also know that supporting children to reach their potential through supporting their 
health and wellbeing throughout their school years can greatly improve their educational 
outcomes.

Focusing on the early years and childhood and encouraging a healthy start in life can 
positively improve the health outcomes of  babies’ and children long term, including: 

 l early cognitive and non-cognitive development
 l social interaction and development
 l children’s readiness for school
 l later educational outcomes

Behavioural Insights- Understanding the health and wellbeing needs of children with special 
educational needs and disability 
In 2019 we completed a Health Needs Assessment (HNA) for Children with Special 
Educational Needs and Disability (SEND). This detailed assessment means that we have 
a better understanding of  the health needs of  some of  County Durham’s most vulnerable 
children and young people. The HNA produced a range of  key findings which were used to 
inform a comprehensive set of  recommendations for key themes included:

l Having a clear focus on improving the quality, particularly the health element, of  
education, health and care plans, ensuring children and young people get the right level 
support at the right time. 

l Ensuring that all services have a good understanding of  the impact of  Adverse 
Childhood Experiences and can implement a trauma informed approach.

l Ensuring there is a focus on supporting a range of  multi-agency practitioners to use 
appropriate evidence – based tools to identify any speech, language and communication 
issues at the earliest opportunity and linking this to an all age pathway.

Findings and recommendations from the HNA have been incorporated into future strategic 
documents and plans making sure that as a system we are continually striving to improve 
outcomes for our children and young people with SEND and their families.

Provided dedicated support for women smoking while pregnant and included support for their 
partners. 
In October 2019 we worked with our Stop Smoking Service (SSS) to gather qualitative 
insights from pregnant smokers to inform the development of  the service. The women were 
helpful in identifying referral pathway failures and shared their experiences of  behaviour 
change. This helped us develop a plan of  action to overcomes these challenges and 
remodel the SSS to meet their needs. As a result, from April 2020 the service provider 
began to deliver an enhanced service to pregnant women and their “significant others”.  
This included:

l Behavioural support which goes beyond the “standard” 12-week programme and is 
available throughout pregnancy which includes additional support post-partum to ensure 
support at a time when most women fear relapse.

l Combination Nicotine Replacement Therapy (NRT - two NRT products) for a minimum of  
12 weeks.

l Support, throughout pregnancy, for “significant others”.

 

Every child to have the best start in life

In my 2018/19 report as part of my strategic priority for every child to have the best start in life 
I said we would: 
l  All schools in County Durham working towards healthy schools with emphasis on mental 

health. 

l Provide dedicated support for women smoking while pregnant and include support for 
their partners. 

l Introduce breastfeeding friendly venues. 

l To understand the health and wellbeing needs of  children with special educational needs 
and disability. 

It is estimated that 
in County Durham 
1 in 10 children 
have a mental 

disorder

 

There are over 
26,000 children 
ages 0-4 in County 

Durham...
5% of the total 

population

17.5% 
babies born have 
mothers wo are 

tobacco dependent

There are around 
10,400 

children with SEN 
(in state schools)

That’s over 
10,000 
children 

in County 
Durham

Half of babies born 
in County Durham 
have breastmilk as 

their first feed

This 
decreases to 
3 in 10 being 
breastfed at 
5-8 weeks

This is 
14.5% of 
all school 

pupils

Over 850 babies in 2018/19.
This is significantly higher 
that the England average

Giving children the best start in life is a fundamental part of  improving health and reducing 
health inequalities. What happens in pregnancy and early childhood will impact on physical 
and emotional health all the way through to adulthood. It is important that we encourage 
positive early experiences to ensure children are ready to learn, ready for school and have 
good life chances.

In County Durham, we are committed to working together in a coordinated way with our 
partners in health, social care, and the community so that children, parents and families 
receive the support they need to give every child the best start in life.

P
age 332



Key achievements in 2019/2020 to support women smoking while pregnant and their partners
l  We have reduced Smoking at the time of  delivery across County Durham from 17.4% in 

2018/19 to 15.8% in 2019/2020

l We have worked with the North East Yale System Leadership group to tackle too many 
pregnant women smoking at the time of  delivery. This led to the development of  a 
Tobacco Dependency script for professionals to follow and a new clinical pathway for 
smoking dependency which was formally launched in September 2019.

l We have ensured that carbon monoxide (CO) readings are taken at every midwife 
appointment to monitor smoking status and track progress for those women who had 
stopped smoking.

l We have promoted and rolled out the use of  the Smoke Free app funded by the 
Integrated Care System Prevention Board to complement the existing pathway and 
support to treat tobacco dependency for both pregnant women and their partners.

 

 

22 23

All schools in County Durham working towards healthy schools with emphasis on mental health. 
We have worked with local schools and partners across County Durham to develop a Health 
and Wellbeing Framework, with an emphasis on mental health. The framework supports 
schools and education settings to improve, promote and develop good health and wellbeing 
for children, young people and staff. 

We have piloted the Health and Wellbeing Framework with schools and settings and 
feedback was used to inform further development, roll out and implementation of  the 
framework. We are now working with our partners within DCC Education Services, 
Education Psychology, the Mental Health Support Teams and Harrogate and District 
Foundation Trust School Nursing service to support more schools who have signed up to 
use the new framework in the autumn term. Here is what some of  our schools said about 
the Health and Wellbeing Framework

 

In response to COVID-19 we developed an online resource with information about services 
available in County Durham to support the mental health and emotional wellbeing of  
children, young people and their parents. This was shared with all schools across County 
Durham. 

It allows you 
very quickly to 
identify the area 
of  focus for 
your school.

It gave us the opportunity 
to reflect upon our mental 
health provision and what 
action needs to be taken 
in the future.

It is very useful and detailed 
and for someone already 
committed to the emotional and 
mental well-being of  families 
and staff  it is a very welcome 
resource. 

https://www.durham.gov.uk/familiesmentalhealth

Sarah’s Health Visitor attended one of  HDFT’s infant feeding 
training sessions. As a result, the Health visitor was able to 
signpost Sarah to the Breastfeeding Peer Support Programme as 
Sarah had admitted that she had found it difficult to breastfeed 
baby Charlie, which made her feel anxious and upset. 

Sarah has since been regularly attending the programme. This 
has helped her access the support and guidance she needed to 
breastfeed Charlie. 

Sarah has also made friends with some of  the other mums 
who attend the programme and they often meet up at the 
Breastfeeding friendly cafes in their local area. Sarah now feels 
much more confident to breastfeed Charlie. 

How has this work 
benefitted the Taylors

Introduced breastfeeding friendly venues 
In June 2018 the ‘Breastfeeding Friendly County Durham Business Scheme’ was reviewed 
and relaunched. By taking part in this scheme, cafés, restaurants, leisure centres and 
community venues show that they are committed to ensuring their staff  and premises are 
welcoming and supportive of  breastfeeding mothers. 

To promote the scheme, we ran a three-month county wide marketing campaign to coincide 
with national and world breastfeeding events and campaigns. We now have 177 businesses 
signed up to the Breastfeeding Friendly County Durham business scheme.

To find out what our County Durham mums think of  the scheme:       
http://www.durham.gov.uk/breastfeedingfriendly
To hear from some of  our breastfeeding mothers:                                                                
https://www.durham.gov.uk/breastfeeding

Key achievements in 2019-2020 in County Durham for breastfeeding
l  Reviewed and re-accredited all Durham County Council venues 

in 2019.

l 200 frontline practitioners attended the County Durham Infant 
feeding conference 

l Harrogate & District Foundation Trust (HDFT) Specialist Infant 
Feeding Practitioners introduced and are delivering the 
Breastfeeding Peer Support Programme - 46 volunteers have signed up

l Over 5,000 individuals are users of  the Best Beginnings Baby Buddy app

l 150 people attending ‘The Big Latch on’ event

l The Growing Healthy 0-5 Health Visiting services in County Durham and Darlington team 
were awarded the ‘UNICEF Baby Friendly Gold award’

l The HDFT Infant Feeding Team now have an active face book page with 600 followers.

l A COVID-19 Infant Feeding Pathway was developed and put into action to ensure families 
could continue to access quality support during the pandemic.

P
age 333

http://www.durham.gov.uk/breastfeedingfriendly 
https://www.durham.gov.uk/breastfeeding


24 1525

Recommendations for 2020

Following the information presented in my report this leads to a number of  recommendations 
we will take forward next year.

Good jobs and places to live, learn and play
1  Work with housing and planning colleagues to implement health interventions that aim to 

raise health and living standards and reduce fuel poverty. 

2. Include housing support for older people in a Healthy Ageing Strategy 

3. Engage with hot food takeaways to promote healthier changes to cooking practices and 
menu options across Takeaways across County Durham. 

Every child to have the best start in life  
1. Increase the number of  schools and settings working towards the Health and Wellbeing 

Framework 

2. Reduce the number of  women who smoke during pregnancy. 

3. Increase the number of  businesses and venues signed up to the breastfeeding 
accreditation scheme.

Smoking recommendation 
In my 2018 annual report we had a focus on smoking with a recommendation to continue 
with the ambition of  only 5% of  our local residents smoking by 2025. Our levels of  smoking 
are at 17% (compared to 22.1% in 2013).

 

 

Update on recommendations from 2019

Mental Health at Scale
1. Increase the number of organisations involved in our collective approach to workforce 

development on mental health 
 A new joint approach to improving mental health training and support for workplaces has been 

developed, which engaged 30 representatives from 17 public, private and voluntary sector 
organisations. This included development and publication of  ‘A framework for good workforce 
mental health in County Durham businesses’. The framework aims to reduce stigma associated 
with poor mental health and develop equitable access to good mental health training and support. 
The joint approach also saw the commissioning of  a new Employee Assistance Programme and 
Mental Health Training Hub to provide free training and support to Small and Medium Sized 
businesses (SME) and Voluntary and Community sector (VCS) organisations based in County 
Durham.

2. Take a proactive approach to reaching more SMEs 
 Surveys and a series of  focus groups were conducted with a cross section of  local SME and 

VCS organisations to inform our framework for good workforce mental health. Over 100 local 
organisations took part in these information-gathering exercises, in which they told us about 
the unique problems that are associated with wellbeing amongst small business owners – 
predominantly relating to the small networks in which they operate and the demands of  running a 
small business. 

3. Continue to focus on Time to Change and tackling stigma and discrimination by more 
employers signing the Time to Change Employer Pledge and support the Time to Change Hub. 

 As of  May 2020, over 20 local organisations have committed to change the way they act and 
think about workplace mental health by signing the Time to Change Employer Pledge. Signatories 
are developing action plans to reduce stigma and discrimination by increasing mental health 
awareness amongst employees, encouraging open conversations about mental health, promoting 
a healthy work/life balance, and promoting effective people management.

Healthy Workforce
1. Help create healthy workforces across County Durham by ensuring alignment with key 

strategies such as the County Durham Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy.  
 Creating healthy workforces has been embedded in County Durham’s Health and Wellbeing 

strategy published in 2020. The strategy includes an ambition to see more mental health 
champions across workforces and support businesses to implement effective preventative 
strategies, to help improve employees’ wellbeing and avoid costs of  absenteeism to organisations. 
This year 151 new health advocates have attended one of  15 training sessions. In addition, Mental 
Health First Aid Training delivered by the regional Trades Union Council (TUC) team were fully 
subscribed and well received. 

2. Attract more businesses to participate and achieve the Better Health at Work award. 
 The Better Health at Work Award continued to proactively reach out to businesses, providing 

them with a framework to improve the health and wellbeing of  their staff. The programme has 
responded to the challenge of  COVID-19 and adapted to ensure the support provided to 
businesses is relevant and beneficial. Since January 2020, 15 new businesses have joined the 
programme. 

3. Encourage and support progress through Better Health at Work award levels. 
 Workers within participating businesses across County Durham continued to benefit from a vibrant 

BHAWA programme that maintained high levels of  engagement, commitment and progression. In 
2019-20, 46 businesses progressed to the next level of  the award which means that thousands 
of  workers now have more health information, improved access to services and more supportive 
working environments.

What is coming up in future annual reports
In my next annual report  I will focus on:

2021 
l High quality drug and alcohol services;
l Better quality of  life through integrated health and care services;
l Promoting positive behaviours;
l COVID-19 recovery.

P
age 334



47587 AHS

Please ask us if you would like this document
summarised in another language or format. 

Braille Audio Large print

Arabic Chinese Urdu

Polish Punjabi Spanish

Bengali Hindi German

French Turkish Malay

polski Español

Deutsch  
Français  Türkçe  Melayu  

PublicHealth@durham.gov.uk
03000 264109

Page 335



This page is intentionally left blank



Director of Public Health

Annual Report 2020

Cabinet

18 November 2020

Amanda Healy

Director of Public Health

P
age 337



Health and wellbeing across County Durham

www.durhaminsight.info

Recent developments include: 

• a COVID-19 landing page hosting the public COVID-19 dashboard

• a dashboard providing information on a) our Shielded Patient List (SPL), 

and b) comparing against other North East local authorities

• Updated information on our economy and employment 

• New interactive content covering the Index of Multiple Deprivation 2019. 

P
age 338

http://www.durhaminsight.info/


Where we live, our services, our communities

There are many challenges to health and wellbeing especially whilst dealing with COVID-19.

However, County Durham has many assets that can support and protect health, some of
these are set out below:

P
age 339



Local Data - COVID-19

• We publish local COVID-19 data on our Durham Insights website 

www.durhaminsight.info/covid-19

• Currently updated once a week but will be moving to 2/3 weekly updates.

• Provides a good overview of the cases, rates, outbreaks, over a 7 and 14 

day period.

• Provides a regional and national comparison. 

P
age 340

http://www.durhaminsight.info/covid-19


Response to COVID-19

The COVID-19 pandemic is one of the greatest public 

health challenges in living memory, with significant 

repercussions for health and wellbeing.

As well as direct health consequences of the COVID-19 

virus, the subsequent restrictions, have affected other 

areas:

• Health and wellbeing including mental health, 

• Social isolation, 

• Physical activity behaviours,

• Employment, 

• Education, 

• Businesses,

• Socio-economic inequalities.

Our services, communities, and residents have been working together in 

partnership to address these challenges. 

P
age 341



Response to COVID-19

• County Durham Together – Community Hub

o Supported over 10,000 people

o Over 2,000 shielding residents needed 

support with food supplies 

o 1,500 needed support with pharmacy 

supplies 

• Conducted a health impact assessment:

o Assessed the potential impact of 

COVID-19 on inequalities in county 

Durham

This is Charlie Elliott. 
supporting vulnerable 

members of the community 
by delivering boxes of freshly 

prepared hot meals.

The COVID-19 pandemic is far from over, but we are committed to working in 

partnership with partners, communities, and residents to continue to protect 

and support the health and wellbeing of all County Durham’s residents.. 

P
age 342



Our priorities

P
age 343



Our priorities and progress towards them

• Get involved in Time to 

Change to reduce stigma 

due to mental health.

• Reducing exposure to 

second hand smoke

• To support people needing 

help with our new drug and 

alcohol service.

• County Durham was successful in 

becoming a funded Time to 

Change Hub, enabling us to make 

positive progress in tackling 

mental health stigma and 

Discrimination

• The danger of second hand 

smoke is now part of all training 

delivered to services who work 

with families.  

• Service provision has transformed 

through the COVID-19 pandemic 

to enable staff and clients to be 

safe and still access treatment 

and recovery services. 

Action Progress

P
age 344



Our priorities and progress towards them

Action Progress

• Support organisations to 

promote the wellbeing of 

their staff.

• Encourage people to have 

the flu vaccination

• The BHAWA has helped facilitate 

300,000 health promoting 

contacts in the workplace. 

• The Flu Prevention Board have 

supported the biggest local joint 

flu vaccine programme to date 

with further plans to extend the 

reach and scope of the 

programme into 2020/21.

P
age 345



Good jobs and places to live, learn and play
Why is this important? What we have done

• Working with Housing Solutions Warmer 

Homes Team to develop and pilot a cold 

related ill health project 

• Offered free intervention such as new or 

replacement boilers / central heating system, 

home insulation and 

• The County Durham Plan includes a policy 

which will allow us to carefully consider over 

concentrations of hot food takeaways in our 

defined retail centres. 

• To promote healthy lifestyles in young people, 

hot food takeaways will not be allowed within 

400 metres of an entry point of an existing or 

proposed school or further education college.

P
age 346



Every child to have the best start in life

Why is this important? What we have done

• Developed a COVID-19 Infant Feeding Pathway to 

ensure families could continue to access quality 

support during the pandemic.

• Harrogate & District Foundation Trust (HDFT) 

Specialist Infant Feeding Practitioners introduced 

and are delivering the Breastfeeding Peer Support 

Programme – 46 volunteers have signed up.

• Completed a Health Needs Assessment (HNA) for 

Children with Special Educational Needs and 

Disability (SEND). This detailed assessment means 

that we have a better understanding of the health 

needs of some of County Durham’s most vulnerable 

children and young people.

P
age 347



How we have worked with partners to impact on 

the Health and Wellbeing of residents living in 

County Durham

This is David Jones. With support from the Housing 

Solutions Warmer Homes Team David was able to 

access a free scheme and receive a grant to 

replace his current central heating system with a 

new one.  

Community Action Team 
(CAT)
The CAT brings together 
residents and a range of 
organisations to tackle 
housing and environmental 
issues in a specific area by 
identifying local priorities and 
making best use of resources. 

“I am delighted with my new 
central heating system; my 

home is warm and comfortable 
now and I’m not worried about 
the cold weather and high coal 

bills anymore. I was amazed 
that I didn’t have to pay 

anything, it was totally free”.

P
age 348



Recommendations

Good jobs and places to live, learn and play:

1) Work with housing and planning colleagues to implement health interventions 

that aim to raise health and living standards and reduce fuel poverty.

2) Include housing support for older people in a Healthy Ageing Strategy

3) Engage with hot food takeaways to promote healthier changes to cooking 

practices and menu options across Takeaways across County Durham.

Every child to have the best start in life:

1) Increase the number of schools and settings working towards the Health and 

Wellbeing Framework

2) Reduce the number of women who smoke during pregnancy.

3) Increase the number of businesses and venues signed up to the 

breastfeeding accreditation scheme.

P
age 349



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 351

Agenda Item 16
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the meeting held on 14 October 2020
	4 Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2021/22 and Council Tax Covid-19 Hardship Fund Payments - Report of Corporate Director of Resources (Key Decision: CORP/R/20/05)
	5 Council Tax Base 2021/22 and Forecast Deficit on the Council Tax Collection Fund as at 31 March 2021 - Report of Corporate Director of Resources (Key Decision: CORP/R/20/03)
	Council Tax Appendices 2,3,4
	Council Tax Appendix 2.pdf (p.1)
	Council Tax Appendix 3.pdf (p.2-5)
	Council Tax Appendix 4.pdf (p.6-8)


	6 Forecast of Revenue and Capital Outturn 2020/21 - Period to 30 September 2020 and Update on Progress towards achieving MTFP(10) savings - Report of Corporate Director of Resources
	7 Mid-Year Review Report on Treasury Management for the period to 30 September 2020 - Report of Corporate Director of Resources
	8 Lumiere 2019 - Evaluation - Report of Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and Growth
	9 Poverty Issues - Report of Corporate Director of Resources
	10 Mainstream Primary and Secondary Formula Funding 2021-22 - Report of Corporate Director of Resources
	11 Regional Adoption Agency - Full Business Case - Report of Corporate Director of Children and Young People's Services
	RAA Appendix 2 Coast to Coast Full Business Case

	12 Overview and Scrutiny Review of GP Services in County Durham - Report of Corporate Director of Resources
	Review of GP Services Appendix 2  in County Durham v1_JH edits
	Review of GP Services Appendix 3  in County Durhamv.1

	13 Director of Public Health Annual Report 2020 - Joint Report of Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services and Director of Public Health County Durham
	DPH Annual Report 2020
	DPH AR Presentation - Cabinet Nov 2020

	16 Marginal Viability Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF) - Newton Aycliffe Housing Growth Report  - Joint Report of Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and Growth and Corporate Director of Resources

